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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including the following:

·
·
·
·

certain statements, including possible or assumed future results of operations, in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations”;
any statements contained herein regarding the prospects for our business or any of our services;
any statements preceded by, followed by or that include the words “may”, “will”, “should”, “seeks”, “believes”, “expects”, “anticipates”,
“intends”, “continue”, “estimate”, “plans”, “future”, “targets”, “predicts”, “budgeted”, “projections”, “outlooks”, “attempts”, “is scheduled”, or
similar expressions; and
other statements contained herein regarding matters that are not historical facts.

Our business and results of operations are subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our ability to control or predict. Because of these risks
and uncertainties, actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by forward-looking statements, and investors are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on such statements. All forward-looking statements herein speak only as of the date hereof, and we undertake no obligation to update any
such forward-looking statements. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations and may adversely affect our
business and results of operations include, but are not limited to those items set forth in Item 1A. “Risk Factors” appearing in this Form 10-K.
Unless otherwise noted in this report, any description of “us” or “we” refers to StarTek, Inc. and our subsidiaries. Financial information in this report is
presented in U.S. dollars.
Part I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
BUSINESS OVERVIEW
StarTek, Inc. is a global provider of business process outsourcing services with over 9,000 employees, whom we refer to as Brand Warriors, that have been
committed to making a positive impact on our clients’ business results for 25 years. Our company mission is to enable and empower our Brand Warriors to
fight for our clients’ brands every day to bring value to our stakeholders. We accomplish this by aligning with our clients’ business objectives resulting in a
trusted partnership. The StarTek Advantage is the sum total of our culture, customized solutions and processes that enhance our clients’ customer
experience. StarTek Advantage is focused on improving customer experience and reducing total cost of ownership for our clients. StarTek has proven results
for the multiple services we provide including sales, order management and provisioning, customer care, technical support, receivables management, and
retention programs. We manage programs using a variety of multi-channel customer interaction capabilities including voice, chat, email, IVR and back-office
support. StarTek has delivery centers in the U.S., Philippines, Canada, Costa Rica, Honduras and through its StarTek@Home workforce.
We operate our business within three reportable segments, based on the geographic regions in which our services are rendered: (1) the U.S., (2) Canada and
(3) Offshore. As of December 31, 2011, our U.S. segment included the operations of eight facilities in the U.S.; our Canada segment included the operations
of two facilities in Canada; and our offshore segment included the operations of two facilities in the Philippines, one in Costa Rica and one in Honduras.
Financial information for each of our reportable segments for the last three fiscal years is included in Note 15, “Segment Information,” to our Consolidated
Financial Statements, which are included at Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Financial Data,” of this Form 10-K.
Service Offerings
We provide customer experience management throughout the life cycle of our clients’ customers. These service offerings include customer care, sales
support, inbound sales, complex order processing, accounts receivable management, technical and product support, up-sell and cross-sell opportunities and
other industry-specific processes. Our ability to provide these services is enabled by leveraging technology, agent performance tools, analytics, self service
applications and various other technologies utilized to enable and empower our Brand Warriors.
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Technical and Product Support. Our technical and product support service offering provides our clients’ customers with high-end technical support services
by telephone, e-mail, chat, facsimile and the internet, 24 hours per day, seven days per week. Technical support inquiries are generally driven by a customer’s
purchase and use of a product or service, or by a customer’s need for ongoing technical assistance.
Sales Support. Through our sales support service, we strive to increase the revenue generation of our clients by receiving and closing sales on inbound sales
inquiries as well as through cross-selling and up-selling our clients’ products to their customers. We have the ability to increase customer purchasing levels,
implement product promotion programs, introduce our clients’ customers to new products and enhanced service offerings, secure and process additional
customer orders and contract renewal programs and handle inquiries related to product shipments and billing.
Provisioning and Complex Order Processing. Our complex order processing services provide our clients with large scale project management and direct
relationship management for our clients’ large enterprise customers. This service includes order management and technical sales support for high-end
communications services, such as wire-line, wireless, data and customer premise equipment. In addition, we process order fallout from our clients’ automated
systems, complete billing review and revenue recovery, and perform quality assurance. We also provide services for our clients direct to consumer order
processing and transfer of accounts between client service providers. Our services enable a client to provide large scale project management and customer
relations services to their customers in a more efficient and cost effective way.
Receivables Management. We provide billing, credit card support and first party collections through our receivables management services. These services
allow our clients to reduce the risk of nonpayment by automatically transferring the calls made by delinquent customers to us, at which point our
representatives encourage the customers to pay their bill in order to continue to receive service. Customers may bring their bill current through credit or debit
card payments, electronic checks or money orders. This service allows us to help our clients reduce their number of days sales outstanding and bad debt writeoffs.
Other. We provide other industry-specific processes including technical support, phone number portability and directory management. We provide number
portability services - when our clients’ customers wish to keep their phone number when changing service providers. Our phone number portability services,
which include both automated and live agent interaction, facilitate pre-port validation, data collection, automatic processing of port-out/in requests, direct and
automated interface with the service order activation platform, fallout management tool and port request tracking and archiving. We also provide 411
directory listing management services. In addition, our Solutions Team engages with clients to execute their specific goals and anticipate the needs of their

customers. As a part of the Startek Advantage, the Solutions Team is involved from the earliest stages of the life cycle of our client engagements through
ongoing operations in order to find the right fit for existing StarTek tools and emerging technologies.
CUSTOMER TRENDS
We have observed a few emerging trends in client requirements of our industry. Our clients are increasingly focused on: (1) improving client satisfaction and
retention; (2) improving the customer experience; (3) increasing up-sell and cross-sell opportunities; and (4) reducing total overall cost of ownership. We
deliver a high level of customer satisfaction, as evidenced by our clients’ customer service awards and our clients’ ranking of StarTek relative to other
outsourced partners. We have demonstrated to our clients our success in increasing revenue per subscriber by the results of our up-sell and cross-sell
methodologies during customer interactions. Our clients value a combination of on-shore, near-shore, offshore and home agent delivery platforms to
optimize their customer support costs. In response to the demand for offshore solutions, we opened our first facility in the Philippines in 2008, and a second
facility in 2010. In response to this demand for near-shore solutions, we opened a new facility in Costa Rica in 2010 and in Honduras in 2011, which will
enable us to provide a near-shore solution, as well as Spanish speaking capabilities. Given this demand, we plan to continue to grow the number of offshore
and near-shore agents.
We have also observed that our clients are demanding a decrease in the number of contacts it takes for their customers to enjoy their products or services.
Process improvement has also driven further efficiencies for resolution of those contact issues. We are committed to delivering solutions through which we
partner with our clients to achieve and deliver these efficiency gains. We believe we are positioned to benefit from this trend as we have developed a
comprehensive suite of services which drive continuous improvement on front and back-office transactions.
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KEY COMPETITIVE DIFFERENTIATORS
StarTek Advantage
The sum total of the StarTek culture, the StarTek Operating Platform, customized solutions for every client program and our continuous improvement process
is our StarTek Advantage. StarTek Advantage empowers and enables our leaders to deliver consistent execution of operational results while driving year over
year improvement for our clients’ critical business requirements.
StarTek’s culture is built on trust and servant leadership. Servant leadership puts the employees first and leads with a focus on solving problems and
promoting personal development. We are a gathering of like minded professionals determined to make a positive impact for our employees, our clients and
our stakeholders. We work to remove noise, challenge the status quo, move with urgency, be creative, drive improvement, win and have fun.
StarTek Operating Platform provides the expertise, best practices and thought leadership to move our clients’ programs toward specific, measurable goals. It
includes execution and innovation in every area of the support process from onboarding our employees, enabling our employees, executing against goals,
evaluating performance, improving performance and enhancing our client’s business.
StarTek Solutions is a targeted solution leveraging what we have now, what we have learned from experience across a breadth of clients and industries and
what we hear and understand from our client’s goals. We will deliver the right people with the right leadership enabled by the right technology and
empowered by the right tools to make a meaningful impact to our clients’ business.
We offer a variety of customer management solutions that provide front to back-office capabilities utilizing the right delivery platform including onshore, near
shore, offshore, and StarTek@Home sourcing alternatives. We also offer multi-channel interactions across voice, chat, email, and IVR channels. We believe
that we are differentiated by our client centric culture, quality of our execution and results, our flexibility and competitive pricing.
Flexibility
Our solution configuration is aligned with our clients’ unique requirements. We are flexible in designing solutions around our clients’ strategic goals, and we
provide experienced management teams that bring together a trained, productive workforce, equipped with the right tools and technology.
Consistent Performance
Performance is core to the StarTek Operating Platform. Our clients expect consistent performance against the fundamentals of the business no matter the
location or method of the service delivery. The operating platform sets the stage for us to drive continuous improvement and focus on the value-add aspects
of our clients’ business.
Cost Competitive
We are confident in our ability to be cost competitive in our solutions for our clients’ needs. Through clearly understanding their needs and striving to reach
goal congruency we can assure that our collective financial goals are aligned in the most efficient way.
STRATEGY
Successful outsourcing partnerships strike a balance by delivering our clients a better customer experience through an efficient support model while
generating a fair return for our stakeholders. Therefore, our mission is simple. We enable and empower our Brand Warriors to fight for our clients’ brands
every day in order to return value to our stakeholders. Our employees and customer service agents are called Brand Warriors because they are on the front
lines protecting and promoting our clients’ brand, which creates loyalty for our clients’ products and services. Our clients’ business objectives become our
business objectives, as we seek to become their trusted outsourcing partner. Every day, we strive to better understand our clients’ market and competitive
challenges so that we can play a more effective role as a trusted partner in their businesses. We seek to build customer loyalty and reduce our customers’
costs through specific actionable continuous improvement efforts. Management believes that empowering and enabling our Brand Warriors is the most
important way we can deliver the best possible consistent customer experience. StarTek’s leadership team is committed to driving year over year continuous
improvement for our clients’ businesses not only in customer experience but in total cost of ownership.
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We seek to become a market leader in providing meaningful impact BPO services to our clients. Our approach is to develop relationships with our clients that
are partnering and collaborative in nature where we are focused, flexible and responsive to their business needs. In addition, we offer creative industry-based
solutions to meet our clients’ ever changing business needs. The end result is the delivery of a quality customer experience to our client’s customers. To
become a leader in the market, our strategy is to:
·
·
·
·
·

grow our existing client base by deepening and broadening our relationships,
add new clients and continue to diversify our client base,
improve the profitability of our business through operational improvements, increased utilization and right-sizing our North American operation,
expand our global delivery platform to meet our client needs, and
broaden our service offerings by providing more innovative and technology-enabled solutions.

During 2011, we further expanded our near-shore delivery platform by opening our first facility in Honduras. Management believes that the labor market in
Honduras is strong and our position as an early entrant into this country provides us a competitive advantage to win business with new and existing
customers. During 2011, we also continued to grow our headcount in the Philippines, where we added over 1,100 new full-time equivalent agents. We
believe that diversifying our geographic platform by expanding offshore and near-shore will result in improved margins and position us for future growth. In
2011, we decreased our North American footprint by closing one facility in the U.S. early in the year and one Canadian facility in the third quarter of 2011.
The decision to close these facilities was due to lower client volumes, and an effort to improve utilization at our centers, thus driving efficiencies and
improved margins. We will continue to evaluate the profitability of our North American locations. In 2011, we made progress on our strategic objective to
add new clients by signing eight new contracts. We also built-out StarTek Advantage which builds upon the development of the StarTek operating platform
in order to drive efficiencies in our operation, execute on our core offerings and deliver customized processes and solutions to our clients.
HISTORY OF THE BUSINESS
StarTek was founded in 1987. At that time, our business was centered on supply chain management services, which included packaging, fulfillment,
marketing support and logistics services. After our initial public offering on June 19, 1997, we began operating contact center services, which primarily
focused on customer care, and grew to include our current suite of offerings as described in the “Business Overview” section of this Form 10-K.
While our business is not generally seasonal, it does fluctuate quarterly based on our clients’ product offerings as well as their customer interaction volume.
See Item 1A. “Risk Factors,” for a more complete description of the seasonality of our business.
INDUSTRY
Outsourcing of non-core activities, such as those we provide, offers companies the ability to focus on their core competencies, leverage economies of scale
and control variable costs of the business while accessing new technology and trained expert personnel. As the business environment continues to evolve, it
has become more difficult and expensive for some companies to maintain the necessary personnel and product capabilities in-house to provide business
process services on a cost-effective basis. Accordingly, we anticipate that outsourced customer care services will grow significantly in the coming years. In
general, we believe that industries having higher levels of customer contact and service volume, such as the communications industry, tend to be more likely
to seek outsourced services as a more efficient method for managing their technical support and customer care functions. We believe that outsourced service
providers, including ourselves, will continue to benefit from these outsourcing trends.
COMPETITION
We compete with a number of companies that provide similar services on an outsourced basis, including technical support and customer care companies such
as Teleperformance; Convergys Corporation; Transcom; NCO Group; Aegis PeopleSupport; Sitel Corporation; Sykes Enterprises, Incorporated; TeleTech
Holdings, Inc., Stream Global Services, Inc. and West Corporation. We compete with the aforementioned companies for new business and for the expansion
of existing business within the clients we currently serve. Many of these competitors are significantly larger than us in revenue, income, number of contact
centers and customer agents, number of product offerings, and market capitalization. We believe that while smaller than many of our competitors, we are able
to compete because of our focus and scale as well as proven performance to add value to our clients. We believe our success is contingent more on our
targeted service offering and performance delivery to our clients than our overall size. Several of our competitors merged during the last three years, which
increased the size and reach of those competitors, which may affect our competitive position. There are also many private equity backed companies actively
pursuing sale so further consolidation in the industry is expected. However, we believe there are integration challenges involved in consolidations, which
may provide us an opportunity to deliver superior customer service to our clients. Some competitors may offer a broader range of services than we do, which
may result in clients and potential clients consolidating their use of outsourced services with larger competitors, rather than using our services. Therefore,
part of our strategy is to expand our service offerings by increasing our presence offshore, near-shore and with StarTek@Home agents to enhance our
competitive advantage. We primarily compete with the aforementioned companies on the basis of price and quality. As such, our strategy continues to be to
execute on
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our clients’ quality metrics and rank among the top of all of their outsourced vendors, while continuing to be a cost effective solution. We view our
competitive advantage as being a large enough company to offer the breadth of service offerings that are often requested by our clients while being agile
enough to quickly respond to our clients’ needs.
CLIENTS
As mentioned previously, we seek to become the expert provider of outsourced customer care and related services for the communications industry and
believe that we possess expertise in servicing clients within that industry. Accordingly, more than 95% of our revenue is derived from customers within that
industry. Our two largest customers, AT&T Inc. (“AT&T”) and T-Mobile USA, Inc. (“T-Mobile”) (a subsidiary of Deutsche Telekom), account for a
significant percentage of our revenue. While we believe that we have good relationships with these clients, a loss of a large program from one of these clients,
a significant reduction in the amount of business we receive from a principal client, renegotiation of pricing on several programs simultaneously for one of
these clients, the delay or termination of a principal clients’ product launch or service offering, or the complete loss of one or more of these principal clients

would adversely affect our business and our results of operations (see Item 1A. “Risk Factors”). The following table represents revenue concentration of our
principal clients:
2011

AT&T Services, Inc. and AT&T Mobility, LLC, subsidiaries of AT&T, Inc.
T-Mobile USA, Inc., a subsidiary of Deutsche Telekom

Year Ended December 31,
2010

57.9%
19.9%

2009

66.2%
18.1%

63.6%
21.5%

The loss of a principal client, a material reduction in the amount of business we receive from a principal client, renegotiation of price by a principal client, or
the loss, delay or termination of a principal client’s product launch or service offering would adversely affect our business, revenue and operating results. We
may not be able to retain our principal clients or, if we were to lose any of our principal clients, we may not be able to timely replace the revenue generated by
the lost clients. Loss of a principal client could result from many factors, including consolidation or economic downturns in our clients’ industries, as
discussed further below.
Our work for AT&T is covered by several contracts for a variety of different lines of AT&T business. Some of these contracts expire in 2012 and others in
2014. The initial term of our master services agreement covering all AT&T work expired in January 2010, was extended to July 1, 2011 and was further
extended to July 1, 2012. On July 28, 2011, we entered into a new master services agreement (the “MSA”) with T-Mobile which covers all services that we
provide to T-Mobile. The MSA replaces the previous master services agreement dated October 1, 2007 and has an initial term of five years but may be
terminated by T-Mobile upon 90 days written notice. The agreement is effective July 1, 2011 with an initial term of five years and will automatically renew
for additional one-year periods thereafter.
GOVERNMENT AND ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION
We are subject to numerous federal, state, and local laws in the states and territories in which we operate, including tax, environmental and other laws that
govern the way we conduct our business. There are risks inherent in conducting business internationally, including significant changes in domestic
government programs, policies, regulatory requirements, and taxation with respect to foreign operations, potentially longer working capital cycles,
unexpected changes in foreign government programs, policies, regulatory requirements and labor laws, and difficulties in staffing and effectively managing
foreign operations.
EMPLOYEES AND TRAINING
Our success in recruiting, hiring, training, and retaining large numbers of full and part-time skilled employees, and obtaining large numbers of hourly
employees during peak periods is critical to our ability to provide high quality outsourced services. We compete for labor with firms offering similar paying
jobs in the communities in which we are located, which includes other contact centers. During the past several years, we experienced difficulties hiring and
retaining agents as we faced economic pressures in and around certain of our site locations. Refer to Item 1A. “Risk Factors” for further discussion of risks
surrounding our ability to recruit and retain personnel.
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As of December 31, 2011, we employed approximately 9,100 employees. We believe the demographics surrounding our facilities, and our reputation,
stability, and compensation plans should allow us to continue to attract and retain qualified employees. None of our employees were members of a labor
union or were covered by a collective bargaining agreement during 2011.
CORPORATE INFORMATION
We were founded in 1987 and on June 19, 1997, we completed an initial public offering of our common stock. We conduct our business through our wholly
owned operating subsidiaries, StarTek USA, Inc., StarTek Canada Services, Ltd, StarTek International, Limited, StarTek Honduras, SAdeCV and StarTek
Philippines, Inc. We are a Delaware corporation headquartered in Denver, Colorado. Our principal executive offices are located at 44 Cook Street, 4th Floor,
Denver, Colorado 80206. Our telephone number is (303) 262-4500. Our website address is www.startek.com. Our stock currently trades on the New York
Stock Exchange under the symbol SRT.
WEB SITE AVAILABILITY OF REPORTS
Copies of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) are available free of charge through our web site
(www.startek.com) as soon as practicable after we furnish it to the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). We also make available on the “Investor
Relations” page of our corporate website, the charters for the Compensation Committee, Audit Committee and Governance and Nominating Committee of
our Board of Directors, as well as our Corporate Governance Guidelines and our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct.
None of the information on our website or any other website identified herein is part of this report. All website addresses in this report are intended to be
inactive textual references only.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Although our concentration with our largest clients has been reduced, over 75% of our revenue in 2011, 2010 and 2009, has been received from our two
largest clients. The loss or reduction in business from any of these clients would adversely affect our business and results of operations.
The following table represents revenue concentration of our principal clients:
2011

AT&T Services, Inc. and AT&T Mobility, LLC, subsidiaries of AT&T, Inc.
T-Mobile USA, Inc., a subsidiary of Deutsche Telekom

Year Ended December 31,
2010

57.9%
19.9%

66.2%
18.1%

2009

63.6%
21.5%

We may not be able to retain our principal clients. If we were to lose any of our principal clients, we may not be able to timely replace the revenue generated
by them. Loss of a principal client could result from many factors, including consolidation or economic downturns in our clients’ industries, as discussed
further below. In the first quarter of 2012, we received notice from one of our largest clients of a significant reduction in volume.
Refer to “Clients” in Item 1. for further discussion of our client contracts.
The future revenue we generate from our principal clients may decline or grow at a slower rate than expected or than it has in the past. In the event we lose
any of our principal clients or do not receive call volumes anticipated from these clients, we may suffer from the costs of underutilized capacity because of
our inability to eliminate all of the costs associated with conducting business with that client, which could exacerbate the effect that the loss of a principal
client would have on our operating results and financial condition. For example, there are no guarantees of volume under the current contract with AT&T. In
addition, the current contract with AT&T provides for a tiered incentive pricing structure that provides for lower pricing at higher volumes. Additional
productivity gains could be necessary to offset the negative impact that lower per-minute revenue at higher volume levels would have on our margins in
future periods.
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Our client base is concentrated in the communications industry, which has recently experienced consolidation trends. As our clients’ businesses change
as a result of merger and acquisition activity, there is no guarantee that the newly formed companies will continue to use our services.
Consolidation in the communications industry may decrease the potential number of buyers for our services. Likewise, there is no guarantee that the acquirer
of one of our clients will continue to use our services after the consolidation is completed. We are particularly vulnerable on this issue given the relatively
few significant clients we currently serve and the concentration of these clients in the telecommunications industry. For example, in late 2006, our client,
AT&T, acquired another of our clients, Cingular Wireless, LLC (now, AT&T Mobility, LLC), thereby further concentrating our revenue base. There can be
no assurance that our principal clients will continue to use our services in the future. If we lose principal clients or our service volumes decrease as a result of
principal clients being acquired, our business, financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected. We expect to negotiate renewals of
our contracts in due course; however, if any of such contracts or any order under such a contract is not ultimately renewed, it would have a material adverse
effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
Our client base is concentrated in the communications industry and our strategy partially depends on a trend of communications companies continuing
to outsource non-core services. If the communications industry suffers a downturn or the trend toward outsourcing reverses, our business will suffer.
Our current clients are almost exclusively communications companies, which include companies in the wire-line, wireless, cable and broadband lines of
business. Over 95% of our revenue in 2009, 2010 and 2011 was concentrated in the telecommunications industry. During 2011 and 2010, we experienced
lower call volumes from our customers in the wire-line and wireless businesses which adversely affected our results. Currently, our business is largely
dependent on continued demand for our services from clients in this industry and on trends in this industry to purchase outsourced services. The recent
economic instability has weakened the demand for the products and services offered by our clients in the telecommunications sector and could continue to
affect this demand in the future which would consequently weaken the demand for our services. The weakened demand for our clients’ products and services
could also cause a slowdown or reversal of the trend in the telecommunications industry to outsource the services we provide. These factors could adversely
affect our business, results of operations, growth prospects, and financial condition in the future.
We face considerable pricing pressure in our business, and if we are not able to continually increase productivity, our gross margins and results of
operations may be adversely affected.
Our strategy depends in part on our ability to increase productivity. We face significant price pressure arising from our clients’ desire to decrease their
operating costs, and from other competitors operating in our targeted markets. Price pressure may be more pronounced during periods of economic
uncertainty. In addition, our contract with our largest customer currently contains a tiered pricing structure, under which pricing declines as service volumes
increase, creating increased pricing pressures in future years. Accordingly, our ability to maintain our operating margins depends on our ability to improve
productivity and reduce operating costs. If we are not able to achieve sufficient improvements in productivity to adequately compensate for potential price
decreases, our results of operations may be adversely affected.
Our operating results may be adversely affected if we are unable to maximize our facility capacity utilization.
Our profitability is influenced by our facility capacity utilization. The majority of our business involves technical support and customer care services initiated
by our clients’ customers, and as a result, our capacity utilization varies, and demands on our capacity are, to some degree, beyond our control. We have
experienced, and in the future may experience periods of idle capacity from opening new facilities where forecasted volume levels do not materialize. In
addition, we have experienced, and in the future may experience idle peak period capacity when we open a new facility or terminate or complete a large client
program. These periods of idle capacity may be exacerbated if we expand our facilities or open new facilities in anticipation of new client business because
we generally do not have the ability to require a client to enter into a long-term contract or to require clients to reimburse us for capacity expansion costs if
they terminate their relationship with us or do not provide us with anticipated service volumes. From time to time, we assess the expected long-term capacity
utilization of our facilities. Accordingly, we may, if deemed necessary, consolidate or close under-performing facilities in order to maintain or improve
targeted utilization and margins.
In 2011, we determined it was necessary to close our facility in Alexandria, Louisiana and one of our Kingston, Ontario facilities. In addition, we downsized
business in our Cornwall, Ontario facility and negotiated our lease for a smaller space. During 2011,
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we also announced the closure of our facility in Collinsville, Virginia during the first quarter of 2012. In 2012, the decision was made to consolidate the
business performed in Enid, Oklahoma into another U.S. facility and also in 2012, we received a customer notification of an intent to reduce its business in
our Decatur, Illinois and Jonesboro, Arkansas facilities and we are actively trying to sell this capacity to other current and potential clients. During 2011, we
recognized $5.5 million in impairment losses and restructuring charges related to facility closures and assets whereby the carrying value did not support future
cash flows. We may incur further impairment losses and restructuring charges during 2012 related to our planned closures. There can be no assurance that

we will be able to achieve or maintain optimal facility capacity utilization. In 2011, we expanded our capacity to include a new facility in Honduras. In
addition, the two facilities opened in 2010 in Costa Rica and the Philippines continue to ramp and as of December 31, 2011 have not yet reached full
capacity. While the call volumes associated with these facilities ramped during 2011, we experienced excess capacity and incurred additional costs as we
worked towards bringing these facilities to normal operational levels. If client demand declines due to economic conditions or otherwise, we would not
leverage our fixed costs as effectively, which would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
We generate revenue based on the demand for, and inquiries generated by, our clients’ products and services. If our clients’ products and services are not
successful or do not generate the anticipated call volumes, our revenue and results of operations will be adversely affected.
In substantially all of our client relationships, we generate revenue based on the amount of products and services demanded by our clients’ customers. The
amount of our revenue also depends on the number and duration of customer inquiries. Consequently, the amount of revenue generated from any particular
client is dependent upon consumers’ interest in and use of that client’s products or services. In addition, if the reliability of our clients’ products or services
increases as a result of technological improvements, the volume of calls that we service may be reduced. If customer interest in or increased reliability of any
products or services offered by our clients and for which we provide outsourced services result in reduced service volumes, our revenue would be
diminished. We utilize forecasts made by our clients based on demand from their customers. If the actual call volumes are materially lower than the
forecasted volumes, our financial results could be adversely affected.
Our existing and potential clients are currently decreasing the number of vendors they are using to outsource their business process services. If we lose
more business than we gain as a result of this vendor consolidation, our business and results of operations will be adversely affected.
Our existing clients and a number of clients we are currently targeting have been decreasing the number of firms they rely on to outsource their business
process outsourced services. We believe these clients are taking this action in order to increase accountability and decrease their costs, and under current
economic conditions, there is an increased risk that our clients will outsource their business process services to even fewer firms to reduce costs further. If this
consolidation results in us losing one or more of our clients, our business and results of operations will be adversely affected. In addition, this consolidation
could make it more difficult for us to secure new clients, which could limit our growth opportunities.
If we experience an interruption to our business, our results of operations may suffer.
Our operations depend on our ability to protect our facilities, computer equipment, telecommunications equipment, software systems and clients’ products
and confidential client information against damage from telecommunications interruption, power loss, fire, natural disaster, theft, unauthorized intrusion,
computer viruses, internet interruption, e-commerce interruption, bomb threats, terrorist attacks, cyber attacks and other emergencies. Our locations in the
Philippines are exposed to a higher risk of weather related interruptions (including typhoon, flood and hurricane) than our North American operations. We
maintain procedures and contingency plans to minimize the detrimental impact of adverse events, but if such an event occurs, our procedures and plans may
not be successful in protecting us from losses or interruptions. In the event we experience temporary or permanent interruptions or other emergencies at one
or more of our facilities, our business could suffer and we may be required to pay contractual damages to our clients or allow our clients to terminate or
renegotiate their arrangements with us. Although we maintain property and business interruption insurance, as well as cyber liability insurance, such
insurance may not adequately or timely compensate us for all losses we may incur. Further, our telecommunication systems and networks and our ability to
timely and consistently access and use telephone, internet, e-commerce, e-mail, facsimile connections and other forms of communication are substantially
dependent upon telephone companies, internet service providers, and various telecommunication infrastructures. If such communications are interrupted on a
short- or long-term basis, our services would be similarly interrupted and delayed.
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Our operations in Canada, the Philippines, Costa Rica and Honduras subject us to the risk of currency exchange fluctuations.
Because we conduct a material portion of our business outside the United States, in Canada, the Philippines, Costa Rica and Honduras, we are exposed to
market risk from changes in the value of the Canadian dollar, Philippine peso, Costa Rican colon and the Honduran lempira. Material fluctuations in
exchange rates impact our results through translation and consolidation of the financial results of our foreign operations and, therefore, may negatively impact
our results of operations and financial condition. We have contracts wherein the revenue we earn is denominated in U.S. dollars, but the costs we incur to
fulfill our obligations under those contracts are denominated in Canadian dollars, Philippine pesos and, to a lesser extent, the Costa Rican colon and
Honduran lempira. Therefore, the fluctuations in the U.S. dollar to the Canadian dollar, Philippine peso, Costa Rican colon or Honduran lempira exchange
rates can cause significant fluctuations in our results of operations. During 2011, we engaged in hedging activities relating to our exposure to such
fluctuations in the value of the Canadian dollar versus the U.S. dollar and the Philippine peso versus the U.S. dollar. During 2011, we did not enter into
hedging agreements for the Costa Rican colon or Honduran lempira. We may participate in hedging activities in the future relating to the Canadian dollar,
Philippine peso, Costa Rican colon and Honduran lempira. However, currency hedges do not and will not eliminate our exposure to fluctuations in the
currencies. In the past few years, there have been large fluctuations in the value of the U.S. dollar against the value of the Canadian dollar. If the U.S. dollar
weakens against the value of the Canadian dollar, it would increase our costs and adversely affect our results from operations. Likewise, increases in the
value of the Philippine peso, Costa Rican colon or Honduran lempira, or currencies in other foreign markets in which we may operate in relation to the value
of the U.S. dollar would further increase our costs and adversely affect our results of operations.
Our contracts generally do not contain minimum purchase requirements and can generally be terminated by our customers on short notice without
penalty.
We enter into written agreements with each client for our services. We seek to sign multi-year contracts with our clients. However these contracts generally
permit termination upon 30 to 90 days notice by our clients, they do not designate us as our clients’ exclusive outsourced services provider, we do not
penalize our clients for early termination, they hold us responsible for work performed that does not meet pre-defined specifications and they do not contain
minimum purchase requirements or volume commitments. Accordingly, we face the risk that our clients may cancel or renegotiate contracts we have with
them, which may adversely affect our results. In addition, some contracts with our two largest clients either expire in 2012 or are currently under negotiation
for renewal, and we cannot guarantee that they will be extended or renewed. If a principal client cancelled or did not renew their contract with us, our results
would suffer. In addition, because the amount of revenue generated from any particular client is generally dependent on the volume and activity of our clients’
customers, as described above, our business depends in part on the success of our clients’ products. The number of customers who are attracted to the
products of our clients may not be sufficient or our clients may not continue to develop new products that will require our services, in which case it may be
more likely for our clients to terminate their contracts with us. Moreover, clients who may not terminate their contacts with us without cause could generally
reduce the volume of services they outsource to us which would have an adverse effect on our revenue, results of operations and overall financial condition.

If we are not able to hire and retain qualified employees, our ability to service our existing customers and retain new customers will be adversely affected.
Our success is largely dependent on our ability to recruit, hire, train, and retain qualified employees. Our business is labor intensive and, as is typical for our
industry, continues to experience high personnel turnover. Our operations, especially our technical support and customer care services, generally require
specially trained employees. During 2011, we continued to experience a high rate of employee turnover, which, in turn, requires significant recruiting and
training costs. Such turnover adversely affects our operating efficiency, productivity and ability to fully respond to client demand, thereby adversely
impacting our operating results. Some of this turnover can be attributed to the fact that we compete for labor not only with other call centers but also with
other similar-paying jobs, including retail, oil and gas industry labor, food service, etc. As such, improvements in the local economies in which we operate
can adversely affect our ability to recruit agents in those locations. Further increases in employee turnover or failure to effectively address and remedy these
high attrition rates would have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.
The addition of new clients or implementation of new projects for existing clients may require us to recruit, hire, and train personnel at accelerated rates. We
may not be able to successfully recruit, hire, train, and retain sufficient qualified personnel to adequately staff for existing business or future growth,
particularly if we undertake new client relationships in industries in which we have not previously provided services. Because a substantial portion of our
operating expenses consists of labor-related costs,
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labor shortages or increases in wages (including minimum wages as mandated by the U.S. and Canadian federal governments, employee benefit costs,
employment tax rates, and other labor related expenses) could cause our business, operating profits, and financial condition to suffer. In the past, some of our
Canadian employees have attempted to organize a labor union and economic and legislative changes in the U.S. may encourage organizing efforts in the
future which, if successful, could further increase our recruiting and training costs and could decrease our operating efficiency and productivity.
We may need to develop new products or services in order to compete for new customers or retain our existing customers.
If we are not able to develop new products or services, we may not be able to provide the same level of service provided by our competitors, which could
result in the loss of an existing client or being unable to generate new clients. If we are not able to develop new products and services, we could lose market
share or not be able to grow our business and diversify our revenue base and thereby reduce our reliance on our significant customers.
Failure to implement technological advancements could make our services less competitive.
Technologies that our clients or competitors already possess or may in the future develop or acquire may decrease the cost or increase the efficiency of
competing services. We believe that to remain competitive, we must continue to invest in technology to be able to compete for new business and maintain
service levels for clients. We may not be able to develop and market any new services that use, or effectively compete with, existing or future technologies,
and such services may not be commercially successful. Furthermore, our competitors may have greater resources to devote to research and development than
we do and accordingly, may have the ability to develop and market new technologies with which we are unable to successfully compete.
Our operating costs may increase as a result of higher labor costs.
During the past economic downturns, we, like a number of companies in our industry, sought to limit our labor costs by limiting salary increases and payment
of cash bonuses to our employees. During 2011, the local economies in some of the locations in which we operate experienced growth, which caused us to
increase labor rates to remain competitive within the local economies. If these growth trends continue, we may need to further increase salaries or otherwise
compensate our employees at higher levels in order to remain competitive. Effective July 2009, the U.S. federal minimum wage rate was increased. The
minimum wage applicable to most of our operations in Canada is rising even more dramatically than in the U.S. Higher salaries or other forms of
compensation are likely to increase our cost of operations. If such increases are not offset by increased revenue, they will negatively impact our financial
results. Conversely, if labor rates decrease due to higher unemployment in the current economic downturn, our cost of operations may decrease. In the past,
some of our Canadian employees have attempted to organize a labor union, and economic and legislative changes in the U.S. may encourage organizing
efforts in the future which, if successful, could further increase our recruiting and training costs and could decrease our operating efficiency and productivity.
Our lack of a wide geographic diversity outside of North America may adversely affect our ability to serve existing customers or limit our ability to obtain
new customers.
Although we currently conduct operations in Canada, the Philippines, Costa Rica and Honduras, we do not have a wide geographic diversity. Our lack of such
diversity could adversely affect our business if one or more of our customers decide to move their existing business process outsourcing services offshore. It
may also limit our ability to gain new clients who may require business process service providers to have this greater flexibility across differing geographies.
The movement of business process outsourcing services to other countries has been extensively reported in the press. Most analysts continue to believe that
many outsourced services will continue to migrate to other countries with lower wages than those prevailing in the U.S. Accordingly, unless and until we
continue to develop significant geographic diversity, we may be competitively disadvantaged compared to a number of our competitors who have already
devoted significant time and money to establishing extensive offshore operations.
If we decide to open facilities in, or otherwise expand into, additional countries, we may not be able to successfully establish operations in the markets that we
target. There are certain risks inherent in conducting business in other countries including, but not limited to, exposure to currency fluctuations, difficulties in
complying with foreign laws, unexpected changes in government programs, policies, regulatory requirements and labor laws, difficulties in staffing and
managing foreign operations, political instability, and potentially adverse tax consequences. There can be no assurance that one or more of such factors will
not have a material adverse effect on our business, growth prospects, results of operations, and financial condition.
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Continuing unfavorable economic conditions could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

The current economic downturn and disruptions in the capital and credit markets in the U.S. and world economies have reduced consumer spending and
reduced spending by businesses and such spending has not yet returned to pre-downturn levels. Since our revenue is largely concentrated in the
telecommunications industry, and the majority of our business involves technical support and customer care services initiated by our clients’ customers, our
revenue is dependent on the amount of telecommunications products and services demanded by our clients’ customers. Consequently, a general reduction in
consumer demand for such products and services due to the recession in the domestic and international economies could reduce the demand for our services
and have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
In addition, our existing clients and a number of clients we are currently targeting have been decreasing the number of firms they rely on to outsource their
business process outsourced services. Due to financial uncertainties and the potential reduction in demand for our clients’ products and services, our clients
and prospective clients may decide to further consolidate the number of firms on which they rely for their business process outsourced services to reduce
costs. Under these circumstances, our clients may cancel current contracts with us, or we may fail to attract new clients, which will adversely affect our
financial condition. In addition, they may seek price reductions on our contracts as means to lower their costs. If global economic and market conditions
remain uncertain or persist, spread, or deteriorate further, we may experience material impacts on our business, operating results, and financial condition.
If we do not effectively manage our growth or control costs related to growth, our results of operations will suffer.
We intend to grow our business by expanding our overall client base in current and new vertical markets. Growth could place significant strain on our
management, employees, operations, operating and financial systems, and other resources. To accommodate significant growth we would be required to open
additional facilities, expand and improve our information systems and procedures, and hire, train, motivate, and manage a growing workforce, all of which
would increase our costs. Our systems, facilities, procedures, and personnel may not be adequate to support our future operations. Further, we may not be able
to maintain or accelerate our current growth, effectively manage our expanding operations, or achieve planned growth on a timely and profitable basis.
During recent years, we incurred costs related to excess capacity as we opened new facilities in anticipation of volume levels that did not materialize. As a
result, our operating profits declined, and our stock price was adversely impacted. If we are unable to manage our growth efficiently, or if growth does not
occur, our business, results of operations, and financial condition could suffer.
Increases in the cost of telephone and data services or significant interruptions in such services could adversely affect our business.
We depend on telephone and data services provided by various local and long distance telephone companies. Because of this dependence, any change to the
telecommunications market that would disrupt these services or limit our ability to obtain services at favorable rates could affect our business. We have taken
steps to mitigate our exposure to the risks associated with rate fluctuations and service disruption by entering into long-term contracts with various providers
for telephone and data services and by investing in redundant circuits. There is no obligation, however, for the vendors to renew their contracts with us or to
offer the same or lower rates in the future, and such contracts are subject to termination or modification for various reasons outside of our control. In addition,
there is no assurance that a redundant circuit would not also be disrupted. A significant increase in the cost of telephone services that is not recoverable
through an increase in the price of our services or any significant interruption in telephone services, could adversely affect our business.
We have experienced significant management turnover and need to retain key management personnel.
In June 2011, Chad A. Carlson was named as our President and Chief Executive Officer. He had previously served as our Executive Vice President and Chief
Operating Officer since June 2010. In addition, we hired a new Senior Vice President, Sales and Marketing in January 2011, a new Senior Vice President and
Chief Technology Officer in April 2011 and a new Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer in November 2011. We filled several other
key management positions during 2009, 2010 and 2011. High turnover of senior management can adversely impact our client relationships, stock price, our
results of operations, and it may make recruiting for future management positions more difficult. In some cases, we may be required to pay significant
amounts of severance to terminated management employees. In addition, we must successfully integrate any new management personnel whom we hire
within our organization in order to achieve our operating objectives. Changes in other key
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management positions may temporarily affect our financial performance and results of operations as the new management becomes familiar with our
business. Accordingly, our future financial performance will depend to a significant extent on our ability to motivate and retain key management personnel.
Unauthorized disclosure of sensitive or confidential client and customer data could expose us to protracted and costly litigation and penalties and may
cause us to lose clients.
We are dependent on IT networks and systems to process, transmit and store electronic information and to communicate among our locations around the
world and with our alliance partners and clients. Security breaches of this infrastructure could lead to shutdowns or disruptions of our systems and potential
unauthorized disclosure of confidential information. We are also required at times to manage, utilize and store sensitive or confidential client or customer
data. As a result, we are subject to contractual terms and numerous U.S. and foreign laws and regulations designed to protect this information, such as various
U.S. federal and state laws governing the protection of health or other individually identifiable information. If any person, including any of our employees,
negligently disregards or intentionally breaches our established controls with respect to such data or otherwise mismanages or misappropriates that data, we
could be subject to monetary damages, fines and/or criminal prosecution. Although we maintain cyber liability insurance, such insurance may not adequately
or timely compensate us for all losses we may incur. Unauthorized disclosure of sensitive or confidential client or customer data, whether through systems
failure, employee negligence, fraud or misappropriation, could damage our reputation and cause us to lose clients. Similarly, unauthorized access to or
through our information systems or those we develop for our clients, whether by our employees or third parties, could result in negative publicity, legal
liability and damage to our reputation, business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
We process, transmit and store personally identifiable information and unauthorized access to or the unintended release of this information could result
in a claim for damage or loss of business and create unfavorable publicity.
We process, transmit and store personally identifiable information, both in our role as a service provider and as an employer. This information may include
social security numbers, financial and health information, as well as other personal information. As a result, we are subject to certain contractual terms as well
as federal, state and foreign laws and regulations designed to protect personally identifiable information. We take measures to protect against unauthorized
access and to comply with these laws and regulations. We use the internet as a mechanism for delivering our services to clients, which may expose us to
potential disruptive intrusions. Unauthorized access, system denials of service, or failure to comply with data privacy laws and regulations may subject us to
contractual liability and damages, loss of business, damages from individual claimants, fines, penalties, criminal prosecution and unfavorable publicity, any of

which could negatively affect our operating results and financial condition. In addition, third party vendors that we engage to perform services for us may
have an unintended release of personally identifiable information.
We face risks inherent in conducting business outside of North America.
Our operations in Canada accounted for 20.3% and 24.1% and 26.4% of our revenue in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. Our operations in the Philippines,
Costa Rica and Honduras accounted for 28.5%, 12.7% and 4.1% of our revenue in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively. We opened our first facility in Costa
Rica in March 2010, our second facility in the Philippines in April 2010 and our first facility in Honduras in September 2011. An important component of
our growth strategy is continued international expansion. There are risks inherent in conducting business internationally, including but not limited to:
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

Competition from local businesses or established multinational companies, who may have firmly established operations in particular foreign
markets. This may give these firms an advantage regarding labor and material costs;
Significant changes in U.S. government programs, policies and regulatory requirements with respect to foreign operations or multinational
companies;
Potentially adverse U.S. or foreign tax consequences with respect to foreign operations;
Potentially longer working capital cycles;
Unexpected changes in foreign government programs or policies;
Regulatory requirements and labor laws;
Difficulties in staffing and effectively managing foreign operations;
Political and social instability; and
Reluctance of our current or potential new clients to have us provide services to them from a location outside of North America.
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One or more of these factors may have an impact on our international operations. Our lack of significant international operating experience may result in any
of these factors impacting us to a greater degree than they impact our competitors. To the extent one or more of these factors impact our international
operations, it could adversely affect our business, results of operations, growth prospects, and financial condition as a whole.
Various other risk factors described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may be exacerbated with regard to international operations, especially in countries
where we do not have well-established operations. Such risks include those related to the need to retain key management personnel, the inability to hire and
retain qualified employees, increases in operating costs, facility capacity utilization, management of growth and costs related to growth, geopolitical military
conditions, interruptions to our business, and the quality and cost of telephone and data services infrastructure.
We may need to add specialized sales personnel in order to grow our business. We may have difficulty recruiting candidates for these positions.
Our future growth depends on our ability to initiate, develop and maintain new client relationships, as well as our ability to maintain relationships with our
existing principal clients. To generate opportunities for new business from existing clients, as well as obtain new clients, we may need to hire specialized sales
and marketing staff to introduce new products and services. If we are unable to hire sales people with the specialized skills and knowledge needed to attract
new business, we would not be able to diversify our revenue base and thereby reduce our reliance on our significant customers.
Our largest stockholder has the ability to significantly influence corporate actions.
A. Emmet Stephenson, Jr., one of our co-founders, together with his wife, owned approximately 23.7% of our outstanding common stock as of February 15,
2012. Under an agreement we have entered into with Mr. Stephenson, so long as Mr. Stephenson, together with members of his family, beneficially owns
10% or more (but less than 30%) of our outstanding common stock, Mr. Stephenson will be entitled to designate one of our nominees for election to the
board, although he has not currently exercised this right. In addition, our bylaws allow that any holder of 10% or more of our outstanding common stock may
call a special meeting of our stockholders. The concentration of voting power in Mr. Stephenson’s hands, and the control Mr. Stephenson may exercise over
us as described above, may discourage, delay or prevent a change in control that might otherwise benefit our stockholders.
Our stock price has been volatile and may decline significantly and unexpectedly.
The market price of our common stock has been volatile, and could be subject to wide fluctuations, in response to quarterly variations in our operating results,
changes in management, the degree of success in implementing our business and growth strategies, announcements of new contracts or contract cancellations,
announcements of technological innovations or new products and services by us or our competitors, changes in financial estimates by securities analysts, the
perception that significant stockholders may sell or intend to sell their shares, or other events or factors we cannot currently foresee. We are also subject to
broad market fluctuations, given the overall volatility of the current U.S. and global economies, where the market prices of equity securities of many
companies experience substantial price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated to the operating performance of such companies. These broad
market fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of our common stock. Additionally, because our common stock trades at relatively low volume
levels, any change in demand for our stock can be expected to substantially influence market prices thereof. The trading price of our stock varied from a low
of $1.61 to a high of $5.72 during 2011.
Our quarterly operating results have historically varied and may not be a good indicator of future performance.
We have experienced, and expect to continue to experience quarterly variations in revenue and operating results due to a variety of factors, many of which are
outside our control. These factors include, changes in the amount and growth rate of revenue generated from our principal clients; the timing of receipt of
payments from our clients; the timing of existing and future client product launches or service offerings; unanticipated volume fluctuations; expiration or
termination of client projects; timing and amount of costs incurred to expand capacity in order to provide for further revenue growth from existing and future
clients; and the seasonal nature of some clients’ businesses.
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If we are unable to meet the debt covenant requirements under our revolving credit facility, potential growth and results of operations may suffer.

As of December 31, 2011, we had a $7.5 million secured line of credit with UMB Bank which we terminated on February 28, 2012 and replaced with a
secured revolving credit facility with Wells Fargo Bank which has a term of three years (see Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Resources” for further details). As of December 31, 2011, there was no balance outstanding on
the secured line of credit with UMB Bank. We drew and repaid approximately $2.8 million on the line during 2011. If we do not meet the debt covenant
requirements under the new revolving credit facility with Wells Fargo Bank, we may lose an important source of liquidity and be unable to meet short-term
cash needs required for growth opportunities and we could face adverse effects on our financial statements, including payments for waivers or higher interest
rate obligations. Refer to “Liquidity and Capital Resources” in Item 7. for further discussion of our credit facility.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
As of December 31, 2011, we owned or leased the following facilities, containing in the aggregate approximately 1.1 million square feet:
Properties

Year Opened

U.S. Facilities
Greeley, Colorado
Laramie, Wyoming
Grand Junction, Colorado
Greeley, Colorado
Enid, Oklahoma
Grand Junction, Colorado
Decatur, Illinois
Lynchburg, Virginia
Collinsville, Virginia
Denver, Colorado
Victoria, Texas
Mansfield, Ohio
Jonesboro, Arkansas
Canadian Facilities
Kingston, Ontario
Cornwall, Ontario
Regina, Saskatchewan
Thunder Bay, Ontario
Philippine Facilities
Makati City, Philippines
Ortigas, Philippines
Costa Rica Facility
Heredia, Costa Rica
Honduras Facility
San Pedro Sula, Honduras

Approximate
Square Feet

Leased or Owned

1998
1998
1999
1999
2000
2000
2003
2004
2004
2004
2008
2008
2008

35,000
22,000
46,350
88,000
47,500
54,500
37,500
38,600
49,250
23,000
54,100
31,000
65,400

Company Owned (g)
Company Owned (c)
Leased
Company Owned
Company Owned
Leased (h)
Leased
Leased
Leased (f)
Leased (a)
Leased (d)
Leased
Leased

2001
2001
2003
2006

49,000
22,100
62,000
33,000

Company Owned
Leased
Leased (b)
Leased (e)

2008
2010

78,000
159,000

Leased
Leased

2010

37,000

Leased

2011

39,100

Leased

(a) Company headquarters, which houses executive and administrative employees.
(b) Our Regina, Saskatchewan facility ceased operations in February 2009.
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(c) Our Laramie, Wyoming facility ceased operations in January 2010 and is listed as held for sale in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
(d) Our Victoria, Texas facility ceased operations in January 2010 and is currently being sublet through the remaining lease term.
(e) Our Thunder Bay, Ontario facility ceased operations in March 2010 and is currently being sublet through the remaining lease term.
(f) Our Collinsville, Virginia facility ceased operations in February 2012 and the lease expired in February 2012.
(g) Our Greeley, Colorado facility ceased operations in December 2010 and is listed as held for sale in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
(h) Our Grand Junction, Colorado facility ramped down operations in December 2010.
Substantially all of our facility space can be used to support any of our business process outsourced services. We believe our existing facilities are adequate
for our current operations. We intend to maintain efficient levels of excess capacity to enable us to readily provide for needs of new clients and increasing
needs of existing clients. We hold unencumbered, fee simple title to our company-owned facilities.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
On February 2, 2011, certain former employees of StarTek USA, Inc., filed a putative collective action under the Fair Labor Standards Act, alleging that they
were owed overtime compensation for alleged work performed before and after regular shifts. The plaintiffs sought overtime compensation, liquidated
damages, and other relief for themselves as well as for all other customer service representatives and technical service representatives located throughout the

United States who performed alleged uncompensated overtime and who were employed by us three years before the commencement of the civil action. At
the time that the case was filed, we believed that there was no merit to the case and vigorously defended the suit. Following conditional class certification,
plaintiffs mailed notice to approximately 22,000 potential plaintiffs; however, only 1,759 individuals timely opted-in to the class. This opt-in rate was
substantially lower than the parties anticipated. Following a second mediation session on October 27, 2011, we agreed to settle the case for $0.6 million,
including liquidated damages, attorney’s fees, and costs of settlement administration, which was recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses in
the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss).
We have been involved from time to time in other litigation arising in the normal course of business, none of which is expected by management to have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
Part II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON STOCK, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES
MARKET FOR COMMON STOCK
Our common stock has been listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “SRT” since the effective date of our initial public offering on June 19,
1997. The following table shows the high and low closing sales prices for our common stock on the New York Stock Exchange for the periods shown:
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2011
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter
2010
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

High

Low

$
$
$
$

5.72
5.51
3.79
2.87

$
$
$
$

4.75
3.45
2.85
1.61

$
$
$
$

8.20
7.65
5.18
5.89

$
$
$
$

6.53
3.77
3.85
4.05

HOLDERS OF COMMON STOCK
As of February 15, 2012, there were 64 stockholders of record and 15,267,407 shares of common stock outstanding. See Item 1A. “Risk Factors,” set forth
in this Form 10-K for a discussion of risks related to control that may be exercised over us by our principal stockholders.
DIVIDEND POLICY
On January 22, 2007, our board of directors announced it would not declare a quarterly dividend on our common stock in the first quarter of 2007, and did not
expect to declare dividends in the near future, making the dividend paid in November 2006 the last quarterly dividend that will be paid in the foreseeable
future. We plan to invest in growth initiatives in lieu of paying dividends.
STOCK REPURCHASE PROGRAM
Effective November 4, 2004, our board of directors authorized repurchases of up to $25 million of our common stock. The repurchase program will remain in
effect until terminated by the board of directors, and will allow us to repurchase shares of our common stock from time to time on the open market, in block
trades and in privately-negotiated transactions. Repurchases will be implemented by the Chief Financial Officer consistent with the guidelines adopted by the
board of directors, and will depend on market conditions and other factors. Any repurchased shares will be held as treasury stock, and will be available for
general corporate purposes. Any repurchases will be made in accordance with SEC rules. As of the date of this filing, no shares have been repurchased under
this program.
STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH
The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock over the past five years with the cumulative total return of the New
York Stock Exchange Composite Index (“NYSE Composite”) and of the Russell 2000 Index (“Russell 2000”) over the same period. We do not believe stock
price performance shown on the graph is necessarily indicative of future price performance.
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The information set forth under the heading “Stock Performance Graph” is not deemed to be “soliciting material” or to be “filed” with the SEC or subject to
the SEC’s proxy rules or to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, and the graph shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any of our
prior or subsequent filings under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto which are included in Item
8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Financial Data,” of this Form 10-K. Additionally, the following selected financial data should be read in
conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” which is included in Item 7.
Due to the February 2009 sale of our subsidiary, Domain.com, the results of operations related to this line of business has been reported as discontinued
operations for all periods presented below.
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2011

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Impairment losses and restructuring charges
Operating loss
Net interest and other income (expense)
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax (benefit) expense
(Loss) income from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net (loss) income

$

2010

$

$

219,493
196,508
22,985
44,110
5,496
(26,621)
33
(26,588)
(126)
(26,462)
—
(26,462)

Net (loss) income per share from continuing operations:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

Net (loss) income per share including discontinued
operations:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted
Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets
Total debt
Total stockholders’ equity
Other Selected Financial Data:

$

$

265,376
237,672
27,704
43,281
2,835
(18,412)
273
(18,139)
1,244
(19,383)
—
(19,383)

(1.75)
(1.75)

$
$

(1.30)
(1.30)

$
$

(1.75)
(1.75)

$
$

(1.30)
(1.30)

$
$

15,084
15,084
$
$
$

Year Ended December 31,
2009
(In thousands, except per share data)

101,433
—
74,362

$

14,903
14,903
$
$
$

132,755
—
100,647

288,980
239,879
49,101
43,196
6,437
(532)
(210)
(742)
(751)
9
4,640
4,649

$

2007

$

$

272,338
238,346
33,992
40,814
9,225
(16,047)
55
(15,992)
(6,301)
(9,691)
(210)
(9,901)

$

244,615
205,920
38,695
38,991
4,325
(4,621)
745
(3,876)
(719)
(3,157)
326
(2,831)

0.00
0.00

$
$

(0.66)
(0.66)

$
$

(0.21)
(0.21)

0.31
0.31

$
$

(0.67)
(0.67)

$
$

(0.19)
(0.19)

14,792
14,837
$
$
$

2008

149,068
—
116,716

14,713
14,713
$
$
$

146,864
6,494
107,019

14,696
14,696
$
$
$

155,458
11,355
118,214

Capital expenditures, net of proceeds
Depreciation

$
$

8,958
15,750

$
$

16,942
17,155

$
$

14,683
15,977

$
$

27,979
17,803

$
$

15,207
17,092

19

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following discussion and analysis of the results of operations and financial condition should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Consolidated
Financial Statements included elsewhere in this annual report.
OVERVIEW
StarTek, Inc. is a global provider of business process outsourcing services with over 9,000 employees, whom we refer to as Brand Warriors that have been
committed to making a positive impact on our clients’ business results for 25 years. Our company mission is to enable and empower our Brand Warriors to
fight for our clients' brands every day to bring value to our stakeholders. We accomplish this by aligning with our clients’ business objectives resulting in a
trusted partnership. The StarTek Advantage is the sum total of our culture, customized solutions and processes that enhance our clients’ customers
experience. StarTek Advantage is focused on improving customer experience and reducing total cost of ownership for our clients. StarTek has proven results
for the multiple services we provide including sales, order management and provisioning, customer care, technical support, receivables management, and
retention programs. We manage programs using a variety of multi-channel customer interaction capabilities including voice, chat, email, IVR and back-office
support. StarTek has delivery centers in the U.S., Philippines, Canada, Costa Rica, Honduras and through its StarTek@Home workforce.
We seek to become a market leader in providing meaningful impact BPO services to our clients. Our approach is to develop relationships with our clients that
are partnering and collaborative in nature where we are focused, flexible and responsive to their business needs. In addition we offer creative industry-based
solutions to meet our clients’ ever changing business needs. The end result is the delivery of a quality customer experience to our client’s customers. To
become a leader in the market, our strategy is to:
·
·
·
·
·

grow our existing client base by deepening and broadening our relationships,
add new clients and continue to diversify our client base,
improve the profitability of our business through operational improvements, increased utilization and right-sizing our North American operation,
expand our global delivery platform to meet our client needs, and
broaden our service offerings by providing more innovative and technology-enabled solutions.

During 2011, we further expanded our near-shore delivery platform by opening our first facility in Honduras. Management believes that the labor market in
Honduras is strong and our position as an early entrant into this country provides us a competitive advantage to win business with new and existing
customers. During 2011, we also continued to grow our headcount in the Philippines, where we added over 1,100 new full-time equivalent agents. We
believe that diversifying our geographic platform by expanding offshore and near-shore will result in improved margins and position us for future growth. In
2011, we decreased our North American footprint by closing one facility in the U.S. early in the year and one Canadian facility in the third quarter of 2011.
The decision to close these facilities was due to lower client volumes and an effort to improve utilization at our centers, thus driving efficiencies and
improved margins. We will continue to evaluate the profitability of our North American locations. In 2011, we made progress on our strategic objective to
add new clients by signing eight new contracts. We also built-out StarTek Advantage which builds upon the development of the StarTek operating platform
in order to drive efficiencies in our operation, execute on our core offerings and deliver customized processes and solutions to our clients.
We operate within three business segments: U.S., Canada and Offshore. The business segments align with the regions in which our services are rendered. As
of December 31, 2011, our U.S. segment included the operations of eight facilities in the U.S.; our Canada segment included the operations of two facilities in
Canada; and our offshore segment included the operations of two facilities in the Philippines, one in Costa Rica and one in Honduras. As of December 31,
2010, there were nine, three and three facilities in the U.S., Canada and Offshore segments, respectively. As of December 31, 2009, there were thirteen, five
and one facilities in the U.S., Canada and Offshore segments, respectively. We use gross profit as our measure of profit and loss for each business segment
and do not allocate selling, general and administrative expenses to our business segments.
In 2010 and 2011 we received lower call volumes in our North American facilities, which adversely affected our results. Partially offsetting lower call
volumes in North America has been strong demand for our Offshore call center services, primarily in the Philippines. We have observed that our customers
are decreasing the number of agents handling calls by leveraging call disposition technology and there continues to be a shift toward outsourced and offshore
providers. While the increased use of call disposition technology has somewhat adversely impacted our 2011 financial results, the shift toward outsourced
and offshore providers has positively impacted our business due to our expanded presence in the Philippines, Costa Rica and Honduras. Part of our strategy
(as noted above) is to further expand our geographic footprint offshore and near-shore to capitalize on this trend and to diversify geographic risk. We also
believe our customers and potential customers are seeking front and back-office business processes to increase operating efficiencies in order to enhance their
customer experience. We believe we are positioned to benefit from this trend as we have developed a comprehensive suite of services which includes front
and back-office offerings for our customers.
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SIGNIFICANT DEVELOPMENTS DURING THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011
New Facilities
One component of our strategy is to expand our global delivery platform by growing offshore and near-shore. Management believes that expansion into
targeted international locations will broaden our service delivery platform and build our competitive advantage. In connection with this strategy, and in
response to client demand for another Latin America offering, we opened our first facility in Honduras in September 2011. Total lease commitments are
approximately $5.8 million over the initial term of the lease, which is approximately seven years.
Site Closures

Management made the decision to close the following sites during 2011:
·

Alexandria, Louisiana: In February 2011, we closed our facility in Alexandria, Louisiana due to lower call volumes from our second largest client.
The closure coincided with our lease expiration, and as such we did not incur material impairment and restructuring charges. The closure resulted in
approximately $10.5 million less revenue during 2011 compared to 2010, and decreased gross profit by $1.7 million, compared to 2010.

·

Kingston, Ontario: In September 2011, we closed one of two facilities in Kingston, Ontario. This was consistent with our strategy to right-size our
North American delivery platform and exit facilities as lease terms expire and local economic conditions, prevailing wage rates, foreign exchange
rates, or other factors negatively impact the long-term financial viability of a location. The business that was serviced in this location was moved to
another facility and, as such, this closure did not have an impact on revenue during 2011. We incurred restructuring and impairment charges of
approximately $0.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2011, of which approximately $0.6 million was for severance payments.

Other Events
In April 2011, we announced a reduction of business in our Cornwall, Ontario facility and consequently renegotiated the facility lease for a smaller portion of
the space through June 30, 2012. We incurred approximately $1.1 million in restructuring and impairments costs associated with the downsizing during the
year ended December 31, 2011.
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In January 2012, we announced that we would be consolidating the business performed in Enid, Oklahoma into another U.S. facility. The transition of the
business is expected to be completed by the end of the first quarter of 2012. We are actively marketing this capacity to other current and potential clients.
However, if we are not successful in doing so, we may decide to close the facility. In that event, we would not expect to incur material impairment and
restructuring charges.
In February 2012, we closed our facility in Collinsville, Virginia as a result of a customer notification, which we had announced in June 2011. Since the
announcement of this closure, we were under a month-to-month lease arrangement and do not expect to incur material impairment and restructuring charges
associated with this closure.
In February 2012, we received written customer notification of an intent to reduce its business in our Decatur, Illinois and Jonesboro, Arkansas facilities. The
reduction is expected to occur during the first quarter of 2012 and the early part of the second quarter of 2012. We are actively selling this capacity to other
current and potential clients. However, if we are not successful in doing so, we may decide to close one or both of these facilities. In that event, there could
be impairment and restructuring charges which would depend on which facilities are closed and when.
On February 28, 2012, we terminated our $7.5 million secured line of credit with UMB Bank, which was effective through August 1, 2012, and replaced it
with a secured revolving credit facility with Wells Fargo Bank (the “Credit Agreement”). The Credit Agreement is effective February 28, 2012 through
February 28, 2015. The amount we may borrow under the Credit Agreement is the lesser of the borrowing base calculation and $10 million, and, so long as
no default has occurred, we may increase the maximum availability to $20 million in $2.5 million increments. We may request letters of credit under the
Credit Agreement in an aggregate amount equal to the lesser of the borrowing base calculation (minus outstanding advances) and $5 million. The borrowing
base is generally defined as 85% of our eligible accounts receivable less reserves for foreign exchange forward contracts and other reserves as defined in the
Credit Agreement. Borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at the daily three-month LIBOR index plus 2.50% to 3.00% depending on the
calculation of the fixed charge coverage ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement. Until the first monthly report of the fixed charge coverage ratio, the
interest rate will be the daily three-month LIBOR index plus 3.00%. We will pay letter of credit fees on the average daily aggregate available amount of all
letters of credit outstanding monthly at a rate per annum of 3.0% and a monthly unused fee at a rate per annum of 0.30% on the aggregate unused
commitment under the Credit Agreement. We granted Wells Fargo a security interest in all of our assets, including all cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, general intangibles, owned real property, equipment and fixtures. In addition, under the Credit Agreement, we are subject to certain standard
affirmative and negative covenants, including the following financial covenants: 1) maintaining a minimum adjusted EBITDA, as defined in the credit
Agreement, of no less than the monthly minimum amounts set forth in the Credit Agreement and 2) limiting non-financed capital expenditures during 2012 to
$6.5 million, provided that such expenditures would not cause the ratio of excess availability, as defined in the Credit Agreement, to aggregate non-financed
capital expenditures to be less than 1:50 to 1:00. The requirement for non-financed capital expenditures may be increased quarterly by an amount equal to
50% of any positive variance between budgeted and actual adjusted EBITDA results measured at the end of each quarter. We and Wells Fargo are required to
agree on financial covenants for the remaining term of the Credit Agreement beyond 2012, and any failure to do so will constitute an event of default. In
connection with the termination of our secured line of credit with UMB Bank, we liquidated all of our outstanding hedge positions with UMB Bank as of this
date, and replaced them with new hedges with Wells Fargo Bank, which resulted in a gain of approximately $0.2 million during the first quarter of 2012.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS — YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND DECEMBER 31, 2010
The following table presents selected items from our Consolidated Statements of Operations in thousands of dollars and as a percentage of revenue for the
periods indicated:

Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative
expenses
Impairment losses and restructuring
charges
Operating loss
Net interest and other income
Loss before income taxes

Year Ended
December 31, 2011

$

219,493
196,508
22,985

% of
Revenue

100.0% $
89.5%
10.5%

Year Ended
December 31, 2010

% change
2010 to
2011

% of
Revenue

265,376
237,672
27,704

100.0%
89.6%
10.4%

-17.3%
-17.3%
-17.0%

44,110

20.1%

43,281

16.3%

1.9%

5,496
(26,621)
33
(26,588)

2.5%
-12.1%
0.0%
-12.1%

2,835
(18,412)
273
(18,139)

1.0%
-6.9%
0.1%
-6.8%

93.9%
NM
NM
NM

Income tax (benefit) expense
Net loss

(126)
(26,462)

$

0.0%
-12.1% $

1,244
(19,383)

0.5%
-7.3%

NM
NM

NM = not meaningful.
The following table summarizes our revenues and gross profit for the periods indicated, by reporting segment:
For the Year Ended December 31,
2011

United States:
Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Gross profit %
Canada:
Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Gross profit %
Offshore:
Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Gross profit %
Company Total:
Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Gross profit %

(in 000s)

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

2010
(% of Total)

(in 000s)

(% of Total)

112,565
99,923
12,642
11.2%

51.3% $
50.8%
55.0% $

167,680
142,656
25,024
14.9%

63.2%
60.0%
90.3%

44,461
41,293
3,168
7.1%

20.2% $
21.0%
13.8% $

64,010
59,889
4,121
6.4%

24.1%
25.2%
14.9%

62,467
55,292
7,175
11.5%

28.5% $
28.1%
31.2% $

33,686
35,127
(1,441)
-4.3%

12.7%
14.8%
1.8%

219,493
196,508
22,985
10.5%

100.0% $
100.0%
100.0% $

265,376
237,672
27,704
10.4%

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
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Revenue
Revenue decreased by $45.9 million, or 17.3%, from $265.4 million in 2010 to $219.5 million in 2011. The decrease was driven by the U.S. and Canadian
segments. Revenue in the U.S. segment decreased by 32.9%, or $55.1 million, due in part to five site closures during 2010 and 2011, which resulted in $31.2
million less revenue in 2011 as compared to 2010. In addition, our closure in Collinsville, Virginia in January 2012 resulted in $10.0 million less revenue in
2011 as compared to 2010 as these programs ramped down. Other revenue decreased by $17.7 million driven by lower call volumes, partially offset by $3.8
million of incremental revenue from new business booked during 2011. Revenue from Canada decreased by $19.5 million, or 30.5%. The decline was driven
by the closure of three sites in Canada in 2010 and 2011 which contributed $13.6 million less revenue during 2011 as compared to 2010. In addition, the
downsizing of our facility in Cornwall, Ontario during 2011 resulted in approximately $9.8 million less revenue in 2011, as compared to 2010. These
declines were partially offset by greater call volumes at our other Canadian facilities. Offshore revenue increased $28.8 million from $33.7 million to $62.5
million due primarily to two new facilities in 2010 and one new facility in 2011. Our Costa Rica facility was opened in March 2010, our second site in the
Philippines in April 2010 and a first site in Honduras in September 2011, which combined contributed $17.9 million in incremental revenue in 2011,
compared to 2010. The remaining increase was driven primarily by new business resulting from an increase in full-time equivalent agents in our other
Philippine location. In the Offshore segment, there was $5.2 million of incremental revenue from new business booked during 2011.
Cost of Services and Gross Profit
Cost of services decreased by $41.2 million, or 17.3%, from $237.7 million in 2010 to $196.5 million in 2011. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue
increased slightly from 10.4% in 2010 to 10.5% in 2011. Cost of services in the U.S. decreased by approximately $42.7 million, or 30.0%, of which $36.2
million related to the ramp-downs and site closures discussed above. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue in the U.S decreased from 14.9% in 2010 to
11.2% in 2011, or $12.4 million. The site closures and ramp downs accounted for $5.0 million of the decline in gross profit in 2011 compared to 2010. Cost
of services in Canada decreased by approximately $18.6 million, or 31.1%. The decrease was driven by a decline of $21.9 million in 2011, compared to
2010, for the four sites that closed and downsized in Canada during 2010 and 2011, described above. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue in Canada
increased from 6.4% in 2010 to 7.1% in 2011, but in dollars decreased by $1.0 million. The site closures and downsizing accounted for $1.6 million of the
decline in gross profit, which was partially offset by improved gross profit at our other Canadian facilities due to higher volumes and better utilization. The
decrease in cost of services in the U.S and Canada were partially offset by greater cost of services in the Offshore segment, which increased by approximately
$20.2 million, or 57.4%. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue Offshore increased from (4.3%) in 2010 to 11.5% in 2011, or $8.6 million. The new
facilities opened in Costa Rica, the Philippines and Honduras in 2010 and 2011 contributed $15.7 million in incremental cost of services and $2.2 million of
incremental gross profit as new business was ramped and utilization improved. The remainder of the increase in cost of services and gross profit was driven
by an increase in agents and better utilization due to the ramp-up of new business in the other Philippine location.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $0.8 million, or 1.9%, from $43.3 million in 2010 to $44.1 million in 2011. As a percentage of
revenue, selling, general and administrative expenses increased from 16.3% in 2010 to 20.1% in 2011. Selling, general and administrative expenses were
higher due to 1) approximately $2.4 million increase in severance in 2011 as compared to 2010 primarily for our former Chief Executive Officer and former
Chief Financial Officer, 2) $0.9 million increase in commission expense related to increased new business, 3) $0.8 million increase in contract labor expenses

and 4) approximately $0.8 million increase in legal fees due primarily to the $0.6 million settlement of an employee labor relations lawsuit. These increases
were partially offset by approximately $3.2 million less in payroll expense in 2011 due to selling, general and administrative headcount reductions and
approximately $0.7 million decrease in bonus expense.
Impairment Losses and Restructuring Charges
Impairment losses and restructuring charges totaled $5.5 million and $2.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. Impairment
losses were $2.4 million in 2011. We recorded $1.1 million in impairment losses ($0.9 million in our U.S. segment and $0.2 million in our Canadian
segment) during 2011 related to long-lived assets such as computer equipment, software, equipment and furniture and fixtures for which the future cash flows
did not support the carrying value of the assets. In addition, in our U.S. segment we recorded approximately $1.3 million of impairment losses on two
buildings to reduce the carrying value to their fair value based upon third-party broker valuations. Restructuring charges totaled $3.1 million in 2011 ($0.2
million in our U.S. segment and $2.9 million in our Canadian segment). The charges were due to 1) approximately
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$1.6 million related to statutorily required severance costs in Canada, 2) approximately $1.2 million to record an additional accrual on our closed Regina,
Saskatchewan facility for an estimated buy-out of the lease and 3) approximately $0.3 million related to other lease related termination costs at closed
facilities.
In 2010, we recorded $4.1 million in impairment charges related to our North American sites that we closed related to long-lived assets at these locations for
which the carrying value is not recoverable and related to other sites in which future cash flows do not support the carrying value of the assets. These charges
totaled $3.2 million in our U.S. segment and $0.9 million in our Canadian segment. We incurred approximately $0.5 million of restructuring charges,
primarily in our U.S. segment, related to site closures. The impairment losses and restructuring charges were offset by a $1.8 million reduction due to a
change in the sublease estimate at one of our Canadian facilities.
Operating Loss
We incurred operating losses of approximately $26.6 million and $18.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. The increase
in the loss period over period was driven by the decrease in revenue and gross profit, one time unusual selling, general and administrative expense items, and
greater impairment losses and restructuring charges, as discussed previously.
Net Interest and Other Income
Net interest and other income was approximately $0.03 million and $0.3 million in 2011 and 2010, respectively. The decrease was primarily due to the
absence of a realized gain in 2010 of approximately $0.1 million for the partial recovery of a previously impaired investment.
Income Tax (Benefit) Expense
We recorded an income tax benefit of $0.1 million during 2011 and income tax expense of $1.2 million in 2010. The income tax expense in 2010 reflected
the establishment of a valuation allowance for substantially all of our U.S. net deferred tax assets during 2010. As such, we did not record an income tax
benefit related to our U.S. operations in 2010 or 2011 despite our loss from continuing operations during 2010 and 2011. Until we generate U.S. income from
continuing operations, we will be unable to utilize the tax benefit related to our net operating loss carryforwards. The income tax benefit recorded during
2011 was primarily related to a taxable loss from our Canadian operations. During 2011, we had income tax holidays in the Philippines, Costa Rica and
Honduras.
Net Loss
Net loss was approximately $26.5 million and $19.4 million in 2011 and 2010, respectively. The increase in the net loss was primarily due to lower revenue
and gross margin, higher selling, general and administrative costs and greater impairment and restructuring charges, partially offset by lower income tax
expense, as discussed previously.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS — YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 AND DECEMBER 31, 2009
Due to the February 2009, sale of our subsidiary, Domain.com, the results of operations related to this line of business have been reported as discontinued
operations for all periods presented below.
The following table presents selected items from our Consolidated Statements of Operations in thousands of dollars and as a percentage of revenue for the
periods indicated:
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Year Ended
December 31, 2010

Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative
expenses
Impairment losses and restructuring
charges
Operating loss

$

265,376
237,672
27,704

% of
Revenue

Year Ended
December 31, 2009

100.0% $
89.6%
10.4%

43,281

16.3%

2,835
(18,412)

1.0%
-6.9%

% change
2009 to
2010

% of
Revenue

288,980
239,879
49,101

100.0%
83.0%
17.0%

-8.2%
-0.9%
-43.6%

43,196

14.9%

0.2%

2.2%
-0.2%

-56.0%
NM

6,437
(532)

Net interest and other income (expense)
Loss from continuing operations before
income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
(Loss) income from continuing
operations
Income from discontinued operations,
net of tax
Net (loss) income

273

$

0.1%

(210)

-0.1%

NM

(18,139)
1,244

-6.8%
0.5%

(742)
(751)

-0.3%
-0.3%

NM
NM

(19,383)

-7.3%

9

0.0%

NM

—
(19,383)

0.0%
-7.3% $

4,640
4,649

1.6%
1.6%

NM
NM

NM = not meaningful.
The following table summarizes our revenues and gross profit for the periods indicated, by reporting segment:
For the Year Ended December 31,
2010

United States:
Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Gross profit %
Canada:
Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Gross profit %
Offshore:
Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Gross profit %
Company Total:
Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Gross profit %

(in 000s)

$
$

$
$

$
$

$
$

2009
(% of Total)

(in 000s)

(% of Total)

167,680
142,656
25,024
14.9%

63.2% $
60.0%
90.3% $

200,737
164,472
36,265
18.1%

69.5%
68.6%
73.9%

64,010
59,889
4,121
6.4%

24.1% $
25.2%
14.9% $

76,307
64,397
11,910
15.6%

26.4%
26.8%
24.3%

33,686
35,127
(1,441)
-4.3%

12.7% $
14.8%
-5.2% $

11,936
11,010
926
7.8%

4.1%
4.6%
1.8%

265,376
237,672
27,704
10.4%

100.0% $
100.0%
100.0% $

288,980
239,879
49,101
17.0%

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

Revenue
Revenue decreased by $23.6 million, or 8.2%, from $289.0 million in 2009 to $265.4 million in 2010. The decrease was driven by the U.S. and Canadian
segments. Revenue in the U.S. segment decreased by 16.5%, or $33.1 million, due in part to three site closures during the year. Our closures in the first
quarter 2010 in Laramie, Wyoming and Victoria, Texas resulted in a decline in revenue of $12.2 million. In addition, we ramped down two sites in 2010 due
to the loss of certain wireline business with our
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largest client. The ramp-down of these programs resulted in $5.4 million less revenue in these sites during 2010, compared to 2009. We also announced in
the fourth quarter that we may close our Alexandria, Louisiana facility in February 2011 due to lower call volumes from our second largest client, the
resulting ramp-down of this site resulted in $2.1 million less revenue in 2010, compared to 2009. The remaining decrease of $13.4 million was driven by
lower call volumes from our two largest wireless clients and wireline clients. Revenue from Canada decreased by $12.3 million, or 16.1%. The decline was
driven by the ramp-down and closure of three sites in Canada (Regina, Saskatchewan in February 2009, Thunder Bay, Ontario in March 2010 and Sarnia,
Ontario in December 2010) which contributed $11.0 million less revenue during 2010, compared to 2009. The remainder of the decrease in the Canadian
segment was due to lower North American call volumes from our two largest clients. Offshore revenue increased $21.8 million from $11.9 million to $33.7
million due primarily to two new facilities opened there in 2010. In March 2010, we opened our site in Costa Rica and in April 2010, we opened our second
site in the Philippines, which combined contributed $12.7 million in incremental revenue in 2010, compared to 2009. The remaining increase was driven by
an increase in full-time equivalent agents in our other Philippine location.
Cost of Services and Gross Profit
Cost of services decreased by $2.2 million, or 0.9%, from $239.9 million in 2009 to $237.7 million in 2010. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue
decreased from 17.0% in 2009 to 10.4% in 2010. Cost of services in the U.S. decreased by approximately $21.8 million, or 13.3%, of which $17.0 million
related to the ramp-downs and site closures, discussed above. Cost of services in Canada decreased by approximately $4.5 million, or 7.0%. The decrease
was driven by a decline of $8.7 million in 2010, compared to 2009, for the three sites that closed in Canada during 2009 and 2010, described above. This
decline was partially offset by an increase in cost of services of $4.1 million due to a weaker U.S. to Canadian dollar exchange rate in 2010, compared to
2009. These decreases to cost of services were partially offset by greater cost of services in the Offshore segment, which increased by approximately $24.1
million. The increase was primarily due to higher cost of services associated with our new sites in Costa Rica and the Philippines, which increased cost of
services by approximately $15.5 million, and the ramp-up of our Makati, Philippine location which nearly doubled agent headcount in 2010, compared to
2009.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses increased by $0.1 million, or 0.2%, from $43.2 million in 2009 to $43.3 million in 2010. As a percentage of
revenue, selling, general and administrative expenses increased from 14.9% in 2009 to 16.3% in 2010. Selling, general and administrative expenses were
higher due to an approximately $3.0 million increase in base salary expense due in part to the hire of several executives and approximately $0.9 million in
severance expense recorded during the fourth quarter of 2010. These increases were partially offset by $0.6 million from the absence of expenses related to
the settlement of a shareholder lawsuit in 2009, and declines of $0.9 million in hiring expense, $0.4 million in legal expense, $0.4 million in contract labor,
and $1.4 million related to payroll processing, personnel expense, consulting fees, training and travel expenses.
Impairment Losses and Restructuring Charges
Impairment losses and restructuring charges totaled $2.8 million and $6.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. We
recorded $4.1 million in impairment charges during 2010 related to our North American sites that we closed related to long-lived assets at these locations for
which the carrying value is not recoverable and related to other sites in which future cash flows do not support the carrying value of the assets. These charges
totaled $3.2 million in our U.S. segment and $0.9 million in our Canadian segment. We incurred approximately $0.5 million of restructuring charges,
primarily in our U.S. segment, related to the above mentioned site closures. The impairment losses and restructuring charges were offset by a $1.8 million
reduction due to a change in the sublease estimate at one of our Canadian facilities. We recorded approximately $1.7 million in impairment losses during
2009 in our Canadian segment due to the impairment of certain long-lived assets for which the carrying value of those assets is not recoverable and
restructuring charges totaled $4.7 million in 2009, related primarily to the February 2009 closure of our Regina, Saskatchewan facility.
Operating Loss
We incurred operating losses of approximately $18.4 million and $0.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively. The increase in
the loss period over period was driven by the decrease in revenue and gross profit, partially offset by fewer impairment losses and restructuring charges, as
discussed previously.
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Net Interest and Other Income (Expense)
Net interest and other income was approximately $0.3 million in 2010, compared to net interest and other expense of $0.2 million in 2009. The change was
primarily due to a decrease in interest expense of approximately $0.2 million period over period due to the pay-off of certain notes payable in 2009, and a
realized gain of approximately $0.1 million for the partial recovery of a previously impaired investment.
Income Tax Expense (Benefit)
The provision for income taxes of $1.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2010 reflects the establishment of a valuation allowance for substantially all
of our U.S. net deferred tax assets. During 2010, we evaluated all positive and negative evidence related to our ability to utilize our U.S. deferred tax assets
and recorded a valuation allowance due to our three-year historical cumulative losses, recent operating losses and a 2010 U.S. pre-tax loss, which reduced the
income tax benefit by $9.2 million in 2010.
Income from Discontinued Operations, net of tax
Income from discontinued operations was approximately $4.6 million in 2009. In February 2009, we sold Domain.com, a then wholly owned subsidiary, for
cash of approximately $7.1 million. We had a gain on the sale of approximately $6.9 million, less taxes of $2.3 million, resulting in income of $4.6 million.
Net (Loss) Income
Net loss was approximately $19.4 million in 2010 and net income was approximately $4.6 million in 2009. The change was primarily due to lower revenue
and gross margin, the absence of income from discontinued operations and greater tax expense, partially offset by less impairment and restructuring charges,
as discussed previously.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
As of December 31, 2011, working capital totaled $32.8 million and our current ratio was 2.40:1, compared to working capital of $50.2 million and a current
ratio of 2.81:1 at December 31, 2010. The decline in working capital of approximately $17.4 million from December 31, 2010 to December 31, 2011 was
primarily due to a $9.0 million decline in cash and cash equivalents and a $9.3 million decline in accounts receivable. The decrease in cash and cash
equivalents is described in further detail below. The decrease in accounts receivable was due primarily to lower revenue. Our days sales outstanding
(“DSO”) remained consistent at 68 days at December 31, 2011, compared to 67 days at December 31, 2010. We compute DSO as follows: period-end
receivables, net of allowances, divided by the average daily revenue. For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, we made payments under our
restructuring plans of $3.6 million and $2.5 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2011, our remaining liability related to the restructuring plans was
approximately $1.7 million.
We have historically financed our operations, liquidity requirements, capital expenditures, and capacity expansion primarily through cash flows from
operations, and to a lesser degree, through various forms of debt and leasing arrangements. In addition to funding basic operations, our primary uses of cash
typically relate to capital expenditures to upgrade our existing information technologies and service offerings and investments in our facilities. During the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, we drew and re-paid approximately $2.8 million, $2.0 million and $22.2 million, respectively. Due to the
timing of our collections of large billings with our major customers, we have historically needed to draw on our line of credit for ongoing operating activities.
As of December 31, 2011, we had a $7.5 million secured line of credit with UMB Bank. The amount available under the line was subject to adjustment for
any proceeds received on the sale of our assets classified as held for sale on our Consolidated Balance Sheets but in no event would it fall below $5 million.
Borrowings bore interest, at our option at the time of borrowing, of the thirty, sixty or ninety day LIBOR index, plus 3.75% and the interest rate would never
be less than 4.50% per annum. UMB Bank retained a security interest in all of our present and future accounts receivable, general intangibles, and owned real
property. As of December 31, 2011, we were in compliance with our financial covenants and did not have any amount outstanding on the line credit.
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On February 28, 2012, we terminated our secured line of credit with UMB Bank, which was effective through August 1, 2012 and replaced it with a secured
revolving credit facility with Wells Fargo Bank. The Credit Agreement is effective February 28, 2012 through February 28, 2015. The amount that we may
borrow under the Credit Agreement is subject to a borrowing base calculation, and has an initial availability of $10 million, with the flexibility to borrow up
to $20 million at our option. Borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at the daily three-month LIBOR index plus 2.50% to 3.00% depending on
the calculation of the fixed charge coverage ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement. We granted Wells Fargo a security interest in all of our cash and cash
equivalents, accounts receivable, general intangibles, owned real property, equipment and fixtures.
As described further below, we had negative cash flows from operations during the year ended December 31, 2011. The negative cash flows were primarily a
result of our net loss during the period. We have put into place cash management practices to limit discretionary spending and monitor our capital
expenditures, which we believe will result in an improvement in cash flows in 2012. We believe that the borrowing capacity under the new secured line of
credit with Wells Fargo Bank, together with cash on hand and anticipated cash flow from operations, will be adequate to meet our working capital and capital
expenditure requirements for the next year. A decrease in demand for our services, particularly from any of our principal clients, which could arise from a
number of factors, including, but not limited to, competitive pressures, adverse trends in the business process outsourcing market, industry consolidation,
adverse circumstances with respect to the industries we service, and any of the other factors we describe more fully in Item 1A. “Risk Factors” of this
Form 10-K could adversely affect our business and our liquidity position.
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities
Investing activities
Financing activities
Effect of foreign exchange rates on cash
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents

Year Ended December 31,
2010

2011

$

(1,268)
(8,298)
149
396
(9,021)

$

$

$

14,717
(16,061)
270
223
(851)

2009

$

$

15,654
411
(6,849)
795
10,011

Our balance of cash and cash equivalents was $9.7 million at December 31, 2011, compared to a balance of $18.7 million at December 31, 2010.
CASH FLOWS — YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2011 AND DECEMBER 31, 2010
Operating Activities. Net cash used in operating activities was $1.3 million in 2011, compared to net cash provided by operating activities of $14.7 million in
2010, representing a decrease of $16.0 million. The decrease of $16.0 million in cash provided by operating activities was driven by the following: 1) $10.2
million increase in the net loss after impairment losses and depreciation expense over 2011 (net loss increased by $7.1 million and impairment losses and
depreciation expense decreased by $3.1 million), 2) $6.1 million decline in the change in income tax receivable due to the absence of a large income tax
refund collected in the first quarter of 2010, 3) $2.6 million decrease in the change in accounts payable due to timing of payments and 4) $1.4 million
decrease in the change in deferred tax assets due to a larger decrease in deferred tax assets in 2010 related to the establishment of a valuation allowance that
year. These decreases to cash from operating activities were partially offset by a $4.6 million increase in collections of accounts receivable year over year due
to the timing of collections.
Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities was $8.3 million in 2011 and $16.1 million in 2010. The decrease was primarily due to 1) a
decrease of $8.0 million in purchases of property, plant and equipment as we limited our capital expenditures in our Honduran expansion, compared to the
two new facilities we built out in Costa Rica and the Philippines in 2010 and 2) a decrease of $0.6 million in proceeds from the disposition of available for
sale securities.
Financing Activities. Net cash provided by financing activities was $0.1 million in 2011 and $0.3 million in 2010. The decrease was primarily due to 1)
$0.1 million fewer proceeds on the issuance of common stock due to fewer stock option exercises and purchases under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan
and 2) $0.1 million decrease in payments on capital lease obligations.
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CASH FLOWS — YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2010 AND DECEMBER 31, 2009
Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations decreased by $3.3 million from $18.0 million in 2009 to $14.7
million in 2010. The decrease of $3.3 million in cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations was driven by the following decreases: 1)
$19.4 million decrease in income from continuing operations, 2) $5.9 million in deferred income taxes and 3) $2.7 million decrease in the change in accrued
liabilities due to fewer restructuring costs in 2010, compared to 2009. These decreases to cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations
were partially offset by the following increases:1) $9.3 million change due to a reduction in our income tax receivable year over year resulting primarily from
a large income tax refund collected in the first quarter of 2010, 2) $4.2 million lower accounts receivable period over period due to timing of payments, 3)
$4.1 million in higher accounts payable in 2010 compared to 2009 due to timing of payment and 4) $3.9 million greater change in prepaid expenses which
was relatively flat in 2010 but increased by $3.4 million in 2009 due primarily to an increase in maintenance contracts in 2009.
Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities was $16.1 million in 2010 compared to cash provided by investing activities of $0.4 million in
2009. The increase was primarily due to 1) the absence of proceeds from the sale of Domain.com of $7.1 million recorded in 2009, 2) a $7.4 million decrease
in the proceeds from the sale of investments and 3) an increase of $2.3 million in purchases of property, plant and equipment due to new site openings in
Costa Rica in March 2010 and the Philippines in April 2010.
Financing Activities. Net cash provided by financing activities was $0.3 million in 2010 compared to cash used in financing activities of $6.8 million in
2009. The change was primarily due to the absence of payments on long-term debt which were $6.9 million in 2009 as we paid off two equipment loans in
the second quarter of 2009.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
Other than operating leases for certain equipment and real estate and commitments to purchase goods and services in the future, in each case as reflected in
the table below, we have no off-balance sheet transactions, unconditional purchase obligations or similar instruments and we are not a guarantor of any other
entities’ debt or other financial obligations. The following table presents a summary (in thousands), by period, of our future contractual obligations and
payments as of December 31, 2011:
Within
1 Year

Operating leases (1)
Capital leases (2)
Total contractual obligations

$
$

9,693
103
9,796

1-2
Years

$
$

8,030
20
8,050

2-3
Years

$

7,228
7
7,235

$

3-4
Years

$
$

3,952
—
3,952

4-5
Years

$
$

2,541
—
2,541

Thereafter

$
$

4,350
—
4,350

Total

$
$
$

35,794
130
35,924

(1) We lease facilities and equipment under various non-cancelable operating leases. As of December 31, 2011, there was $1.2 million of minimum
rentals to be received in the future under non-cancelable subleases.
(2) We lease equipment under certain capital lease agreements.
Line of Credit
On November 15, 2011, we entered into a business loan agreement and promissory note (together the “Agreement”) with UMB Bank Colorado, N.A. (“UMB
Bank”) for a $7.5 million secured revolving line of credit. The Agreement was effective November 8, 2011 through August 1, 2012. This Agreement
replaced our previous $7.5 million secured revolving line of credit with UMB Bank. Under the Agreement, the amount available under the line of credit was
to be reduced by the amount of any proceeds received on the sale of our assets classified as held for sale in our Consolidated Balance Sheets, but in no event
would it fall below $5 million. Borrowings under the Agreement bore interest at the thirty day LIBOR index, plus 3.75%. The interest rate was to never be
less than 4.50% per annum. This was an increase from the terms of our previous agreement which were that borrowings bore interest, at our option at the
time of the borrowing, of the thirty, sixty or ninety day LIBOR index, plus 3.25% and that the interest rate wouldn’t be less than 4.00% per annum. Under the
Agreement, UMB Bank maintained a security interest in all of our present and future accounts receivable, general intangibles, and owned real property. In
addition, under the Agreement, we were subject to certain financial covenants, which include maintaining 1) a tangible net worth of at least $75 million, 2)
unencumbered liquid assets, defined as cash, certificates of deposit and marketable securities, of at least $6.5 million
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measured on the last day of each fiscal quarter and 3) a cash flow coverage ratio, as defined in the Agreement, of greater than 1.50 to 1.0 measured on the last
day of each fiscal quarter for the previous twelve months. The definition of our tangible net worth requirement excluded the calculation of any gains or losses
associated with our assets classified as held for sale on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of December 31, 2011, we were in compliance with all of our
debt covenants, including the tangible net worth requirement which after adding back our impairment loss on a held for sale facility was $75.4 million.
On February 28, 2012, we terminated our secured line of credit with UMB Bank, which was effective through August 1, 2012 and replaced it with a secured
revolving credit facility with Wells Fargo Bank. The Credit Agreement is effective February 28, 2012 through February 28, 2015. The amount that we may
borrow under the Credit Agreement is subject to a borrowing base calculation, and has an initial availability of $10 million, with the flexibility to borrow up
to $20 million at our option. Borrowings under the Credit Agreement bear interest at the daily three-month LIBOR index plus 2.50% to 3.00% depending on
the calculation of the fixed charge coverage ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement. We will pay letter of credit fees on the average daily aggregate
available amount of all letters of credit outstanding monthly at a rate per annum of 3.0% and a monthly unused fee at a rate per annum of 0.30% on the
aggregate unused commitment under the Credit Agreement. We granted Wells Fargo a security interest in all of our cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, general intangibles, owned real property, equipment and fixtures. In addition, under the Credit Agreement, we are subject to certain financial
covenants, which include 1) maintaining a minimum adjusted EBITDA, as defined in the Credit Agreement, of no less than the monthly minimum amounts
set forth in the Credit Agreement and 2) limiting non-financed capital expenditures during 2012 to $6.5 million, provided that such expenditures would not
cause the ratio of excess availability, as defined in the Credit Agreement, to aggregate non-financed capital expenditures to be less than 1:50 to 1:00. The
requirement for non-financed capital expenditures may be increased quarterly by an amount equal to 50% of any positive variance between budgeted and
actual adjusted EBITDA results measured at the end of each quarter.
OTHER FACTORS IMPACTING LIQUIDITY
Effective November 4, 2004, our board of directors authorized purchases of up to $25 million of our common stock. The repurchase program will remain in
effect until terminated by the board of directors and will allow us to repurchase shares of our common stock from time to time on the open market, in block
trades and in privately-negotiated transactions. Repurchases will be implemented by the Chief Financial Officer consistent with the guidelines adopted by the
board of directors from time to time and will depend on market conditions and other factors. Any repurchased shares will be made in accordance with SEC
rules. We have not yet repurchased any shares pursuant to this board authorization.
Our business currently has a high concentration on a few principal clients. The loss of a principal client and/or changes in timing or termination of a principal
client’s product launch or service offering would have a material adverse effect on our business, liquidity, operating results, and financial condition. These
client relationships are further discussed in Item 1A. “Risk Factors” and in Note 5, “Principal Clients,” to our Consolidated Financial Statements, which are
included at Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Financial Data,” of this Form 10-K. To limit our credit risk, management from time to time will
perform credit evaluations of our clients. Although we are directly impacted by the economic conditions in which our clients operate, management does not
believe substantial credit risk existed as of December 31, 2011.
There is a risk that the counterparties to our hedging instruments could suffer financial difficulties due to economic conditions or other reasons and we could
realize losses on these arrangements which could impact our liquidity. However, we do not believe we are exposed to more than a nominal amount of credit
risk in our derivative hedging activities, as the counterparties are established, well-capitalized financial institutions.
Because we service relatively few, large clients, the availability of cash is highly dependent on the timing of cash receipts from accounts receivable. As a
result, from time to time, we borrow cash from our line of credit to cover short-term cash needs. These borrowings are typically outstanding for a short

period of time before they are repaid. However, our debt balance can fluctuate significantly during any given quarter as part of our ordinary course of
business. Accordingly, our debt balance at the end of any given period is not necessarily indicative of the debt balance at any other time during that period.
Although management cannot accurately anticipate effects of domestic and foreign inflation on our operations, management does not believe inflation has had
a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition. However, there is a risk that inflation could occur in certain countries in which
we operate which could have an adverse affect on our financial results. We engage in hedging activities which may reduce this risk; however, currency
hedges do not, and will not, eliminate our exposure to foreign inflation.
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VARIABILITY OF OPERATING RESULTS
Our business has been seasonal only to the extent that our clients’ marketing programs and product launches are geared toward the winter holiday buying
season. We have experienced and expect to continue to experience some quarterly variations in revenue and operating results due to a variety of factors,
many of which are outside our control, including: (i) timing and amount of costs incurred to expand capacity in order to provide for volume growth from
existing and future clients; (ii) changes in the volume of services provided to principal clients; (iii) expiration or termination of client projects or contracts;
(iv) timing of existing and future client product launches or service offerings; (v) seasonal nature of certain clients’ businesses; and (vi) variability in demand
for our services by our clients depending on demand for their products or services and/or depending on our performance.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations are based upon our Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been prepared
in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of our financial statements requires us to make estimates that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our accounting estimates on
historical experience and other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. However, actual results may vary from these estimates due to
factors beyond our control or due to changes in these assumptions or conditions. We have discussed the development and selection of critical accounting
policies and estimates with our Audit Committee. The following is a summary of our critical accounting policies and estimates we make in preparing our
Consolidated Financial Statements.
Revenue Recognition
We invoice our business process outsourcing services clients monthly in arrears and recognize revenue for such services when completed. For substantially all
of our contractual arrangements for business process outsourcing services, we recognize revenue based either on the billable hours or minutes of each
customer service representative, at rates provided in the client contract, or on a rate-per-transaction basis. The contractual rates can fluctuate based on our
performance against certain pre-determined criteria related to quality and performance. Additionally, some clients are contractually entitled to penalties when
we are out of compliance with certain quality and/or performance obligations defined in the client contract. Such penalties are recorded as a reduction to
revenue as incurred, based on a measurement of the appropriate penalty under the terms of the client contract.
As a general rule, our contracts are not multiple element contracts. We provide initial training to customer service representatives upon commencement of
new contracts and recognize revenues for such training as the services are provided based upon the production rate (i.e., billable hours and rates related to the
training services as stipulated in our contractual arrangements). Accordingly, the corresponding training costs, consisting primarily of labor and related
expenses, are recognized as incurred.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Fair value is the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. When determining the fair value measurements for assets and liabilities, which are required to be recorded at fair value, we consider the
principal or most advantageous market in which we would transact and the market-based risk measurements or assumptions that market participants would
use in pricing the asset or liability, such as inherent risk, transfer restrictions, and credit risk.
The fair value hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted
quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (level 3
measurements). The levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:
Level 1

Valuation is based upon quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets.

Level 2

Valuation is based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar
instruments in markets that are not active, and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions are
observable in the market.

Level 3

Valuation is generated from model-based techniques that use significant assumptions not observable in the market. These
unobservable assumptions reflect our own estimates of assumptions that market
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participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. Valuation techniques include use of option pricing models, discounted cash
flow models and similar techniques.
As of December 31, 2011, the fair value of our assets measured using unobservable inputs (ie: Level 3 assets) were 5% of our total assets and as of
December 31, 2011, the fair value of our liabilities measured using unobservable inputs (ie: Level 3 liabilities) were 6%. Refer to Note 7, “Fair Value
Measurements”, to our Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Financial Data.”

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
We periodically, on at least an annual basis, evaluate potential impairments of our long-lived assets. In our annual evaluation or when we determine that the
carrying value of a long-lived asset may not be recoverable, based upon the existence of one or more indicators of impairment, we evaluate the projected
undiscounted cash flows related to the assets. If these cash flows are less than the carrying values of the assets, we measure the impairment based on the
excess of the carrying value of the long-lived asset over the long-lived asset’s fair value. Where appropriate we use a probability-weighted approach to
determine our future cash flows, based upon our estimate of the likelihood of certain scenarios, primarily whether we expect to sell new business within a
current location. These estimates are consistent with our internal projections and external communications and public disclosures. Our projections contain
assumptions pertaining to anticipated levels of utilization and revenue that may or may not be under contract but are based on our experience and/or
projections received from our customers. If our estimate of the probability of different scenarios changed by 10%, the impact to our financial statements
would not be material. As described in Note 2, “Impairment Losses and Restructuring Charges,” during the year ended December 31, 2011, we recorded
impairment losses in our U.S. and Canadian segments, due to the impairment of certain long-lived assets for which the carrying value of those assets is not
recoverable based upon our estimated future cash flows. Given that the impairment losses were valued using internal estimates of future cash flows, we have
classified the remaining fair value of long-lived assets as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
In 2010, we committed to a plan to sell the buildings at our closed facilities in Laramie, Wyoming and Greeley, Colorado. During 2011, we received new
estimates of the selling prices of these buildings, and as a result have reduced the value of the buildings to fair value, less costs to sell, or approximately $4.1
million at December 31, 2011. This resulted in an impairment loss of approximately $1.0 million during 2011. The measurement of the fair value of the
buildings was based upon our third-party real estate broker’s non-binding estimate of fair value using the observable market information regarding sale prices
of comparable assets. As these inputs to the determination of fair value are based upon non-identical assets and use significant unobservable inputs, we have
classified the assets as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
Restructuring Charges
On an ongoing basis, management assesses the profitability and utilization of our facilities and in some cases management has chosen to close facilities.
Severance payments that occur from reductions in workforce are in accordance with our postemployment plans and/or statutory requirements that are
communicated to all employees upon hire date; therefore, severance liabilities are recognized when they are determined to be probable and reasonably
estimable. Other liabilities for costs associated with an exit or disposal activity are recognized when the liability is incurred, instead of upon commitment to
an exit plan. A significant assumption used in determining the amount of the estimated liability for closing a facility is the estimated liability for future lease
payments on vacant facilities. We determine our estimate of sublease based on our ability to successfully negotiate early termination agreements with
landlords, a third-party broker or management’s assessment of our ability to sublease the facility based upon the market conditions in which the facility is
located. If the assumptions regarding early termination and the timing and amounts of sublease payments prove to be inaccurate, we may be required to
record additional losses, or conversely, a future gain, in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss). We expect to pay
approximately $1.7 million of additional restructuring charges under our Victoria, Laramie, Grand Junction and Regina plans which we expect to incur in
2012. During 2011, we recorded approximately $1.1 million in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss) for an
additional accrual related to our Regina facility due to changes in our estimates regarding our ability to buy-out the lease at this facility. We have also made
an estimate of a sublease in our Grand Junction restructuring plan and an assumption about our time required to sell our facility in our Laramie restructuring
plan. If our estimated sublease period decreased by 10% of the remaining lease term, our estimated buy-out decreased by 10% or our estimated sale date
decreased by 10%, the impact to our financial statements would be to increase the estimated liability by approximately $0.4 million. Conversely, if our
estimated sublease period increased by 10% of the remaining lease term, our estimated buy-out decreased by 10%, or our estimated sale date decreased by
10%, the impact to our financial statements would be to decrease the estimated liability by approximately $0.4 million. For additional information, see Note
2, “Impairment Losses and Restructuring
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Charges,” to our Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Financial Data.”
Accrued restructuring costs were valued using a discounted cash flow model. Significant assumptions used in determining the amount of the estimated
liability for closing a facility are the estimated liability for future lease payments on vacant facilities and the discount rate utilized to determine the present
value of the future expected cash flows. As described in Note 2, “Impairment Losses and Restructuring Charges,” during the year ended December 31, 2011
and 2010, we closed several facilities. These costs were valued using a discounted cash flow model. The cash flows consist of the future lease payment
obligations required under the lease agreement. We assumed that we could sublease the facility in Grand Junction for a portion of the remaining lease term
based on our knowledge of the respective marketplace, as well as our historical ability to sublease our facilities in other locations in which we operate. We
assumed that we could complete a buy-out of the facility in Regina, Saskatchewan due to ongoing negotiations with the landlord of this facility. In the future,
if we sublease for periods that differ from our assumption or if our estimate of a buy-out differs from our assumption, we may be required to record a gain or
loss in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss). Future cash flows also include estimated property taxes through
the remainder of the lease term, which are valued based upon historical tax payments. Given that the restructuring charges were valued using our internal
estimates using a discounted cash flow model, we have classified the accrued restructuring costs as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
We record derivative instruments in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as either an asset or liability measured at its fair value, with changes in the fair value of
qualifying hedges recorded in other comprehensive income. As of December 31, 2011, we recorded a gross derivative asset related to our unrealized gains of
approximately $0.1 million and a gross derivative liability related to our unrealized losses of approximately $0.6 million. Changes in a derivative’s fair value
are recognized currently in earnings unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met. Special accounting for qualifying hedges allows a derivative’s gains
and losses to offset the related results of the hedged item and requires that we must formally document, designate and assess the effectiveness of transactions
that receive hedge accounting treatment.
We are generally able to apply cash flow hedge accounting which associates the results of the hedges with forecasted future expenses. The current mark-tomarket gain or loss is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets and will be re-classified to
operations as the forecasted expenses are incurred, typically within one year. During 2011, 2010 and 2009, our cash flow hedges were highly effective and
there were no amounts charged to the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income for hedge ineffectiveness. While we
expect that our derivative instruments that have been designated as hedges will continue to meet the conditions for hedge accounting, if hedges do not qualify

as highly effective or if we do not believe that forecasted transactions will occur, the changes in the fair value of the derivatives used as hedges will be
reflected in earnings.
Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred income taxes reflect net effects of temporary differences between carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and amounts used for income tax purposes. We are subject to foreign income taxes on our
foreign operations. We are required to estimate our income taxes in each jurisdiction in which we operate. This process involves estimating our actual current
tax exposure, together with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and financial reporting purposes. The tax
effects of these temporary differences are recorded as deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities. Deferred tax assets generally represent items that can be
used as a tax deduction or credit in our tax return in future years for which we have already recorded the expense in our financial statements. Deferred tax
liabilities generally represent tax items that have been deducted for tax purposes, but have not yet been recorded as expenses in our financial statements.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences
are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period during
which such rates are enacted.
We consider all available evidence to determine whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. The
ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences
become realizable. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities (including the impact of available carryback and carryforward
periods), and projected taxable income in assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets. In making such judgments, significant weight is given to evidence
that can be
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objectively verified. Based on all available evidence, in particular our three-year historical cumulative losses, recent operating losses and a U.S. pre-tax loss
for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2010, we recorded a valuation allowance against our U.S. net deferred tax assets in 2010, which increased tax
expense by $9.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2010. The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 was
$20.1 million and $9.5 million, respectively. In order to fully realize the U.S. deferred tax assets, we will need to generate sufficient taxable income in future
periods before the expiration of the deferred tax assets governed by the tax code. As of December 31, 2011, we had gross federal net operating loss carry
forwards of $29.6 million, of which $11.0 million expire in 2030 and $18.6 million expire in 2031. We have gross state net operating loss carry forwards of
$34.0 million, which expire through 2031 as follows: approximately $0.3 million in 2013, $0.2 million in 2014, $1.3 million in 2015, $1.6 million in 2016,
$0.4 million in 2019, $0.5 million in 2020, $1.2 million in 2022, $1.4 million in 2023, $0.2 million in 2024, $0.7 million in 2025, $0.9 million in 2026, $1.0
million in 2027, $6.5 million in 2028, $0.4 million in 2029, $7.5 million in 2030 and $9.9 million in 2031.
We record tax benefits when they are more likely than not to be realized. Our policy is to reflect penalties and interest as part of income tax expense as they
become applicable. We file numerous consolidated and separate income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and in many state jurisdictions, as well as
in Canada, the Philippines, Costa Rica and Honduras. Our U.S. federal returns and most state returns for tax years 2008 and forward are subject to
examination. Canadian returns for tax years 2007 and forward are subject to examination. Our returns since our commencement of operations in the
Philippines in 2008, Costa Rica in 2010 and Honduras in 2011 are subject to examination. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, there were no unrecognized
income tax benefits.
Stock-Based Compensation
We recognize expense related to all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, in our Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income based on the share-based payments’ fair values amortized straight-line over the period during which the
employees are required to provide services in exchange for the equity instruments. We estimate forfeitures when calculating compensation expense. We use
the Black-Scholes method for valuing stock-based awards. See Note 10, “Share-Based Compensation,” to our Consolidated Financial Statements, included in
Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Financial Data.”
Operating Leases
Rent holidays, landlord/tenant incentives and escalations are included in some instances in the base price of our rent payments over the term of our operating
leases. We recognize rent holidays and rent escalations on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The landlord/tenant incentives are recorded as deferred rent
and amortized on a straight line basis over the lease term. We depreciate leasehold improvements associated with operating leases over the shorter of the
expected useful life or remaining life of the lease.
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
On January 1, 2011, we adopted guidance issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) on revenue recognition. The FASB issued new
standards for revenue recognition with multiple deliverables. These new standards impact the determination of when the individual deliverables included in a
multiple-element arrangement may be treated as separate units of accounting. Additionally, these new standards modify the manner in which the transaction
consideration is allocated across the separately identified deliverables by no longer permitting the residual method of allocating arrangement consideration.
This guidance became effective for us beginning in the first quarter of fiscal 2011. Our adoption of the new accounting guidance did not have an impact on
our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
On January 1, 2011, we adopted FASB’s Accounting Standards Codification guidance for fair value measurements and disclosure was updated to require
enhanced detail in the Level 3 reconciliation. Adoption of the updated guidance, effective for our fiscal year beginning January 1, 2011, had no impact on our
condensed consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Refer to Note 7, “Fair Value Measurements”, to our Consolidated Financial
Statements, included in Item 8, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Financial Data” for further details regarding our assets and liabilities measured at
fair value.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued new guidance for fair value measurements intended to achieve common fair value
measurement and disclosure requirements in U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting
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Standards. The amended guidance provides a consistent definition of fair value to ensure that the fair value measurement and disclosure requirements are
similar between U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards. The amended guidance changes certain fair value measurement principles and
enhances the disclosure requirements, particularly for Level 3 fair value measurements. The amended guidance was effective for us beginning January 1,
2012. We do not anticipate that these changes will have a significant impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
In June 2011, the FASB issued guidance that modified how comprehensive income is presented in an entity’s financial statements. The guidance issued
requires an entity to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the components of other comprehensive income either in a
single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements and eliminates the option to present the components of
other comprehensive income as part of the statement of equity. We adopted the revised financial statement presentation for comprehensive income effective
January 1, 2012.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
In the normal course of business, we are exposed to certain market risks related to changes in interest rates and other general market risks, equity market
prices, and foreign currency exchange rates. We have established an investment portfolio policy which provides for, among other things, investment
objectives and portfolio allocation guidelines.
This discussion contains forward-looking statements subject to risks and uncertainties. Actual results could vary materially as a result of a number of factors,
including but not limited to, changes in interest and inflation rates or market expectations thereon, equity market prices, foreign currency exchange rates, and
those factors set forth in Item 1A. “Risk Factors” of this Form 10-K.
INTEREST RATE RISK
Cash and Cash Equivalents
At December 31, 2011, we had $9.7 million in cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are not restricted. We consider cash equivalents to be
short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash, and so near their maturity at purchase that they present insignificant risk
of changes in value because of changes in interest rates. We do not expect any substantial loss with respect to our cash and cash equivalents as a result of
interest rate changes, and the estimated fair value of our cash and cash equivalents approximates original cost.
Outstanding Debt
As of December 31, 2011 we had a $7.5 million secured revolving line of credit with UMB Bank. The interest rate on the line of credit was variable based
upon the LIBOR index, and therefore, is affected by changes in market interest rates. As of December 31, 2011, there was no amount outstanding on the line
of credit. The average outstanding balance in 2011 was approximately $0.2 million. On February 28, 2012, we entered into an agreement with Wells Fargo
Bank for a secured revolving credit facility. The term of the credit facility is three years. The interest rate on the line of credit is variable based upon the
three-month LIBOR index, and therefore, is affected by changes in market interest rates. If the LIBOR increased 100 basis points, there would not be a
material impact to our Consolidated Financial Statements.
FOREIGN CURRENCY EXCHANGE RISKS
We enter into foreign currency exchange contracts to hedge our anticipated operating commitments that are denominated in foreign currencies. The contracts
cover periods commensurate with expected exposure, generally three to nine months, and are principally unsecured foreign exchange contracts. The market
risk exposure is essentially limited to risk related to currency rate movements. We operate in Canada, the Philippines, Costa Rica and Honduras. The
functional currencies in Canada and the Philippines are the Canadian dollar and the Philippine peso, which are used to pay labor and other operating costs in
those countries. However, our client contracts generate revenues which are paid to us in U.S. dollars. In Costa Rica and Honduras, our functional currency is
the U.S. dollar and the majority of our costs are denominated in U.S. dollars.
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The following table summarizes the relative strengthening (weakening) of the U.S. dollar against the local currency, average exchange rates and the amount
of local currency used in operations (in 000’s) during the years presented:

U.S. dollar vs. Canadian dollar
Relative strengthening (weakening) during the year
Average exchange rate
Amount of local currency used, net of receipts
U.S. dollar vs. Philippine peso
Relative (weakening) strengthening during the year
Average exchange rate
Amount of local currency used, net of receipts
U.S. dollar vs. Costa Rican colon
Relative strengthening (weakening) during the year

Year Ended December 31,
2010

2011

2.2%
0.99
35,440
(0.6)%
43.2
1,777,076
1.5%

2009

(5.2)%
1.03
52,976

13.6%
1.14
62,923

(4.9)%
44.9
1,218,327

2.6%
47.4
491,479

(9.0)%

(0.9)%

Average exchange rate
Amount of local currency used, net of receipts
U.S. dollar vs. Honduran lempira
Relative strengthening (weakening) during the year
Average exchange rate
Amount of local currency used, net of receipts

500
1,021,947
0.2%
18.5
10,267

513
491,421
(0.2)%
18.5
—

572
—
0.2%
18.6
—

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, we entered into Canadian dollar forward contracts for a notional amount of 27.1 million, 47.0
million and 44.1 million Canadian dollars, respectively, to hedge our foreign currency risk with respect to labor costs in Canada. During the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010, we entered into Philippine peso non-deliverable forward contracts for a notional amount of 2.3 billion and 1.3 billion
Philippine pesos, respectively, to hedge our foreign currency risk with respect to labor costs in the Philippines. As of December 31, 2011, we have not
entered into any arrangements to hedge our exposure to fluctuations in the Costa Rican colon or the Honduran lempira relative to the U.S. dollar. As of
December 31, 2011, we had contracted to purchase 14.9 million Canadian dollars to be delivered periodically through December 2012 at a purchase price of
approximately $14.8 million, and 1.4 billion Philippine pesos to be delivered periodically through December 2012 at a purchase price of approximately $31.8
million.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL DATA
The following Consolidated Financial Statements should be read in conjunction with Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations” of this Form 10-K.
StarTek, Inc. and Subsidiaries:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2011 and 2010
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of StarTek, Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of StarTek, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related
consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive income (loss), cash flows and stockholders’ equity for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2011. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of StarTek, Inc. and
subsidiaries at December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2011, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), StarTek, Inc.’s internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 9, 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Denver, Colorado
March 9, 2012
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STARTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(in thousands, except per share data)
Year Ended December 31,

2011

Revenue
Cost of services
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Impairment losses and restructuring charges
Operating loss
Net interest and other income (expense)
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax (benefit) expense
(Loss) income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net (loss) income

$

2010

$

219,493
196,508
22,985
44,110
5,496
(26,621)
33
(26,588)
(126)
(26,462)
—
(26,462)

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax
Unrealized gain on investments available for sale, net of tax
Change in fair value of derivative instruments, net of tax
Comprehensive (loss) income

2009

$

265,376
237,672
27,704
43,281
2,835
(18,412)
273
(18,139)
1,244
(19,383)
—
(19,383)

$

(162)
—
(1,498)
(28,122)

$

568
—
221
(18,594)

$

901
49
1,838
7,437

Net (loss) income per share from continuing operations:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

(1.75)
(1.75)

$
$

(1.30)
(1.30)

$
$

0.00
0.00

Net (loss) income per share including discontinued operations:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

(1.75)
(1.75)

$
$

(1.30)
(1.30)

$
$

0.31
0.31

Weighted average shares outstanding
Basic
Diluted

$

15,084
15,084

$

$

288,980
239,879
49,101
43,196
6,437
(532)
(210)
(742)
(751)
9
4,640
4,649

14,903
14,903

14,792
14,837

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
39

STARTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in thousands, except share data)
As of December 31,
2011

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade accounts receivable, net
Deferred income tax assets
Derivative asset
Prepaid expenses
Assets held for sale
Current portion of note receivable
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property, plant and equipment, net
Long-term deferred income tax assets
Long-term note receivable, net of current portion
Other long-term assets
Total assets

$

2010

9,719
37,736
193
106
2,534
4,102
660
1,277
56,327

$

18,740
46,989
111
1,078
4,559
5,103
660
594
77,834

$

38,475
3,355
1,192
2,084
101,433

$

46,985
4,102
1,980
1,854
132,755

$

7,385

$

7,344

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities:
Accrued payroll
Accrued compensated absences
Accrued restructuring costs
Other accrued liabilities
Derivative liability
Deferred revenue
Deferred income tax liabilities
Other current liabilities

7,036
3,441
1,260
1,079
616
671
1,363
634

10,294
3,768
1,096
1,484
91
749
2,068
771

Total current liabilities

23,485

27,665

Accrued restructuring costs
Deferred rent
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

390
2,756
440
27,071

998
3,089
356
32,108

152
71,058
1,502
1,650
74,362
101,433

151
69,222
3,162
28,112
100,647
132,755

Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, 32,000,000 non-convertible shares, $0.01 par value, authorized; 15,249,829 and 15,117,029
shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Retained earnings
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

$

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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STARTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollars in thousands)

Operating Activities
Net (loss) income
Income from discontinued operations
(Loss) income from continuing operations
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Impairment of property, plant and equipment
Non-cash compensation cost
Deferred income taxes
Other, net
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade accounts receivable, net
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Income taxes, net
Accrued and other liabilities
Net cash (used in) provided by continuing operating activities
Cash used in discontinued operating activities
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities

Year Ended December 31,
2010

2011

$

(26,462)
—
(26,462)

$

(19,383)
—
(19,383)

2009

$

4,649
4,640
9

15,750
2,381
1,602
(253)
13

17,155
4,112
2,108
1,116
(162)

15,977
1,756
1,987
7,050
22

8,909
1,407
87
(339)
(4,363)
(1,268)
—
(1,268)

4,358
469
2,711
5,764
(3,531)
14,717
—
14,717

108
(3,401)
(1,374)
(3,528)
(617)
17,989
(2,335)
15,654

Investing Activities
Proceeds from disposition of available for sale investments
Proceeds from note receivable
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in continuing investing activities
Cash provided by discontinued investing activities
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

—
660
(8,958)
(8,298)
—
(8,298)

606
275
(16,942)
(16,061)
—
(16,061)

8,019
—
(14,683)
(6,664)
7,075
411

Financing Activities
Proceeds from stock option exercises
Principal payments on borrowings
Proceeds from line of credit
Principal payments on line of credit
Net proceeds from the issuance of common stock
Principal payments on capital lease obligations
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

$
$

111
—
2,809
(2,809)
123
(85)
149
396
(9,021)
18,740
9,719

175
—
2,011
(2,011)
242
(147)
270
223
(851)
19,591
18,740

20
(6,855)
22,236
(22,236)
251
(265)
(6,849)
795
10,011
9,580
19,591

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
Property, plant and equipment acquired or refinanced under long-term debt

$
$
$

8
370
—

$

$
$
$

57
233
—

$

$
$
$

166
750
290

Property, plant and equipment sold under a note receivable

$

—

$

2,915

$

—

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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STARTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(Dollars in thousands)

Common Stock
Shares
Amount

Balance, January 1, 2009
Stock options exercised
Restricted shares granted
Restricted shares forfeited
Issuance of common stock pursuant to
Employee
Stock Purchase Plan
Stock-based compensation expense
Net income
Foreign currency translation
adjustments, net of tax
Unrealized loss on investments
available for sale, net of tax
Change in fair value of derivative
instruments, net of tax
Balance, December 31, 2009
Stock options exercised
Restricted shares granted
Restricted shares forfeited
Shares withheld for taxes on restricted
stock vestings
Issuance of common stock pursuant to
Employee
Stock Purchase Plan
Stock-based compensation expense
Net loss
Foreign currency translation
adjustments, net of tax
Change in fair value of derivative
instruments, net of tax
Balance, December 31, 2010
Stock options exercised
Restricted shares granted
Restricted shares forfeited
Shares withheld for taxes on restricted
stock vestings
Issuance of common stock pursuant to
Employee
Stock Purchase Plan
Stock-based compensation expense
Net loss
Foreign currency translation
adjustments, net of tax
Change in fair value of derivative
instruments, net of tax
Balance, December 31, 2011

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

14,813,912 $
5,082
7,200
(3,249)

148
—
—
—

60,045
—
—

1
—
—

252
1,987
—

—
—
—

—
—
4,649

—
253
1,987
4,649

—

—

—

901

—

901

—

—

—

49

—

49

—
14,882,990 $
49,369
150,545
(27,019)
(841)

—
149
1
1
—

$

$

64,440
20
—
—

$

Total
Stockholders’
Equity

Retained
Earnings

—
66,699 $
174
(1)
—

(415) $
—
—
—

1,838
2,373
—
—
—

—

—

—

61,985
—
—

—
—
—

242
2,108
—

—
—
—

—

—

—

568

—
15,117,029 $
27,596
177,321
(122,439)

—
151 $
—
2
(1)

—
69,222 $
111
(2)
1

(8,131)

—

58,453
—
—

—
—
—

158
1,602
—

—

—

—

—
15,249,829

$

—
152

(34)

$

—
71,058

221
3,162
—
—
—

$

$

STARTEK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2011
(In thousands, except share and per share data)
1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(1,498)
1,502 $

—
28,112
—
—
—

1,838
116,716
175
—
—

—
242
2,108
(19,383)
568

$

—

221
100,647
111
—
—
(34)
—
158
1,602
(26,462)

—
—
(26,462)
—
—
1,650

107,019
20
—
—

—

—

(162)
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$

—
—
(19,383)

—
—
—

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

—
47,495
—
—
—

$

—

—

$

42,846
—
—
—

(162)

$

(1,498)
74,362

StarTek, Inc. is a provider of business process optimization services for outsourced customer interactions. Since 1987, we have provided customer experience
management solutions that solve strategic business challenges so that businesses can effectively manage customer relationships across all contact points
including web, voice, email, fax, and video. This blended solution helps companies create and maintain customer satisfaction and frees them to focus on
preserving capital, while we deliver the customer experience. Headquartered in Denver, Colorado, we operate facilities in the U.S., Canada, the Philippines,
Costa Rica and Honduras. We operate within three business segments: the U.S., Canada and Offshore. We have evaluated all subsequent events through the
date of issuance of our financial statements.
Consolidation
Our Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of all wholly-owned subsidiaries after elimination of significant intercompany accounts and
transactions.
Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2010 and 2009 financial statements to conform to 2011 presentation.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect amounts reported in our Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying Notes. Actual results could differ from
those estimates. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically, and the effects of revisions are reflected in the Consolidated Financial Statements in
the period they are determined to be necessary.
Concentration of Credit Risk
We are exposed to credit risk in the normal course of business, primarily related to accounts receivable and derivative instruments. Historically, the losses
related to credit risk have been immaterial. We regularly monitor credit risk to mitigate the possibility of current and future exposures resulting in a loss. We
evaluate the creditworthiness of clients prior to entering into an agreement to provide services and on an on-going basis as part of the processes of revenue
recognition and accounts receivable. We do not believe we are exposed to more than a nominal amount of credit risk in our derivative hedging activities, as
the counter parties are established, well-capitalized financial institutions.
Foreign Currency Translation
The assets and liabilities of our foreign operations that are recorded in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars at exchange rates prevailing at the
balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated at the weighted-average exchange rate during the reporting period. Resulting translation
adjustments, net of applicable deferred income taxes, are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income in the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheets, which is a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Foreign currency transaction gains and losses are included in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss). Such gains and losses were not material for any period presented.
Revenue Recognition
Business Process Outsourcing Services —We invoice our clients monthly in arrears and recognize revenues for such services when completed. Substantially
all of our contractual arrangements are based either on a production rate, meaning that we recognize revenue based on the billable hours or minutes of each
call center agent, or on a rate per transaction basis. These rates could be based on the number of paid hours the agent works, the number of minutes the agent
is available to answer calls, or the number of minutes the agent is actually handling calls for the client, depending on the client contract. Production rates vary
by
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client contract and can fluctuate based on our performance against certain pre-determined criteria related to quality and performance. Additionally, some
clients are contractually entitled to penalties when we are out of compliance with certain quality and/or performance obligations defined in the client contract.
Such penalties are recorded as a reduction to revenue as incurred based on a measurement of the appropriate penalty under the terms of the client contract.
Likewise, some client contracts stipulate that we are entitled to bonuses should we meet or exceed these predetermined quality and/or performance
obligations. These bonuses are recognized as incremental revenue in the period in which they are earned.
As a general rule, our contracts do not include multiple elements. We provide initial training to customer service representatives upon commencement of new
contracts and recognize revenues for such training as the services are provided based upon the production rate (i.e., billable hours and rates related to the
training services as stipulated in our contractual arrangements). Accordingly, the corresponding training costs, consisting primarily of labor and related
expenses, are recognized as incurred.
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
An allowance for doubtful accounts is provided for known and estimated potential losses arising from sales to customers based on a periodic review of these
accounts. There was no allowance for doubtful accounts as of December 31, 2011 or 2010.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Fair value is the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. When determining the fair value measurements for assets and liabilities, which are required to be recorded at fair value, we consider the
principal or most advantageous market in which we would transact and the market-based risk measurements or assumptions that market participants would
use in pricing the asset or liability, such as inherent risk, transfer restrictions, and credit risk.
Accounting guidance for the measurement of fair value establishes a hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value.
The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1 measurements) and the lowest

priority to unobservable inputs (level 3 measurements). The levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:
Level 1

Valuation is based upon quoted prices for identical instruments traded in active markets.

Level 2

Valuation is based upon quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments
in markets that are not active, and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions are observable in the
market.

Level 3

Valuation is generated from model-based techniques that use significant assumptions not observable in the market. These
unobservable assumptions reflect our own estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability. Valuation techniques include use of option pricing models, discounted cash flow models and similar techniques.

Refer to Note 7, “Fair Value Measurements,” for additional information on how we determine fair value for our assets and liabilities.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
We consider cash equivalents to be short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known amounts of cash and so near their maturity at purchase
that they present insignificant risk of changes in value because of changes in interest rates.
Investments
Investments available for sale have historically consisted of debt securities reported at fair value. Under our investment policy, we may invest in certain U.S.
Government and government-sponsored securities, repurchase agreements, investment grade corporate obligations, corporate debt securities, municipal
securities, money market and mutual funds, subject to the terms of the policy.
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Investments are periodically evaluated for other-than-temporary impairment whenever the fair value falls below our cost basis and we either intend to sell the
security or its more likely than not we will be required to sell the security before it recovers. We then consider additional factors such as market conditions,
the industry sectors in which the issuer of the investment operates, and the viability and prospects of each entity. Other-than-temporary declines in fair value
are reflected on the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) within Net Interest and Other Income. Original cost of
investments available for sale is based on the specific identification method. Other-than-temporary impairments and interest income from investments
available for sale are included in Net Interest and Other Income on the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive
Income (Loss). Investments available for sale are carried at fair market values. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, we were not invested in any trading
securities, available-for-sale securities or held-to-maturity securities.
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
Our derivative instruments consist of foreign currency forward contracts and are recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as either an asset or liability
measured at its fair value, with changes in the fair value of qualifying hedges recorded in other comprehensive income. Changes in a derivative’s fair value
are recognized currently in the Statement of Operations unless specific hedge accounting criteria are met. Special accounting for qualifying hedges allows a
derivative’s gains and losses to offset the related results of the hedged item and requires that we must formally document, designate and assess the
effectiveness of transactions that receive hedge accounting treatment.
We generally are able to apply cash flow hedge accounting which associates the results of the hedges with forecasted future expenses. The current mark-tomarket gain or loss is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets and will be re-classified to
operations as the forecasted expenses are incurred, typically within one year. During 2011, 2010 and 2009, our cash flow hedges were highly effective and
there were no amounts charged to the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) for hedge ineffectiveness. While we
expect that our derivative instruments that have been designated as hedges will continue to meet the conditions for hedge accounting, if hedges do not qualify
as highly effective or if we do not believe that forecasted transactions will occur, the changes in the fair value of the derivatives used as hedges will be
reflected in earnings.
Legal Proceedings
We reserve for legal contingencies when a liability for those contingencies has become probable and the cost is reasonably estimable. Any significant
litigation or significant change in our estimates on our outstanding litigation could cause us to increase our provision for related costs, which, in turn, could
materially affect our financial results. Any provision made for these anticipated costs are expensed to operating expenses in our Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss). We have been involved from time to time in litigation arising in the normal course of business, none of
which is expected by management to have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant, and equipment are stated at depreciated cost. Additions and improvement activities are capitalized. Maintenance and repairs are expensed as
incurred. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line method based on their estimated useful lives, as follows:
Estimated Useful Life

Buildings and building improvements
Telephone and computer equipment
Software
Furniture, fixtures, and miscellaneous equipment

15-30 years
3-5 years
3 years
5-7 years

We depreciate leasehold improvements associated with operating leases over the shorter of the expected useful life or remaining life of the lease.
Depreciation for assets obtained under a capital lease is included in depreciation expense.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
We periodically, on at least an annual basis, evaluate potential impairments of our long-lived assets. In our annual evaluation or when we determine that the
carrying value of a long-lived asset may not be recoverable, based upon the existence of one or more indicators of impairment, we evaluate the projected
undiscounted cash flows related to the assets. If these cash flows are less than the carrying values of the assets, we measure the impairment based on the
excess of the carrying value of the long-lived asset over the long-lived asset’s fair value. Our projections contain assumptions pertaining to anticipated levels
of utilization and revenue that may or may not be under contract but are based on our experience and/or projections received from our customers.
Assets Held for Sale
We classify an asset as held for sale when the facts and circumstances meet the criteria for such classification, including the following (a) we have committed
to a plan to sell the asset, (b) the asset is available for immediate sell, (c) we have initiated actions to complete the sale, (d) the sale is expected to be
completed within one year, (e) the asset is being actively marketed at a price that is reasonable relative to its fair value and (f) the plan to sell is unlikely to be
subject to significant changes or termination. Assets held for sale are reported at the lower of cost or fair value less costs to sell.
Restructuring Charges
On an ongoing basis, management assesses the profitability and utilization of our facilities and in some cases management has chosen to close facilities.
Severance payments that occur from reductions in workforce are in accordance with our postemployment policy and/or statutory requirements that are
communicated to all employees upon hire date; therefore, severance liabilities are recognized when they are determined to be probable and reasonably
estimable. Other liabilities for costs associated with an exit or disposal activity are recognized when the liability is incurred, instead of upon commitment to
an exit plan. A significant assumption used in determining the amount of the estimated liability for closing a facility is the estimated liability for future lease
payments on vacant facilities. We determine our estimate of sublease payments based on our ability to successfully negotiate early termination agreements
with landlords, a third-party broker or management’s assessment of our ability to sublease the facility based upon the market conditions in which the facility
is located. If the assumptions regarding early termination and the timing and amounts of sublease payments prove to be inaccurate, we may be required to
record additional losses, or conversely, a future gain, in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income (Loss).
Operating Leases
Rent holidays, landlord/tenant incentives and escalations are included in some instances in the base price of our rent payments over the term of our operating
leases. We recognize rent holidays and rent escalations on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The landlord/tenant incentives are recorded as deferred rent
and amortized on a straight line basis over the lease term.
Income Taxes
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred income taxes reflect net effects of temporary differences between carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and amounts used for income tax purposes. We are subject to foreign income taxes on our
foreign operations. We are required to estimate our income taxes in each jurisdiction in which we operate. This process involves estimating our actual current
tax exposure, together with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and financial reporting purposes. The tax
effects of these temporary differences are recorded as deferred tax assets or deferred tax liabilities. Deferred tax assets generally represent items that can be
used as a tax deduction or credit in our tax return in future years for which we have already recorded the expense in our financial statements. Deferred tax
liabilities generally represent tax items that have been deducted for tax purposes, but have not yet been recorded as expenses in our financial statements.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences
are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect of a change in tax rates on deferred tax assets and liabilities is recognized in income in the period during
which such rates are enacted. We record a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that we will not realize the net deferred tax assets in a certain
jurisdiction.
We record tax benefits when they are more likely than not to be realized. Our policy is to reflect penalties and interest as part of income tax expense as they
become applicable. We file numerous consolidated and separate income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and in many state jurisdictions, as well as
in Canada, the Philippines, Costa Rica and Honduras. Our U.S.
46

federal returns and most state returns for tax years 2008 and forward are subject to examination. Canadian returns for tax years 2007 and forward are subject
to examination. Our returns since our commencement of operations in the Philippines in 2008, Costa Rica in 2010 and Honduras in 2011 are subject to
examination. As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, there were no unrecognized income tax benefits.
Stock-Based Compensation
We recognize expense related to all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, in our Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) based on the share-based payments’ fair values amortized straight-line over the period during which the
employees are required to provide services in exchange for the equity instruments. We include an estimate of forfeitures when calculating compensation
expense. We use the Black-Scholes method for valuing stock-based awards. See Note 10, “Share-Based Compensation,” for further information regarding
the assumptions used to calculate share-based payment expense.
Employee Benefit Plan
We have a safe harbor 401(k) plan that allows participation by employees who have completed six months of service and are 21 years or older. Participants
may defer up to 60% of their gross pay, up to a maximum limit determined by U.S. federal law. Participants receive a matching contribution after one year of

service of 100% of the participant’s contribution for the first 3% and 50% of the participant’s contribution for the next 2%. Company matching contributions
to the 401(k) plan totaled $469, $655 and $650 for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively.
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
On January 1, 2011, we adopted guidance issued by the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) with respect to revenue recognition for multielement arrangements. These new standards impact the determination of when the individual deliverables included in a multiple-element arrangement may be
treated as separate units of accounting. Additionally, these new standards modify the manner in which the transaction consideration is allocated across the
separately identified deliverables by no longer permitting the residual method of allocating arrangement consideration. Our adoption of the new accounting
guidance did not have an impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.
On January 1, 2011, we adopted FASB’s Accounting Standards Codification guidance for fair value measurements and disclosure was updated to require
enhanced detail in the Level 3 reconciliation. Adoption of the updated guidance had no impact on our condensed consolidated financial position, results of
operations or cash flows. Refer to Note 7, “Fair Value Measurements” for further details regarding our assets and liabilities measured at fair value.
Recently Issued Accounting Standards
In May 2011, the FASB issued new guidance for fair value measurements intended to achieve common fair value measurement and disclosure requirements in
U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards. The amended guidance provides a consistent definition of fair value to ensure that the fair value
measurement and disclosure requirements are similar between U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards. The amended guidance changes
certain fair value measurement principles and enhances the disclosure requirements, particularly for Level 3 fair value measurements. The amended guidance
will be effective for us beginning January 1, 2012. We do not anticipate that these changes will have a significant impact on our financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.
In June 2011, the FASB issued guidance that modified how comprehensive income is presented in an entity’s financial statements. The guidance issued
requires an entity to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net income, and the components of other comprehensive income either in a
single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate but consecutive statements and eliminates the option to present the components of
other comprehensive income as part of the statement of equity. We adopted the revised financial statement presentation for comprehensive income effective
January 1, 2012.
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2. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES AND RESTRUCTURING CHARGES
Impairment Losses
During the year ended December 31, 2011, we incurred $2,381 of impairment losses ($2,173 in our U.S. segment and $208 in our Canadian segment), due to
the impairment of certain long-lived assets for which the carrying value of those assets is not recoverable. We recorded $1,053 in impairment losses ($845 in
our U.S. segment and $208 in our Canadian segment) during 2011 related to long-lived assets such as computer equipment, software, equipment and furniture
and fixtures for which the future cash flows did not support the carrying value of the assets. In addition, in our U.S. segment we recorded approximately
$1,328 of impairment losses on two buildings to reduce the carrying value to its fair value based upon third-party broker valuations. Refer to Note 7, “Fair
Value Measurements,” for additional information on the fair value measurements for all assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in the
Consolidated Financial Statements. During the year ended December 31, 2010 we incurred $4,112 of impairment losses ($3,161 in our U.S. segment and
$951 in our Canadian segment), due to the impairment of certain long-lived assets for which the carrying value of those assets is not recoverable.
Assets Held for Sale
In 2010, we committed to a plan to sell the buildings at our closed facilities in Laramie, Wyoming and Greeley, Colorado. We received estimates of the
selling prices of these buildings, and have reduced the value of the buildings and land to fair value less the costs to sell. As of December 31, 2010 this value
was $5,103 in our U.S. segment. During 2011, we received a new estimated selling price on our Greeley, Colorado facility from our broker due to changing
market conditions, which resulted in an impairment of approximately $1,001 to reduce the carrying value to fair value less costs to sell. As of December 31,
2011, the fair value of the buildings and land less the costs to sell was $4,102. These long-lived assets are presented as current assets held for sale on our
Consolidated Balance Sheet. In order for an asset to be held for sale, management must determine that the asset is to be held for sale in its current condition,
an active plan to complete the sale of the asset has been initiated and the sale of the asset is probable within one year. We evaluated the facilities during 2010
and 2011 and determined these assets meet all the criteria for an asset held for sale.
Restructuring Charges
A summary of the activity under the restructuring plans as of December 31, 2011, and changes during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 are
presented below:
Facility-Related Costs
Grand
Laramie
Junction

Victoria

Balance as of January 1, 2010
Expense
Payments, net of receipts for sublease
Reclassification of liability
Balance as of December 31, 2010
Expense
Payments, net of receipts for sublease
Reclassification of liability
Balance as of December 31, 2011

$

$

$

—
288
(563)
766
491
157
(222)
57
483

$

$

$

—
87
(58)
3
32
65
(74)
40
63

$

$

$

U.S. Total

—
455
(17)
68
506
—
(229)
(25)
252

$

$

$

—
830
(638)
837
1,029
222
(525)
72
798
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Facility-Related Costs
Thunder
Bay

Regina

Balance as of January 1, 2009
Expense
Payments, net of receipts for sublease
Reclassification of liability
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Balance as of December 31, 2009
Expense
Payments, net of receipts for sublease
Reclassification of liability
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Balance as of December 31, 2010
Expense
Payments, net of receipts for sublease
Reclassification of liability
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Balance as of December 31, 2011

$

—
4,436
(1,294)
118
720
3,980
(1,802)
(1,380)
170
65
1,033
1,168
(1,325)
—
(24)
852

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
(372)
(381)
701
52
—
—
—
—
—
—

Sarnia

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
67
(53)
22
(4)
32
—
(32)
—
—
—

$

$

$

Canada
Total

Kingston

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
87
(73)
(14)
—
—

$

$

$

$

—
4,436
(1,294)
118
720
3,980
(2,107)
(1,814)
893
113
1,065
1,255
(1,430)
(14)
(24)
852

$

$

$

Termination Benefits
Cornwall

Balance as of January 1, 2011
Expense
Payments
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Balance as of December 31, 2011

$

$

—
1,081
(1,145)
64
—

Canada
Total

Kingston

$

$

—
557
(453)
(104)
—

$

$

—
1,638
(1,598)
(40)
—

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we entered into sublease agreements for our Thunder Bay, Ontario, Canada and Victoria, Texas facilities through
the remainder of their respective lease terms. We had assumed a sublease in our original estimated restructuring liabilities for Thunder Bay and Victoria and
do not expect to incur material changes to the restructuring liabilities in future periods as a result of the subleases. We have recorded an accrual for certain
property taxes we still owe in Victoria, which we expect to pay through the remainder of our lease term, or 2014. The leases for our Sarnia, Ontario, Canada
and our Kingston, Ontario, Canada locations expired in January 2011 and October 2011, respectively, and we do not expect to incur material changes to the
restructuring liabilities in future periods for these locations.
We expect completion of the Laramie, Wyoming, Grand Junction, Colorado and Regina, Saskatchewan restructuring plans no later than 2012 for all facilities;
however, completion may be earlier or later depending on our ability to sublease the facilities, buy-out the lease or sell the facilities. We have made certain
assumptions related to our ability to sublease, sell or buy-out the lease on these facilities. Refer to Note 7, “Fair Value Measurements,” for additional
information on the fair value measurements for all assets and liabilities, including restructuring charges, that are measured at fair value in the Consolidated
Financial Statements. We expect to pay $1,961 in our U.S. segment and $5,390 in our Canadian segment in facility related costs and $1,598 in our Canadian
segment in termination benefits over the term of the restructuring plans. The cumulative amount paid as of December 31, 2011 related to the closures was
$1,163 in our U.S. segment and $6,136 in our Canadian segment ($4,538 in facility-related costs and $1,598 in termination benefits).
Note Receivable
In connection with the sublease of our Victoria, Texas facility, the sublessee is making payments to us for certain furniture, fixtures, equipment and leasehold
improvements in the facility. The payments will be made over the remainder of the lease term, or December 1, 2014, after which time the sublessee will own
the assets. As of December 31, 2011, we have recorded a note receivable of $1,852 for the payments due under this agreement, net of unearned interest
income of approximately $128. The
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note receivable bears interest at a rate of 4.4% per annum. Future minimum lease payments under this note receivable are: $660 in 2012, $660 in 2013 and
$660 in 2014.
3. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
On February 25, 2009, we entered into an agreement to sell the assets of Domain.com, our wholly owned subsidiary, to A. Emmet Stephenson, Jr., Inc.
(“Mr. Stephenson”) in exchange for cash of $7,075. The assets of Domain.com consist of domain names, trademarks and corporation names. We conducted
an auction for the assets and received bids from multiple parties, including Mr. Stephenson. Mr. Stephenson presented the highest bid, which represented the
selling price, of $7,075 and the sale was completed effective February 25, 2009. Mr. Stephenson is one of our co-founders, has managed the Domain.com
subsidiary since 2006, and together with his wife, owned approximately 23.7% of our common shares outstanding as of February 15, 2012. Because the
transaction involved a related party, the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors considered and approved the transaction. The results of operations and
cash flows of Domain.com have been reported in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) as discontinued
operations.
The following table summarizes the results of discontinued operations:
2011

Year Ended December 31,
2010

2009

Operating income from discontinued operations before income taxes
Gain on the sale of discontinued operations
Income tax expense
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax

$

—
—
—
—

$

$

—
—
—
—

$

$

27
6,937
(2,324)
4,640

$

4. NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE
Basic net income (loss) per common share is computed on the basis of our weighted-average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per
share is computed on the basis of our weighted average number of common shares outstanding plus the effect of dilutive outstanding stock options and nonvested restricted stock using the treasury stock method. Anti-dilutive securities totaling 2,177 and 2,352 for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively, were not included in our calculation due to our net loss position. Anti-dilutive securities totaling 1,808 for the year ended December 31, 2009
were not included in our calculation because the stock options’ exercise prices were greater than the average market price of the common shares during such
period. Our basic and diluted net income (loss) per common share were as follows:
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Year Ended December 31,
2010

2011

(Loss) income from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax
Net (loss) income

$
$

Weighted average shares of common stock
Dilutive effect of stock options
Common stock and common stock equivalents

(26,462)
—
(26,462)

$
$

15,084
—
15,084

Basic net (loss) income per share from:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net (loss) income

$
$

Diluted net (loss) income per share from:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Net (loss) income

$
$

(19,383)
—
(19,383)

2009

$
$

14,903
—
14,903

(1.75)
—
(1.75)

$

(1.75)
—
(1.75)

$

$

$

9
4,640
4,649
14,792
45
14,837

(1.30)
—
(1.30)

$

(1.30)
—
(1.30)

$

$

$

0.00
0.31
0.31

0.00
0.31
0.31

5. PRINCIPAL CLIENTS
The following table represents revenue concentration of our principal clients.
Year Ended December 31,
2010

2011

AT&T Services, Inc. and AT&T Mobility, LLC, subsidiaries of AT&T, Inc.
T-Mobile USA, Inc., a subsidiary of Deutsche Telekom

57.9%
19.9%

66.2%
18.1%

2009

63.6%
21.5%

The loss of a principal client, a material reduction in the amount of business we receive from a principal client, renegotiation of price by a principal client, or
the loss, delay or termination of a principal client’s product launch or service offering would adversely affect our business, revenue and operating results. We
may not be able to retain our principal clients or, if we were to lose any of our principal clients, we may not be able to timely replace the revenue generated by
the lost clients. Loss of a principal client could result from many factors, including consolidation or economic downturns in our clients’ industries, as
discussed further below.
Our work for AT&T is covered by several contracts for a variety of different lines of AT&T business. Some of these contracts expire in 2012 and others in
2014. The initial term of our master services agreement covering all AT&T work expired in January 2010, was extended to July 1, 2011 and was further
extended to July 1, 2012. On July 28, 2011, we entered into a new master services agreement (the “MSA”) with T-Mobile which covers all services that we
provide to T-Mobile. The MSA replaces the previous master services agreement dated October 1, 2007 and has an initial term of five years but may be
terminated by T-Mobile upon 90 days written notice. The agreement is effective July 1, 2011 with an initial term of five years and will automatically renew
for additional one-year periods thereafter.
6. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
We use derivatives to partially offset our business exposure to foreign currency exchange risk. We enter into foreign currency exchange contracts to hedge our
anticipated operating commitments that are denominated in foreign currencies. The contracts cover periods commensurate with expected exposure, generally
three to nine months, and are principally unsecured foreign exchange contracts. The market risk exposure is essentially limited to risk related to currency rate
movements. We operate in Canada, the Philippines, Costa Rica and Honduras. The functional currencies in Canada and the Philippines are the Canadian
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dollar and the Philippine peso, which are used to pay labor and other operating costs in those countries. However, our client contracts generate revenues
which are paid to us in U.S. dollars. In Costa Rica and Honduras, our functional currency is the U.S. dollar and the majority of our costs are denominated in
U.S. dollars.

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, we entered into Canadian dollar forward contracts for a notional amount of 27,080, 47,000 and
44,080 Canadian dollars, respectively, to hedge our foreign currency risk with respect to labor costs in Canada. During the years ended December 31, 2011
and 2010, we entered into Philippine peso non-deliverable forward contracts for a notional amount of 2,256,300 and 1,258,000 Philippine pesos, respectively,
to hedge our foreign currency risk with respect to labor costs in the Philippines. As of December 31, 2011, we have not entered into any arrangements to
hedge our exposure to fluctuations in the Costa Rican colon or the Honduran lempira relative to the U.S. dollar.
The following table shows the notional principal of our derivative instruments as of December 31, 2011:
Notional
Principal

Currency

Instruments qualifying as accounting hedges:
Foreign exchange contracts
Foreign exchange contracts

Canadian dollar
Philippine peso

14,880
1,379,100

The above Canadian dollar foreign exchange contracts are to be delivered periodically through December 2012 at a purchase price of approximately $14,817,
and the above Philippine peso foreign exchange contracts are to be delivered periodically through December 2012 at a purchase price of approximately
$31,751, and as such we expect unrealized gains and losses reported in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (“AOCI”) will be reclassified to earnings
during the next twelve months. The estimates of fair value are based on applicable and commonly used pricing models and prevailing financial market
information as of December 31, 2011. Refer to Note 7, “Fair Value Measurements,” for additional information on the fair value measurements for all assets
and liabilities, including derivative assets and derivative liabilities that are measured at fair value in the Consolidated Financial Statements.
The following table shows our derivative instruments measured at gross fair value as reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheet in other current
assets/liabilities and/or derivative asset/liability as of December 31, 2011 and 2010:
As of December 31,
2011

2010

Derivative assets:
Foreign exchange contracts

$

106

$

1,078

Derivative liabilities:
Foreign exchange contracts

$

616

$

91

The following table shows the effect of our derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the years
ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009:

Cash flow hedges:
Foreign exchange contracts

Gain (Loss) Recognized in AOCI, net of tax
Years Ended December 31,
2011
2010
2009

$

(2,742) $

(977) $

Gain Reclassified from AOCI into Income
Years Ended December 31,
2011
2010
2009

1,184

$

1,244

$

1,917

$

1,047
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7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities
The values of our derivative instruments are derived from pricing models using inputs based upon market information, including contractual terms, market
prices and yield curves. The inputs to the valuation pricing models are observable in the market, and as such are generally classified as Level 2 in the fair
value hierarchy.
Restructuring Charges
Accrued restructuring costs were valued using a discounted cash flow model. Significant assumptions used in determining the amount of the estimated
liability for closing a facility are the estimated liability for future lease payments on vacant facilities and the discount rate utilized to determine the present
value of the future expected cash flows. If the assumptions regarding early termination and the timing and amounts of sublease payments prove to be
inaccurate, we may be required to record additional losses, or conversely, a future gain, in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other
Comprehensive Income (Loss).
As described in Note 2, “Impairment Losses and Restructuring Charges,” during the year ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, we closed several facilities.
These costs were valued using a discounted cash flow model. The cash flows consist of the future lease payment obligations required under the lease
agreement. We have assumed that we can sublease our facility in Grand Junction for a portion of the remaining lease term and sell our facility in Laramie,
Wyoming based on our knowledge of the respective marketplaces, as well as our historical ability to sublease our facilities in other locations in which we
operate. During 2010, we recorded a reduction of restructuring charges in the Consolidated Statements of Operations of $1,802, or $0.12 per share, to adjust
the estimated restructuring liability for our Regina, Saskatchewan facility, due to a sublease proposal. In 2011, we recorded expense of $1,168, or $0.08 per
share, for our Regina facility due to a proposal to buy-out the lease at this facility. In the future, if we sublease for periods that differ from our assumption or
if an actual buy-out of a lease differs from our estimate, we may be required to record a gain or loss in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other
Comprehensive Income (Loss). Future cash flows also include estimated property taxes through the remainder of the lease term, which are valued based upon
historical tax payments. Given that the restructuring charges were valued using our internal estimates using a discounted cash flow model, we have classified
the accrued restructuring costs as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
Long-Lived Assets
As described in Note 2, “Impairment Losses and Restructuring Charges,” during the year ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, we recorded impairment
losses in our U.S. and Canadian segments, due to the impairment of certain long-lived assets for which the carrying value of those assets is not recoverable

based upon our estimated future cash flows. We periodically, on at least an annual basis, evaluate potential impairments of our long-lived assets. In our
annual evaluation or when we determine that the carrying value of a long-lived asset may not be recoverable, based upon the existence of one or more
indicators of impairment, we evaluate the projected undiscounted cash flows related to the assets. If these cash flows are less than the carrying values of the
assets, we measure the impairment based on the excess of the carrying value of the long-lived asset over the long-lived asset’s fair value. Where appropriate
we use a probability-weighted approach to determine our future cash flows, based upon our estimate of the likelihood of certain scenarios, primarily whether
we expect to sell new business within a current location. These estimates are consistent with our internal projections and external communications and public
disclosures. The measurement of the fair value of the buildings was based upon our third-party real estate broker’s non-binding estimate of fair value using
the observable market information regarding sale prices of comparable assets. The fair value of these long-lived assets after the impairment charges were
$1,606 ($1,384 U.S. and $222 Canada). Given that the impairment losses were valued using internal estimates of future cash flows or upon non-identical
assets using significant unobservable inputs, we have classified the remaining fair value of long-lived assets as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
In 2010, we committed to a plan to sell the buildings and land at our closed facilities in Laramie, Wyoming and Greeley, Colorado. We received estimates of
the selling prices of this real estate, and have reduced the value of the buildings and land to fair value, less costs to sell, or approximately $4,102 at
December 31, 2011. Included in impairment losses during the year ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 was $1,001 and $364, respectively, related to a
change in estimated fair value of the buildings in Greeley and Laramie. The measurement of the fair value of the buildings was based upon our third-party
real estate broker’s non-binding estimate of fair value using the observable market information regarding sale prices of comparable assets. As these inputs to
the determination of fair value are based upon non-identical assets and use significant unobservable inputs, we have classified the assets as Level 3 in the fair
value hierarchy.
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Fair Value Hierarchy
The following tables set forth our assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis and a non-recurring basis by level within the fair value
hierarchy. Assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.
Assets Measured at Fair Value
on a Recurring Basis as of December 31, 2011
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

Total

Assets:
Foreign exchange contracts
Total fair value of assets measured on a recurring basis

$
$

—
—

$
$

106
106

$
$

—
—

$
$

106
106

Liabilities:
Foreign exchange contracts
Total fair value of liabilities measured on a recurring basis

$
$

—
—

$
$

616
616

$
$

—
—

$
$

616
616

Assets Measured at Fair Value
on a Recurring Basis as of December 31, 2010
Level 2
Level 3

Level 1

Total

Assets:
Foreign exchange contracts
Total fair value of assets measured on a recurring basis

$
$

—
—

$
$

1,078
1,078

$
$

—
—

$
$

1,078
1,078

Liabilities:
Derivative instruments
Total fair value of liabilities measured on a recurring basis

$
$

—
—

$
$

91
91

$
$

—
—

$
$

91
91

Level 1

Assets:
Assets held for sale
Property, plant and equipment, net
Total fair value of assets measured on a non-recurring basis

$

Liabilities:
Accrued restructuring costs
Total fair value of liabilities measured on a non-recurring basis

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a
Non-Recurring Basis During the Year ended December 31, 2011
Level 2
Level 3

$

$

—
—
—

$

$

—
—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

Total

$

$

4,102
1,606
5,708

$

4,102
1,606
5,708

$
$

5,875
5,875

$
$

5,875
5,875
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Assets:
Assets held for sale
Property, plant and equipment, net
Total fair value of assets measured on a non-recurring basis
Liabilities:
Accrued restructuring costs
Total fair value of liabilities measured on a non-recurring

Level 1

$

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a
Non-Recurring Basis During the Year ended December 31, 2010
Level 2
Level 3

$

$

—
—
—

$

$

—
—
—

$
$

—
—

$
$

—
—

Total

$

$

5,103
5,407
10,510

$

5,103
5,407
10,510

$
$

2,760
2,760

$
$

2,760
2,760

basis
8. PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT
Our property, plant and equipment as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, consisted of the following, by asset class:
2011

Land
Buildings and improvements
Telephone and computer equipment
Software
Furniture, fixtures, and miscellaneous equipment
Construction in progress

$

Less accumulated depreciation
Total property, plant and equipment, net

$

635
40,915
57,105
43,649
22,956
1,528
166,788
(128,313)
38,475

2010

$

$

643
43,207
58,990
40,872
24,096
1,946
169,754
(122,769)
46,985

9. DEBT
On November 15, 2011, we entered into a business loan agreement and promissory note (together the “Agreement”) with UMB Bank Colorado, N.A. (“UMB
Bank”) for a $7,500 secured revolving line of credit. The Agreement was effective November 8, 2011 through August 1, 2012. This Agreement replaced our
previous $7,500 million secured revolving line of credit with UMB Bank. Under the Agreement, the amount available under the line of credit was to be
reduced by the amount of any proceeds received on the sale of our assets classified as held for sale in our Consolidated Balance Sheets, but in no event would
it fall below $5,000. Borrowings under the Agreement bore interest at the thirty day LIBOR index, plus 3.75%. The interest rate was to never be less than
4.50% per annum. This was an increase from the terms of our previous agreement which were that borrowings bore interest, at our option at the time of the
borrowing, of the thirty, sixty or ninety day LIBOR index, plus 3.25% and that the interest rate would not be less than 4.00% per annum. Under the
Agreement, UMB Bank maintained a security interest in all of our present and future accounts receivable, general intangibles, and owned real property. In
addition, under the Agreement, we were subject to certain financial covenants, which include maintaining 1) a tangible net worth, as defined, of at least
$75,000, 2) unencumbered liquid assets, defined as cash, certificates of deposit and marketable securities, of at least $6,500 measured on the last day of each
fiscal quarter and 3) a cash flow coverage ratio, as defined in the Agreement, of greater than 1.50 to 1.0 measured on the last day of each fiscal quarter for the
previous twelve months. The definition of our tangible net worth requirement excluded the calculation of any gains or losses associated with our assets
classified as held for sale on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of December 31, 2011, we were in compliance with all of our debt covenants.
10. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION
On May 5, 2008, our stockholders approved the StarTek, Inc. 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). The Plan replaced the StarTek, Inc. Stock Option Plan
and StarTek, Inc. Directors’ Stock Option Plan (together, the “Prior Plans”). A total of 900,000
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shares were authorized for grant under the Plan. In addition, a total of 274,298 shares remaining available for future grants under the Prior Plans were carried
over and were made available for grant under the Plan. As of December 31, 2011, there were 381,845 shares available for future grant under the Plan. The
types of awards that may be granted under the Plan include restricted stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, deferred stock units, stock option awards,
stock appreciation rights and performance units. The Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) also has the discretion to grant other types of awards, as
long as they are consistent with the terms and purposes of the Plan. The terms of the awards granted under the Plan will expire no later than ten years from
the grant date. The Committee may determine the vesting conditions of awards; however, subject to certain exceptions, an award that is not subject to the
satisfaction of performance measures may not fully vest or become fully exercisable earlier than three years from the grant date, and the performance period
for an award subject to performance measures may not be shorter than one year.
Stock options granted to employees under the Plan vest as to 25% of the shares on the first anniversary of the date of grant and 2.0833% of the shares each
month thereafter for 36 months. Restricted stock awards granted under the Plan vest as to one third of the shares on the first anniversary of the date of grant
and one third of the shares on each of the second and third anniversary thereafter. In 2011, we implemented a new independent director compensation plan
whereby members of our board of directors are now compensated with equity rather than cash. Effective October 1, 2011, at the start of each quarter,
members of the board of directors, at their option, may elect to receive 1) stock options to purchase shares of common stock with a fair value equivalent to
$22,500 (calculated using the Black-Scholes pricing model), 2) common stock with a grant date fair value of $22,500 or 3) any combination of options and
stock. Upon the date of grant, the members of the board of directors are immediately vested in the stock options or stock. Effective January 1, 2012, the
members of the board of directors may also elect to receive deferred stock units with a fair value equivalent to $22,500. Prior to the implementation of this
plan on October 1, 2011, stock options or restricted stock awards granted to our board of directors vested as to 25% of the shares after three months from the
date of grant, 25% of the shares after six months from the date of grant, 25% of the shares after nine months from the date of grant and 25% each three
months thereafter until fully vested.
On May 5, 2008, our stockholders approved the StarTek, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”). Under the ESPP, participants may purchase our
common stock as of the last day of a purchase period at a price, which shall be no less than the lesser of (a) 85% of the closing price of a share of common
stock on the first day of the purchase period; or (b) 85% of the closing price of a share of common stock on the last day of the purchase period. The purchase
period is defined as each quarterly period commencing January 1 and ending March 31, commencing April 1 and ending June 30, commencing July 1 and
ending September 30, or commencing October 1 and ending December 31, unless otherwise determined by the Committee. Subject to certain maximum
stock ownership restrictions, employees are eligible to participate in the ESPP if employed by the Company for at least six months prior to the start of a
Purchase Period and whose customary employment is at least 20 hours per week. Participating employees may elect to have up to 10% of their base pay in
effect at the commencement of each offering period withheld pursuant to the ESPP. A total of 300,000 shares were authorized under the ESPP and as of
December 31, 2011, there were 82,196 shares available for grant under the ESPP.
The compensation cost that has been charged against income for the Plan, the Prior Plans, the ESPP, and for restricted stock awards granted outside of those
plans, as described below (together, the “Plans”), for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $1,602, $2,108 and $1,987, respectively, and is
included in selling, general and administrative expense. As of December 31, 2011, there was $1,763 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to

nonvested stock options granted under the Plans. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.8 years. As of December 31,
2011, there was $181 of total unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested restricted stock awards granted under the Plans. That cost is expected to
be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.3 years.
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Stock Options
A summary of stock option activity under the Plans as of December 31, 2011, and changes during the year ended December 31, 2011 are presented below:
Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Shares

Outstanding as of January 1, 2011
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited
Expired
Outstanding as of December 31, 2011
Vested and exercisable as of December 31, 2011
Vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2011

2,226,238
777,426
(27,596)
(865,323)
(19,740)
2,091,005
1,161,249
1,975,731

$

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Contractual Term (in yrs)

8.07
3.61
4.06
7.71
18.01
6.52
8.45
6.29

$
$
$

7.60
6.30
7.62

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value

$
$
$

—
—
—

The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $2.08, $3.18 and $2.42,
respectively. The total fair value of shares vested during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $1,274, $1,645 and $1,361, respectively.
The assumptions used to determine the value of our stock-based awards under the Black-Scholes method are summarized below:
Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
Expected volatility
Expected life in years

2011

2010

2009

1.0% - 3.0%
0%
58.6% - 75.4%
5.0

1.1% - 2.9%
0%
73.6% - 75.1%
4.0

0.6% - 2.7%
0%
61.4% - 117.4%
3.9

The risk-free interest rate for periods within the contractual life of the option is based on either the four year or seven year U.S. Treasury strip yield in effect at
the time of grant. Expected life and volatilities are based on historical experience, which we believe will be indicative of future experience.
Restricted Stock Awards
A summary of restricted stock award activity under the Plans as of December 31, 2011, and changes during the year then ended are presented below:
Number of
Restricted Shares

Nonvested balance as of January 1, 2011
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Nonvested balance as of December 31, 2011

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair Value

126,238
177,321
(95,502)
(122,439)
85,618

$

6.75
5.15
6.46
5.80
5.12

The total fair value of restricted stock awards vested during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $607, $360, and $180, respectively.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The first purchase period under the ESPP commenced July 1, 2008. During 2011, 2010 and 2009, 58,453, 61,985 and 60,045 shares were purchased,
respectively. The weighted-average purchase price in 2011, 2010 and 2009, was $2.70, $3.98 and $4.14 per share, respectively. Total expense recognized
related to the ESPP during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
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was $57, $87 and $130, respectively. The assumptions used to value the shares under the ESPP using the Black-Scholes method were as follows:
Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
Expected volatility
Expected life in years

2011

2010

2009

0.02% - 0.07%
0%
33.3% - 56.9%
3 months

0.1% - 0.2%
0%
38.5% - 55.5%
3 months

0.1% - 0.2%
0%
75.3% - 160.2%
3 months

The weighted average grant date fair value of these shares was $0.98, $1.41 and $2.16 per share during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009,
respectively.
11. NET INTEREST AND OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Net interest and other income for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 were composed of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2010

2011

Interest income
Interest expense
Realized gain on investments available for sale
Other income (loss)
Net interest and other income (expense)

$

118
(93)
—
8
33

$

$

111
(55)
108
109
273

$

2009

$

119
(291)
—
(38)
(210)

$

12. INCOME TAXES
Pre-tax income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes was:
2011

U.S.
Foreign
Total

$
$

Year Ended December 31,
2010

(31,711)
5,123
(26,588)

$
$

(25,758)
7,619
(18,139)

2009

$

1,168
(1,910)
(742)

$

Significant components of the provision for income taxes from continuing operations were:

Current:
Federal
State
Foreign
Total current (benefit) expense
Deferred:
Federal
State
Foreign
Net change in valuation allowance
Total deferred (benefit) expense
Income tax (benefit) expense

Year Ended December 31,
2010

2011

$

—
(26)
3
(23)

$

$

$

(8,765)
(1,228)
(103)
9,993
(103)

$

(126)

$

$

2009

(506)
(66)
848
276

$

$

$

(8,200)
(1,064)
1,051
9,181
968

$

7,402
245
(845)
—
6,802

$

1,244

$

(751)

$

(7,408)
(246)
101
(7,553)

$
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Significant components of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities included in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2011
and 2010 were:

Current deferred tax assets:
Accrued restructuring costs
Total current net deferred tax assets
Current deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Accrued restructuring costs
Other accrued liabilities
Derivative instruments
Prepaid expenses
Cumulative translation adjustment
Other
Total current net deferred tax liabilities
Long-term deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Fixed assets
Accrued stock compensation
Accrued restructuring costs
Foreign tax credit carryforward
Work opportunity credit carryforward
Operating loss carryforward
Other
Net long-term deferred tax assets

Year Ended December 31,
2011
2010

$
$

$

$

$

$

193
193

$
$

158
765
201
(352)
(1,505)
—
(733)

$

3,165
2,201
149
529
4,988
11,642
189
22,863

$

$

$

111
111

250
532
(366)
(963)
(1,558)
37
(2,068)

919
1,918
301
554
4,498
5,298
155
13,643

Subtotal
Valuation allowance

$

22,323
(20,138)

$

11,686
(9,541)

Total net deferred tax asset

$

2,185

$

2,145

We consider all available evidence to determine whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. The
ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences
become realizable. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities (including the impact of available carryback and carryforward
periods), and projected taxable income in assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets. In making such judgments, significant weight is given to evidence
that can be objectively verified. Based on all available evidence, in particular our three-year historical cumulative losses, recent operating losses and a U.S.
pre-tax loss for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2010, we recorded a valuation allowance against our U.S. net deferred tax assets, which decreased the tax
benefit by $9,181 during the year ended December 31, 2010. No valuation allowance was recorded as of December 31, 2009. In order to fully realize the
U.S. deferred tax assets, we will need to generate sufficient taxable income in future periods before the expiration of the deferred tax assets governed by the
tax code. As of December 31, 2011, $631 of our valuation allowance related to deferred tax assets for which subsequently recognized tax benefits will be
credited directly to contributed capital.
As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, we had net current deferred tax assets in our foreign tax jurisdictions and as of December 31, 2009 we had net current
deferred tax liabilities in the U.S.
Deferred taxes were not recognized on temporary differences from undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries of approximately $28,582 as these earnings
are deemed to be permanently reinvested. We have not provided for U.S. federal income and foreign withholding taxes on undistributed earnings from nonU.S. operations as of December 31, 2011 because we intend to reinvest such earnings indefinitely outside of the U.S.
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Differences between U.S. federal statutory income tax rates and our effective tax rates for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 for continuing
operations were:
Year Ended December 31,
2010

2011

U.S. statutory tax rate
Effect of state taxes (net of federal benefit)
Effect of change in Canadian tax rate
Work opportunity tax credits
Other permanent differences (including meals and entertainment)
Stock based compensation
Rate differential on foreign earnings
Foreign income taxed in the U.S.
Valuation allowance
Other, net
Total

35.0%
2.7%
0.0%
0.7%
-0.2%
-0.5%
7.2%
-8.2%
-37.5%
1.3%
0.5%

35.0%
1.2%
-2.2%
6.1%
0.2%
-0.8%
4.8%
-4.1%
-50.6%
3.5%
-6.9%

2009

35.0%
-11.9%
-14.0%
142.6%
-21.7%
-35.8%
25.5%
-7.5%
0.0%
-11.0%
101.2%

As of December 31, 2011, we had gross foreign tax credit carry forwards of $529, which expire as follows: $4 in 2012, and $525 in 2013. A full tax-basis
valuation allowance was established against these carry forwards during 2006 due to the fact that it is more likely than not that these credits will not be used
prior to their expiration date. As of December 31, 2011, we had gross federal net operating loss carry forwards of $29,629, of which $11,060 expire in 2030
and $18,569 expire in 2031. As of December 31, 2011, we had gross state net operating loss carry forwards of $34,048 which expire through 2031 as
follows:
Year of
Expiration

As of December
31, 2011

2013
2014
2015
2016
2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031

$

$

248
196
1,339
1,662
443
491
21
1,216
1,410
237
653
941
950
6,491
384
7,486
9,880
34,048

We have been granted “Tax Holidays” as an incentive to attract foreign investment by the governments of the Philippines, Costa Rica and Honduras.
Generally, a Tax Holiday is an agreement between us and a foreign government under which we receive certain tax benefits in that country, such as exemption
from taxation on profits derived from export-related activities. In the Philippines, we have been granted approval for a Tax Holiday, whereby we have an
exemption from income tax until late 2012 after which time the tax rate will be 5%. In Costa Rica, we have been granted approval for an exemption equal to
100% of income tax through 2018, and for 50% of income tax for the four years thereafter. In Honduras, we have been granted approval for an indefinite
exemption from income taxes. The exemption could be lifted at any time if the Honduran government approves legislature to appeal the exemption. The
aggregate reduction in income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $922, $456 and $216, respectively, which had a
favorable impact on net income of $0.06 per share, $0.03 per share and $0.01 per share, respectively.
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13. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) consisted of the following items:
Year Ended December 31,
2011
2010

Accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments:
Beginning balance
Translation adjustments
Taxes associated with translation adjustments
Ending balance
Accumulated unrealized derivative gains (losses):
Beginning balance
Gain reclassified to earnings
Taxes associated with gain on derivatives
Change in fair value of cash flow hedges, net of tax
Ending balance

$

$
$

$

2,547
(162)
—
2,385

$

615
1,244
—
(2,742)
(883)

$

$

$

1,979
981
(413)
2,547
394
1,917
(719)
(977)
615

14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Operating Leases
We lease facilities and equipment under various non-cancelable operating leases. Some of these leases have renewal clauses that vary both in length and fee,
based on our negotiations with the lessors. Rental expense, including equipment rentals, for 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $9,590, $10,039 and $7,652,
respectively. As of December 31, 2011, future minimum rental commitments for operating leases and future minimum rentals to be received under noncancelable subleases were as follows.
Minimum Lease
Payments

2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
Thereafter
Total minimum lease payments

$

9,693
8,030
7,228
3,952
2,541
4,350
35,794

$

Minimum
Sublease Receivable

$

$

512
357
306
—
—
—
1,175

Capital Leases
We lease equipment under various non-cancelable capital leases. As of December 31, 2011, future minimum rental commitments for capital leases were as
follows.
Minimum Lease
Payments

2012
2013
2014
Total minimum lease payments

103
20
7
130

$

Legal Proceedings
On February 2, 2011, certain former employees of StarTek USA, Inc., filed a putative collective action under the Fair Labor Standards Act, alleging that they
were owed overtime compensation for alleged work performed before and after regular shifts. The plaintiffs sought overtime compensation, liquidated
damages, and other relief for themselves as well as for all other customer
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service representatives and technical service representatives located throughout the United States who performed alleged uncompensated overtime and who
were employed by us three years before the commencement of the civil action. At the time that the case was filed, we believed that there was no merit to the
case and vigorously defended the suit. Following conditional class certification, plaintiffs mailed notice to approximately 22,000 potential plaintiffs;
however, only 1,759 individuals timely opted-in to the class. This opt-in rate was substantially lower than the parties anticipated. Following a second
mediation session on October 27, 2011, we agreed to settle the case for $550, including liquidated damages, attorney’s fees, and costs of settlement
administration which was recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Other Comprehensive
Income (Loss).
We have been involved from time to time in other litigation arising in the normal course of business, none of which is expected by management to have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.
15. SEGMENT INFORMATION
We operate within three business segments, the U.S., Canada and Offshore. The business segments align with those regions in which our services are
rendered. As of December 31, 2011, our U.S. segment included the operations of eight facilities in the U.S.; our Canada segment included the operations of
two facilities in Canada; and our offshore segment included the operations of two facilities in the Philippines, one in Costa Rica and one in Honduras. As of

December 31, 2010, there were nine, three and three facilities in the U.S., Canada and Offshore segments, respectively. As of December 31, 2009, there were
thirteen, five and one facilities in the U.S., Canada and Offshore segments, respectively. We use gross profit as our measure of profit and loss for each
business segment and do not allocate selling, general and administrative expenses to our business segments.
Information about our reportable segments, which correspond to the geographic areas in which we operate, for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and
2009 is as follows:

Revenue:
United States
Canada
Offshore
Total
Gross profit:
United States
Canada
Offshore
Total
Depreciation:
United States
Canada
Offshore
Total
Capital expenditures:
United States
Canada
Offshore
Total

For the Year Ended December 31,
2010

2011

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

112,565
44,461
62,467
219,493

$

12,642
3,168
7,175
22,985

$

9,518
1,223
5,009
15,750

$

4,789
219
3,950
8,958

$

167,680
64,010
33,686
265,376

$

$

$

$

2009

$

200,737
76,307
11,936
288,980

$

25,024
4,121
(1,441)
27,704

$

11,988
2,161
3,006
17,155

$

5,521
511
10,910
16,942

$

36,265
11,910
926
49,101

$

11,194
3,036
1,747
15,977

$

10,828
770
3,085
14,683

$
62

As of December 31,
2011

Total assets:
United States
Canada
Offshore
Total

$

2010

72,352
8,157
20,924
101,433

$

$

104,274
9,982
18,499
132,755

$

The following tables present certain financial data based upon the geographic location where the services are provided:

Revenue:
United States
Canada
Philippines
Latin America
Total

Total property, plant and equipment, net:
United States
Canada
Philippines
Latin America
Total

As of December 31,
2010

2011

$

112,565
44,461
54,637
7,830
219,493

$

$

2009

167,680
64,010
31,336
2,350
265,376

$

$

$

200,737
76,307
11,936
—
288,980

As of December 31,
2011
2010

$

$

19,768
4,202
12,058
2,447
38,475

$

25,930
5,557
13,839
1,659
46,985

$

16. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
The following represents selected information from our unaudited quarterly Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010.
2011 Quarters Ended
June 30
September 30

March 31

Revenue
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Impairment losses and restructuring charges
Operating loss
Net loss

$

$

59,510
7,387
9,680
—
(2,293)
(2,554)

$

$

57,139
6,303
13,196
3,272
(10,165)
(9,652)

$

$

51,701
3,755
10,281
291
(6,817)
(6,795)

December 31

$

$

51,143
5,540
10,953
1,933
(7,346)
(7,461)

Net loss per share:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

(0.17)
(0.17)

$
$

(0.64)
(0.64)

$
$

(0.45)
(0.45)

$
$

(0.49)
(0.49)
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2010 Quarters Ended
June 30
September 30

March 31

Revenue
Gross profit
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Impairment losses and restructuring charges
Operating loss
Net loss
Net loss per share:
Basic
Diluted

$

$

$

67,410
7,136
10,890
—
(3,754)
(3,116)

$

$

67,676
7,635
10,268
764
(3,397)
(5,223)

$
$

(0.21)
(0.21)

$
$

(0.35)
(0.35)

December 31

$

$

65,598
6,634
10,327
450
(4,143)
(4,482)

$

64,692
6,299
11,796
1,621
(7,118)
(6,562)

$
$

(0.30)
(0.30)

$
$

(0.44)
(0.44)

17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
In January 2012, we announced that we would be consolidating the business performed in Enid, Oklahoma into another U.S. facility. The transition of the
business is expected to be completed by the end of the first quarter of 2012. We are actively marketing this capacity to other current and potential clients.
However, if we are not successful in doing so, we may decide to close the facility. In that event, we would not expect to incur material impairment and
restructuring charges.
In February 2012, we closed our facility in Collinsville, Virginia as a result of a customer notification, which we had announced in June 2011. Since the
announcement of this closure, we were under a month-to-month lease arrangement and do not expect to incur material impairment and restructuring charges
associated with this closure.
In February 2012, we received written customer notification of an intent to reduce its business in our Decatur, Illinois and Jonesboro, Arkansas facilities. The
reduction is expected to occur during the first quarter of 2012 and the early part of the second quarter of 2012. We are actively selling this capacity to other
current and potential clients. However, if we are not successful in doing so, we may decide to close one or both of the facilities. In that event, there could be
impairment and restructuring charges which would depend on which facilities are closed and when.
On February 28, 2012, we terminated our secured line of credit with UMB Bank, which was effective through August 1, 2012, and replaced it with a secured
revolving credit facility with Wells Fargo Bank. The Credit Agreement is effective February 28, 2012 through February 28, 2015. The amount we may
borrow under the Credit Agreement is the lesser of the borrowing base calculation and $10,000, and, so long as no default has occurred, we may increase the
maximum availability to $20,000 in $2,500 increments. We may request letters of credit under the Credit Agreement in an aggregate amount equal to the
lesser of the borrowing base calculation (minus outstanding advances) and $5,000. The borrowing base is generally defined as 85% of our eligible accounts
receivable less reserves for foreign exchange forward contracts and other reserves as defined in the Credit Agreement. Borrowings under the Credit
Agreement bear interest at the daily three-month LIBOR index plus 2.50% to 3.00% depending on the calculation of the fixed charge coverage ratio, as
defined in the Credit Agreement. Until the first monthly report of the fixed charge coverage ratio, the interest rate will be the daily three-month LIBOR index
plus 3.00%. We will pay letter of credit fees on the average daily aggregate available amount of all letters of credit outstanding monthly at a rate per annum
of 3.0% and a monthly unused fee at a rate per annum of 0.30% on the aggregate unused commitment under the Credit Agreement. We granted Wells Fargo a
security interest in all of our assets, including all cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, general intangibles, owned real property, equipment and
fixtures. In addition, under the Credit Agreement, we are subject to certain standard affirmative and negative covenants, including the following financial
covenants: 1) maintaining a minimum adjusted EBITDA, as defined in the credit Agreement, of no less than the monthly minimum amounts set forth in the
Credit Agreement and 2) limiting non-financed capital expenditures during 2012 to $6,500, provided that such expenditures would not cause the ratio of
excess availability, as defined in the Credit Agreement, to aggregate non-financed capital expenditures to be less than 1:50 to 1:00. The requirement for nonfinanced capital expenditures may be increased quarterly by an amount equal to 50% of any positive variance between budgeted and actual adjusted EBITDA
results measured at the end of each quarter. We and Wells Fargo are required to agree on financial covenants for the remaining term of the Credit Agreement
beyond 2012, and any failure to do so will constitute an event of default. In connection with the termination of our secured line of credit with UMB Bank, we
liquidated all of our outstanding hedge positions with UMB Bank as of this date, and replaced them with new hedges with Wells Fargo Bank, which resulted
in a gain of approximately $233 during the first quarter of 2012.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
As of December 31, 2011, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based on such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of
December 31, 2011, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective and were designed to ensure that all information required to be disclosed by us in
our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and

forms of the SEC, and accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on the
framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based
on that evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2011.
Our independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, issued a report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as
of December 31, 2011. Ernst & Young LLP’s report is included in Item 9A. of this Form 10-K.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2011, that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of StarTek, Inc.
We have audited StarTek Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). StarTek Inc.’s management is
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial
reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing
and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, StarTek, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2011, based on the
COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets
of StarTek, Inc. as of December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the related consolidated statements of operations and other comprehensive income (loss),
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2011, and our report dated March 9, 2012 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Denver, Colorado
March 9, 2012
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
Part III
ITEMS 10 THROUGH 14

Information required by Item 10 (Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance), Item 11 (Executive Compensation), Item 12 (Security Ownership
of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters), Item 13 (Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director
Independence), and Item 14 (Principal Accounting Fees and Services) will be included in our definitive proxy statement to be delivered in connection with
our 2012 annual meeting of stockholders and is incorporated herein by reference.
Part IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a)

The following documents are filed as a part of this Form 10-K:
1. Consolidated Financial Statements. See the index to the Consolidated Financial Statements of StarTek, Inc. and its subsidiaries that appears in
Item 8 of this Form 10-K.
3. An Index of Exhibits follows the signature pages of this Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Form 10-K to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
STARTEK, INC.
(REGISTRANT)
By:

/s/ CHAD A. CARLSON
Chad A. Carlson
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 7, 2012

By:

/s/ LISA A. WEAVER
Lisa A. Weaver
Senior Vice President, Chief
Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Date: March 7, 2012

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Form 10-K has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
/s/ CHAD A. CARLSON
Chad A. Carlson

President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 7, 2012

/s/ LISA A. WEAVER
Lisa A. Weaver

Senior Vice President, Chief Financial
Officer and Treasurer

Date: March 7, 2012

/s/ ED ZSCHAU
Ed Zschau

Chairman of the Board

Date: March 7, 2012

/s/ HARVEY A. WAGNER
Harvey A. Wagner

Director

Date: March 7, 2012

/s/ JOHN R. HARRIS
John R. Harris

Director

Date: March 7, 2012

/s/ ROBERT SHEFT
Robert Sheft

Director

Date: March 7, 2012

/s/ BENJAMIN L. ROSENZWEIG
Benjamin L. Rosenzweig

Director

Date: March 7, 2012

/s/ JACK D. PLATING
Jack D. Plating

Director

Date: March 7, 2012
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STARTEK, INC.

INDEX OF EXHIBITS
Exhibit
No.

2.1

3.1
3.2
3.3
3.4
4.1
10.1
10.2†
10.3†
10.4†
10.5†
10.6†
10.7†
10.8†
10.9†
10.10†
10.11†
10.12†
10.13†
10.14†
10.15†
10.16†
10.17†
10.18†
10.19†
10.20†
10.21†
10.22†
10.23#
10.24#

10.25#

Exhibit Description

Form

Incorporated Herein by Reference
Exhibit

Filing Date

Asset Purchase Agreement among StarTek, Inc.,
Domain.com, Inc. and A. Emmet Stephenson Jr., Inc effective
February 25, 2009. The schedules have been omitted from this
filing pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The
registrant agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted
schedule to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon
request.
Restated Certificate of Incorporation of StarTek, Inc..
Amended and Restated Bylaws of StarTek, Inc..
Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of
StarTek, Inc. filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on
May 21, 1999.
Certificate of Amendment to the Certificate of Incorporation of
StarTek, Inc. filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on
May 23, 2000.
Specimen Common Stock certificate.
Investor Rights Agreement by and among StarTek, Inc., A.
Emmet Stephenson Jr., and Toni E. Stephenson.
StarTek, Inc. Stock Option Plan, as amended.
Form of Stock Option Agreement.
Form of Option Agreement pursuant to StarTek, Inc. Stock Option
Plan (four year vesting schedule).
StarTek, Inc. Directors’ Stock Option Plan, as amended.
Form of Option Agreement pursuant to StarTek, Inc. Directors’
Stock Option Plan.
StarTek, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
StarTek, Inc. 2008 Equity Incentive Plan.
Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement (Employee)
pursuant to StarTek, Inc. 2008 Equity Incentive Plan.
Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement (Director)
pursuant to StarTek, Inc. 2008 Equity Incentive Plan.
Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement pursuant to
StarTek, Inc. 2008 Equity Incentive Plan.
Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (Employee) pursuant
to StarTek, Inc. 2008 Equity Incentive Plan.
Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (Director) pursuant to
StarTek, Inc. 2008 Equity Incentive Plan.
Form of Indemnification Agreement between StarTek, Inc. and its
Officers and Directors.
Form of Executive Confidentiality and Non-Competition
Agreement.
Form of Executive Employment Contract.
Amendment No. 1 to Form of Executive Employment Contract.
Option Agreement between StarTek, Inc. and A. Laurence Jones.
Sales Commission Plan (2008 and 2009).
Amended Sales Commission Plan (2008 and 2009).
Incentive Bonus Plan (2008 and 2009).
2011 Incentive Bonus Plan.
Services Agreement and Statement of Work by and between
StarTek, Inc. and T-Mobile USA, Inc. for certain call center
services dated effective October 1, 2007.
Amendment No. 1 effective February 24, 2008 to Services
Agreement and Statement of Work by and between StarTek, Inc.
and T-Mobile USA, Inc. for certain call center services dated
effective October 1, 2007.
Contact Call Center Agreement No. 20070105.006.C between
StarTek, Inc. and AT&T Services, Inc., effective January 26,
2007.

10-Q

10.1

5/8/2009

S-1
8-K
10-K

3.1
3.2
3.3

1/29/1997
11/1/2011
3/8/2000

10-Q

3.4

8/14/2000

10-Q
10-K

4.2
10.48

11/6/2007
3/9/2004

Def 14a
S-1/A
8-K

A
10.2
10.26

3/27/2007
3/7/1997
6/16/2006

Def 14a
8-K

B
10.2

3/27/2007
9/9/2004

Def#14a
Def#14a
8-K

A
B
10.2

3/20/2008
3/20/2008
5/5/2008

8-K

10.3

5/5/2008

8-K

10.4

5/5/2008

8-K

10.5

5/5/2008

8-K

10.6

5/5/2008

10-K

10.49

3/9/2004

8-K

10.1

9/14/2004

8-K
10-K
8-K
10-K
10-Q
10-K
10-Q
10-Q

10.115
10.11
10.79
10.24
10.1
10.25
10.3
10.120

8/21/2007
2/29/2008
1/08/2007
2/29/2008
10/31/2008
2/29/2008
5/3/2011
11/6/2007

10-Q

10.7

5/6/2008

10-Q

10.90

5/8/2007

10-K

10.50

2/29/2008

10-Q

10.12

7/31/2009

8-K

10.1

5/6/2011
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10.26#
10.27#
10.28

Amendment 20070105.006.A.001 effective October 31, 2007 to
Master Services Agreement 20070105.006.C entered on
January 26, 2007 between StarTek, Inc. and AT&T Services, Inc.
Amendment No. 2 to T-Mobile USA, Inc. Services Agreement
Call Center Services dated April 1, 2009 between T-Mobile
USA, Inc. and StarTek USA, Inc.
Settlement and Standstill Agreement by and among StarTek, Inc.,
A. Emmett Stephenson, Jr., Privet Fund LP, Privet Fund

10.29†
10.30†
10.31&
10.32&
10.33†
10.34†
10.35†
10.36†*
10.37&*
21.1*
23.1*
31.1*
31.2*
32.1*
101^

*
†
#
&
^

Management LLP, Ryan Levenson, Ben Rosenzweig and Toni E.
Stephenson dated as of May 5, 2011.
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement of Chad A.
Carlson dated June 24, 2011.
Separation Agreement by and between StarTek, Inc. and A.
Laurence Jones.
Order No. 20070105.006.S.28 effective August 1, 2011 pursuant
to Agreement No. 20060105.006.C between StarTek, Inc. and
AT&T Services, Inc.
Services Agreement and Statement of Work by and between
StarTek, Inc. and T-Mobile USA, Inc. for certain call center
services dated effective July 1, 2011.
Form of Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement (Director)
pursuant to StarTek, Inc. 2008 Equity Incentive Plan.
Employment Agreement by and between StarTek, Inc. and Lisa
Weaver
Separation Agreement by and between StarTek, Inc. and David G.
Durham
Form of Deferred Stock Unit Master Agreement (Director)
pursuant to StarTek, Inc. 2008 Equity Incentive Plan.
Credit and Security Agreement by and among StarTek, Inc. and
StarTek USA, Inc. as Borrowers and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as
Lender dated as of February 28, 2012.
Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
Consent of Ernst & Young, LLP, Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm
.
Certification of Chad A. Carlson pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Certification of Lisa A. Weaver pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Written Statement of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer furnished pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
The following materials are formatted in Extensible Business
Reporting Language (XBRL): (i) Consolidated Statements of
Operations and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years
ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, (ii) Consolidated
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2011 and 2010,
(iii) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, (iv) Consolidated Statements
of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2011,
2010 and 2009 and (v) Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements tagged in block text.

8-K

10.1

6/29/2011

8-K

10.1

7/21/2011

10-Q

10.1

11/2/2011

10-Q

10.2

11/2/2011

10-Q

10.3

11/2/2011

8-K

10.1

11/3/2011

8-K

10.1

12/8/2011

Filed with this Form 10-K.
Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
The Securities and Exchange Commission has granted our request that certain material in this agreement be treated as confidential.
Such material has been redacted from the exhibit as filed.
Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to a request for confidential treatment and have been filed separately with
the Securities and Exchange Commission
Furnished, not filed.
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Exhibit 10.36
StarTek, Inc.
2008 Equity Incentive Plan
Deferred Stock Unit Master Agreement
(2012 Quarterly Awards)
This is a Deferred Stock Unit Master Agreement (the “Agreement”), effective as of
, 2011, between StarTek, Inc., a Delaware
corporation (the “Company”), and you,
. Any capitalized term used but not defined in this Agreement shall have the meaning
set forth in the Plan as it currently exists or as it is amended in the future.
Background
A. The Company maintains the StarTek, Inc. 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). Under the Plan, the Board has the authority to determine
Awards and administer the Plan with respect to Awards involving Non-Employee Directors.
B. The Board has determined that for fiscal year 2012, Non-Employee Directors will receive quarterly equity-based awards under the Plan with an
aggregate grant date fair value of $90,000. These awards will be granted as of the last business day of each quarter, with the grant date fair value of each
quarterly award being $22,500.
C. Each Non-Employee Director was entitled to elect to receive these quarterly equity-based awards in the form of Non-Statutory Stock Options,
unrestricted shares of the Company’s common stock, deferred stock units or some combination of the foregoing.
D. You have elected to receive
% of the grant date fair value of each quarterly equity-based award during 2012 (the “DSU Portion”) in the
form of Deferred Stock Units (“DSUs”), each of which represents the right to receive one share of the Company’s common stock. The number of DSUs that
will be subject to each of these quarterly DSU Awards will be determined by dividing the dollar amount of the DSU Portion by the Fair Market Value of a
share of the Company’s common stock on the applicable Grant Date.
E. Each quarterly DSU Award during 2012 will be evidenced by a Grant Notification in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, and each such Grant
Notification when issued by the Company will be incorporated into and made a part of this Agreement. The terms and conditions of each quarterly DSU
Award are set forth in this Agreement, including the applicable Grant Notification, and in the attached Plan document.
Terms and Conditions of Quarterly DSU Awards
1.
Grant. Subject to Sections 7 and 8 below, on the last business day of each calendar quarter during 2012, you will be granted the number of DSUs
specified in the applicable Grant Notification that reflects a Grant Date corresponding to the last business day of that calendar quarter. Each DSU will
represent the right to receive one Share of the Company’s common stock. The DSUs granted to you will be credited to an account in your name maintained
by the Company. This account shall be unfunded and maintained for book-keeping purposes only, with the DSUs simply representing an unfunded and
unsecured obligation of the Company.

2.
Restrictions on Units. Prior to settlement of the DSUs in accordance with Section 5, the DSUs subject to this Agreement may not be sold,
assigned, transferred, exchanged or encumbered other than (i) by will or the laws of descent and distribution, or (ii) by gift to any “family member” (as
defined in Section 6(c) of the Plan) of yours. Any attempted transfer in violation of this Section 2 shall be of no effect.
3.
No Stockholder Rights. The DSUs subject to this Agreement do not entitle you to any rights of a stockholder of the Company’s common stock.
You will not have any of the rights of a stockholder of the Company in connection with the grant of DSUs subject to this Agreement unless and until Shares
are issued to you upon settlement of the Units as provided in Section 5.
4.

Vesting of DSUs. The DSUs subject to this Agreement are 100% vested as of their respective Grant Dates.

5.
Settlement of Units. The Company shall cause to be issued and delivered to you, or to your designated beneficiary or estate in the event of your
death, one Share in payment and settlement of each DSU subject to this Agreement at the earlier of:
(a)

a termination of your Service that constitutes a “separation from service” as such term is defined for purposes of Code Section 409A (or
within 90 days thereafter); or

(b)

the date, if any, specified in an election you filed with the Company not later than the December 31 immediately preceding the first Grant
Date of DSUs subject to this Agreement.

Delivery of Shares in settlement of a DSU Award subject to this Agreement shall be effected by an appropriate entry in the stock register maintained by the
Company’s transfer agent with a notice of issuance provided to you, or by the electronic delivery of the Shares to a brokerage account you designate, and
shall be subject to compliance with all applicable legal requirements, including compliance with the requirements of applicable federal and state securities
laws.
6.
Dividend Equivalents. If a cash dividend is declared and paid by the Company with respect to its common stock, you will be credited as of the
applicable dividend payment date with an additional number of DSUs (the “Dividend DSUs”) equal to (i) the total cash dividend you would have received if
your then outstanding DSUs (including any previously credited Dividend DSUs) had been actual Shares, divided by (ii) the Fair Market Value of a Share as of
the applicable dividend payment date (with the quotient rounded down to the nearest whole number). Once credited to your account, Dividend DSUs will be
considered DSUs for all purposes of this Agreement.
7.
Termination of Service and Future Awards. Upon termination of your Service with the Company and all Affiliates, you will no longer be
entitled to receive any additional quarterly DSU Awards pursuant to this Agreement.

8.
Change in Control. Upon a Change in Control within the meaning of Section 2(f)(3) of the Plan, you will no longer be entitled to receive any
additional quarterly DSU Awards pursuant to this Agreement.
2

9.
Changes in Capitalization. If an “equity restructuring” (as defined in Section 18 of the Plan) occurs that causes the per share value of the Shares
to change, the Board shall make such equitable adjustments to any DSU subject to this Agreement as are contemplated by Section 18 of the Plan in order to
avoid dilution or enlargement of your rights hereunder. The Board may make such equitable adjustments to any DSU subject to this Agreement as and to the
extent provided in Section 18 of the Plan in connection with other changes in the Company’s capitalization contemplated by Section 18 of the Plan.
10.
Interpretation of This Agreement. All decisions and interpretations made by the Board with regard to any question arising hereunder or under the
Plan shall be binding and conclusive upon you and the Company. If there is any inconsistency between the provisions of this Agreement and the Plan, the
provisions of the Plan shall govern.
11.
Discontinuance of Service. Neither this Agreement nor any DSU Award subject to this Agreement shall confer on you any right with respect to
continued Service with the Company or any of its Affiliates, nor interfere in any way with the right of the Company or any Affiliate to terminate such Service.
12.
DSU Awards Subject to Plan. The DSU Awards evidenced by this Agreement (including any Grant Notifications issued hereunder) are granted
pursuant to the Plan, the terms of which are hereby made a part of this Agreement. This Agreement (including any Grant Notifications issued hereunder)
shall in all respects be interpreted in accordance with the terms of the Plan. If any terms of this Agreement or any Grant Notification issued hereunder
conflict with the terms of the Plan, the terms of the Plan shall control, except as the Plan specifically provides otherwise. This Agreement (including any
Grant Notifications issued hereunder) and the Plan constitute the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the quarterly DSU Awards and supersedes all
prior oral or written negotiations, commitments, representations and agreements with respect thereto.
13.
Obligation to Reserve Sufficient Shares. The Company shall at all times during the term of this Agreement and the DSU Awards issued hereunder
reserve and keep available a sufficient number of Shares to satisfy this Agreement.
14.
Binding Effect. This Agreement shall be binding in all respects on your heirs, representatives, successors and assigns, and on the successors and
assigns of the Company.
15.
Choice of Law. This Agreement is entered into under the laws of the State of Delaware and shall be construed and interpreted thereunder (without
regard to its conflict of law principles).
You and the Company have executed this Agreement as of the date specified at the beginning of this Agreement.
PARTICIPANT

STARTEK, INC.
By
Its
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Exhibit A
StarTek, Inc.
2008 Equity Incentive Plan
Deferred Stock Unit Master Agreement
Grant Notification
StarTek, Inc. (the “Company”), pursuant to its 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) and a Deferred Stock Unit Master Agreement (2012
Quarterly Awards) dated
, 2011 (the “Master Agreement”) between the Company and you, the Participant named below, hereby grants to you
an award of Deferred Stock Units (“Units”), each such Unit representing the right to receive one share of the Company’s common stock. The terms and
conditions of this Unit Award are set forth in this Grant Notification, the Master Agreement, and the Plan document, and these documents set forth the entire
agreement between you and the Company regarding the grant to you of the number of Units shown in the table below.
Name of Participant:
Number of Units:
Vesting Schedule:

Grant Date:
Vesting Date

Percentage of Units That Vest

[Grant Date]

100%
STARTEK, INC.
By
Its

Exhibit 10.37
CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
by and among
STARTEK, INC,
and
STARTEK USA, INC.,
as Borrowers,
and
WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Lender
Dated as of February 28, 2012

[*] = Certain confidential information contained in this document, marked with brackets, has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and
Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for confidential treatment made pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
THIS CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), is entered into as of February 28, 2012, by and among WELLS
FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION (“Lender”), and Borrowers.
The parties agree as follows:
1.

DEFINITIONS AND CONSTRUCTION.

1.1
Definitions, Code Terms, Accounting Terms and Construction. Capitalized terms used in this Agreement shall have the meanings
specified therefor on Schedule 1.1. Additionally, matters of (i) interpretation of terms defined in the Code, (ii) interpretation of accounting terms and
(iii) construction are set forth in Schedule 1.1.
2.

LOANS AND TERMS OF PAYMENT.
2.1

Revolving Loan Advances.

(a)
Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and during the term of this Agreement, Lender agrees to make revolving
loans (“Advances”) to Borrowers in an amount at any one time outstanding not to exceed the lesser of:
(i)

the Maximum Revolver Amount less the Letter of Credit Usage at such time, and

(ii)

the Borrowing Base at such time less the Letter of Credit Usage at such time.

(b)
Amounts borrowed pursuant to this Section 2.1 may be repaid and, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement,
reborrowed at any time during the term of this Agreement. The outstanding principal amount of the Advances, together with interest accrued and unpaid
thereon, shall be due and payable on the Termination Date. Lender has no obligation to make an Advance at any time following the occurrence of a Default
or an Event of Default.
(c)
If at any time the Maximum Revolver Amount is less than the amount of the Borrowing Base, the amount of Advances available
under Section 2.1(a) above shall be reduced by any Reserves established by Lender with respect to amounts that may be payable by any Borrower to third
parties.
2.2

Reserved.

2.3

Borrowing Procedures.

(a)
Procedure for Borrowing. Provided Lender has not separately agreed that Borrowers may use the Loan Management Service,
each Borrowing shall be made by a written request by an Authorized Person delivered to Lender. Such written request must be

received by Lender no later than 11:00 a.m. (Denver, Colorado time) on the Business Day that is the requested Funding Date specifying (i) the amount of such
Borrowing, and (ii) the requested Funding Date, which shall be a Business Day. At Lender’s election, in lieu of delivering the above-described written
request, any Authorized Person may give Lender telephonic notice of such request by the required time. Lender is authorized to make the Advances, and to
issue the Letters of Credit, under this Agreement based upon telephonic or other instructions received from anyone purporting to be an Authorized Person.

(b)
Making of Loans. Promptly after receipt of a request for a Borrowing pursuant to Section 2.3(a), Lender shall make the proceeds
thereof available to Borrowers on the applicable Funding Date by transferring immediately available funds equal to such amount to the Designated Account;
provided, however, that, Lender shall not have the obligation to make any Advance if (i) one (1) or more of the applicable conditions precedent set forth in
Section 4 will not be satisfied on the requested Funding Date for the applicable Borrowing unless such condition has been waived by Lender, or (ii) the
requested Borrowing would exceed the Availability on such Funding Date.
(c)
Loan Management Service. If Lender has separately agreed that Borrowers may use the Loan Management Service, upon
commencement of such use, Borrowers shall not request and Lender shall no longer honor a request for an Advance made in accordance with
Section 2.3(a) and all Advances will instead be initiated by Lender and credited to the Designated Account as Advances as of the end of each Business Day in
an amount sufficient to maintain an agreed upon ledger balance in the Designated Account, subject only to Availability as provided in Section 2.1. If Lender
terminates Borrowers’ access to the Loan Management Service, Borrowers may continue to request Advances as provided in Section 2.3(a), subject to the
other terms and conditions of this Agreement. Lender shall have no obligation to make an Advance through the Loan Management Service after the
occurrence of a Default or an Event of Default, or in an amount in excess of Availability, and may terminate the Loan Management Service at any time in its
sole discretion.
(d)
Protective Advances. Lender may make an Advance for any reason at any time in its Permitted Discretion, without Borrowers’
compliance with any of the conditions of this Agreement, and (i) disburse the proceeds directly to third Persons in order to protect Lender’s interest in the
Collateral or to perform any obligation of Borrowers under this Agreement or otherwise to enhance the likelihood of repayment of the Obligations, or
(ii) apply the proceeds to outstanding Obligations then due and payable to Lender (such Advance, a “Protective Advance”).
2.4

Payments; Prepayments.

(a)
Payments by Borrowers. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all payments by Borrowers shall be made as directed by
Lender or as otherwise specified in the applicable Cash Management Documents.
(b)
Payments by Account Debtors. Borrowers shall either (i) instruct all Account Debtors to make payments directly to the Lockbox
for deposit by Lender directly to the Collection Account, or (ii) instruct them to deliver such payments to Lender by wire transfer,
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ACH, or other means as Lender may direct for deposit to the Lockbox or Collection Account or for direct application to reduce the outstanding Advances. If
any Borrower receives a payment or Proceeds of Collateral directly, such Borrower will promptly deposit the payment or Proceeds into the Collection
Account. Until so deposited, such Borrower will hold all such payments and Proceeds in trust for Lender without commingling with other funds or property.
(c)
Crediting Payments. For purposes of calculating Availability and the accrual of interest on outstanding Obligations, unless
otherwise provided in the applicable Cash Management Documents or as otherwise agreed between Borrowers and Lender, each payment shall be applied to
the Obligations on the first Business Day following the Business Day of deposit to the Collection Account of immediately available funds or other receipt of
immediately available funds by Lender. Any payment received by Lender that is not a transfer of immediately available funds shall be considered provisional
until the item or items representing such payment have been finally paid under applicable law. Should any payment item not be honored when presented for
payment, then Borrowers shall be deemed not to have made such payment, and that portion of Borrowers’ outstanding Obligations corresponding to the
amount of such dishonored payment item shall be deemed to bear interest as if the dishonored payment item had never been received by Lender. Each
reduction in outstanding Advances resulting from the application of such payment to the outstanding Advances shall be accompanied by an equal reduction in
the amount of outstanding Accounts.
(d)
Application of Payments. All Collections and all Proceeds of Collateral received by Lender shall be applied, so long as no Event
of Default has occurred and is continuing, to reduce the outstanding Obligations in such manner as Lender shall determine in its discretion. After payment in
full in cash of all Obligations, any remaining balance shall be transferred to the Designated Account or otherwise to such other Person entitled thereto under
applicable law.
(e)

Reserved.

(f)
Mandatory Prepayments. If, at any time, the Revolver Usage exceeds (A) the Borrowing Base or (B) the Maximum Revolver
Amount, less Reserves (in accordance with Section 2.1(c)) at such time (such excess amount being referred to as the “Overadvance Amount”), then
Borrowers shall, immediately upon demand, prepay the Obligations in an aggregate amount equal to the Overadvance Amount. If payment in full of the
outstanding revolving loans is insufficient to eliminate the Overadvance Amount and Letter of Credit Usage continues to exceed the Borrowing Base,
Borrowers shall maintain Letter of Credit Collateralization of the outstanding Letter of Credit Usage. Lender shall not be obligated to provide any Advances
during any period that an Overadvance Amount is outstanding.
2.5
Clearance Charge. Collections received by Lender shall be applied as provided in Sections 2.4 (c) and (d), but the Obligations paid with
such Collections shall continue to accrue interest at the rate then applicable to Advances as provided under Section 2.6 through the end of the first Business
Day following the Business Day that such Collections were applied to the Obligations. This 1 Business Day clearance charge on all Collections is
acknowledged by the parties to constitute an integral aspect of the pricing of the financing of Borrowers and shall apply irrespective of whether or not there
are any outstanding monetary Obligations. The parties
3

acknowledge and agree that the economic benefit of the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.5 shall accrue exclusively to Lender.
2.6

Interest Rates: Rates, Payments, and Calculations.

(a)
Interest Rates. Except as provided in Section 2.6(b), the principal amount of all Obligations (except for undrawn Letters of Credit
and Bank Products) that have been charged to the Loan Account pursuant to the terms hereof shall bear interest on the Daily Balance thereof at a per annum
rate equal to the Interest Rate plus the Interest Rate Margin.
(b)

Default Rate. Upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of Default and at any time following the Termination

Date,
(i)
the principal amount of all Obligations (except for undrawn Letters of Credit and Bank Products) that have been charged
to the Loan Account pursuant to the terms hereof shall bear interest on the Daily Balance thereof at a per annum rate equal to 3% above the per annum rate
otherwise applicable thereunder, and
(ii)

the Letter of Credit fee provided for in Section 2.12 shall be increased by 3% above the per annum rate otherwise

applicable hereunder.
(c)
Payment. Except to the extent provided to the contrary in Section 2.12, all interest, all Letter of Credit fees, all other fees payable
hereunder or under any of the other Loan Documents, all costs and expenses payable hereunder or under any of the other Loan Documents, and all Lender
Expenses shall be due and payable, in arrears, on the first day of each month, or, if such day is not a Business Day, on the next Business Day, provided that
interest shall continue to accrue during that time period. Each Borrower hereby authorizes Lender, from time to time without prior notice to Borrowers, to
charge all interest, Letter of Credit fees, and all other fees payable hereunder or under any of the other Loan Documents (in each case, as and when due and
payable), all costs and expenses payable hereunder or under any of the other Loan Documents (in each case, as and when accrued or incurred), all Lender
Expenses (as and when accrued or incurred), and all fees and costs provided for in Section 2.12 (as and when accrued or incurred), and all other payment
obligations as and when due and payable under any Loan Document or any Bank Product Agreement (including any amounts due and payable to any Bank
Product Provider in respect of Bank Products) to the Loan Account, which amounts shall thereupon constitute Advances hereunder and, shall accrue interest
at the rate then applicable to Advances. Any interest, fees, costs, expenses, Lender Expenses, or other amounts payable hereunder or under any other Loan
Document or under any Bank Product Agreement that are charged to the Loan Account shall thereafter constitute Advances hereunder and shall accrue
interest at the rate then applicable to Advances.
(d)
Computation. All interest and fees chargeable under the Loan Documents shall be computed on the basis of a 360 day year, in
each case, for the actual number of days elapsed in the period during which the interest or fees accrue. In the event the Interest Rate is changed from time to
time hereafter, the rates of interest hereunder based upon the Interest Rate automatically and immediately shall be increased or decreased by an amount equal
to such change in the Interest Rate. A certificate of Lender as to each amount and rate of interest
4

or fees payable under the Loan Documents from time to time shall be conclusive evidence of such amount and rate, absent manifest error.
(e)
Intent to Limit Charges to Maximum Lawful Rate. In no event shall the interest rate or rates payable under this Agreement,
plus any other amounts paid in connection herewith, exceed the highest rate permissible under any law that a court of competent jurisdiction shall, in a final
determination, deem applicable. Borrowers and Lender, in executing and delivering this Agreement, intend legally to agree upon the rate or rates of interest
and manner of payment stated within it; provided, however, that, anything contained herein to the contrary notwithstanding, if said rate or rates of interest or
manner of payment exceeds the maximum allowable under applicable law, then, as of the date of this Agreement, Borrowers are and shall be liable only for
the payment of such maximum amount as is allowed by law, and payment received from Borrowers in excess of such legal maximum, whenever received,
shall be applied to reduce the principal balance of the Obligations to the extent of such excess.
2.7
Designated Account. Borrowers agree to establish and maintain one or more Designated Accounts, each in the name of a single Borrower,
for the purpose of receiving the proceeds of the Advances requested by Borrowers and made by Lender hereunder. Unless otherwise agreed by Lender and
Borrowers, any Advance requested by Borrowers and made by Lender hereunder shall be made to the applicable Designated Account.
2.8
Maintenance of Loan Account; Statements of Obligations. Lender shall maintain an account on its books in the name of Borrowers (the
“Loan Account”) in which will be recorded all Advances made by Lender to Borrowers or for Borrowers’ account, the Letters of Credit issued or arranged by
Lender for Borrowers’ account, and all other payment Obligations hereunder or under the other Loan Documents, including accrued interest, fees and
expenses, and Lender Expenses. In accordance with Section 2.4 and Section 2.5, the Loan Account will be credited with all payments received by Lender
from Borrowers or for Borrowers’ account. All monthly statements delivered by Lender to the Borrowers regarding the Loan Account, including with respect
to principal, interest, fees, and including an itemization of all charges and expenses constituting Lender Expenses owing, shall be subject to subsequent
adjustment by Lender but shall, absent manifest error, be conclusively presumed to be correct and accurate and constitute an account stated between
Borrowers and Lender unless, within 30 days after receipt thereof by Borrowers, Borrowers shall deliver to Lender written objection thereto describing the
error or errors contained in any such statements.
2.9
Maturity Termination Dates. Lender’s obligations under this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect for a term ending on the
earliest of (i) February 28, 2015 (the “Maturity Date”) or (ii) the date Borrowers terminate the Revolving Credit Facility, or (iii) the date the Revolving Credit
Facility terminates pursuant to Sections 10.1 and 10.2 following an Event of Default (the earliest of these dates, the “Termination Date”). The foregoing
notwithstanding, Lender shall have the right to terminate its obligations under this Agreement immediately and without notice upon the occurrence and during
the continuation of an Event of Default. Each Borrower jointly and severally promises to pay the Obligations (including principal, interest, fees, costs, and
expenses, including Lender Expenses) in full on the Termination Date (other than the Hedge Obligations, which shall be paid in accordance with the
applicable Hedge Agreement).
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2.10
Effect of Maturity. On the Termination Date, all obligations of Lender to provide additional credit hereunder shall automatically be
terminated and all of the Obligations (other than Hedge Obligations which shall be terminated in accordance with the applicable Hedge Agreement) shall
immediately become due and payable without notice or demand and Borrowers shall immediately repay all of the Obligations in full. No termination of the
obligations of Lender (other than cash payment in full of the Obligations and termination of the obligations of Lender to provide additional credit hereunder)

shall relieve or discharge any Loan Party of its duties, obligations, or covenants hereunder or under any other Loan Document and Lender’s Liens in the
Collateral shall continue to secure the Obligations and shall remain in effect until all Obligations have been paid in full in cash and Lender’s obligations to
provide additional credit hereunder shall have been terminated. Provided that there are no suits, actions, proceedings or claims pending or threatened against
any Indemnified Person under this Agreement with respect to any Indemnified Liabilities, Lender shall, at Borrowers’ expense, release or terminate any
filings or other agreements that perfect Lender’s Liens in the Collateral, upon Lender’s receipt of each of the following, in form and content satisfactory to
Lender: (i) cash payment in full of all Obligations and completed performance by Borrowers with respect to their other obligations under this Agreement
(including Letter of Credit Collateralization with respect to all outstanding Letter of Credit Usage), (ii) evidence that any obligation of Lender to make
Advances to any Borrower or provide any further credit to any Borrower has been terminated, (iii) a general release of all claims against Lender and its
Affiliates by each Borrower and each Loan Party relating to Lender’s performance and obligations under the Loan Documents, and (iv) an agreement by each
Borrower, each Guarantor, and any new lender to any Borrower to indemnify Lender and its Affiliates for any payments received by Lender or its Affiliates
that are applied to the Obligations as a final payoff that may subsequently be returned or otherwise not paid for any reason. With respect to any outstanding
Hedge Obligations which are not so paid in full, the Bank Product Provider may require Borrowers to cash collateralize the then existing Hedge Obligations
in an amount acceptable to Lender prior to releasing or terminating any filings or other agreements that perfect Lender’s Liens in the Collateral.
2.11

Termination or Reduction by Borrowers.

(a)
Borrowers may terminate the Revolving Credit Facility or reduce the Maximum Revolver Amount at any time prior to the
Maturity Date, if they (i) deliver a notice to Lender of their intentions at least 30 days prior to the proposed action, (ii) pay to Lender the applicable
termination fee or reduction fee set forth in Schedule 2.12, and (iii) pay the Obligations (other than the outstanding Hedge Obligations, which shall be paid in
accordance with the applicable Hedge Agreement) in full or down to the reduced Maximum Revolver Amount. Any reduction in the Maximum Revolver
Amount shall be in multiples of $500,000, with a minimum reduction of at least $500,000. Each such termination or reduction shall be irrevocable. Once
reduced, the Maximum Revolver Amount may not be increased.
(b)
The applicable termination fee and reduction fee set forth in Schedule 2.12 shall be presumed to be the amount of damages
sustained by Lender as a result of an early termination or reduction, as applicable, and each Borrower agrees that it is reasonable under the circumstances
currently existing (including, but not limited to, the borrowings that are reasonably expected by Borrowers hereunder and the interest, fees and other charges
that are reasonably expected to be received by Lender hereunder). In addition, Lender shall be entitled to
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such early termination fee upon the occurrence of any Event of Default described in Sections 9.4 and 9.5 hereof, even if Lender does not exercise its right to
terminate this Agreement, but elects, at its option, to provide financing to Borrowers or permit the use of cash collateral during an Insolvency Proceeding.
The early termination fee and reduction fee, as applicable, provided for in Schedule 2.12 shall be deemed included in the Obligations.
2.12

Fees. Borrowers shall pay to Lender the fees set forth on Schedule 2.12 attached hereto.

2.13

Letters of Credit.

(a)
Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, upon the request of Borrowers made in accordance with this Section 2.13,
Lender agrees to issue a requested Letter of Credit. Borrowers may request that Lender issue, amend or extend a Letter of Credit by delivering to Lender the
applicable Letter of Credit Agreements, completed to the satisfaction of Lender, and such other certificates, documents and information as Lender may
request. Each such request shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Lender and shall specify (i) the amount of such Letter of Credit, (ii) the
date of issuance, amendment, or extension of such Letter of Credit, (iii) the expiration date of such Letter of Credit, (iv) the name and address of the
beneficiary of the Letter of Credit, and (v) such other information (including, in the case of an amendment, or extension, identification of the Letter of Credit
to be so amended or extended) as shall be necessary to prepare, issue, amend or extend such Letter of Credit. Upon receipt of any Letter of Credit
Agreements, Lender shall process such Letter of Credit Agreements and the certificates, documents and information delivered to it in connection therewith in
accordance with its customary procedures and shall, subject to this Section 2.13, issue the Letter of Credit requested thereby (but in no event shall Lender be
required to issue any Letter of Credit earlier than 3 Business Days after its receipt of the Letter of Credit Agreements therefor and all such other certificates,
documents and information relating thereto) by issuing the original of such Letter of Credit (or amendment or extension) to the beneficiary thereof or as
otherwise may be agreed by Lender and Borrowers. Each request for the issuance of a Letter of Credit, or the amendment or extension of any outstanding
Letter of Credit, shall be made in writing by an Authorized Person and delivered to Lender via hand delivery, facsimile, or other electronic method of
transmission reasonably in advance of the requested date of issuance, amendment or extension. Each Letter of Credit shall (i) be denominated in Dollars in a
minimum amount of $100,000, (ii) be a standby letter of credit or commercial letter of credit issued to support obligations of a Borrower or any of its
Subsidiaries, contingent or otherwise, incurred in the ordinary course of business, (iii) expire on a date no more than 12 months after the date of issuance or
last renewal of such Letter of Credit, which date shall be no later than the Maturity Date, and (iv) be subject to the Uniform Customs and/or ISP98, as set
forth in the Letter of Credit Agreements or as determined by Lender and, to the extent not inconsistent therewith, the laws of the State which governs this
Agreement.
(b)
Lender shall have no obligation to issue, amend or extend a Letter of Credit if after giving effect to the requested issuance,
amendment or extension the Letter of Credit Usage would exceed the lesser of:
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(i)
the lesser of (x) the Borrowing Base less the outstanding amount of Advances, and (y) the Maximum Revolver Amount
less the outstanding amount of Advances, less Reserves (in accordance with Section 2.1(c)), or
(ii)

$5,000,000.

(c)
If Lender makes a payment under a Letter of Credit, Borrowers shall pay to Lender an amount equal to the applicable Letter of
Credit Disbursement on the date such Letter of Credit Disbursement is made and, in the absence of such payment, the amount of the Letter of Credit
Disbursement immediately and automatically shall be deemed to be an Advance hereunder (notwithstanding any failure to satisfy any condition precedent set

forth in Section 4 or this Section 2.13). If a Letter of Credit Disbursement is deemed to be an Advance hereunder, Borrowers’ obligation to pay the amount of
such Letter of Credit Disbursement to Lender shall be automatically converted into an obligation to pay the resulting Advance.
(d)
Borrowers’ obligations under this Section 2.13 (including Borrowers’ reimbursement obligation) shall be absolute and
unconditional under any and all circumstances and irrespective of any set off, counterclaim or defense to payment which any Borrower may have or have had
against Lender or any beneficiary of a Letter of Credit or any other Person. Each Borrower also agrees that Lender shall not be responsible for, and the
Borrowers’ reimbursement obligation hereunder shall not be affected by, among other things, the validity or genuineness of documents or of any
endorsements thereon, even though such documents shall in fact prove to be invalid, fraudulent or forged, or any dispute between or among any Borrower and
any beneficiary of any Letter of Credit or any other party to which such Letter of Credit may be transferred or any claims whatsoever of any Borrower against
any beneficiary of such Letter of Credit or any such transferee. Lender shall not be liable for any error, omission, interruption or delay in transmission,
dispatch or delivery of any message or advice, however transmitted, in connection with any Letter of Credit, except for errors or omissions caused by
Lender’s gross negligence or willful misconduct, as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final non-appealable judgment. Borrowers agree that
any action taken or omitted by Lender under or in connection with any Letter of Credit or the related drafts or documents, if done in the absence of gross
negligence or willful misconduct shall be binding on each Borrower and shall not result in any liability of Lender to any Borrower. The responsibility of
Lender to Borrowers in connection with any draft presented for payment under any Letter of Credit shall, in addition to any payment obligation expressly
provided for in such Letter of Credit, be limited to determining that the documents (including each draft) delivered under such Letter of Credit in connection
with such presentment are in conformity with such Letter of Credit.
(e)
Each Borrower hereby agrees to indemnify, save, defend, and hold Lender harmless from any damage, loss, cost, expense, or
liability, and reasonable attorneys fees incurred by Lender arising out of or in connection with any Letter of Credit; provided, however, that no Borrower shall
be obligated hereunder to indemnify Lender for any damage, loss, cost, expense, or liability that a court of competent jurisdiction finally determines to have
resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Lender. Each Borrower understands and agrees that Lender shall not be liable for any error,
negligence, or mistake, whether of omission or commission, in following any Borrower’s instructions or those contained in the Letter of Credit or any
modifications, amendments, or supplements thereto. Each Borrower hereby
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acknowledges and agrees that Lender shall not be responsible for delays, errors, or omissions resulting from the malfunction of equipment in connection with
any Letter of Credit.
(f)
If by reason of (i) any change after the date hereof in any applicable law, treaty, rule, or regulation or any change in the
interpretation or application thereof by any Governmental Authority, or (ii) compliance by Lender with any direction, request, or requirement (irrespective of
whether having the force of law) of any Governmental Authority or monetary authority, including Regulation D of the Federal Reserve Board as from time to
time in effect (and any successor thereto):
(i)
any reserve, deposit, or similar requirement is or shall be imposed or modified in respect of any Letter of Credit issued or
caused to be issued hereunder or hereby, or
(ii)

there shall be imposed on Lender any other condition regarding any Letter of Credit,

and the result of the foregoing is to increase, directly or indirectly, the cost to Lender of issuing, making, guaranteeing, or maintaining any Letter of Credit or
to reduce the amount receivable in respect thereof, then, and in any such case, Lender may, at any time within a reasonable period after the additional cost is
incurred or the amount received is reduced, notify Borrowers, and Borrowers shall pay within 30 days after demand therefor, such amounts as Lender may
specify to be necessary to compensate Lender for such additional cost or reduced receipt, together with interest on such amount from the date of such demand
until payment in full thereof at the rate then applicable to Advances hereunder; provided, however, that Borrowers shall not be required to provide any
compensation pursuant to this Section 2.13(f) for any such amounts incurred more than 180 days prior to the date on which the demand for payment of such
amounts is first made to Borrowers; provided further, however, that if an event or circumstance giving rise to such amounts is retroactive, then the 180-day
period referred to above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof. The determination by Lender of any amount due pursuant to this
Section 2.13(f), as set forth in a certificate setting forth the calculation thereof in reasonable detail, shall, in the absence of manifest or demonstrable error, be
final and conclusive and binding on all of the parties hereto.
(g)
As between Lender and Borrowers (but not any beneficiary of any Letter of Credit), to the extent that any provision of any Letter
of Credit Agreement related to any Letter of Credit is inconsistent with the provisions of this Section 2.13, the provisions of this Section 2.13 shall apply.
2.14
Illegality; Impracticability; Increased Costs. In the event that (a) any change in any law, regulation, treaty, or directive, or any change
therein or in the interpretation or application thereof makes it unlawful for Lender to fund or maintain extensions of credit with interest based upon Daily
Three Month LIBOR or to continue such funding or maintaining, or to determine or charge interest rates based upon Daily Three Month LIBOR, (b) Lender
determines that by reasons affecting the London interbank Eurodollar market, adequate and reasonable means do not exist for ascertaining Daily Three Month
LIBOR, or (c) Lender determines that the interest rate based on the Daily Three Month LIBOR will not adequately and fairly reflect the
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cost to Lender of maintaining or funding Advances at the interest rate based upon Daily Three Month LIBOR, Lender shall give notice of such changed
circumstances to Borrowers and (i) interest on the principal amount of such extensions of credit thereafter shall accrue interest at a rate equal to the Prime
Rate plus the Interest Rate Margin applicable to Revolving Advances, and (ii) Borrowers shall not be entitled to elect Daily Three Month LIBOR until Lender
determines that it would no longer be unlawful or impractical to do so or that such increased costs would no longer be applicable.
2.15
Capital Requirements. If, after the date hereof, Lender determines that (a) the adoption of or change in any law, rule, regulation or
guideline regarding capital or reserve requirements for lenders, banks or bank holding companies, or any change in the interpretation, implementation, or
application thereof by any Governmental Authority charged with the administration thereof, including those changes resulting from the enactment of the
Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Basel III, regardless of the date enacted, adopted or issued, or (b) compliance by Lender or
its parent bank holding company with any guideline, request or directive of any such entity regarding capital adequacy (whether or not having the force of

law), has the effect of reducing the return on Lender’s or such holding company’s capital as a consequence of Lender’s loan commitments hereunder to a level
below that which Lender or such holding company could have achieved but for such adoption, change, or compliance (taking into consideration Lender’s or
such holding company’s then existing policies with respect to capital adequacy and assuming the full utilization of such entity’s capital) by any amount
deemed by Lender to be material, then Lender may notify Borrowers thereof. Following receipt of such notice, Borrowers agree to pay Lender on demand
the amount of such reduction of return of capital as and when such reduction is determined, payable within 30 days after presentation by Lender of a
statement of the amount and setting forth in reasonable detail Lender’s calculation thereof and the assumptions upon which such calculation was based (which
statement shall be deemed true and correct absent manifest error). In determining such amount, Lender may use any reasonable averaging and attribution
methods. Failure or delay on the part of Lender to demand compensation pursuant to this Section 2.15 shall not constitute a waiver of Lender’s right to
demand such compensation; provided that Borrowers shall not be required to compensate Lender pursuant to this Section 2.15 for any reductions in return
incurred more than 180 days prior to the date that Lender notifies Borrowers of such law, rule, regulation or guideline giving rise to such reductions and of
Lender’s intention to claim compensation therefor; provided further that if such claim arises by reason of the adoption of or change in any law, rule,
regulation or guideline that is retroactive, then the 180-day period referred to above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof.
2.16

Extent of Each Borrower’s Liability, Contribution.

(a)
Joint and Several Liability. Each Borrower agrees that it is jointly and severally liable for, and absolutely and unconditionally
guarantees to Lender the prompt payment and performance of, all Obligations under this Agreement and all agreements under the Loan Documents. Each
Borrower agrees that its guaranty obligations hereunder constitute a continuing guaranty of payment and not of collection, that such obligations shall not be
discharged until cash payment in full of the Obligations, and that such obligations are absolute and unconditional, irrespective of (i) the genuineness, validity,
regularity, enforceability, subordination or any future modification of, or change in, any Obligations or Loan Document, or
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any other document, instrument or agreement to which any Borrower is or may become a party or be bound; (ii) the absence of any action to enforce this
Agreement (including this Section 2.16) or any other Loan Document, or any waiver, consent or indulgence of any kind by Lender with respect thereto; (iii)
the existence, value or condition of, or failure to perfect any of Lender’s Liens or to preserve rights against, any security or guaranty for the Obligations or
any action, or the absence of any action, by Lender in respect thereof (including the release of any security or guaranty); (iv) the insolvency of any Borrower;
(v) any election by Lender in an Insolvency Proceeding for the application of Section 1111(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code; (vi) any borrowing or grant of a
Lien by any other Borrower, as debtor-in-possession under Section 364 of the Bankruptcy Code or otherwise; (vii) the disallowance of any claims of Lender
against any Borrower for the repayment of any Obligations under Section 502 of the Bankruptcy Code or otherwise; or (viii) any other action or
circumstances that might otherwise constitute a legal or equitable discharge or defense of a surety or guarantor, except cash payment in full of all Obligations.
(b)
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, each Borrower’s liability under this Section 2.16 shall be limited to the greater of
(i) all amounts for which such Borrower is primarily liable, as described below, and (ii) such Borrower’s Allocable Amount.
(c)
If any Borrower makes a payment under this Section 2.16 of any Obligations (other than amounts for which such Borrower is
primarily liable) (a “Guarantor Payment”) that, taking into account all other Guarantor Payments previously or concurrently made by any other Borrower,
exceeds the amount that such Borrower would otherwise have paid if each Borrower had paid the aggregate Obligations satisfied by such Guarantor Payments
in the same proportion that such Borrower’s Allocable Amount bore to the total Allocable Amounts of all Borrowers, then such Borrower shall be entitled to
receive contribution and indemnification payments from, and to be reimbursed by, each other Borrower for the amount of such excess, pro rata based upon
their respective Allocable Amounts in effect immediately prior to such Guarantor Payment. The “Allocable Amount” for any Borrower shall be the
maximum amount that could then be recovered from such Borrower under this Section 2.16 without rendering such payment voidable under Section 548 of
the Bankruptcy Code or under any applicable state fraudulent transfer or conveyance act, or similar statute or common law.
(d)
Each Borrower hereby agrees that it will not enforce any of its rights of contribution or subrogation against any other Borrower
with respect to any liability incurred by it hereunder or under any of the other Loan Documents, any payments made by it to Lender with respect to any of the
Obligations or any collateral security therefor until such time as all of the Obligations have been paid in full in cash. Any claim which any Borrower may
have against any other Borrower with respect to any payments to Lender hereunder or under any of the Bank Product Agreements are hereby expressly made
subordinate and junior in right of payment, without limitation as to any increases in the Obligations arising hereunder or thereunder, to the prior payment in
full in cash of the Obligations and, in the event of any insolvency, bankruptcy, receivership, liquidation, reorganization or other similar proceeding under the
laws of any jurisdiction relating to any Borrower, its debts or its assets, whether voluntary or involuntary, all such Obligations shall be paid in full in cash
before any payment or distribution of any character, whether in cash, securities or other property, shall be made to any other Borrower therefor.
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(e)
Nothing contained in this Section 2.16 shall limit the liability of any Borrower to pay extensions of credit made directly or
indirectly to that Borrower (including revolving loans advanced to any other Borrower and then re-loaned or otherwise transferred to, or for the benefit of,
such Borrower), Obligations relating to Letters of Credit issued to support such Borrower’s business, and all accrued interest, fees, expenses and other related
Obligations with respect thereto, for which such Borrower shall be primarily liable for all purposes hereunder. Lender shall have the right, at any time in its
discretion, to condition an extension of credit hereunder upon a separate calculation of borrowing availability for each Borrower and to restrict the
disbursement and use of such extensions of credit to such Borrower.
3.

SECURITY INTEREST.

3.1
Grant of Security Interest. Each Borrower hereby unconditionally grants, assigns, and pledges to Lender for the benefit of Lender and
each Bank Product Provider, to secure payment and performance of the Obligations, a continuing security interest (hereinafter referred to as the “Security
Interest”) in all of such Borrower’s right, title, and interest in and to the Collateral, as security for the payment and performance of all Obligations. Following
request by Lender, each Borrower shall grant Lender a Lien and security interest in all Commercial Tort Claims that it may have against any Person. The
Security Interest created hereby secures the payment and performance of the Obligations, whether now existing or arising hereafter. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, this Agreement secures the payment of all amounts which constitute part of the Obligations and would be owed by any Borrower
to Lender or any other Bank Product Provider, but for the fact that they are unenforceable or not allowable (in whole or in part) as a claim in an Insolvency
Proceeding involving any Borrower due to the existence of such Insolvency Proceeding.

Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary, the term “Collateral” shall not include: (i) voting Stock of any CFC, solely to
the extent that (y) such Stock represents more than 65% of the outstanding voting Stock of such CFC, and (z) pledging or hypothecating more than 65% of
the total outstanding voting Stock of such CFC would result in material adverse tax consequences; or (ii) any rights or interest in any contract, lease, permit,
license, or license agreement covering real or personal property of any Borrower if under the terms of such contract, lease, permit, license, or license
agreement, or applicable law with respect thereto, the grant of a security interest or lien therein is prohibited as a matter of law or under the terms of such
contract, lease, permit, license, or license agreement and such prohibition or restriction has not been waived or the consent of the other party to such contract,
lease, permit, license, or license agreement has not been obtained (provided, that, (A) the foregoing exclusions of this clause (ii) shall in no way be construed
(1) to apply to the extent that any described prohibition or restriction is unenforceable under Section 9-406, 9-407, 9-408, or 9-409 of the Code or other
applicable law, or (2) to apply to the extent that any consent or waiver has been obtained that would permit Lender’s security interest or lien notwithstanding
the prohibition or restriction on the pledge of such contract, lease, permit, license, or license agreement and (B) the foregoing exclusions of clauses (i) and (ii)
shall in no way be construed to limit, impair, or otherwise affect any of Lender’s continuing security interests in and liens upon any rights or interests of any
Borrower in or to (1) monies due or to become due under or in connection with any described contract, lease, permit, license, license agreement, or Stock
(including any Accounts or Stock), or (2) any proceeds from the sale, license, lease, or other dispositions of any
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such contract, lease, permit, license, license agreement, or Stock); or (iii) any United States intent-to-use trademark applications to the extent that, and solely
during the period in which, the grant of a security interest therein would impair the validity or enforceability of such intent-to-use trademark applications
under applicable federal law, provided that upon submission and acceptance by the PTO of an amendment to allege use pursuant to 15 U.S.C. Section 1060(a)
(or any successor provision), such intent-to-use trademark application shall be considered Collateral.
3.2
Borrowers Remain Liable. Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, (a) each Loan Party shall remain liable under the contracts
and agreements included in the Collateral, including the Pledged Operating Agreements and the Pledged Partnership Agreements, to perform all of the duties
and obligations thereunder to the same extent as if this Agreement had not been executed, (b) the exercise by Lender of any of the rights hereunder shall not
release any Loan Party from any of its duties or obligations under such contracts and agreements included in the Collateral, and (c) Lender shall not have any
obligation or liability under such contracts and agreements included in the Collateral by reason of this Agreement, nor shall Lender be obligated to perform
any of the obligations or duties of any Loan Party thereunder or to take any action to collect or enforce any claim for payment assigned hereunder. Until an
Event of Default shall occur, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement or any other Loan Document, the Loan Parties shall have the right to possession
and enjoyment of the Collateral for the purpose of conducting the ordinary course of their respective businesses, subject to and upon the terms hereof and of
this Agreement and the other Loan Documents. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, it is the intention of the parties hereto that record and
beneficial ownership of the Pledged Interests, including all voting, consensual, dividend, and distribution rights, shall remain in the Loan Parties until (i) the
occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default and (ii) Lender has notified Loan Parties of Lender’s election to exercise such rights with respect to the
Pledged Interests pursuant to Section 10.3.
3.3
Assignment of Insurance. As additional security for the Obligations, each Borrower hereby assigns to Lender for the benefit of Lender
and each Bank Product Provider all rights of such Borrower under every policy of insurance covering the Collateral and all other assets and property of each
Borrower (including, without limitation business interruption insurance and proceeds thereof) and all business records and other documents relating to it, and
all monies (including proceeds and refunds) that may be payable under any policy, and, except with respect to monies not exceeding $50,000 in the aggregate
and not related to any portion of the Collateral constituting Accounts, each Borrower hereby directs the issuer of each policy to pay all such monies directly
and solely to Lender. At any time, whether or not a Default or Event of Default shall have occurred, Lender may (but need not), in Lender’s or any
Borrower’s name, execute and deliver proofs of claim, receive payment of proceeds and endorse checks and other instruments representing payment of the
policy of insurance, and adjust, litigate, compromise or release claims against the issuer of any policy. Any monies received under any insurance policy
assigned to Lender, other than liability insurance policies, or received as payment of any award or compensation for condemnation or taking by eminent
domain, shall be paid to Lender and, as determined by Lender in its sole discretion, either be applied to prepayment of the Obligations or disbursed to
Borrowers under payment terms reasonably satisfactory to Lender for application to the cost of repairs, replacements, or restorations of the affected Collateral
which shall be effected with reasonable promptness and shall be of a value at least equal to the value of the items or property destroyed.
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3.4
Financing Statements. Each Borrower authorizes Lender to file financing statements describing Collateral to perfect Lender’s and each
Bank Product Provider’s Security Interest in the Collateral, and Lender may describe the Collateral as “all personal property” or “all assets” or describe
specific items of Collateral including without limitation any Commercial Tort Claims. All financing statements filed before the date of this Agreement to
perfect the Security Interest were authorized by such Borrower and are hereby ratified.
4.

CONDITIONS.

4.1
Conditions Precedent to the Initial Extension of Credit. The obligation of Lender to make the initial extension of credit provided for
hereunder is subject to the fulfillment, to the satisfaction of Lender, of each of the conditions precedent set forth on Exhibit B.
4.2
Conditions Precedent to all Extensions of Credit. The obligation of Lender to make any Advances hereunder (or to extend any other
credit hereunder) at any time shall be subject to the following conditions precedent:
(a)
the representations and warranties of each Borrower or its Subsidiaries contained in this Agreement or in the other Loan
Documents shall be true and correct in all material respects (except that such materiality qualifier shall not be applicable to any representations and warranties
that already are qualified or modified by materiality in the text thereof) on and as of the date of such extension of credit, as though made on and as of such
date (except to the extent that such representations and warranties relate solely to an earlier date, in which case such representations and warranties shall
continue to be true and correct as of such earlier date);
(b)
no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing on the date of such extension of credit, nor shall either result
from the making thereof;

(c)

there has been no Material Adverse Change;

(d)

after giving effect to any Advance or other extension of credit, Availability shall be not less than zero; and

(e)
reasonably require.

Borrowers shall have delivered such further documentation (including Borrowing Base Certificates) and assurances as Lender may

Any request for an extension of credit shall be deemed to be a representation by each Borrower that the statements set forth in this Section 4.2 are correct as
of the time of such request and (ii) if such extension of credit is a request for an Advance or a Letter of Credit, sufficient Availability exists for such Advance
or Letter of Credit pursuant to Section 2.1(a) and Section 2.13.
4.3
Conditions Subsequent. The obligation of Lender to continue to make Advances (or otherwise extend credit hereunder) is subject to the
fulfillment, on or before the date applicable thereto, of the conditions subsequent set forth on Exhibit C (the failure by any Borrower to so perform or cause to
be performed such conditions subsequent as and when required by the terms thereof, shall constitute an Event of Default).
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5.

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES.

In order to induce Lender to enter into this Agreement, each Borrower, on behalf of itself and the other Loan Parties, makes the
representations and warranties to Lender set forth on Exhibit D. Each of such representations and warranties shall be true, correct, and complete, in all
material respects (except that such materiality qualifier shall not be applicable to any representations and warranties that already are qualified or modified by
materiality in the text thereof), as of the Closing Date, and shall be true, correct, and complete, in all material respects (except that such materiality qualifier
shall not be applicable to any representations and warranties that already are qualified or modified by materiality in the text thereof), as of the date of the
making of each Advance or other extension of credit made thereafter, as though made on and as of the date of such Advance or other extension of credit
(except to the extent that such representations and warranties relate solely to an earlier date in which case such representations and warranties shall continue
to be true and correct as of such earlier date) and such representations and warranties shall survive the execution and delivery of this Agreement.
6.

AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS.

Each Borrower covenants and agrees that, until termination of this Agreement and payment in full of the Obligations, each Borrower shall
and shall cause each of the Loan Parties and their respective Subsidiaries to comply with each of the following:
6.1
Financial Statements, Reports, Certificates. Deliver to Lender copies of each of the financial statements, reports, and other items set
forth on Schedule 6.1 no later than the times specified therein. In addition, each Borrower agrees that no Subsidiary of a Borrower will have a fiscal year
different from that of Borrowers. Each Borrower agrees to maintain a system of accounting that enables such Borrower to produce financial statements in
accordance with GAAP. Each Loan Party shall also (a) keep a reporting system that shows all additions, sales, claims, returns, and allowances with respect to
its and its Subsidiaries’ sales, and (b) maintain its billing systems/practices substantially as in effect as of the Closing Date and shall only make material
modifications following prior notice to Lender.
6.2
Collateral Reporting. Provide Lender with each of the reports set forth on Schedule 6.2 at the times specified therein. In addition, each
Borrower agrees to use commercially reasonable efforts in cooperation with Lender to facilitate and implement a system of electronic collateral reporting in
order to provide electronic reporting of each of the items set forth on such Schedule.
6.3
Existence. Except as otherwise permitted under Section 7.3 or Section 7.4, at all times maintain and preserve in full force and effect (a) its
existence (including being in good standing in its jurisdiction of organization) and (b) all rights and franchises, licenses and permits material to its business;
provided, however, that no Loan Party nor any of its Subsidiaries shall be required to preserve any such right or franchise, licenses or permits if such Person’s
board of directors (or similar governing body) shall determine that the preservation thereof is no longer desirable in the conduct of the business of such
Person, and that the loss thereof is not disadvantageous in any material respect to such Person or to Lender; provided that Borrowers
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deliver at least 10 days prior written notice to Lender of such Loan Party’s election not to preserve any such right or franchise, license or permit.
6.4
Maintenance of Properties. Maintain and preserve all of its assets that are necessary or useful in the proper conduct of its business in good
working order and condition, ordinary wear, tear and casualty excepted and Permitted Dispositions excepted (and except where the failure to so maintain and
preserve such assets could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change), and comply with the material provisions of all material leases
to which it is a party as lessee, so as to prevent the loss or forfeiture thereof, unless such provisions are the subject of a Permitted Protest.
6.5

Taxes.

(a)
Cause all assessments and taxes imposed, levied, or assessed against any Loan Party or its Subsidiaries, or any of their respective
assets or in respect of any of their income, businesses, or franchises to be paid in full, before delinquency or before the expiration of any extension period,
except to the extent that the validity of such assessment or tax shall be the subject of a Permitted Protest and so long as, in the case of an assessment or tax
that has or may become a Lien against any of the Collateral, (i) such contest proceedings conclusively operate to stay the sale of any portion of the Collateral
to satisfy such assessment or tax, and (ii) any such other Lien is at all times subordinate to Lender’s Liens.
(b)
Each Loan Party will and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to make timely payment or deposit of all tax payments and
withholding taxes required of it and them by applicable laws, including those laws concerning F.I.C.A., F.U.T.A., state disability, and local, state, and federal
income taxes, and will, upon request, furnish Lender with proof reasonably satisfactory to Lender indicating that such Loan Party and its Subsidiaries have
made such payments or deposits.

6.6
Insurance. At Borrowers’ expense, maintain insurance respecting each of the Loan Parties’ and their Subsidiaries’ assets wherever located,
covering loss or damage by fire, theft, explosion, and all other hazards and risks as ordinarily are insured against by other Persons engaged in the same or
similar businesses. Borrowers also shall maintain (with respect to each of the Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries) business interruption insurance, general
liability insurance, flood insurance for Collateral located in a flood plain, product liability insurance, director’s and officer’s liability insurance, fiduciary
liability insurance, foreign accounts receivable insurance (as applicable), and employment practices liability insurance, as well as insurance against larceny,
embezzlement, and criminal misappropriation to the extent such insurance is ordinarily maintained by other Persons engaged in the same or similar
businesses. All such policies of insurance shall be with responsible and reputable insurance companies acceptable to Lender in its Permitted Discretion and in
such amounts as is carried generally in accordance with sound business practice by companies in similar businesses similarly situated and located and in any
event in amount, adequacy and scope reasonably satisfactory to Lender. Except as set forth in Section 3.3, all property insurance policies covering the
Collateral are to be made payable to Lender for the benefit of Lender, as its interests may appear, in case of loss, pursuant to a lender loss payable
endorsement acceptable to Lender and are to contain such other provisions as Lender may reasonably require to fully protect Lender’s interest in the
Collateral
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and to any payments to be made under such policies. All certificates of property and general liability insurance are to be delivered to Lender, with the lender
loss payable (but only in respect of Collateral) and additional insured endorsements (with respect to general liability coverage) in favor of Lender and shall
provide for not less than 30 days (10 days in the case of non-payment) prior written notice to Lender of the exercise of any right of cancellation. If Borrowers
fail to maintain such insurance, Lender may arrange for such insurance, but at Borrowers’ expense and without any responsibility on Lender’s part for
obtaining the insurance, the solvency of the insurance companies, the adequacy of the coverage, or the collection of claims. Borrowers shall give Lender
prompt notice of any loss exceeding $250,000 covered by their casualty or business interruption insurance. Upon the occurrence and during the continuance
of an Event of Default, Lender shall have the sole right to file claims under any property and general liability insurance policies in respect of the Collateral, to
receive, receipt and give acquittance for any payments that may be payable thereunder, and to execute any and all endorsements, receipts, releases,
assignments, reassignments or other documents that may be necessary to effect the collection, compromise or settlement of any claims under any such
insurance policies.
6.7
Inspection. Permit Lender and each of Lender’s duly authorized representatives to visit any of its properties and inspect any of its assets or
books and records, to conduct appraisals and valuations, to examine and make copies of its books and records, and to discuss its affairs, finances, and
accounts with, and to be advised as to the same by, its officers and employees at such reasonable times and intervals as Lender may designate and, so long as
no Default or Event of Default exists, with reasonable prior notice to Borrowers.
6.8
Account Verification. Permit Lender, in Lender’s name or in the name of a nominee of Lender, to verify the validity, amount or any other
matter relating to any Account, by mail, telephone, facsimile transmission or otherwise. Further, at the request of Lender, Borrowers shall send requests for
verification of Accounts or send notices of assignment of Accounts to Account Debtors and other obligors.
6.9
Compliance with Laws. Comply with the requirements of all applicable laws, rules, regulations, and orders of any Governmental
Authority, other than laws, rules, regulations, and orders the non-compliance with which, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to
result in a Material Adverse Change.
6.10

Environmental.

(a)
Keep any property either owned or operated by any Borrower or its Subsidiaries free of any Environmental Liens or post bonds or
other financial assurances satisfactory to Lender and in an amount sufficient to satisfy the obligations or liability evidenced by such Environmental Liens;
(b)
Comply, in all material respects, with Environmental Laws and provide to Lender documentation of such compliance which
Lender reasonably requests;
(c)
Promptly notify Lender of any release of which any Borrower has knowledge of a Hazardous Material in any reportable quantity
from or onto property owned or operated by any Borrower or its Subsidiaries and take any Remedial Actions required to abate
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said release or otherwise to come into compliance, in all material respects, with applicable Environmental Law; and
(d)
Promptly, but in any event within 5 Business Days of its receipt thereof, provide Lender with written notice of any of the
following: (i) notice that an Environmental Lien has been filed against any of the real or personal property of any Borrower or its Subsidiaries, (ii)
commencement of any Environmental Action or written notice that an Environmental Action will be filed against any Borrower or its Subsidiaries, and (iii)
written notice of a violation, citation, or other administrative order from a Governmental Authority.
6.11

Disclosure Updates.

(a)
is earlier, notify Lender:

Promptly and in no event later than 5 Business Days after obtaining knowledge thereof or after the occurrence thereof, whichever

(i)
if any written information, exhibit, or report furnished to Lender contained, at the time it was furnished, any untrue
statement of a material fact or omitted to state any material fact necessary to make the statements contained therein not misleading in light of the
circumstances in which made. Any notification pursuant to the foregoing provision will not cure or remedy the effect of the prior untrue statement of a
material fact or omission of any material fact nor shall any such notification have the effect of amending or modifying this Agreement or any of the Schedules
hereto;
(ii)
of all actions, suits, or proceedings brought by or against any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries before any court or
other Governmental Authority which reasonably could be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change, provided that, in any event, such notification shall

not be later than 5 days after service of process with respect thereto on any Loan Party;
(iii)

of any disputes or claims by any Borrower’s customers exceeding $25,000 individually or $250,000 in the aggregate

(iv)

of any material loss or damage to any Collateral or any substantial adverse change in the Collateral; or

(v)

of a violation of any law, rule or regulation, the non-compliance with which reasonably could be expected to result in a

during any fiscal year;

Material Adverse Change.
(b)
Immediately upon obtaining knowledge thereof or after the occurrence thereof, notify Lender of any event or condition which
constitutes a Default or an Event of Default and provide a statement of the action that such Borrower proposes to take with respect to such Default or Event of
Default.
Upon request of Lender, each Loan Party shall deliver to Lender any other materials, reports, records or information reasonably requested relating to the
operations, business affairs, or financial condition of any Loan Party or its Subsidiaries or to the Collateral.
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6.12

Collateral Covenants.

(a)
Possession of Collateral. In the event that any Collateral, including Proceeds, is evidenced by or consists of Negotiable
Collateral, Investment Related Property, or Chattel Paper, in each case, having an aggregate value or face amount of $25,000 or more for all such Negotiable
Collateral, Investment Related Property, or Chattel Paper, the Loan Parties shall promptly (and in any event within 2 Business Days after receipt thereof),
notify Lender thereof, and if and to the extent that perfection or priority of Lender’s Liens is dependent on or enhanced by possession, the applicable Loan
Party, promptly (and in any event within 2 Business Days) after request by Lender, shall execute such other documents and instruments as shall be requested
by Lender or, if applicable, endorse and deliver physical possession of such Negotiable Collateral, Investment Related Property, or Chattel Paper to Lender,
together with such undated powers (or other relevant document of assignment or transfer acceptable to Lender) endorsed in blank as shall be requested by
Lender, and shall do such other acts or things deemed necessary or desirable by Lender to enhance, perfect and protect Lender’s Liens therein;
(b)

Chattel Paper.

(i)
Promptly (and in any event within 2 Business Days) after request by Lender, each Loan Party shall take all steps
reasonably necessary to grant Lender control of all electronic Chattel Paper of any Loan Party in accordance with the Code and all “transferable records” as
that term is defined in Section 16 of the Uniform Electronic Transaction Act and Section 201 of the federal Electronic Signatures in Global and National
Commerce Act as in effect in any relevant jurisdiction, to the extent that the individual or aggregate value or face amount of such electronic Chattel Paper
equals or exceeds $25,000; and
(ii)
If any Loan Party retains possession of any Chattel Paper or instruments (which retention of possession shall be subject to
the extent permitted hereby), promptly upon the request of Lender, such Chattel Paper and instruments shall be marked with the following legend: “This
writing and the obligations evidenced or secured hereby are subject to the Security Interest of Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as Lender”;
(c)

Control Agreements.

(i)
Except to the extent otherwise provided by Section 7.11, each Borrower shall obtain a Control Agreement from each bank
(other than Lender) maintaining a Deposit Account for such Loan Party;
(ii)
Except to the extent otherwise provided by Section 7.11, each Borrower shall obtain a Control Agreement from each
issuer of uncertificated securities, securities intermediary, or commodities intermediary issuing or holding any financial assets or commodities to or for any
such Loan Party; and
(iii)
Except to the extent otherwise provided by Section 7.11, each Borrower shall cause Lender to obtain “control”, as such
term is defined in the Code, with respect to all of such Borrower’s investment property;
(d)
Letter-of-Credit Rights. If the Loan Parties (or any of them) are or become the beneficiary of letters of credit having a face
amount or value of $25,000 or more in the aggregate, then the applicable Loan Party or Loan Parties shall promptly (and in any event
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within 2 Business Days after becoming a beneficiary), notify Lender thereof and, promptly (and in any event within 2 Business Days) after request by Lender,
enter into a tri-party agreement with Lender and the issuer or confirming bank with respect to letter-of-credit rights assigning such letter-of-credit rights to
Lender and directing all payments thereunder to the Collection Account unless otherwise directed by Lender, all in form and substance satisfactory to Lender;
(e)
Commercial Tort Claims. If the Loan Parties (or any of them) obtain Commercial Tort Claims having a value, or involving an
asserted claim, in the amount of $25,000 or more in the aggregate for all Commercial Tort Claims, then the applicable Loan Party or Loan Parties (i) shall
promptly (and in any event within 2 Business Days of obtaining such Commercial Tort Claim), notify Lender upon incurring or otherwise obtaining such
Commercial Tort Claims and, promptly (and in any event within 2 Business Days) after request by Lender, amend Schedule 5.6(d) to the Information
Certificate to describe such Commercial Tort Claims in a manner that reasonably identifies such Commercial Tort Claims and which is otherwise reasonably
satisfactory to Lender, (ii) hereby authorize(s) the filing of additional financing statements or amendments to existing financing statements describing such
Commercial Tort Claims, and (iii) agree(s) to do such other acts or things deemed necessary or desirable by Lender to give Lender a first priority, perfected
security interest in any such Commercial Tort Claim, which Commercial Tort Claim shall not be subject to any other Liens;

(f)
Government Contracts. Other than Accounts and Chattel Paper the aggregate value of which does not at any one time exceed
$25,000, if any Account or Chattel Paper of any Loan Party arises out of a contract or contracts with the United States of America or any State or any
department, agency, or instrumentality thereof, Loan Parties shall promptly (and in any event within 2 Business Days of the creation thereof) notify Lender
thereof and, promptly (and in any event within 2 Business Days) after request by Lender, execute any instruments or take any steps reasonably required by
Lender in order that all moneys due or to become due under such contract or contracts shall be assigned to Lender, for the benefit of Lender, and shall provide
written notice thereof under the Assignment of Claims Act or other applicable law;
(g)

Intellectual Property.

(i)
Upon the request of Lender, in order to facilitate filings with the PTO and the United States Copyright Office, each Loan
Party shall execute and deliver to Lender one or more Copyright Security Agreements or Patent and Trademark Security Agreements to further evidence
Lender’s Lien on such Loan Party’s Patents, Trademarks, or Copyrights, and the General Intangibles of such Loan Party relating thereto or represented
thereby;
(ii)
Each Loan Party shall have the duty, with respect to Intellectual Property that is necessary in the conduct of such Loan
Party’s business, to protect and diligently enforce and defend at such Loan Party’s expense its Intellectual Property, including the following, to the extent that
the failure to do any of the following would cause or would be reasonably likely to cause a Material Adverse Change: (A) to diligently enforce and defend,
including promptly suing for infringement, misappropriation, or dilution and to recover any and all damages for such infringement, misappropriation, or
dilution, and filing for opposition, interference, and cancellation against conflicting Intellectual Property rights of any Person, (B)
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to prosecute diligently any trademark application or service mark application that is part of the Trademarks pending as of the date hereof or hereafter until the
termination of this Agreement, (C) to prosecute diligently any patent application that is part of the Patents pending as of the date hereof or hereafter until the
termination of this Agreement, (D) to take all reasonable and necessary action to preserve and maintain all of such Loan Party’s Trademarks, Patents,
Copyrights, Intellectual Property Licenses, and its rights therein, including paying all maintenance fees and filing of applications for renewal, affidavits of
use, and affidavits of noncontestability, and (E) to require all employees, consultants, and contractors of each Loan Party who were involved in the creation or
development of such Intellectual Property to sign agreements containing assignment to such Loan Party of Intellectual Property rights created or developed
and obligations of confidentiality. No Loan Party shall abandon any Intellectual Property or Intellectual Property License that is necessary in the conduct of
such Loan Party’s business that would cause or would be reasonably likely to cause a Material Adverse Change. Each Loan Party shall take the steps
described in this Section 6.12(g)(ii) with respect to all new or acquired Intellectual Property to which it or any of its Subsidiaries is now or later becomes
entitled that is necessary in the conduct of such Loan Party’s or Subsidiary’s business;
(iii)
Each Borrower acknowledges and agrees that Lender shall have no duties with respect to any Intellectual Property or
Intellectual Property Licenses of any Loan Party. Without limiting the generality of this Section 6.12(g)(iii), each Borrower acknowledges and agrees that
Lender shall not be under any obligation to take any steps necessary to preserve rights in the Collateral consisting of Intellectual Property or Intellectual
Property Licenses against any other Person, but Lender may do so at its option from and after the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of
Default, and all expenses incurred in connection therewith (including reasonable fees and expenses of attorneys and other professionals) shall be for the sole
account of the applicable Borrower and shall be chargeable to the Loan Account;
(iv)
Each Loan Party shall promptly file an application with the United States Copyright Office for any Copyright that has not
been registered with the United States Copyright Office if such Copyright is necessary in connection with the conduct of such Loan Party’s business. Any
expenses incurred in connection with the foregoing shall be borne by the Loan Parties; and
(v)
No Loan Party shall enter into any Intellectual Property License to receive any license or rights in any Intellectual
Property of any other Person unless such Loan Party has used commercially reasonable efforts to permit the assignment of or grant of a Lien in such
Intellectual Property License (and all rights of such Loan Party thereunder) to Lender (and any transferees of Lender);
(h)

Investment Related Property.

(i)
Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an Event of Default, following the request of Lender, all sums of
money and property paid or distributed in respect of the Investment Related Property that are received by any Loan Party shall be held by the Loan Parties in
trust for the benefit of Lender segregated from such Loan Party’s other property, and such Loan Party shall deliver it promptly to Lender in the exact form
received; and
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(ii)
Each Loan Party shall cooperate with Lender in obtaining all necessary approvals and making all necessary filings under
federal, state, local, or foreign law to effect the perfection of the Security Interest on the Investment Related Property or to effect any sale or transfer thereof;
(i)
Real Property; Fixtures. Upon the acquisition by any Loan Party of any fee interest in Real Property, such Loan Party will
promptly (and in any event within 2 Business Days of acquisition) notify Lender of the acquisition of such Real Property and will grant to Lender a first
priority Mortgage on each fee interest in Real Property now or hereafter owned by such Loan Party, which Real Property shall not be subject to any other
Liens except Permitted Liens, and shall deliver such other documentation and opinions, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender, in connection with the
grant of such Mortgage as Lender shall request in its Permitted Discretion, including appraisals, title insurance policies and endorsements, surveys, financing
statements, fixture filings, flood insurance, flood insurance certifications and environmental audits and such Loan Party shall pay all recording costs,
intangible taxes and other fees and costs (including reasonable attorneys fees and expenses) incurred in connection therewith. All such appraisals, title
insurance policies and endorsements, environmental audits and surveys shall be prepared or issued by parties reasonably acceptable to Lender. To the extent
permitted by applicable law, all of the Collateral shall remain personal property regardless of the manner of its attachment or affixation to real property;
(j)

Controlled Accounts.

(i)
Within 75 days following the Closing Date (the “Cash Management Transition Period”), each Loan Party shall
(A) establish and maintain at Lender all Cash Management Services, including all deposit accounts and lockbox services. Such Cash Management Services
maintained by each Loan Party shall be of a type and on terms reasonably satisfactory to Lender;
(ii)
Until such time as the Loan Parties have established all of their Cash Management Services with Lender, during the Cash
Management Transition Period each Loan Party shall maintain Cash Management Services of a type and on terms reasonably satisfactory to Lender at one or
more of the banks set forth on Schedule 6.12(j) to the Information Certificate (each a “Controlled Account Bank”), and shall take reasonable steps to ensure
that all of its and its Subsidiaries’ Account Debtors forward payment of the amounts owed by them directly to such Controlled Account Bank, and (B) deposit
or cause to be deposited promptly, and in any event no later than the first Business Day after the date of receipt thereof, all of their Collections (including
those sent directly by their Account Debtors to a Loan Party) into a bank account of such Loan Party (each, a “Controlled Account”) at one of the Controlled
Account Banks;
(iii)
During the Cash Management Transition Period, each Loan Party shall maintain Control Agreements with the applicable
Controlled Account Bank, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Lender. Each such Control Agreement shall provide, among other things, that
(A) the Controlled Account Bank will comply with any instructions originated by Lender directing the disposition of the collected funds in such Controlled
Account without further consent by the applicable Loan Party, (B) the Controlled Account Bank waives, subordinates, or agrees not to exercise any rights of
setoff or recoupment or any other claim
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against the applicable Controlled Account other than for payment of its service fees and other charges directly related to the administration of such Controlled
Account and for returned checks or other items of payment, and (C) the Controlled Account Bank will forward, by daily standing wire transfer, all amounts in
the applicable Controlled Account; and
So long as no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, during the Cash Management Transition Period, Borrowers may amend Schedule
5.15 to the Information Certificate to add or replace a Controlled Account Bank or Controlled Account; provided, however, that (A) such prospective
Controlled Account and Controlled Account Bank shall be reasonably satisfactory to Lender, and (B) prior to the time of the opening of such Controlled
Account, the applicable Loan Party and such prospective Controlled Account Bank shall have executed and delivered to Lender a Control Agreement. Each
Loan Party shall close its Controlled Accounts (and establish replacement Controlled Accounts in accordance with clause (iii) above) as promptly as
practicable and in any event within thirty (30) days of notice from Lender that the operating performance, funds transfer, or availability procedures or
performance of the Controlled Account Bank with respect to Controlled Accounts or Lender’s liability under any Control Agreement with such Controlled
Account Bank is no longer acceptable to Lender in Lender’s reasonable judgment.
(k)

Affirmative Covenants.

(i)
If any Loan Party shall acquire, obtain, receive or become entitled to receive any Pledged Interests after the Closing Date,
it shall promptly (and in any event within two (2) Business Days of acquiring or obtaining such Collateral) deliver to Lender a duly executed Pledged
Interests Addendum identifying such Pledged Interests;
(ii)
Each Loan Party shall promptly deliver to Lender a copy of each material notice or other material communication
received by it in respect of any Pledged Interests;
(iii)
No Loan Party shall make or consent to any amendment or other modification or waiver with respect to any Pledged
Interests, Pledged Operating Agreement, or Pledged Partnership Agreement, or enter into any agreement or permit to exist any restriction with respect to any
Pledged Interests if the same is prohibited pursuant to the Loan Documents;
(iv)
As to all limited liability company or partnership interests issued under any Pledged Operating Agreement or Pledged
Partnership Agreement, each Loan Party hereby covenants that the Pledged Interests issued pursuant to such agreement (A) are not and shall not be dealt in or
traded on securities exchanges or in securities markets, (B) do not and will not constitute investment company securities, and (C) are not and will not be held
by such Loan Party in a securities account. In addition, none of the Pledged Operating Agreements, the Pledged Partnership Agreements, or any other
agreements governing any of the Pledged Interests issued under any Pledged Operating Agreement or Pledged Partnership Agreement, provide or shall
provide that such Pledged Interests are securities governed by Section 8 of the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in any relevant jurisdiction;
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6.13
Material Contracts. Contemporaneously with the delivery of each Compliance Certificate pursuant to Section 6.1, provide Lender with
copies of (a) each Material Contract entered into since the delivery of the previous Compliance Certificate, (b) each material amendment or modification of
any Material Contract entered into since the delivery of the previous Compliance Certificate, and (c) at the request of Lender, “no-offset” letters in form and
substance reasonably acceptable to Lender from each of the parties to any Material Contracts with Borrowers’ customers; provided that if no Event of Default
has occurred and is continuing, Borrowers’ obligation shall be to use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain such “no-offset” letters, it being understood,
however, that Borrowers’ inability to obtain any requested “no-offset” letter could result in a portion of one or more Accounts ceasing to be Eligible Accounts
under subsection (i) of the definition of Eligible Accounts. Borrowers shall maintain all Material Contracts in full force and effect and shall not default in the
payment or performance of its obligations thereunder.
6.14
Location of Inventory, Equipment and Books. Keep each Loan Party’s and its Subsidiaries’ Inventory, Equipment (other than vehicles
and Equipment out for repair) and Books only at the locations identified on Schedule 5.29 to the Information Certificate and keep their chief executive offices
only at the locations identified on Schedule 5.6(b) to the Information Certificate; provided, however, that Borrowers may amend Schedule 5.29 to the
Information Certificate so long as such amendment occurs by written notice to Lender not less than 10 days prior to the date on which such Inventory,
Equipment or Books are moved to such new location, and so long as, at the time of such written notification, the applicable Loan Party provides Lender a
Collateral Access Agreement with respect thereto if such location is not owned by such Loan Party.
6.15

Further Assurances.

(a)
At any time upon the reasonable request of Lender, execute or deliver to Lender any and all financing statements, fixture filings,
security agreements, pledges, assignments, endorsements of certificates of title, mortgages, deeds of trust, opinions of counsel, and all other documents (the
“Additional Documents”) that Lender may reasonably request and in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Lender, to create, perfect, and continue
perfection or to better perfect Lender’s Liens in all of the assets of each Loan Party (whether now owned or hereafter arising or acquired, tangible or
intangible, real or personal), to create and perfect Liens in favor of Lender in any Real Property acquired by any Loan Party after the Closing Date with a fair
market value in excess of $25,000, and in order to fully consummate all of the transactions contemplated hereby and under the other Loan Documents. To the
maximum extent permitted by applicable law, if a Borrower refuses or fails to execute or deliver any reasonably requested Additional Documents within a
reasonable period of time, not to exceed 30 days following the request to do so, such Borrower hereby authorizes Lender to execute any such Additional
Documents in the applicable Borrower’s name, as applicable, and authorizes Lender to file such executed Additional Documents in any appropriate filing
office. In furtherance and not in limitation of the foregoing, each Borrower shall take such actions as Lender may reasonably request from time to time to
ensure that the Obligations are guaranteed by the Guarantors and are secured by substantially all of the assets of each Borrower and all of the outstanding
capital Stock of each Loan Party (subject to exceptions and limitations contained in the Loan Documents with respect to CFCs);
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(b)
Each Borrower authorizes the filing by Lender of financing or continuation statements, or amendments thereto, and such Loan
Party will execute and deliver to Lender such other instruments or notices, as Lender may reasonably request, in order to perfect and preserve the Security
Interest granted or purported to be granted hereby;
(c)
Each Borrower authorizes Lender at any time and from time to time to file, transmit, or communicate, as applicable, financing
statements and amendments (i) describing the Collateral as “all personal property of debtor” or “all assets of debtor” or words of similar effect, (ii) describing
the Collateral as being of equal or lesser scope or with greater detail, or (iii) that contain any information required by Part 5 of Article 9 of the Code for the
sufficiency or filing office acceptance of such financing statement. Each Borrower also hereby ratifies any and all financing statements or amendments
previously filed by Lender in any jurisdiction; and
(d)
Each Borrower acknowledges that no Loan Party is authorized to file any financing statement or amendment or termination
statement with respect to any financing statement filed in connection with this Agreement without the prior written consent of Lender, subject to such Loan
Party’s rights under Section 9-509(d)(2) of the Code.
7.

NEGATIVE COVENANTS.

Each Borrower covenants and agrees that, until termination of all of the commitments of Lender hereunder to provide any further
extensions of credit and payment in full of the Obligations, the Loan Parties will not and will not permit any of their Subsidiaries to do any of the following:
7.1
Indebtedness. Create, incur, assume, suffer to exist, guarantee, or otherwise become or remain, directly or indirectly, liable with respect to
any Indebtedness, except for Permitted Indebtedness.
7.2
Liens. Create, incur, assume, or suffer to exist, directly or indirectly, any Lien on or with respect to any of its assets, of any kind, whether
now owned or hereafter acquired, or any income or profits therefrom, except for Permitted Liens.
7.3

Restrictions on Fundamental Changes.

(a)
Enter into any merger, consolidation, reorganization, or recapitalization, or reclassify its Stock, except for (i) any merger between
Loan Parties, provided that a Borrower must be the surviving entity of any such merger to which it is a party, and (ii) any merger between Subsidiaries of a
Borrower that are not Loan Parties;
(b)
Liquidate, wind up, or dissolve itself (or suffer any liquidation or dissolution), except for (i) the liquidation or dissolution of nonoperating Subsidiaries of any Borrower with nominal assets and nominal liabilities, (ii) the liquidation or dissolution of a Loan Party (other than a Borrower)
or any of its wholly-owned Subsidiaries so long as all of the assets (including any interest in any Stock) of such liquidating or dissolving Loan Party or
Subsidiary are transferred to a Loan Party that is not liquidating or dissolving, or (iii) the liquidation or dissolution of a Subsidiary of a Borrower that is not a
Loan Party (other than any such
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Subsidiary the Stock of which (or any portion thereof) is subject to a Lien in favor of Lender) so long as all of the assets of such liquidating or dissolving
Subsidiary are transferred to a Subsidiary of a Borrower that is not liquidating or dissolving;
(c)
Suspend or cease operation of a substantial portion of its or their business, except as permitted pursuant to clauses 7.3(a) or
(b) above or in connection with the transactions permitted pursuant to Section 7.4; or
(d)

Form or acquire any direct or indirect Subsidiary.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Borrowers shall be permitted, without further consent of Lender, to do the following: (i) form one direct Subsidiary organized
under the laws of Costa Rica and one direct Subsidiary organized under the laws of the Republic of the Philippines; (ii) transfer, assign, and convey assets and
liabilities of StarTek International Limited related to (A) operations in Costa Rica to the newly-formed Subsidiary organized under the laws of Costa Rica and
(B) operations in the Republic of the Philippines to the newly-formed Subsidiary organized under the laws of the Republic of the Philippines; and
(iii) dissolve StarTek International Limited; provided that Borrowers shall cause all such newly-formed Subsidiaries to become parties to, and bound by, the
terms and conditions of the Intercompany Subordination Agreement.
7.4
Disposal of Assets. Other than Permitted Dispositions or transactions expressly permitted by Sections 7.3 or 7.12, Loan Parties shall not
sell, assign (by operation of law or otherwise) or otherwise dispose of, or grant any option with respect to, any of the Collateral or any other asset except as

expressly permitted by this Agreement. Lender shall not be deemed to have consented to any sale or other disposition of any of the Collateral or any other
asset except as expressly permitted in this Agreement or the other Loan Documents.
7.5
Change Name. Change any Borrower’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ name, organizational identification number, state of organization,
organizational identity or “location” for purposes of Section 9-307 of the Code.
7.6
Nature of Business. Make any change in the nature of its or their business as conducted on the date of this Agreement or acquire any
properties or assets that are not reasonably related to the conduct of such business activities; provided, however, that the foregoing shall not prevent any
Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries from engaging in any business that is reasonably related or ancillary to its or their business and acquiring properties and
assets related thereto in a manner consistent with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
7.7

Prepayments and Amendments.
(a)

Except in connection with Refinancing Indebtedness permitted by Section 7.1,

(i)
optionally prepay, redeem, defease, purchase, or otherwise acquire any Indebtedness of any Loan Party or any of its
Subsidiaries, other than (A) the Obligations in accordance with this Agreement, and (B) Permitted Intercompany Advances, or
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(ii)
make any payment on account of Indebtedness that has been contractually subordinated in right of payment to the
Obligations if such payment is not permitted at such time under the subordination terms and conditions, or
(b)

Directly or indirectly, amend, modify, or change any of the terms or provisions of:

(i)
any agreement, instrument, document, indenture, or other writing evidencing or concerning Permitted Indebtedness of at
least $250,000 when aggregated with other Permitted Indebtedness amended, modified or changed after the date of this Agreement, other than (A) the
Obligations in accordance with this Agreement, (B) Permitted Intercompany Advances, and (C) Indebtedness permitted under clauses (c), (e) and (f) of the
definition of Permitted Indebtedness;
(ii)
any Material Contract except to the extent that such amendment, modification, or change could not, individually or in the
aggregate, reasonably be expected to be materially adverse to the interests of Lender; or
(iii)
the Governing Documents of any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries if the effect thereof, either individually or in the
aggregate, could reasonably be expected to be materially adverse to the interests of Lender.
7.8

Change of Control. Cause, permit, or suffer, directly or indirectly, any Change of Control.

7.9
Restricted Junior Payments. Make any Restricted Junior Payment; provided, however, that, so long as it is permitted by law, and so long
as no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing or would result therefrom and so long as such Borrower is a “pass-through” tax entity
for United States federal income tax purposes, and after first providing such supporting documentation as Lender may request (including the state and federal
tax returns (and all related schedules) of each owner of Stock in such Borrower net of any prior year loss carry-forward, such Borrower may declare and pay
Pass-Through Tax Liabilities.
7.10

Accounting Methods. Modify or change its fiscal year or its method of accounting (other than as may be required to conform to GAAP).

7.11

Investments; Controlled Investments.

(a)
Except for Permitted Investments, directly or indirectly, make or acquire any Investment or incur any liabilities (including
contingent obligations) for or in connection with any Investment.
(b)
Other than (i) an aggregate amount of not more than $50,000 at any one time, in the case of Borrowers and their Subsidiaries in the
aggregate, and (ii) amounts deposited into Deposit Accounts identified on Schedule 5.15 to the Information Certificate which are specially and exclusively
used for payroll, payroll taxes and other employee wage and benefit payments to or for each Borrower’s or their Subsidiaries’ employees, make, acquire, or
permit to exist Permitted Investments consisting of cash, Cash Equivalents, or amounts credited to Deposit
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Accounts or Securities Accounts unless such Borrower or its Subsidiaries, as applicable, and the applicable bank (as permitted solely pursuant to
Section 6.12(j)) or securities intermediary have entered into Control Agreements with Lender governing such Permitted Investments in order to perfect (and
further establish) Lender’s Liens in such Permitted Investments. Except as provided in Section 6.12(j) and Section 7.11(b)(i) and (ii), Borrowers shall not and
shall not permit their Subsidiaries to establish or maintain any Deposit Account or Securities Account with a banking institution other than Lender;
notwithstanding the provisions of Section 6.12(j) and Section 7.11(b)(i) and (ii), Borrowers shall not and shall not permit their Subsidiaries to: (y) permit to
exist Permitted Investments consisting of cash, Cash Equivalents, or amounts credited to Deposit Accounts or Securities Accounts located outside the United
States of America of greater than $3,500,000 in the aggregate at any one time, or (z) transfer Permitted Investments consisting of cash, Cash Equivalents, or
amounts credited to Deposit Accounts or Securities Accounts from locations within the United States of American to locations outside the United States of
America except in accordance with historical practices.
7.12
Transactions with Affiliates. Directly or indirectly enter into or permit to exist any transaction with any Affiliate of any Borrower or any
of their Subsidiaries except for:
(a)

transactions between or among the Loan Parties;

(b)
transactions (other than the payment of management, consulting, monitoring, or advisory fees) between a Borrower or any other
Loan Party or its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and any Affiliate of a Borrower, any other Loan Party or its Subsidiaries, on the other hand, so long as such
transactions (i) are fully disclosed to Lender prior to the consummation thereof, if they involve one or more payments by a Borrower or a Loan Party or its
Subsidiaries in excess of $50,000 for any single transaction or series of related transactions, and (ii) are no less favorable, taken as a whole, to the Borrowers
or the other Loan Parties or their Subsidiaries, as applicable, than would be obtained in an arm’s length transaction with a non-Affiliate;
(c)
so long as it has been approved by a Loan Party’s or its applicable Subsidiary’s board of directors (or comparable governing body)
in accordance with applicable law, any indemnity provided for the benefit of directors (or comparable managers) of such Loan Party or its applicable
Subsidiary;
(d)
so long as it has been approved by a Borrower’s or its applicable Subsidiary’s board of directors (or comparable governing body)
in accordance with applicable law, the payment of reasonable compensation, severance, or employee benefit arrangements to employees, officers, and outside
directors of a Borrower and its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business and consistent with industry practice; and
(e)

transactions permitted by Section 7.3 or Section 7.9, or any Permitted Intercompany Advance.

7.13
Use of Proceeds. Use the proceeds of any loan made hereunder for any purpose other than (a) on the Closing Date, (i) to repay, in full, the
outstanding principal, accrued interest, and accrued fees and expenses owing under or in connection with Borrowers’ existing credit
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facility with Existing Lender, (ii) to cover any book overdrafts, (iii) to fund accounts payable over 60 days past their due dates, (iv) to support Letters of
Credit, and (v) to pay fees, costs, and expenses, including Lender Expenses, incurred in connection with this Agreement, the other Loan Documents, and the
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and (b) thereafter, consistent with the terms and conditions hereof, general corporate and working capital
purposes for their lawful and permitted purposes (including that no part of the proceeds of the loans made to Borrowers will be used to purchase or carry any
such Margin Stock or to extend credit to others for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any such Margin Stock or for any purpose that violates the
provisions of Regulation T, U or X of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System).
7.14
Limitation on Issuance of Stock. Except for the issuance or sale of common stock or Permitted Preferred Stock by the Borrowers or the
other Loan Parties, issue or sell or enter into any agreement or arrangement for the issuance and sale of any of their Stock.
7.15
Consignments. Consign any of its or their Inventory or sell any of its or their Inventory on bill and hold, sale or return, sale on approval, or
other conditional terms of sale, except as set forth on Schedule 7.15 to the Information Certificate.
7.16
Inventory and Equipment with Bailees. Store the Inventory or Equipment of any Loan Party or its Subsidiaries at any time now or
hereafter with a bailee, warehouseman, or similar party, except as set forth on Schedule 7.16 to the Information Certificate.
8.

FINANCIAL COVENANTS.

Each Borrower covenants and agrees that, until termination of all obligations of Lender to provide extensions of credit hereunder and
payment in full of the Obligations, Borrowers will comply with each of the following financial covenants:
(a)
Minimum Adjusted EBITDA. Achieve Adjusted EBITDA, measured on a month-end basis, of at least the required amount set
forth in the following table for the applicable period set forth opposite thereto:
Applicable Amount

$

(1,669,000)

$

(949,000)

$

(332,000)

$

(912,000)

Applicable Period

For the 1-month period
ending January 31, 2012
For the 2-month period
ending February 29, 2012
For the 3-month period
ending March 31, 2012
For the 4-month period
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$

(12,000)

$

518,000

$

833,000

$

2,622,000

$

3,232,000

$

4,666,000

$

6,157,000

ending April 30, 2012
For the 5-month period
ending May 31, 2012
For the 6-month period
ending June 30, 2012
For the 7-month period
ending July 31, 2012
For the 8-month period
ending August 31, 2012
For the 9-month period
ending September 30, 2012
For the 10-month period
ending October 31, 2012
For the 11-month period
ending November 30, 2012

$

7,160,000

For the 12-month period
ending December 31, 2012

(b)
Non-Financed Capital Expenditures. Make Non-Financed Capital Expenditures in Fiscal Year 2012, tested monthly, in an
amount less than or equal to, but not greater than, $6,500,000; provided that no Non-Financed Capital Expenditure shall be permitted if such Non-Financed
Capital Expenditure would cause the ratio of Excess Availability (including such Non-Financed Capital Expenditure) to aggregate Non-Financed Capital
Expenditures for such fiscal year (including such Non-Financed Capital Expenditure) to be less than 1.50:1.00; and provided, further, that the permitted
aggregate amount of Non-Financed Capital Expenditures for Fiscal Year 2012 may be increased on a quarterly basis by an amount equal to 50% of any
positive variance between budgeted year-to-date EBITDA and actual year-to-date EBITDA, each measured as of the end of the prior calendar quarter.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lender agrees to consider the impact of any Borrower’s material foreign expansion in Fiscal Year 2012 on
the financial covenants contained in this Section 8, but any adjustments to such financial covenants shall be at Lender’s sole discretion.
9.

EVENTS OF DEFAULT.
Any one or more of the following events shall constitute an event of default (each, an “Event of Default”) under this Agreement:

9.1
If any Borrower fails to pay when due and payable, or when declared due and payable, all or any portion of the Obligations consisting of
principal, interest, fees, charges or
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other amounts due Lender or any Bank Product Provider, reimbursement of Lender Expenses, or other amounts (other than any portion thereof constituting
principal) constituting Obligations (including any portion thereof that accrues after the commencement of an Insolvency Proceeding, regardless of whether
allowed or allowable in whole or in part as a claim in any such Insolvency Proceeding);
9.2

If any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries:

(a)
fails to perform or observe any covenant or other agreement contained in any of (i) Sections 4.3, 6.1, 6.2, 6.5(b) 6.6, 6.7 (solely if
any Loan Party refuses to allow Lender or its representatives or agents to visit such Loan Party’s properties, inspect its assets or books or records, examine
and make copies of its books and records, or discuss such Loan Party’s affairs, finances, and accounts with officers and employees of such Loan Party), 6.8,
6.11, 6.12; 6.13 or 6.14 of this Agreement, (ii) Section 7 of this Agreement, or (iii) Section 8 of this Agreement;
(b)
fails to perform or observe any covenant or other agreement contained in any of Sections 6.3, 6.4, 6.5(a) (other than F.I.C.A.,
F.U.T.A., federal income taxes and any other taxes or assessments the non-payment of which may result in a Lien having priority over Lender’s Liens), 6.9,
6.10, and 6.15 of this Agreement and such failure continues for a period of 15 days (or in the case of any Loan Party failing to be in good standing in its
jurisdiction of organization, 5 days) after the earlier of (i) the date on which such failure shall first become known to or should have been known by any
officer of such Loan Party or (ii) the date on which written notice thereof is given to such Loan Party by Lender;
(c)
fails to perform or observe any covenant or other agreement contained in this Agreement, or in any of the other Loan Documents,
in each case, other than any such covenant or agreement that is unable to be cured or is the subject of another provision of this Section 9 (in which event such
other provision of this Section 9 shall govern), and such failure continues for a period of 30 days after the earlier of (i) the date on which such failure shall
first become known to or should have been known by any officer of such Loan Party or (ii) the date on which written notice thereof is given to such Loan
Party by Lender;
9.3
If one or more judgments, orders, or awards for the payment of money in an amount in excess of $250,000 in any one case or in excess of
$500,000 in the aggregate (except to the extent fully covered (other than to the extent of customary deductibles) by insurance pursuant to which the insurer
has not denied coverage or fully included in Reserves) is entered or filed against a Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries, or with respect to any of their
respective assets, and either (a) there is a period of 30 consecutive days at any time after the entry of any such judgment, order, or award during which (1) the
same is not discharged, satisfied, vacated, or bonded pending appeal, or (2) a stay of enforcement thereof is not in effect, or (b) enforcement proceedings are
commenced upon such judgment, order, or award;
9.4

If an Insolvency Proceeding is commenced by a Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries;

9.5
If an Insolvency Proceeding is commenced against a Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries and any of the following events occur: (a) such
Loan Party or such Subsidiary
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consents to the institution of such Insolvency Proceeding against it, (b) the petition commencing the Insolvency Proceeding is not timely controverted, (c) the
petition commencing the Insolvency Proceeding is not dismissed within 60 calendar days of the date of the filing thereof, (d) an interim trustee is appointed to
take possession of all or any substantial portion of the properties or assets of, or to operate all or any substantial portion of the business of, such Loan Party or
its Subsidiary, or (e) an order for relief shall have been issued or entered therein; provided that Lender shall have no obligation to provide any extension of
credit to Borrowers during such 60 calendar day period;
9.6
If any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries is enjoined, restrained, or in any way prevented by court order from continuing to conduct all or
any material part of the business affairs of such Loan Party and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole;
9.7
If there is (a) a default in one or more agreements to which a Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries is a party with one or more third Persons
relative to a Loan Party’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ Indebtedness involving an aggregate amount of $150,000 or more, and such default (i) occurs at the final
maturity of the obligations thereunder, or (ii) results in a right by such third Person, irrespective of whether exercised, to accelerate the maturity of such Loan

Party’s or its Subsidiary’s obligations thereunder, or (b) a default in or an involuntary early termination of one or more Hedge Agreements to which a Loan
Party or any of its Subsidiaries is a party involving an aggregate amount of $150,000 or more;
9.8
If any warranty, representation, certificate, statement, or Record made herein or in any other Loan Document or delivered in writing to
Lender in connection with this Agreement or any other Loan Document proves to be untrue in any material respect (except that such materiality qualifier shall
not be applicable to any representations and warranties that already are qualified or modified by materiality in the text thereof) as of the date of issuance or
making or deemed making thereof;
9.9
If the obligation of any Guarantor under its Guaranty is limited or terminated by operation of law or by such Guarantor (other than in
accordance with the terms of this Agreement), or if any Guarantor fails to perform any obligation under its Guaranty, or repudiates or revokes or purports to
repudiate or revoke any obligation under its Guaranty, or any individual Guarantor dies or becomes incapacitated, or any other Guarantor ceases to exist for
any reason;
9.10
If this Agreement or any other Loan Document that purports to create a Lien, shall, for any reason, fail or cease to create a valid and
perfected and, except to the extent of Permitted Liens which are permitted purchase money Liens or the interests of lessors under Capital Leases, first priority
Lien on the Collateral covered thereby;
9.11
If any event or circumstance occurs that Lender in good faith believes may impair the prospect of payment of all or part of the Obligations,
or any Loan Party’s ability to perform any of its material obligations under any of the Loan Documents, or any other document or agreement described in or
related to this Agreement, or there occurs any Material Adverse Change in the business or financial condition of any Loan Party;
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9.12
If any event or circumstance shall occur which, in the Permitted Discretion of Lender exercised in good faith, would be reasonably likely to
cause Lender to suspect that any Loan Party has engaged in fraudulent activity with respect to the Collateral or other matters;
9.13
Any director, officer, or individual Guarantor is indicted for a felony offense under state or federal law, or a Loan Party hires an officer or
appoints a director who has been convicted of any such felony offense;
9.14
If any Loan Party fails to pay any indebtedness or obligation owed to Lender or its Affiliates which is unrelated to the Revolving Credit
Facility or this Agreement as it becomes due and payable or the occurrence of any default or event of default under any agreement between any Loan Party
and Lender or its Affiliates unrelated to the Loan Documents; provided that if any Loan Party has a good faith dispute with respect to any fee, cost or expense
payable to Lender or its Affiliates which is unrelated to the Revolving Credit Facility or this Agreement, such Loan Party shall have up to 15 days after the
date on which such obligation becomes due and payable to resolve such dispute or pay such obligation; or
9.15
The validity or enforceability of any Loan Document shall at any time for any reason be declared to be null and void, or a proceeding shall
be commenced by a Loan Party or its Subsidiaries, or by any Governmental Authority having jurisdiction over a Loan Party or its Subsidiaries, seeking to
establish the invalidity or unenforceability thereof, or a Loan Party or its Subsidiaries shall deny that such Loan Party or its Subsidiaries has any liability or
obligation purported to be created under any Loan Document; provided that if any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries has a good faith dispute with respect
to any fee, cost or expense constituting a liability or obligation purported to be created under any Loan Document, such Loan Party or its Subsidiary shall
have up to 15 days after the date on which such liability or obligation becomes due and payable to resolve such dispute or pay such liability or obligation.
9.16
Any covenant in Section 8 becomes inapplicable due to the lapse of time and Borrowers and Lender fail to come to agreement acceptable to
Lender in Lender’s sole discretion to amend the covenant to apply to future periods.
10.

RIGHTS AND REMEDIES.

10.1
Rights and Remedies. Upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of Default, Lender may, in addition to any other
rights or remedies provided for hereunder or under any other Loan Document or by applicable law, do any one or more of the following:
(a)
declare the Obligations (other than the Hedge Obligations, which may be accelerated in accordance with the terms of the
applicable Hedge Agreement), whether evidenced by this Agreement or by any of the other Loan Documents immediately due and payable, whereupon the
same shall become and be immediately due and payable and Borrowers shall be obligated to repay all of such Obligations in full, without presentment,
demand, protest, or further notice or other requirements of any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived by each Borrower;
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(b)
declare the funding obligations of Lender under this Agreement terminated, whereupon such funding obligations shall
immediately be terminated together with any obligation of Lender hereunder to make Advances or issue Letters of Credit;
(c)
give to an Account Debtor or other Person obligated to pay an Account, a General Intangible, Negotiable Collateral, or other
amount due, notice that the Account, General Intangible, Negotiable Collateral or other amount due has been assigned to Lender for security and must be paid
directly to Lender and Lender may collect the Accounts, General Intangible and Negotiable Collateral of each Borrower and each other Loan Party directly,
and any collection costs and expenses shall constitute part of the Obligations under the Loan Documents;
(d)
in Lender’s name or in Borrowers’ name, as Borrowers’ agent and attorney-in-fact, notify the United States Postal Service to
change the address for delivery of Borrowers’ mail to any address designated by Lender, and receive and open Borrowers’ mail, applying all Collateral as
permitted under this Agreement and promptly forwarding all other mail to Borrowers’ last known address; provided that upon acceleration of the Obligations,
Lender, pursuant to the terms of this subsection (d), also may intercept and dispose of Borrowers’ mail, and, after applying all Collateral as permitted under
this Agreement, hold all other mail for Borrowers’ account;

(e)
without notice to or consent from any Borrower, and without any obligation to pay rent or other compensation, take exclusive
possession of all locations where Borrowers conduct their business or have any rights of possession and use the locations to store, process, manufacture, sell,
use, and liquidate or otherwise dispose of items that are Collateral, and for any other incidental purposes deemed appropriate by Lender in good faith; and
(f)
exercise in respect of the Collateral, in addition to other rights and remedies provided for herein, in the other Loan Documents, or
otherwise available to it, all the rights and remedies of a secured party on default under the Code or any other applicable law, including the right to take
possession of Collateral (without posting a bond or other form of security, which each Borrower hereby waives), to proceed with or without judicial process
(without a prior hearing or notice of hearing, which each Borrower hereby waives) and to sell, lease or otherwise dispose of Collateral for cash or on credit
(with or without giving warranties as to condition, fitness, merchantability or title to Collateral, and in the event of a credit sale, Borrowers’ Obligations shall
be reduced only to the extent that payments are actually received), and each Borrower will upon Lender’s demand assemble the Collateral and make it
available to Lender at any place designated by Lender which is reasonably convenient to all parties.
10.2
Disposition of Pledged Interests by Lender. None of the Pledged Interests existing as of the date of this Agreement are, and none of the
Pledged Interests hereafter acquired on the date of acquisition thereof will be, registered or qualified under the various federal or state securities laws of the
United States and disposition thereof after an Event of Default may be restricted to one or more private (instead of public) sales in view of the lack of such
registration. Each Loan Party understands that in connection with such disposition, Lender may approach only a restricted number of potential purchasers
and further understands that a sale under such circumstances may yield a lower price for the Pledged Interests than if the Pledged Interests were registered and
qualified pursuant to federal and state securities laws and sold on the open market.
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Each Loan Party, therefore, agrees that: (a) if Lender shall, pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, sell or cause the Pledged Interests or any portion thereof
to be sold at a private sale, Lender shall have the right to rely upon the advice and opinion of any nationally recognized brokerage or investment firm (but
shall not be obligated to seek such advice and the failure to do so shall not be considered in determining the commercial reasonableness of such action) as to
the best manner in which to offer the Pledged Interest or any portion thereof for sale and as to the best price reasonably obtainable at the private sale thereof;
and (b) such reliance shall be conclusive evidence that Lender has handled the disposition in a commercially reasonable manner.
10.3

Voting and Other Rights in Respect of Pledged Interests.

Upon the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of Default, (i) Lender may, at its option, and with two (2) Business Days prior notice to such
Borrower or such other Loan Party, and in addition to all rights and remedies available to Lender under any other agreement, at law, in equity, or otherwise,
exercise all voting rights, or any other ownership or consensual rights (including any dividend or distribution rights) in respect of the Pledged Interests owned
by any Borrower or any other Loan Party, but under no circumstances is Lender obligated by the terms of this Agreement to exercise such rights, and (ii) if
Lender duly exercises its right to vote any of such Pledged Interests, each Borrower and each other Loan Party hereby appoints Lender, such Borrower’s and
such Loan Party’s true and lawful attorney-in-fact and IRREVOCABLE PROXY to vote such Pledged Interests in any manner Lender deems advisable for or
against all matters submitted or which may be submitted to a vote of shareholders, partners or members, as the case may be. The power-of-attorney and
proxy granted hereby is coupled with an interest and shall be irrevocable.
For so long as such Borrower or such other Loan Party shall have the right to vote the Pledged Interests owned by it, such Borrower and
such other Loan Party covenants and agrees that it will not, without the prior written consent of Lender, vote or take any consensual action with respect to
such Pledged Interests which would materially adversely affect the rights of Lender or the value of the Pledged Interests.
10.4

Additional Rights and Remedies. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, each Borrower expressly agrees that:

(a)
Lender, without demand of performance or other demand, advertisement or notice of any kind (except a notice specified below of
time and place of public or private sale) to or upon any Borrower, any other Loan Party or any other Person (all and each of which demands, advertisements
and notices are hereby expressly waived to the maximum extent permitted by the Code or any other applicable law), may take immediate possession of all or
any portion of the Collateral and (i) require Loan Parties to, and each Borrower hereby agrees that it will at its own expense and upon request of Lender
forthwith, assemble all or part of the Collateral as directed by Lender and make it available to Lender at one or more locations designated by Lender where
such Borrower or other Loan Party conducts business, and (ii) without notice except as specified below, sell the Collateral or any part thereof in one or more
parcels at public or private sale, at any of Lender’s or Loan Party’s offices or elsewhere, for cash, on credit, and upon such other terms as Lender may deem
commercially reasonable. Each
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Borrower agrees that, to the extent notice of sale shall be required by law, at least 10 days notice to such Borrower of the time and place of any public sale or
the time after which any private sale is to be made shall constitute reasonable notification and such notice shall constitute a reasonable “authenticated
notification of disposition” within the meaning of Section 9-611 of the Code. Lender shall not be obligated to make any sale of Collateral regardless of notice
of sale having been given. Lender may adjourn any public or private sale from time to time, and such sale may be made at the time and place to which it was
so adjourned. Each Borrower agrees that the internet shall constitute a “place” for purposes of Section 9-610(b) of the Code. Each Borrower agrees that any
sale of Collateral to a licensor pursuant to the terms of a license agreement between such licensor and such Borrower is sufficient to constitute a commercially
reasonable sale (including as to method, terms, manner, and time) within the meaning of Section 9-610 of the Code;
(b)
Lender may, in addition to other rights and remedies provided for herein, in the other Loan Documents, or otherwise available to it
under applicable law and without the requirement of notice to or upon any Loan Party or any other Person (which notice is hereby expressly waived to the
maximum extent permitted by the Code or any other applicable law), (i) with respect to any Loan Party’s Deposit Accounts in which Lender’s Liens are
perfected by control under Section 9-104 of the Code, instruct the bank maintaining such Deposit Account for the applicable Loan Party to pay the balance of
such Deposit Account to or for the benefit of Lender, and (ii) with respect to any Loan Party’s Securities Accounts in which Lender’s Liens are perfected by
control under Section 9-106 of the Code, instruct the securities intermediary maintaining such Securities Account for the applicable Loan Party to (A) transfer
any cash in such Securities Account to or for the benefit of Lender, or (B) liquidate any financial assets in such Securities Account that are customarily sold
on a recognized market and transfer the cash Proceeds thereof to or for the benefit of Lender;

(c)
any cash held by Lender as Collateral and all cash Proceeds received by Lender in respect of any sale of, collection from, or other
realization upon all or any part of the Collateral shall be applied against the Obligations in the order set forth in Section 10.5 of this Agreement. In the event
the Proceeds of Collateral are insufficient to satisfy all of the Obligations in full, each Borrower and each other Loan Party shall remain jointly and severally
liable for any such deficiency; and
(d)
the Obligations arise out of a commercial transaction, and that if an Event of Default shall occur Lender shall have the right to an
immediate writ of possession without notice of a hearing. Lender shall have the right to the appointment of a receiver for each Loan Party or for the
properties and assets of each Loan Party, and each Borrower hereby consents to such rights and such appointment and hereby waives any objection such
Borrower may have thereto or the right to have a bond or other security posted by Lender.
Notwithstanding the foregoing or anything to the contrary contained in Section 10.1, upon the occurrence of any Default or Event of Default described in
Section 9.4 or Section 9.5, in addition to the remedies set forth above, without any notice to any Borrower or any other Person or any act by Lender, all
obligations of Lender to provide any further extensions of credit hereunder shall automatically terminate and the Obligations (other than the Hedge
Obligations), inclusive of all accrued and unpaid interest thereon and all fees and all other amounts owing under this
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Agreement or under any of the other Loan Documents, shall automatically and immediately become due and payable and each Borrower shall be obligated to
repay all of such Obligations in full, without presentment, demand, protest, or notice of any kind, all of which are expressly waived by each Borrower.
10.5
Lender Appointed Attorney in Fact. Each Borrower hereby irrevocably appoints Lender its attorney-in-fact, with full authority in the
place and stead of such Borrower and in the name of such Borrower or otherwise, at such time as an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, to take
any action and to execute any instrument which Lender may reasonably deem necessary or advisable to accomplish the purposes of this Agreement,
including:
(a)
to ask, demand, collect, sue for, recover, compromise, receive and give acquittance and receipts for moneys due and to become
due under or in connection with the Accounts or any other Collateral of such Borrower;
(b)

to receive, indorse, and collect any drafts or other instruments, documents, Negotiable Collateral or Chattel Paper;

(c)
to file any claims or take any action or institute any proceedings which Lender may deem necessary or desirable for the collection
of any of the Collateral of such Borrower or otherwise to enforce the rights of Lender with respect to any of the Collateral;
(d)
to repair, alter, or supply Goods, if any, necessary to fulfill in whole or in part the purchase order of any Person obligated to
Borrower in respect of any Account of such Borrower;
(e)
to use any Intellectual Property or Intellectual Property Licenses of such Borrower including but not limited to any labels, Patents,
Trademarks, trade names, URLs, domain names, industrial designs, Copyrights, or advertising matter, in preparing for sale, advertising for sale, or selling
Inventory or other Collateral and to collect any amounts due under Accounts, contracts or Negotiable Collateral of such Borrower;
(f)
to take exclusive possession of all locations where each Borrower conducts its business or has rights of possession, without notice
to or consent of any Borrower or any Loan Party and to use such locations to store, process, manufacture, sell, use, and liquidate or otherwise dispose of items
that are Collateral, without obligation to pay rent or other compensation for the possession or use of any location;
(g)
Lender shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to bring suit in its own name or in the applicable Loan Party’s name, to
enforce the Intellectual Property and Intellectual Property Licenses and, if Lender shall commence any such suit, the appropriate Borrower shall, at the
request of Lender, do any and all lawful acts and execute any and all proper documents reasonably required by Lender in aid of such enforcement; and
(h)
to the extent permitted by law, such Borrower hereby ratifies all that such attorney-in-fact shall lawfully do or cause to be done by
virtue hereof. This power of attorney is
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coupled with an interest and shall be irrevocable until this Agreement is terminated and all Obligations have been paid in full in cash.
10.6
Remedies Cumulative. The rights and remedies of Lender under this Agreement, the other Loan Documents, and all other agreements
shall be cumulative. Lender shall have all other rights and remedies not inconsistent herewith as provided under the Code, by law, or in equity. No exercise
by Lender of one right or remedy shall be deemed an election, and no waiver by Lender of any Event of Default shall be deemed a continuing waiver. No
delay by Lender shall constitute a waiver, election, or acquiescence by it.
10.7
Crediting of Payments and Proceeds. In the event that the Obligations (other than the Hedge Obligations, which may be accelerated in
accordance with the terms of the applicable Hedge Agreement) have been accelerated pursuant to Section 10.1 or Lender has exercised any remedy set forth
in this Agreement or any other Loan Document, all payments received by Lender upon the Obligations and all net proceeds from the enforcement of the
Obligations shall be applied in such manner as Lender shall determine in its discretion and, thereafter, to Borrowers (to be wired to the Designated Account)
or such other Person entitled thereto under applicable law.
10.8
Marshaling. Lender shall not be required to marshal any present or future collateral security (including but not limited to the Collateral)
for, or other assurances of payment of, the Obligations or any of them or to resort to such collateral security or other assurances of payment in any particular
order, and all of its rights and remedies hereunder and in respect of such collateral security and other assurances of payment shall be cumulative and in
addition to all other rights and remedies, however existing or arising. To the extent that it lawfully may, each Borrower and each other Loan Party hereby
agrees that it will not invoke any law relating to the marshaling of collateral which might cause delay in or impede the enforcement of Lender’s rights and
remedies under this Agreement or under any other instrument creating or evidencing any of the Obligations or under which any of the Obligations is

outstanding or by which any of the Obligations is secured or payment thereof is otherwise assured, and, to the extent that it lawfully may, each Borrower
hereby irrevocably waives the benefits of all such laws.
10.9
License. Each Borrower hereby grants to Lender a non-exclusive, worldwide and royalty-free license to use or otherwise exploit all
Intellectual Property rights of such Borrower for the purpose of: (a) completing the manufacture of any in-process materials following any Event of Default so
that such materials become saleable Inventory, all in accordance with the same quality standards previously adopted by such Borrower for its own
manufacturing; and (b) selling, leasing or otherwise disposing of any or all Collateral following any Event of Default.
11.

WAIVERS; INDEMNIFICATION.

11.1
Demand; Protest; etc. Each Borrower waives demand, protest, notice of protest, notice of default or dishonor, notice of payment and
nonpayment, nonpayment at maturity, release, compromise, settlement, extension, or renewal of documents, instruments, chattel paper, and guarantees at any
time held by Lender on which such Borrower may in any way be liable.
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11.2
Lender’s Liability for Collateral. Each Borrower hereby agrees that: (a) so long as Lender complies with its obligations, if any, under the
Code, Lender shall not in any way or manner be liable or responsible for: (i) the safekeeping of the Collateral, (ii) any loss or damage thereto occurring or
arising in any manner or fashion from any cause, (iii) any diminution in the value thereof, or (iv) any act or default of any carrier, warehouseman, bailee,
forwarding agency, or other Person, and (b) all risk of loss, damage, or destruction of the Collateral shall be borne by each Borrower.
11.3
Indemnification. Each Borrower shall pay, indemnify, defend, and hold the Lender-Related Persons (each, an “Indemnified Person”)
harmless (to the fullest extent permitted by law) from and against any and all claims, demands, suits, actions, investigations, proceedings, liabilities, fines,
costs, penalties, and damages, and all reasonable fees and disbursements of attorneys, experts, or consultants and all other costs and expenses actually
incurred in connection therewith or in connection with the enforcement of this indemnification (as and when they are incurred and irrespective of whether suit
is brought), at any time asserted against, imposed upon, or incurred by any of them (a) in connection with or as a result of or related to the execution and
delivery, enforcement, performance, or administration (including any restructuring, forbearance or workout with respect hereto) of this Agreement, any of the
other Loan Documents, or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or the monitoring of each Borrower and each other Loan Party’s and its respective
Subsidiaries’ compliance with the terms of the Loan Documents, (b) with respect to any investigation, litigation, or proceeding related to this Agreement, any
other Loan Document, or the use of the proceeds of the credit provided hereunder (irrespective of whether any Indemnified Person is a party thereto), or any
act, omission, event, or circumstance in any manner related thereto, (c) in connection with the custody, preservation, use or operation of, or, upon an Event of
Default, the sale of, collection from, or other realization upon, any of the Collateral in accordance with this Agreement and the other Loan Documents,
(d) with respect to the failure by any Borrower or any other Loan Party to perform or observe any of the provisions hereof or any other Loan Document, (e) in
connection with the exercise or enforcement of any of the rights of Lender hereunder or under any other Loan Document, and (f) in connection with or arising
out of any presence or release of Hazardous Materials at, on, under, to or from any assets or properties owned, leased or operated by any Borrower or any
other Loan Party or any Subsidiary of a Borrower or any other Loan Party or any Environmental Actions, Environmental Liabilities or Remedial Actions
related in any way to any such assets or properties of such Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries (each and all of the foregoing, the “Indemnified Liabilities”).
The foregoing to the contrary notwithstanding, no Borrower nor any other Loan Party shall have any obligation to any Indemnified Person under this
Section 11.3 with respect to any Indemnified Liability that a court of competent jurisdiction finally determines to have resulted from the gross negligence or
willful misconduct of such Indemnified Person or its officers, directors, employees, or attorneys. This provision shall survive the termination of this
Agreement and the repayment of the Obligations. If any Indemnified Person makes any payment to any other Indemnified Person with respect to an
Indemnified Liability as to which a Borrower or any other Loan Party was required to indemnify the Indemnified Person receiving such payment, the
Indemnified Person making such payment is entitled to be indemnified and reimbursed by such Borrower or such other Loan Party with respect thereto.
WITHOUT LIMITATION, THE FOREGOING INDEMNITY SHALL APPLY TO EACH INDEMNIFIED PERSON WITH RESPECT TO
INDEMNIFIED LIABILITIES WHICH IN WHOLE OR IN PART ARE CAUSED BY OR ARISE OUT OF ANY NEGLIGENT
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ACT OR OMISSION OF SUCH INDEMNIFIED PERSON OR OF ANY OTHER PERSON.
12.

NOTICES.

Unless otherwise provided in this Agreement, all notices or demands relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall be in
writing and (except for financial statements and other informational documents which may be sent by first-class mail, postage prepaid) shall be personally
delivered or sent by certified mail (postage prepaid, return receipt requested), overnight courier, electronic mail (at such email addresses as a party may
designate in accordance herewith), or telefacsimile. In the case of notices or demands to Borrowers, any other Loan Party or Lender, as the case may be, they
shall be sent to the respective address set forth below:
If to Borrowers:

STARTEK, INC.
STARTEK USA, INC.
44 Cook Street, Suite 400
Denver, CO 80206
Attn: Dave M. Gomez, General Counsel
Fax No.: (303) 388-9970

with courtesy copies to
(which shall not constitute
Notice for purposes of this
Section 12):
STARTEK, INC.
44 Cook Street, Suite 400
Denver, CO 80206
Attn: Lisa Weaver, Chief Financial Officer

Fax No.: (303) 388-9970
and
FAEGRE BAKER DANIELS LLP
1470 Walnut Street, Suite 300
Boulder, CO 80302
Attn: John R. Marcil, Esq.
Fax No.: (303) 447-7800
If to Lender:

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
MAC 7300-210
1740 Broadway
Denver, CO 80274
Attn: Timothy P. Ulrich
Fax No.: (303) 863-4904
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with courtesy copies to
(which shall not constitute
Notice for purposes of this
Section 12)
Markus Williams Young & Zimmermann LLC
1700 Lincoln Street, Suite 4000
Denver, CO 80203
Attn: Thomas H. Keyse, Esq.
Fax No.: (303) 830-0809
Any party hereto may change the address at which they are to receive notices hereunder, by notice in writing in the foregoing manner given
to the other parties. All notices or demands sent in accordance with this Section 12 shall be deemed received on the earlier of the date of actual receipt or 3
Business Days after the deposit thereof in the mail; provided, that (a) notices sent by overnight courier service shall be deemed to have been given when
received, (b) notices by facsimile shall be deemed to have been given when sent (except that, if not given during normal business hours for the recipient, shall
be deemed to have been given at the opening of business on the next Business Day for the recipient) and (c) notices by electronic mail shall be deemed
received upon the sender’s receipt of an acknowledgment from the intended recipient (such as by the “return receipt requested” function, as available, return
email or other written acknowledgment). Any notice given by Lender to any Borrower as provided in this Section 12 shall be deemed sufficient notice as to
all Borrowers, regardless of whether each Borrower is sent a separate copy of such notice or whether each Borrower is specifically identified in such notice.
13.

CHOICE OF LAW AND VENUE; JURY TRIAL WAIVER.

(a)
THE VALIDITY OF THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS (UNLESS EXPRESSLY
PROVIDED TO THE CONTRARY IN ANOTHER LOAN DOCUMENT IN RESPECT OF SUCH OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT), THE
CONSTRUCTION, INTERPRETATION, AND ENFORCEMENT HEREOF AND THEREOF, AND THE RIGHTS OF THE PARTIES HERETO
AND THERETO WITH RESPECT TO ALL MATTERS ARISING HEREUNDER OR THEREUNDER OR RELATED HERETO OR THERETO
AS WELL AS ALL CLAIMS, CONTROVERSIES OR DISPUTES ARISING UNDER OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT AND THE
OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS SHALL BE DETERMINED UNDER, GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE
INTERNAL LAWS AND NOT THE CONFLICTS OF LAW PROVISIONS OF THE STATE OF COLORADO.
(b)
THE PARTIES AGREE THAT ALL ACTIONS OR PROCEEDINGS ARISING IN CONNECTION WITH THIS
AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS MAY BE TRIED AND LITIGATED IN THE STATE AND, TO THE EXTENT
PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, FEDERAL COURTS LOCATED IN THE CITY AND COUNTY OF DENVER, STATE OF COLORADO;
PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT ANY SUIT SEEKING ENFORCEMENT AGAINST ANY COLLATERAL OR OTHER PROPERTY MAY BE
BROUGHT, AT LENDER’S
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OPTION, IN THE COURTS OF ANY JURISDICTION WHERE LENDER ELECTS TO BRING SUCH ACTION OR WHERE SUCH
COLLATERAL OR OTHER PROPERTY MAY BE FOUND. EACH OF EACH BORROWER AND LENDER WAIVES, TO THE EXTENT
PERMITTED UNDER APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO ASSERT THE DOCTRINE OF FORUM NON CONVENIENS OR
TO OBJECT TO VENUE TO THE EXTENT ANY PROCEEDING IS BROUGHT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THIS SECTION 13(b).
(c)
TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, EACH OF EACH BORROWER AND LENDER
HEREBY WAIVES ITS RESPECTIVE RIGHTS, IF ANY, TO A JURY TRIAL OF ANY CLAIM, CONTROVERSY, DISPUTE OR CAUSE OF
ACTION DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY BASED UPON OR ARISING OUT OF ANY OF THE LOAN DOCUMENTS OR ANY OF THE
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED THEREIN, INCLUDING CONTRACT CLAIMS, TORT CLAIMS, BREACH OF DUTY CLAIMS, AND
ALL OTHER COMMON LAW OR STATUTORY CLAIMS (EACH, A “CLAIM”). EACH OF EACH BORROWER AND LENDER
REPRESENTS THAT IT HAS REVIEWED THIS WAIVER AND KNOWINGLY AND VOLUNTARILY WAIVES ITS JURY TRIAL RIGHTS
FOLLOWING CONSULTATION WITH LEGAL COUNSEL. IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, A COPY OF THIS AGREEMENT MAY BE
FILED AS A WRITTEN CONSENT TO A TRIAL BY THE COURT.
(d)
NO CLAIM MAY BE MADE BY ANY LOAN PARTY AGAINST LENDER OR, ANY AFFILIATE OF LENDER OR
ANY, DIRECTOR, OFFICER, EMPLOYEE, COUNSEL, REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT, OR ATTORNEY-IN-FACT OF ANY OF THEM FOR
ANY SPECIAL, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES IN RESPECT OF ANY CLAIM FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT

OR ANY OTHER THEORY OF LIABILITY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS
AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT, OR ANY ACT, OMISSION, OR EVENT OCCURRING IN CONNECTION
THEREWITH, AND EACH LOAN PARTY HEREBY WAIVES, RELEASES, AND AGREES NOT TO SUE UPON ANY CLAIM FOR SUCH
DAMAGES, WHETHER OR NOT ACCRUED AND WHETHER OR NOT KNOWN OR SUSPECTED TO EXIST IN ITS FAVOR.
14.
ASSIGNMENTS; SUCCESSORS. This Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the respective successors and assigns of each of the
parties; provided, however, that no Borrower or any other Loan Party may assign this Agreement or any rights or duties hereunder without
Lender’s prior written consent, which consent may be withheld by Lender in Lender’s sole and absolute discretion, and any prohibited assignment
shall be absolutely void ab initio. No consent to assignment by Lender shall release any Borrower or any other Loan Party from its Obligations.
Lender may assign this Agreement and the other Loan Documents in whole or in part and its rights and duties hereunder or grant participations in
the Obligations hereunder and thereunder and no consent or approval by any Borrower or any other Loan Party is required in connection with any
such assignment or participation; provided, however, that if within 10 days of receipt of notice from Lender of any such assignment, any Borrower
notifies Lender in writing that it wishes to pay all
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Obligations in full, such Borrower shall have a period of 45 days after the date of such written notification to Lender to complete such payment, and
such payment may exclude any termination and reduction fees otherwise payable as set forth in Schedule 2.12.
15.
AMENDMENTS; WAIVERS. No amendment or modification of any Loan Documents, or any other document or agreement described in
or related to this Agreement, shall be effective unless it has been agreed to by Lender and Borrowers in writing and specifically states that it is
intended to amend or modify specific Loan Documents, or any other document or agreement described in or related to this Agreement. No failure
by Lender to exercise any right, remedy, or option under this Agreement or any other Loan Document, or delay by Lender in exercising the same,
will operate as a waiver thereof. No waiver by Lender will be effective unless it is in writing, and then only to the extent specifically stated. No
waiver by Lender on any occasion shall affect or diminish Lender’s rights thereafter to require strict performance by Borrowers or any other Loan
Party of any provision of this Agreement. Lender’s rights under this Agreement and the other Loan Documents will be cumulative and not exclusive
of any other right or remedy that Lender may have.
16.

TAXES.

(a)
All payments made by any Borrower or any other Loan Party hereunder or under any note or other Loan Document will be made
without setoff, counterclaim, or other defense. In addition, all such payments will be made free and clear of, and without deduction or withholding for, any
present or future Taxes (other than overall net income taxes on the recipient imposed by the jurisdiction in which the recipient is organized or conducts
business (other than any jurisdiction in which the recipient is deemed to conduct business solely as the result of entering into this Agreement or any other
Loan Document or receiving any payment or taking any action thereunder) and taxes imposed by FATCA). In the event any deduction or withholding of
Taxes is required, each Borrower shall comply with the next sentence of this Section 16(a). If any Taxes are so levied or imposed, each Borrower and each
other Loan Party agree(s) to pay the full amount of such Taxes and, except with respect to taxes imposed by FATCA, such additional amounts as may be
necessary so that every payment of all amounts due under this Agreement, any note, or Loan Document, including any amount paid pursuant to this
Section 16(a) after withholding or deduction for or on account of any Taxes, will not be less than the amount provided for herein; provided, however, that
Borrowers or Loan Parties shall not be required to increase any such amounts if the increase in such amount payable results from Lender’s own willful
misconduct or gross negligence (as finally determined by a court of competent jurisdiction). Each Borrower and each other Loan Party will furnish to Lender
as promptly as possible after the date the payment of any Tax is due pursuant to applicable law, certified copies of tax receipts evidencing such payment by
such Borrower.
(b)
Each Borrower agrees to pay any present or future stamp, value added or documentary taxes or any other excise or property taxes,
charges, or similar levies that arise from any payment made hereunder or from the execution, delivery, performance, recordation, or filing of, or otherwise
with respect to, this Agreement or any other Loan Document.
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(c)
If a payment made to Lender under any Loan Document would be subject to U.S. federal withholding tax imposed by FATCA if
Lender were to fail to comply with the applicable reporting requirements of FATCA (including those contained in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the Code, as
applicable), Lender shall deliver to Borrowers at the time or times prescribed by law and at such time or times reasonably requested by Borrowers such
documentation prescribed by applicable law (including as prescribed by Section 1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of the Code) and such additional documentation reasonably
requested by Borrowers as may be necessary for Borrowers to comply with their obligations under FATCA and to determine that Lender has complied with
Lender’s obligations under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and withhold from such payment.
17.

GENERAL PROVISIONS.
17.1

Effectiveness. This Agreement shall be binding and deemed effective when executed by each Borrower and Lender.

17.2
Section Headings. Headings and numbers have been set forth herein for convenience only. Unless the contrary is compelled by the
context, everything contained in each Section applies equally to this entire Agreement.
17.3
Interpretation. Neither this Agreement nor any uncertainty or ambiguity herein shall be construed against Lender or any Loan Party,
whether under any rule of construction or otherwise. On the contrary, this Agreement has been reviewed by all parties and shall be construed and interpreted
according to the ordinary meaning of the words used so as to accomplish fairly the purposes and intentions of all parties hereto.
17.4
Severability of Provisions. Each provision of this Agreement shall be severable from every other provision of this Agreement for the
purpose of determining the legal enforceability of any specific provision.

17.5
Debtor-Creditor Relationship. The relationship between Lender, on the one hand, and the Loan Parties, on the other hand, is solely that of
creditor and debtor. Lender shall not have (and shall not be deemed to have) any fiduciary relationship or duty to any Loan Party arising out of or in
connection with the Loan Documents or the transactions contemplated thereby, and there is no agency or joint venture relationship between Lender, on the
one hand, and the Loan Parties, on the other hand, by virtue of any Loan Document or any transaction contemplated therein.
17.6
Counterparts; Electronic Execution. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different parties on separate
counterparts, each of which, when executed and delivered, shall be deemed to be an original, and all of which, when taken together, shall constitute but one
and the same Agreement. Delivery of an executed counterpart of this Agreement by telefacsimile or other electronic method of transmission shall be equally
as effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart of this Agreement. Any party delivering an executed counterpart of this Agreement by
telefacsimile or other electronic method of transmission also shall deliver an original executed counterpart of this Agreement but the failure to deliver an
original executed counterpart shall not affect the validity, enforceability, and binding effect of this Agreement.
44

17.7
Revival and Reinstatement of Obligations. If the incurrence or payment of the Obligations by any Borrower or any Guarantor or the
transfer to Lender of any property should for any reason subsequently be asserted, or declared, to be void or voidable under any state or federal law relating to
creditors’ rights, including provisions of the Bankruptcy Code relating to fraudulent conveyances, preferences, or other voidable or recoverable payments of
money or transfers of property (each, a “Voidable Transfer”), and if Lender is required to repay or restore, in whole or in part, any such Voidable Transfer, or
elects to do so upon the reasonable advice of its counsel, then, as to any such Voidable Transfer, or the amount thereof that Lender is required or elects to
repay or restore, and as to all reasonable costs, expenses, and attorneys fees of Lender related thereto, the liability of such Borrower or Guarantor
automatically shall be revived, reinstated, and restored and shall exist as though such Voidable Transfer had never been made and all of Lender’s Liens in the
Collateral shall be automatically reinstated without further action.
17.8

Confidentiality.

(a)
Lender agrees that material, non-public information regarding the Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries, their operations, assets, and
existing and contemplated business plans (“Confidential Information”) shall be treated by Lender in a confidential manner, and shall not be disclosed by
Lender to Persons who are not parties to this Agreement, except: (i) to attorneys for and other advisors, accountants, auditors, and consultants to Lender and
to employees, directors and officers of Lender (the Persons in this clause (i), “Lender Representatives” on a “need to know” basis in connection with this
Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby and on a confidential basis, (ii) to Subsidiaries and Affiliates of Lender, provided that any such
Subsidiary or Affiliate shall have agreed to receive such information hereunder subject to the terms of this Section 17.8, (iii) as may be required by regulatory
authorities, (iv) as may be required by statute, decision, or judicial or administrative order, rule, or regulation; provided that (x) prior to any disclosure under
this clause (iv), the disclosing party agrees to provide Borrowers with prior notice thereof, to the extent that it is practicable to do so and to the extent that the
disclosing party is permitted to provide such prior notice to Borrowers pursuant to the terms of the applicable statute, decision, or judicial or administrative
order, rule, or regulation and (y) any disclosure under this clause (iv) shall be limited to the portion of the Confidential Information as may be required by
such statute, decision, or judicial or administrative order, rule, or regulation, (v) as may be agreed to in advance in writing by Borrowers, (vi) as requested or
required by any Governmental Authority pursuant to any subpoena or other legal process, provided, that, (x) prior to any disclosure under this clause (vi) the
disclosing party agrees to provide Borrowers with prior written notice thereof, to the extent that it is practicable to do so and to the extent that the disclosing
party is permitted to provide such prior written notice to Borrowers pursuant to the terms of the subpoena or other legal process and (y) any disclosure under
this clause (vi) shall be limited to the portion of the Confidential Information as may be required by such Governmental Authority pursuant to such subpoena
or other legal process, (vii) as to any such information that is or becomes generally available to the public (other than as a result of prohibited disclosure by
Lender or Lender Representatives), (viii) in connection with any assignment, participation or pledge of Lender’s interest under this Agreement, provided that
prior to receipt of Confidential Information any such assignee, participant, or pledgee shall have agreed in writing to receive such Confidential Information
hereunder subject to the terms of this Section 17.8, (ix) in connection with any
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litigation or other adversary proceeding involving parties hereto which such litigation or adversary proceeding involves claims related to the rights or duties
of such parties under this Agreement or the other Loan Documents; and (x) in connection with, and to the extent reasonably necessary for, the exercise of any
secured creditor remedy under this Agreement or under any other Loan Document.
(b)
Anything in this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, Lender may use the name, logos, and other insignia of the Loan
Parties and the Maximum Credit provided hereunder in any “tombstone” or comparable advertising, on its website or in other marketing materials of Lender.
17.9
Lender Expenses. Each Borrower agrees to pay the Lender Expenses on the earlier of (a) the first day of the month following the date on
which such Lender Expenses were first incurred, or (b) the date on which demand therefor is made by Lender and each Borrower agrees that its obligations
contained in this Section 17.9 shall survive payment or satisfaction in full of all other Obligations.
17.10 Setoff. Lender may at any time, in its sole discretion and without demand or notice to anyone, setoff any liability owed to any Borrower, or
any Guarantor or any other Loan Party by Lender against any of the Obligations, whether or not due.
17.11 Survival. All representations and warranties made by the Loan Parties in the Loan Documents and in the certificates or other instruments
delivered in connection with or pursuant to this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall be considered to have been relied upon by the other parties
hereto and shall survive the execution and delivery of the Loan Documents and the making of any loans and issuance of any Letters of Credit, regardless of
any investigation made by any such other party or on its behalf and notwithstanding that Lender may have had notice or knowledge of any Default or Event of
Default or incorrect representation or warranty at the time any credit is extended hereunder, and shall continue in full force and effect as long as the principal
of or any accrued interest on any loan or any fee or any other amount payable under this Agreement is outstanding and unpaid or any Letter of Credit is
outstanding and so long as the obligation of Lender to provide extensions of credit hereunder has not expired or been terminated.
17.12 Patriot Act. Lender hereby notifies the Loan Parties that, pursuant to the requirements of the Patriot Act, it is required to obtain, verify and
record information that identifies each Loan Party, which information includes the name and address of each Loan Party and other information that will allow
Lender to identify each Loan Party in accordance with the Patriot Act. In addition, if Lender is required by law or regulation or internal policies to do so, it

shall have the right to periodically conduct (a) Patriot Act searches, OFAC/PEP searches, and customary individual background checks for the Loan Parties,
and (b) OFAC/PEP searches and customary individual background checks of the Loan Parties’ senior management and key principals, and each Borrower
agrees to cooperate in respect of the conduct of such searches and further agrees that the reasonable costs and charges for such searches shall constitute
Lender Expenses hereunder and be for the account of Borrowers.
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17.13 Integration. This Agreement, together with the other Loan Documents, reflects the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the
transactions contemplated hereby and shall not be contradicted or qualified by any other agreement, oral or written, before the date hereof. The foregoing to
the contrary notwithstanding, all Bank Product Agreements, if any, are independent agreements governed by the written provisions of such Bank Product
Agreements, which will remain in full force and effect, unaffected by any repayment, prepayments, acceleration, reduction, increase, or change in the terms of
any credit extended hereunder, except as otherwise expressly provided in such Bank Product Agreement.
17.14 Bank Product Providers. Each Bank Product Provider shall be deemed a third party beneficiary hereof and of the provisions of the other
Loan Documents for purposes of any reference in a Loan Document to the parties for whom Lender is acting. Lender hereby agrees to act as agent for such
Bank Product Providers and, by virtue of entering into a Bank Product Agreement, the applicable Bank Product Provider shall be automatically deemed to
have appointed Lender as its agent and to have accepted the benefits of the Loan Documents; it being understood and agreed that the rights and benefits of
each Bank Product Provider under the Loan Documents consist exclusively of such Bank Product Provider’s being a beneficiary of the Liens and security
interests (and, if applicable, guarantees) granted to Lender and the right to share in payments and collections of the Collateral as more fully set forth herein
and in the other Loan Documents. In addition, each Bank Product Provider, by virtue of entering into a Bank Product Agreement, shall be automatically
deemed to have agreed that Lender shall have the right, but shall have no obligation, to establish, maintain, relax, or release Reserves in respect of the Bank
Product Obligations and that, if Reserves are established, there is no obligation on the part of Lender to determine or ensure whether the amount of any such
Reserve is appropriate or not. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or any other Loan Document, no Bank Product Provider shall have
any voting or approval rights hereunder solely by virtue of its status as the provider or holder of such agreements or products or the Obligations owing
thereunder, nor shall the consent of any such provider or holder be required for any matter hereunder or under any of the other Loan Documents, including as
to any matter relating to the Collateral or the release of Collateral or any other Loan Party.
[Signature pages to follow]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed and delivered under seal as of the date first
above written.
BORROWERS:
STARTEK, INC.
By:

/s/ Lisa Bullington-Weaver

Name:

Lisa Bullington-Weaver

Title:

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

STARTEK USA, INC.
By:

/s/ Lisa Bullington-Weaver

Name:

Lisa Bullington-Weaver

Title:

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

LENDER:
WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION
By:

/s/ Josephine Camalian

Name:

Josephine Camalian

Title: Authorized Signatory
Signature Page to Credit and Security Agreement

Schedule 1.1

TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
DEFINITIONS
a.

Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following definitions:
“Account” means an account (as that term is defined in Article 9 of the Code).
“Account Debtor” means an account debtor (as that term is defined in the Code).
“Additional Documents” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 6.15 of this Agreement.

“Adjusted EBITDA” means, with respect to any fiscal period, Borrowers’ consolidated net income (or loss), minus (i) extraordinary gains,
(ii) interest income, (iii) non-operating income and income tax benefits, (iv) decreases in any change in LIFO reserves, (v) reductions in post-Closing Date
restructuring accruals due to cash payments in such fiscal period and (vi) reductions in pre-Closing Date restructuring accruals due to cash payments in such
fiscal period, but only to the extent that such cash payments exceed $1,300,000, plus (vii) non-cash extraordinary losses, (viii) Interest Expense, (ix) income
taxes, (x) depreciation and amortization, (xi) increases in any change in LIFO reserves for such period and (xii) non-cash stock compensation, in each case
determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.
“Advances” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.1(a) of this Agreement.
“Affiliate” means, as applied to any Person, any other Person who controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such Person.
For purposes of this definition, “control” means the possession, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, of the power to direct the
management and policies of a Person, whether through the ownership of Stock, by contract, or otherwise; provided, however, that, for purposes of the
definition of Eligible Accounts and Section 7.12 of this Agreement: (a) any Person which owns directly or indirectly 10% (or 30%, with respect to Parent) or
more of the Stock having ordinary voting power for the election of the board of directors or equivalent governing body of a Person or 10% (or 30%, with
respect to Parent) or more of the partnership or other ownership interests of a Person (other than as a limited partner of such Person) shall be deemed an
Affiliate of such Person, (b) each director (or comparable manager) of a Person shall be deemed to be an Affiliate of such Person, and (c) each partnership in
which a Person is a general partner shall be deemed an Affiliate of such Person.
“Agreement” means the Credit and Security Agreement to which this Schedule 1.1 is attached.
“Allocable Amount” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.16.
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“Authorized Person” means any one of the individuals identified on Schedule A-2, as such schedule is updated from time to time by written
notice from Borrowers to Lender.
“Availability” means, as of any date of determination, the amount that Borrowers are entitled to borrow as Advances under Section 2.1 of
this Agreement (after giving effect to all then outstanding Obligations).
“Bank Product” means any one or more of the following financial products or accommodations extended to a Borrower or any of its
Subsidiaries by a Bank Product Provider: (a) commercial credit cards, (b) commercial credit card processing services, (c) debit cards, (d) stored value cards,
(e) purchase cards (including so-called “procurement cards” or “P-cards”), (f) Cash Management Services, or (g) transactions under Hedge Agreements.
“Bank Product Agreements” means those agreements entered into from time to time by a Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries with a Bank
Product Provider in connection with the obtaining of any of the Bank Products, including, without limitation, all Cash Management Documents.
“Bank Product Collateralization” means providing cash collateral (pursuant to documentation reasonably satisfactory to Lender) to be held
by Lender for the benefit of the Bank Product Provider in an amount determined by Lender as sufficient to satisfy the reasonably estimated credit exposure
with respect to the then existing Bank Product Obligations (other than Hedge Obligations).
“Bank Product Obligations” means (a) all obligations, liabilities, reimbursement obligations, fees, or expenses owing by a Borrower or any
of its Subsidiaries to Lender or another Bank Product Provider pursuant to or evidenced by a Bank Product Agreement and irrespective of whether for the
payment of money, whether direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, due or to become due, now existing or hereafter arising, and (b) all Hedge Obligations.
“Bank Product Provider” means Lender or any of its Affiliates that provide Bank Products to a Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries.
“Bank Product Reserve Amount” means, as of any date of determination, the Dollar amount of Reserves that Lender has determined it is
necessary or appropriate to establish (based upon Lender’s reasonable determination of the Bank Product Providers’ credit and operating risk exposure to
Borrowers and their Subsidiaries in respect of Bank Product Obligations) in respect of Bank Products then provided or outstanding.
“Bankruptcy Code” means title 11 of the United States Code, as in effect from time to time.
“Benefit Plan” means a “defined benefit plan” (as defined in Section 3(35) of ERISA) for which any Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or
ERISA Affiliates has been an “employer” (as defined in Section 3(5) of ERISA) within the past six years.
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“Board of Directors” means the board of directors (or comparable managers) of a Borrower or any other Loan Party or any committee
thereof duly authorized to act on behalf of the board of directors (or comparable managers).
“Books” means books and records (including a Borrower’s or any other Loan Party’s Records indicating, summarizing, or evidencing such
Borrower’s or such other Loan Party’s assets (including the Collateral) or liabilities, such Borrower’s or such other Loan Party’s Records relating to such
Borrower’s or such other Loan Party’s business operations or financial condition, or such Borrower’s or such other Loan Party’s Goods or General Intangibles
related to such information).
“Borrowers” means StarTek, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and StarTek USA, Inc., a Colorado corporation, jointly and severally.
“Borrowing” means a borrowing consisting of Advances (i) requested by Borrowers, (ii) made automatically pursuant to
Section 2.3(c) without the request of Borrowers, (iii) made by Lender pursuant to Section 2.6(c), or (iv) a Protective Advance.
“Borrowing Base” means, as of any date of determination, the result of:
(a)

85% (less the amount, if any, of the Dilution Reserve, if applicable) of the amount of Eligible Accounts, minus

(b)

85% (less the amount, if any, of the Dilution Reserve, if applicable) of the Transition Expense Estimate, minus

(c)

85% (less the amount, if any, of the Dilution Reserve, if applicable) of the FX Exposure Amount, minus

(d)

the aggregate amount of other Reserves, if any, established by Lender.

“Borrowing Base Certificate” means a form of borrowing base certificate in form and substance acceptable to Lender.
“Business Day” means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday, or other day on which banks are authorized or required to close pursuant to
the rules and regulations of the Federal Reserve System.
“Capital Expenditures” means, with respect to any Person for any period, the aggregate of all expenditures by such Person and its
Subsidiaries during such period that are capital expenditures as determined in accordance with GAAP, whether such expenditures are paid in cash or financed.
“Capitalized Lease Obligation” means that portion of the obligations under a Capital Lease that is required to be capitalized in accordance
with GAAP.
“Capital Lease” means a lease that is required to be capitalized for financial reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP.
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“Cash Equivalents” means (a) marketable direct obligations issued by, or unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States or issued by any
agency thereof and backed by the full faith and credit of the United States, in each case maturing within 1 year from the date of acquisition thereof,
(b) marketable direct obligations issued or fully guaranteed by any state of the United States or any political subdivision of any such state or any public
instrumentality thereof maturing within 1 year from the date of acquisition thereof and having one of the two highest ratings obtainable from either Standard
& Poor’s Rating Group (“S&P”) or Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. (“Moody’s”), (c) commercial paper maturing no more than 270 days from the date of
creation thereof and, at the time of acquisition, having a rating of at least A-1 from S&P or at least P-1 from Moody’s, (d) certificates of deposit, time
deposits, overnight bank deposits or bankers’ acceptances maturing within 1 year from the date of acquisition thereof issued by any bank organized under the
laws of the United States or any state thereof or the District of Columbia or any United States branch of a foreign bank having combined capital and surplus
of not less than $250,000,000, (e) Deposit Accounts maintained with (i) any bank that satisfies the criteria described in clause (d) above, or (ii) any other bank
organized under the laws of the United States or any state thereof so long as the full amount maintained with any such other bank is insured by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation, (f) repurchase obligations of any commercial bank satisfying the requirements of clause (d) of this definition or recognized
securities dealer having combined capital and surplus of not less than $250,000,000, having a term of not more than seven days, with respect to securities
satisfying the criteria in clauses (a) or (d) above, (g) debt securities with maturities of six months or less from the date of acquisition backed by standby letters
of credit issued by any commercial bank satisfying the criteria described in clause (d) above, and (h) Investments in money market funds substantially all of
whose assets are invested in the types of assets described in clauses (a) through (g) above.
“Cash Management Documents” means the agreements governing each of the Cash Management Services of Lender utilized by a Borrower,
which agreements shall currently include the Master Agreement for Treasury Management Services or other applicable treasury management services
agreement, the “Acceptance of Services”, the “Service Description” governing each such treasury management service used by a Borrower, and all
replacement or successor agreements which govern such Cash Management Services of Lender.
“Cash Management Services” means any cash management or related services including treasury, depository, return items, overdraft,
controlled disbursement, merchant stored value cards, e-payables services, electronic funds transfer, interstate depository network, automatic clearing house
transfer (including the Automated Clearing House processing of electronic funds transfers through the direct Federal Reserve Fedline system) and other cash
management arrangements.
“Cash Management Transition Period” has the meaning specified in Section 6.12(j)(i) of this Agreement.
“CFC” means a controlled foreign corporation (as that term is defined in the IRC).
“Change of Control” means that (a) Borrowers fail to own and control, directly or indirectly, 100% of the Stock of each Borrower’s
Subsidiaries having the right to vote for the election of members of the Board of Directors, (b) any “person” or “group” (within the meaning
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of Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act), other than Borrowers, becomes the beneficial owner (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act),
directly or indirectly, of 20%, or more, of the Stock of a Borrower’s Subsidiaries having the right to vote for the election of members of the Board of
Directors, (c) a majority of the members of the Board of Directors of Parent do not constitute Continuing Directors, or (d) Parent shall fail to own and control
100% of the Stock of StarTek USA, Inc.
“Chattel Paper” means chattel paper (as that term is defined in the Code), and includes tangible chattel paper and electronic chattel paper.
“Closing Date” means the date of the making of the initial Advance (or other extension of credit) under this Agreement.
“Code” means the Colorado Uniform Commercial Code, as in effect from time to time; provided, however, that in the event that, by reason
of mandatory provisions of law, any or all of the attachment, perfection, priority, or remedies with respect to Lender’s Lien on any Collateral is governed by
the Uniform Commercial Code as enacted and in effect in a jurisdiction other than the State of Colorado, the term “Code” shall mean the Uniform
Commercial Code as enacted and in effect in such other jurisdiction solely for purposes of the provisions thereof relating to such attachment, perfection,
priority, or remedies. To the extent that defined terms set forth herein shall have different meanings under different Articles under the Uniform Commercial
Code, the meaning assigned to such defined term under Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code shall control.
“Collateral” means all of each Borrower’s now owned or hereafter acquired:
(a)

Accounts;

(b)

Books;

(c)

Chattel Paper;

(d)

Deposit Accounts, including the following Deposit Accounts with the Existing Lender: [*];

(e)

Goods, including Equipment and Fixtures;

(f)

General Intangibles, including, without limitation, Intellectual Property and Intellectual Property Licenses;

(g)

Inventory;

(h)

Investment Related Property, including, without limitation, Permitted Investments;

(i)

Negotiable Collateral;

(j)

Supporting Obligations;
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(k)

Commercial Tort Claims;

(l)
money, Cash Equivalents, or other assets of such Loan Party that now or hereafter come into the possession, custody, or control of
Lender (or its agent or designee);
(m)

the Real Property Collateral; and

(n)
all of the proceeds (as such term is defined in the Code) and products, whether tangible or intangible, of any of the foregoing,
including proceeds of insurance or Commercial Tort Claims covering or relating to any or all of the foregoing, and any and all Accounts, Books, Chattel
Paper, Deposit Accounts, Equipment, Fixtures, General Intangibles (including, without limitation, Intellectual Property and Intellectual Property
Licenses), Inventory, Investment Related Property, Negotiable Collateral, Supporting Obligations, money, or other tangible or intangible property resulting
from the sale, lease, license, exchange, collection, or other disposition of any of the foregoing, the proceeds of any award in condemnation with respect to any
of the foregoing, any rebates or refunds, whether for taxes or otherwise, and all proceeds of any such proceeds, or any portion thereof or interest therein, and
the proceeds thereof, and all proceeds of any loss of, damage to, or destruction of the above, whether insured or not insured, and, to the extent not otherwise
included, any indemnity, warranty, or guaranty payable by reason of loss or damage to, or otherwise with respect to any of the foregoing (collectively, the
“Proceeds”). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the term “Proceeds” includes whatever is receivable or received when Investment Related
Property or proceeds are sold, exchanged, collected, or otherwise disposed of, whether such disposition is voluntary or involuntary, and includes proceeds of
any indemnity or guaranty payable to such Loan Party or Lender from time to time with respect to any of the Investment Related Property.
“Collateral Access Agreement” means a landlord waiver, bailee letter, or acknowledgement agreement of any lessor, warehouseman,
processor, consignee, or other Person in possession of, having a Lien upon, or having rights or interests in a Loan Party’s or its Subsidiaries’ Books,
Equipment, Accounts or Inventory, in each case, in favor of Lender with respect to the Collateral at such premises or otherwise in the custody, control or
possession of such lessor, consignee or other Person and in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Lender.
“Collection Account” means the Deposit Account identified on Schedule A-1.
“Collections” means all cash, checks, notes, instruments, and other items of payment (including insurance Proceeds, cash Proceeds of asset
sales, rental Proceeds, and tax refunds).
“Commercial Tort Claims” means commercial tort claims (as that term is defined in the Code), and includes those commercial tort claims
listed on Schedule 5.6(d) to the Information Certificate.

“Compliance Certificate” means a certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit C-1 delivered by each chief financial officer of Borrowers
to Lender.
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“Confidential Information” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 17.8 of this Agreement.
“Continuing Director” means (a) any member of the Board of Directors who was a director (or comparable manager) of any Borrower on
the Closing Date, and (b) any individual who becomes a member of the Board of Directors after the Closing Date if such individual was approved, appointed
or nominated for election to the Board of Directors by a majority of the Continuing Directors, but excluding any such individual originally proposed for
election in opposition to the Board of Directors in office at the Closing Date in an actual or threatened election contest relating to the election of the directors
(or comparable managers) of any Borrower and whose initial assumption of office resulted from such contest or the settlement thereof.
“Control Agreement” means a control agreement, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Lender, executed and delivered by each
Borrower, each other Loan Party or one of their Subsidiaries, Lender, and the applicable securities intermediary (with respect to a Securities Account) or bank
(with respect to a Deposit Account) or issuer (with respect to uncertificated securities).
“Controlled Account” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 6.12(j) of this Agreement.
“Controlled Account Bank” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 6.12 (j) of this Agreement.
“Copyrights” means any and all rights in any works of authorship, including (i) copyrights and moral rights, (ii) copyright registrations and
recordings thereof and all applications in connection therewith including those listed on Schedule 5.26(b) to the Information Certificate, (iii) income, license
fees, royalties, damages, and payments now and hereafter due or payable under and with respect thereto, including payments under all licenses entered into in
connection therewith and damages and payments for past, present, or future infringements thereof, (iv) the right to sue for past, present, and future
infringements thereof, and (v) all of each Borrower’s and each other Loan Party’s rights corresponding thereto throughout the world.
“Copyright Security Agreement” means each Copyright Security Agreement executed and delivered by a Borrower or another Loan Party
and Lender, in form and substance acceptable to Lender.
“Daily Balance” means, as of any date of determination and with respect to any Obligation, the amount of such Obligation owed at the end
of such day.
“Daily Three Month LIBOR” means, for any day, the rate per annum for United States dollar deposits quoted by Lender for the purpose of
calculating the effective Interest Rate for loans that reference Daily Three Month LIBOR as the Inter-Bank Market Offered Rate in effect from time to time
for the 3 month delivery of funds in amounts approximately equal to the principal amount of such loans (rounded upward, if necessary, to the nearest whole
1/8th of one percent (1%)). Borrowers understand and agree that Lender may base its quotation of the InterSchedule 1.1 - 7

Bank Market Offered Rate upon such offers or other market indicators of the Inter-Bank Market as Lender in its discretion deems appropriate, including but
not limited to the rate offered for U.S. dollar deposits on the London Inter-Bank Market. When interest is determined in relation to Daily Three Month
LIBOR, each change in the interest rate shall become effective each Business Day that Lender determines that Daily Three Month LIBOR has changed.
“Default” means an event, condition, or default that, with the giving of notice, the passage of time, or both, would be an Event of Default.
“Deposit Account” means any deposit account (as that term is defined in the Code).
“Designated Account” means the operating Deposit Account of Borrowers at Lender identified on Schedule D-1.
“Dilution” means, as of any date of determination, a percentage that is the result of dividing the Dollar amount of (a) bad debt write-downs,
discounts, advertising allowances, credits, deductions, or other dilutive items as determined by Lender with respect to Borrowers’ Accounts, by
(b) Borrowers’ billings with respect to Accounts.
“Dilution Reserve” means, as of any date of determination, an amount sufficient to reduce the advance rate against Eligible Accounts by 1
percentage point for each percentage point by which Dilution is in excess of 5%.
“Dollars” or “$” means United States dollars.
“EBITDA” means, with respect to any fiscal period, Borrowers’ consolidated net income (or loss), minus extraordinary gains, interest
income, non-operating income and income tax benefits and decreases in any change in LIFO reserves, plus non-cash extraordinary losses, Interest Expense,
income taxes, depreciation and amortization, and increases in any change in LIFO reserves for such period, in each case determined on a consolidated basis in
accordance with GAAP.
“Eligible Accounts” means those Accounts created by each Borrower in the ordinary course of its business, that arise out of such
Borrower’s sale of Goods or rendition of services, that comply with each of the representations and warranties respecting Eligible Accounts made in the Loan
Documents, and that are not excluded as ineligible by virtue of one or more of the excluding criteria set forth below; provided, however, that such criteria
may be revised from time to time by Lender in Lender’s Permitted Discretion. In determining the amount to be included, Eligible Accounts shall be
calculated net of customer deposits, credits and unapplied cash. Eligible Accounts shall not include the following:
(a)
invoice date;

Accounts that the Account Debtor has failed to pay within 60 days of original due date, not to exceed 120 days from original

(b)

Accounts with selling terms of more than 60 days;
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(c)
Accounts owed by an Account Debtor (or its Affiliates) where 25% or more of all Accounts owed by that Account Debtor (or its
Affiliates) are deemed ineligible under clauses (a) or (b) above or clauses (i) or (s) below;
(d)
Accounts with respect to which the Account Debtor is an Affiliate of such Borrower, or an employee or agent of such Borrower or
of any Affiliate of such Borrower;
(e)
Accounts arising in a transaction wherein Goods are placed on consignment or are sold pursuant to a guaranteed sale, a sale or
return, a sale on approval, or any other terms by reason of which the payment by the Account Debtor may be conditional or contingent;
(f)

Accounts that are not payable in Dollars;

(g)
Accounts with respect to which the Account Debtor either (i) does not maintain its chief executive office in the United States or
Canada (excluding the Province of Quebec), or (ii) is not organized under the laws of the United States or any state thereof or Canada (excluding the Province
of Quebec), or (iii) is the government of any foreign country or sovereign state, or of any state, province, municipality, or other political subdivision thereof,
or of any department, agency, public corporation, or other instrumentality thereof, unless (x) the Account is supported by an irrevocable letter of credit
reasonably satisfactory to Lender (as to form, substance, and issuer or domestic confirming bank) that has been delivered to Lender and is directly drawable
by Lender, (y) the Account is covered by credit insurance in form, substance, and amount, and by an insurer, reasonably satisfactory to Lender, or (z) the
Account is guaranteed pursuant to an approved working capital guarantee from the Export-Import Bank of the United States in favor of Lender and acceptable
to Lender in all respects;
(h)
Accounts with respect to which the Account Debtor is either (i) the United States or any department, agency, or instrumentality of
the United States (exclusive, however, of Accounts with respect to which such Borrower has complied, to the reasonable satisfaction of Lender, with the
Assignment of Claims Act, 31 USC §3727), or (ii) any state of the United States;
(i)
Accounts with respect to which the Account Debtor (other than AT&T Services, Inc.) is a creditor of such Borrower, has or has
asserted a right of setoff, or has disputed its obligation to pay all or any portion of the Account, to the extent of such claim, right of setoff, or dispute;
(j)
That portion of Accounts which reflect a reasonable reserve for warranty claims or returns or amounts which are owed to account
debtors, including those for rebates, allowances, co-op advertising, new store allowances or other deductions;
(k)
Accounts owing by a single Account Debtor or group of Affiliated Account Debtors (other than AT&T Services, Inc., [*] and TMobile USA, Inc.) whose total obligations owing to Borrower exceed twenty percent (20%) of the aggregate amount of all otherwise Eligible Accounts, such
Accounts owing by AT&T Services, Inc. which exceed fifty percent (50%) of the aggregate amount of all otherwise Eligible Accounts, such Accounts owing
by [*] or T-Mobile USA, Inc. which exceed thirty-five
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percent (35%) of the aggregate amount of all otherwise Eligible Accounts, and the accounts owing by AT&T Services, Inc., [*] and T-Mobile USA which,
combined, exceed eighty-five percent (85%) of the aggregate amount of all otherwise Eligible Accounts (but the portion of the Accounts not in excess of the
foregoing applicable percentages may be deemed Eligible Accounts), such percentages being subject to reduction if the creditworthiness of such Account
Debtor deteriorates;
(l)
Accounts with respect to which the Account Debtor is subject to an Insolvency Proceeding, is not Solvent, has gone out of
business, or as to which such Borrower has received notice of an imminent Insolvency Proceeding or a material impairment of the financial condition of such
Account Debtor;
(m)
financial condition;
(n)

Accounts, the collection of which, Lender, in its Permitted Discretion, believes to be doubtful by reason of the Account Debtor’s
Accounts representing credit card sales or “C.O.D.” sales;

(o)
Accounts that are not subject to a valid and perfected first priority Lien in favor of Lender or that are subject to any other Lien,
unless such other Lien is a Permitted Lien and the holder of such Permitted Lien has entered into an intercreditor agreement with Lender reasonably
acceptable to Lender;
(p)
Accounts that consist of progress billings (such that the obligation of the Account Debtors with respect to such Accounts is
conditioned upon such Borrower’s satisfactory completion of any further performance under the agreement giving rise thereto) or retainage invoices;
(q)

Accounts with respect to which the Account Debtor is a Sanctioned Person or Sanctioned Entity;

(r)

that portion of Accounts which represent finance charges, service charges, sales taxes or excise taxes;

(s)

that portion of Accounts which has been restructured, extended, amended or otherwise modified;

(t)
bill and hold invoices, except those with respect to which Lender shall have received an agreement in writing from the Account
Debtor, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender, confirming the unconditional obligation of the Account Debtor to take the Goods related thereto and pay
such invoice, so long as such Accounts satisfy all other criteria for Eligible Accounts hereunder;

(u)

Accounts which have not been invoiced;

(v)
Accounts constituting (i) Proceeds of copyrightable material unless such copyrightable material shall have been registered with
the United States Copyright Office, or (ii) Proceeds of patentable inventions unless such patentable inventions have been registered with the United States
Patent and Trademark Office; and
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(w)

Accounts or that portion of Accounts otherwise deemed ineligible by Lender in its Permitted Discretion.

Any Accounts which are not Eligible Accounts shall nonetheless constitute Collateral.
“Environmental Action” means any written complaint, summons, citation, notice, directive, order, claim, litigation, investigation, judicial or
administrative proceeding, judgment, letter, or other written communication from any Governmental Authority, or any third party involving violations of
Environmental Laws or releases of Hazardous Materials (a) from any assets, properties, or businesses of any Loan Party, any Subsidiary of a Loan Party, or
any of their predecessors in interest, (b) from adjoining properties or businesses, or (c) from or onto any facilities which received Hazardous Materials
generated by any Loan Party, any Subsidiary of a Loan Party, or any of their predecessors in interest.
“Environmental Law” means any applicable federal, state, provincial, foreign or local statute, law, rule, regulation, ordinance, code, binding
and enforceable guideline, binding and enforceable written policy, or rule of common law now or hereafter in effect and in each case as amended, or any
judicial or administrative interpretation thereof, including any judicial or administrative order, consent decree or judgment, in each case, to the extent binding
on any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries, relating to the environment, the effect of the environment on employee health, or Hazardous Materials, in each
case as amended from time to time.
“Environmental Liabilities” means all liabilities, monetary obligations, losses, damages, costs and expenses (including all reasonable fees,
disbursements and expenses of counsel, experts, or consultants, and costs of investigation and feasibility studies), fines, penalties, sanctions, and interest
incurred as a result of any claim or demand, or Remedial Action required, by any Governmental Authority or any third party, and which relate to any
Environmental Action.
“Environmental Lien” means any Lien in favor of any Governmental Authority for Environmental Liabilities.
“Equipment” means equipment (as that term is defined in the Code).
“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, and any successor statute thereto.
“ERISA Affiliate” means (a) any Person subject to ERISA whose employees are treated as employed by the same employer as the
employees of any Loan Party or its Subsidiaries under IRC Section 414(b), (b) any trade or business subject to ERISA whose employees are treated as
employed by the same employer as the employees of any Loan Party or its Subsidiaries under IRC Section 414(c), (c) solely for purposes of Section 302 of
ERISA and Section 412 of the IRC, any organization subject to ERISA that is a member of an affiliated service group of which any Loan Party or any of its
Subsidiaries is a member under IRC Section 414(m), or (d) solely for purposes of Section 302 of ERISA and Section 412 and 430 of the IRC, any Person
subject to ERISA that is a party to an arrangement with any Loan Party or any of its
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Subsidiaries and whose employees are aggregated with the employees of a Loan Party or its Subsidiaries under IRC Section 414(o).
“Event of Default” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 9 of this Agreement.
“Excess Availability” means, as of any date of determination, the amount equal to Availability minus the aggregate amount, if any, of all
trade payables and other obligations of each Borrower and its Subsidiaries aged in excess of 60 days beyond their terms as of the end of the immediately
preceding month, and all book overdrafts and fees of each Borrower and its Subsidiaries, in each case as determined by Lender in its Permitted Discretion.
“Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as in effect from time to time.
“Existing Lender” means UMB Bank Colorado, N.A.
“FATCA” means the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act, Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or
any amended or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with) and any current or future regulations or
official interpretations thereof.
“Fixed Charges” means, with respect to any fiscal period and with respect to a Borrower determined on a consolidated basis in accordance
with GAAP, the sum, without duplication, of (a) cash Interest Expense paid during such period (other than interest paid-in-kind, amortization of financing
fees, and other non-cash Interest Expense), (b) principal payments paid in cash in respect of Indebtedness paid during such period, including cash payments
with respect to Capital Leases, but excluding principal payments made with respect to the Revolving Credit Facility (c) all management, consulting, and
monitoring fees paid during such period, and (d) all Restricted Junior Payments (other than Pass-Through Tax Liabilities) and other distributions paid in cash
during such period.
“Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio” means, with respect to Borrowers and their Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis for any period, the ratio of
(i) EBITDA for such period, minus (a) Non-Financed Capital Expenditures made (to the extent not already incurred in a prior period) or incurred during such
period, (b) cash taxes paid during such period, to the extent greater than zero, and (c) all Restricted Junior Payments consisting of Pass-Through Tax
Liabilities to (ii) Fixed Charges for such period.

“Fixtures” means fixtures (as that term is defined in the Code).
“Funding Date” means the date on which a Borrowing occurs.
“FX Exposure Amount” means an amount, determined by Lender in its sole discretion, equal to Borrowers’ and their Subsidiaries’
collective exposure under Hedge Agreements incurred for the purpose of hedging foreign currency risks associated with Borrowers’ and their Subsidiaries’
operations.
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“GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles as in effect from time to time in the United States, consistently applied; provided,
however, that all calculations relative to liabilities shall be made without giving effect to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 159.
“General Intangibles” means general intangibles (as that term is defined in the Code), and includes payment intangibles, contract rights,
rights to payment, rights under Hedge Agreements (including the right to receive payment on account of the termination (voluntarily or involuntarily) of any
such Hedge Agreements), rights arising under common law, statutes, or regulations, choses or things in action, goodwill, Intellectual Property, Intellectual
Property Licenses, purchase orders, customer lists, monies due or recoverable from pension funds, route lists, rights to payment and other rights under any
royalty or licensing agreements, including Intellectual Property Licenses, infringement claims, pension plan refunds, pension plan refund claims, insurance
premium rebates, tax refunds, and tax refund claims, interests in a partnership or limited liability company which do not constitute a security under Article 8
of the Code, and any other personal property other than Commercial Tort Claims, money, Accounts, Chattel Paper, Deposit Accounts, Goods, Investment
Related Property, Negotiable Collateral, and oil, gas, or other minerals before extraction.
“Goods” means goods (as that term is defined in the Code).
“Governing Documents” means, with respect to any Person, the certificate or articles of incorporation, by-laws, or other organizational
documents of such Person.
“Governmental Authority” means any federal, state, local, or other governmental or administrative body, instrumentality, board, department,
or agency or any court, tribunal, administrative hearing body, arbitration panel, commission, or other similar dispute-resolving panel or body.
“Guarantor Payment” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.16.
“Guarantors” means each Person that becomes a guarantor after the Closing Date pursuant to Section 6.15 of this Agreement, and
“Guarantor” means any one of them.
“Guaranty” means any guaranty agreement delivered at any time by a Guarantor in favor of Lender in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to Lender.
“Hazardous Materials” means (a) substances that are defined or listed in, or otherwise classified pursuant to, any applicable laws or
regulations as “hazardous substances,” “hazardous materials,” “hazardous wastes,” “toxic substances,” or any other formulation intended to define, list, or
classify substances by reason of deleterious properties such as ignitability, corrosivity, reactivity, carcinogenicity, reproductive toxicity, or “EP toxicity”,
(b) oil, petroleum, or petroleum derived substances, natural gas, natural gas liquids, synthetic gas, drilling fluids, produced waters, and other wastes associated
with the exploration, development, or production of crude oil, natural gas, or geothermal resources, (c) any flammable substances or explosives or any
radioactive materials, and (d) asbestos in any form or electrical equipment that contains any oil or dielectric fluid containing levels of polychlorinated
biphenyls in excess of 50 parts per million.
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“Hedge Agreement” means a “swap agreement” as that term is defined in Section 101(53B)(A) of the Bankruptcy Code.
“Hedge Obligations” means any and all obligations or liabilities, whether absolute or contingent, due or to become due, now existing or
hereafter arising, of any Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries arising under, owing pursuant to, or existing in respect of Hedge Agreements entered into with
Lender or another Bank Product Provider.
“Indebtedness” as to any Person means, without duplication, (a) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money, (b) all obligations of
such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes, or other similar instruments and all reimbursement or other obligations in respect of letters of credit,
bankers acceptances, or other financial products, (c) all obligations of such Person as a lessee under Capital Leases, (d) all obligations or liabilities of others
secured by a Lien on any asset of such Person, irrespective of whether such obligation or liability is assumed, (e) all obligations of such Person to pay the
deferred purchase price of assets (other than trade payables incurred in the ordinary course of business and repayable in accordance with customary trade
practices), (f) all obligations of such Person owing under Hedge Agreements (which amount shall be calculated based on the amount that would be payable by
such Person if the Hedge Agreement were terminated on the date of determination), (g) any Prohibited Preferred Stock of such Person, and (h) any obligation
of such Person guaranteeing or intended to guarantee (whether directly or indirectly guaranteed, endorsed, co-made, discounted, or sold with recourse) any
obligation of any other Person that constitutes Indebtedness under any of clauses (a) through (g) above. For purposes of this definition, (i) the amount of any
Indebtedness represented by a guaranty or other similar instrument shall be the lesser of the principal amount of the obligations guaranteed and still
outstanding and the maximum amount for which the guaranteeing Person may be liable pursuant to the terms of the instrument embodying such Indebtedness,
and (ii) the amount of any Indebtedness described in clause (d) above shall be the lower of the amount of the obligation and the fair market value of the assets
of such Person securing such obligation.
“Indemnified Liabilities” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 11.3 of this Agreement.
“Indemnified Person” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 11.3 of this Agreement.

“Information Certificate” means the Information Certificate completed and executed by the Loan Parties attached hereto as Exhibit E.
“Insolvency Proceeding” means any proceeding commenced by or against any Person under any provision of the Bankruptcy Code or under
any other state or federal bankruptcy or insolvency law, assignments for the benefit of creditors, receiverships, formal or informal moratoria, compositions,
extensions generally with creditors, or proceedings seeking reorganization, arrangement, or other similar relief.
“Intellectual Property” means any and all Patents, Copyrights, Trademarks, trade secrets, know-how, inventions (whether or not patentable),
algorithms, software programs
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(including source code and object code), processes, product designs, industrial designs, blueprints, drawings, data, customer lists, URLs and domain names,
specifications, documentations, reports, catalogs, literature, and any other forms of technology or proprietary information of any kind, including all rights
therein and all applications for registration or registrations thereof.
“Intellectual Property Licenses” means, with respect to any Person (the “Specified Party”), (i) any licenses or other similar rights provided
to the Specified Party in or with respect to Intellectual Property owned or controlled by any other Person, and (ii) any licenses or other similar rights provided
to any other Person in or with respect to Intellectual Property owned or controlled by the Specified Party, in each case, including (A) any software license
agreements (other than license agreements for commercially available off-the-shelf software that is generally available to the public which have been licensed
to a Loan Party pursuant to end-user licenses), (B) the license agreements listed on Schedule 5.26(b) to the Information Certificate, and (C) the right to use
any of the licenses or other similar rights described in this definition in connection with the enforcement of Lender’s rights under the Loan Documents.
“Intercompany Subordination Agreement” means an intercompany subordination agreement, dated as of even date with this Agreement,
executed and delivered by a Borrower, each of its Subsidiaries each of the other Loan Parties and Lender, the form and substance of which is reasonably
satisfactory to Lender.
“Interest Expense” means, for any period, the aggregate of the interest expense of each Borrower for such period, determined on a
consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.
“Interest Rate” means an interest rate equal to Daily Three Month LIBOR, which interest rate shall change whenever Daily Three Month
LIBOR changes.
“Interest Rate Margin” means, as of any date of determination (with respect to any portion of the outstanding Advances on such date), the
applicable margin set forth in the following table that corresponds to the most recent Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio calculation delivered to Lender pursuant to
Section 6.1 of the Agreement (the “Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio Calculation”); provided, however, that for the period from the Closing Date through the
date Lender first receives a Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio Calculation, the Interest Rate Margin shall be at the margin in the row styled “Level I”:
Level

I
II

Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio
Calculation

If the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio is less 1.5:1.0
If the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio is equal to or greater than 1.5:1.0

Interest Rate Margin

3%
2.50%
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Except as set forth in the foregoing proviso, the Interest Rate Margin shall be based upon the most recent Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio Calculation, which
will be calculated as of the end of each fiscal month on a trailing twelve (12) month basis. Except as set forth in the foregoing proviso, the Interest Rate
Margin shall be re-determined monthly on the first day of the month following the date of delivery to Lender of the certified calculation of the Fixed Charge
Coverage Ratio pursuant to Section 6.1 of the Agreement; provided, however, that if Borrowers fail to provide such certification when such certification is
due, the Interest Rate Margin shall be set at the margin in the row styled “Level I” as of the first day of the month following the date on which the certification
was required to be delivered until the date on which such certification is delivered, on which date (but not retroactively), without constituting a waiver of any
Default or Event of Default occasioned by the failure to timely deliver such certification, the Interest Rate Margin shall be set at the margin based upon the
calculations disclosed by such certification. In the event that the information regarding the Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio contained in any certificate
delivered pursuant to Section 6.1 of the Agreement is shown to be inaccurate, and such inaccuracy, if corrected, would have led to the application of a higher
Interest Rate Margin for any period than the Interest Rate Margin actually applied for such period, then (i) Borrowers shall immediately deliver to Lender a
correct certificate for such period, (ii) the Interest Rate Margin shall be determined as if the correct Interest Rate Margin (as set forth in the table above) were
applicable for such period, and (iii) Borrowers shall immediately deliver to Lender full payment in respect of the accrued additional interest as a result of such
increased Interest Rate Margin for such period, which payment shall be promptly applied by Lender to the affected Obligations.
“Inventory” means inventory (as that term is defined in the Code).
“Investment” means, with respect to any Person, any investment by such Person in any other Person (including Affiliates) in the form of
loans, guarantees, advances, capital contributions (excluding (a) commission, travel, and similar advances to officers and employees of such Person made in
the ordinary course of business not to exceed $25,000 in the aggregate during any fiscal year of Borrowers, and (b) bona fide Accounts arising in the ordinary
course of business), or acquisitions of Indebtedness, Stock, or all or substantially all of the assets of such other Person (or of any division or business line of
such other Person), and any other items that are or would be classified as investments on a balance sheet prepared in accordance with GAAP.
“Investment Related Property” means (i) any and all investment property (as that term is defined in the Code), and (ii) any and all of the
following (regardless of whether classified as investment property under the Code): all Pledged Interests, Pledged Operating Agreements, and Pledged
Partnership Agreements.

“IRC” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as in effect from time to time.
“ISP98” means the International Standby Practices (1998 Revision, effective January 1, 1999), International Chamber of Commerce
Publication No. 590.
“Lender” has the meaning specified therefor in the preamble to this Agreement and its successors and assigns.
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“Lender Expenses” means all (a) reasonable costs or expenses (including taxes, and insurance premiums) required to be paid by any Loan
Party or any of its Subsidiaries under any of the Loan Documents that are paid, advanced, or incurred by Lender, (b) reasonable out-of-pocket fees or charges
paid or incurred by Lender in connection with Lender’s transactions with any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries under any of the Loan Documents,
including fees or charges for photocopying, notarization, couriers and messengers, telecommunication, public record searches (including tax lien, judgment
lien, litigation, bankruptcy and Code searches and including searches with the patent and trademark office, the copyright office, or the department of motor
vehicles), filing, recording, publication, appraisal (including periodic collateral appraisals or business valuations to the extent of the fees and charges (and up
to the amount of any limitation contained in this Agreement)), real estate surveys, real estate title insurance policies and endorsements, and environmental
audits, (c) Lender’s customary fees and charges (as adjusted from time to time) with respect to the disbursement of funds (or the receipt of funds) to or for the
account of Borrowers (whether by wire transfer or otherwise), together with any out of pocket costs and expenses incurred in connection therewith, (d) out-ofpocket charges paid or incurred by Lender resulting from the dishonor of checks payable by or to any Loan Party, (e) reasonable out-of-pocket costs and
expenses paid or incurred by Lender to correct any default or enforce any provision of the Loan Documents, or during the continuance of an Event of Default,
in gaining possession of, maintaining, handling, preserving, storing, shipping, selling, preparing for sale, or advertising to sell the Collateral, or any portion
thereof, irrespective of whether a sale is consummated, (f) fees and expenses to initiate electronic reporting by Borrowers to Lender, (g) reasonable out-ofpocket examination fees and expenses (including reasonable travel, meals, and lodging) of Lender related to any inspections or examinations to the extent of
the fees and charges (and up to the amount of any limitation) contained in this Agreement; provided that so long as no Event of Default has occurred and is
continuing, Borrowers shall not be responsible for Lender Expenses with respect to more than 4 inspections or examinations per calendar year, (h) reasonable
out-of-pocket costs and expenses of third party claims or any other suit paid or incurred by Lender in enforcing or defending the Loan Documents or in
connection with the transactions contemplated by the Loan Documents or Lender’s relationship with any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries, (i) Lender’s
reasonable costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys fees) incurred in advising, structuring, drafting, reviewing, administering (including reasonable
travel, meals, and lodging), or amending the Loan Documents, (j) Lender’s reasonable costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys, accountants,
consultants, and other advisors fees and expenses) incurred in terminating, enforcing (including reasonable attorneys, accountants, consultants, and other
advisors fees and expenses incurred in connection with a “workout,” a “restructuring,” or an Insolvency Proceeding concerning any Loan Party or any of its
Subsidiaries or in exercising rights or remedies under the Loan Documents), or defending the Loan Documents, irrespective of whether suit is brought, or in
taking any Remedial Action concerning the Collateral, and (k) usage charges, charges, fees, costs and expenses for amendments, renewals, extensions,
transfers, or drawings from time to time imposed by Lender in respect of Letters of Credit and out-of-pocket charges, fees, costs and expenses paid or
incurred by Lender in connection with the issuance, amendment, renewal, extension, or transfer of, or drawing under, any Letter of Credit or any demand for
payment thereunder.
“Lender-Related Persons” means Lender, together with its Affiliates, officers, directors, employees, attorneys, and agents.
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“Lender Representatives” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 17.8(a) of this Agreement.
“Lender’s Liens” mean the Liens granted by Borrowers and their Subsidiaries to Lender under the Loan Documents.
“Letter of Credit” means a letter of credit (as that term is defined in the Code) issued by Lender.
“Letter of Credit Agreements” means a Letter of Credit Application, together with any and all related letter of credit agreements pursuant to
which Lender agrees to issue, amend, or extend a Letter of Credit, or pursuant to which Borrowers agree to reimburse Lender for all Letter of Credit
Disbursements, each such application and related agreement to be in the form specified by Lender from time to time.
“Letter of Credit Application” means an application requesting Lender to issue, amend, or extend a Letter of Credit, each such application
to be in the form specified by Lender from time to time.
“Letter of Credit Collateralization” means either (a) providing cash collateral (pursuant to documentation reasonably satisfactory to Lender,
including provisions that specify that the Letter of Credit fee and all usage charges set forth in this Agreement and the Letter of Credit Agreements will
continue to accrue while the Letters of Credit are outstanding) to be held by Lender for the benefit of Lender in an amount equal to 110% of the then existing
Letter of Credit Usage, (b) delivering to Lender the original of each Letter of Credit, together with documentation executed by all beneficiaries under each
Letter of Credit in form and substance acceptable to Lender terminating all of such beneficiaries’ rights under such Letters of Credit, or (c) providing Lender
with a standby letter of credit, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Lender, from a commercial bank acceptable to Lender (in its sole discretion)
in an amount equal to 110% of the then existing Letter of Credit Usage (it being understood that the Letter of Credit fee and all usage charges set forth in this
Agreement will continue to accrue while the Letters of Credit are outstanding and that any such fees that accrue must be an amount that can be drawn under
any such standby letter of credit).
“Letter of Credit Disbursement” means a payment made by Lender pursuant to a Letter of Credit.
“Letter of Credit Usage” means, as of any date of determination, the sum of (i) the aggregate undrawn amount of all outstanding Letters of
Credit, and (ii) the aggregate amount of outstanding reimbursement obligations with respect to Letters of Credit which remain unreimbursed or which have
not been paid through an Advance under the Revolving Credit Facility.
“Lien” means any mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, hypothecation, assignment, charge, deposit arrangement, encumbrance, easement, lien
(statutory or other), security interest, or other security arrangement and any other preference, priority, or preferential arrangement of any kind or nature

whatsoever, including any conditional sale contract or other title retention
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agreement, the interest of a lessor under a Capital Lease and any synthetic or other financing lease having substantially the same economic effect as any of the
foregoing.
“Loan Account” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.8 of this Agreement.
“Loan Documents” means this Agreement, any Borrowing Base Certificate, the Control Agreements, the Cash Management Documents,
any Guaranty, the Intercompany Subordination Agreement, the Letters of Credit, the Mortgages, the Patent and Trademark Security Agreement, any note or
notes executed by any Borrower in connection with this Agreement and payable to Lender, any Letter of Credit Applications and other Letter of Credit
Agreements entered into by any Borrower in connection with this Agreement, and any other instrument or agreement entered into, now or in the future, by
any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries and Lender in connection with this Agreement, but specifically excluding all Hedge Agreements.
“Loan Management Service” means Lender’s proprietary automated loan management program currently known as “Loan Manager” and
any successor service or product of Lender which performs similar services.
“Loan Party” means any Borrower and any Guarantor.
“Lockbox” means “Lockbox” as defined and described in the Cash Management Documents.
“Margin Stock” as defined in Regulation U of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System as in effect from time to time.
“Material Adverse Change” means (a) a material adverse change in the business, prospects, operations, results of operations, assets,
liabilities or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Borrowers and their Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (b) a material impairment of Borrowers’ and their
Subsidiaries’ ability to perform their obligations under the Loan Documents to which it is a party or of Lender’s ability to enforce the Obligations or realize
upon the Collateral, (c) a material impairment of the enforceability or priority of Lender’s Liens with respect to the Collateral as a result of an action or failure
to act on the part of any Borrower or its Subsidiaries, or (d) any claim against any Borrower or its Subsidiaries or threat of litigation which if determined
adversely to any Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, would result in the occurrence of an event described in clauses (a), (b) or (c) above.
“Material Contract” means (i) with respect to contracts and agreements with customers of the Loan Parties or any of their Subsidiaries
(“Customer Agreements”), (A) each Customer Agreement with the five largest customers of the Loan Parties (measured in terms of revenue generated
pursuant to such Customer Agreements) and (B) such other Customer Agreements that, together with the Customer Agreements described in clause (A) of
this definition, represent at least 90% of the aggregate revenue of the Loan Parties, (ii) each contract or agreement (other than Customer Agreements) to
which a Loan Party or Subsidiary of a Loan Party is a party involving aggregate consideration payable to or by such Loan Party or such Subsidiary of
$300,000 or more (other than purchase orders in the ordinary course of the
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business of such Loan Party or such Subsidiary), and (iii) with respect to any Person, all other contracts or agreements, the loss of which could reasonably be
expected to result in a Material Adverse Change.
“Maturity Date” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.9 of this Agreement.
“Maximum Credit” means $20,000,000.
“Maximum Revolver Amount” means $10,000,000; provided that, if no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing,
such amount shall be increased in minimum increments of $2,500,000 each, up to the Maximum Credit, by Borrowers delivering to Lender a written request
indicating the amount to which Borrowers direct Lender to increase the Maximum Revolver Amount, effective 5 Business Days thereafter and upon payment
of the applicable Origination Fee. For purposes of clarity, the term “Maximum Revolver Amount” shall mean the Maximum Revolver Amount as in effect
from time to time, decreased by permanent reductions in such amount made in accordance with Section 2.11 of this Agreement.
“Moody’s” has the meaning specified therefor in the definition of Cash Equivalents.
“Mortgages” means, individually and collectively, one or more mortgages, deeds of trust, or deeds to secure debt, executed and delivered by
a Loan Party or its Subsidiaries in favor of Lender, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Lender, that encumber the Real Property Collateral.
“Negotiable Collateral” means letters of credit, letter-of-credit rights, instruments, promissory notes, drafts and documents (as each such
term is defined in the Code).
“Non-Financed Capital Expenditures” means Capital Expenditures not financed by the seller of the capital asset, by a third party lender or
by means of any extension of credit by Lender other than by means of an Advance under the Revolving Credit Facility.
“Obligations” means (a) all loans (including the Advances), debts, principal, interest (including any interest that accrues after the
commencement of an Insolvency Proceeding, regardless of whether allowed or allowable in whole or in part as a claim in any such Insolvency Proceeding),
reimbursement or indemnification obligations with respect to Letters of Credit (irrespective of whether contingent), premiums, liabilities (including all
amounts charged to the Loan Account pursuant to this Agreement), obligations (including indemnification obligations), fees, Lender Expenses (including any
fees or expenses that accrue after the commencement of an Insolvency Proceeding, regardless of whether allowed or allowable in whole or in part as a claim
in any such Insolvency Proceeding), guaranties, and all covenants and duties of any other kind and description owing by any Loan Party pursuant to or
evidenced by this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents and irrespective of whether for the payment of money, whether direct or indirect, absolute
or contingent, due or to become due, now existing or hereafter arising, and including all interest not paid when due and all other expenses or other amounts

that any Borrower or any other Loan Party is required to pay or reimburse by the Loan Documents or by law or otherwise in connection with the Loan
Documents, and (b) all Bank
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Product Obligations. Any reference in this Agreement or in the Loan Documents to the Obligations shall include all or any portion thereof and any
extensions, modifications, renewals, or alterations thereof, both prior and subsequent to any Insolvency Proceeding.
“OFAC” means The Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of the Treasury.
“Overadvance Amount” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.4(f) of this Agreement
“Parent” means StarTek, Inc.
“Pass-Through Tax Liabilities” means the amount of state and federal income tax paid or to be paid by the owner of any Stock in a
Borrower on taxable income earned by a Borrower and attributable to such owner of Stock as a result of such Borrower’s “pass-through” tax status, assuming
the highest marginal income tax rate for federal and state (for the state or states in which any owner of Stock is liable for income taxes with respect to such
income) income tax purposes, after taking into account any deduction for state income taxes in calculating the federal income tax liability and all other
deductions, credits, deferrals and other reductions available to such owners of Stock from or through such Borrower.
“Patents” means patents and patent applications, including (i) the patents and patent applications listed on Schedule 5.26(b) to the
Information Certificate, (ii) all continuations, divisionals, continuations-in-part, re-examinations, reissues, and renewals thereof and improvements thereon,
(iii) all income, royalties, damages and payments now and hereafter due or payable under and with respect thereto, including payments under all licenses
entered into in connection therewith and damages and payments for past, present, or future infringements thereof, (iv) the right to sue for past, present, and
future infringements thereof, and (v) all of each Loan Party’s rights corresponding thereto throughout the world.
“Patent and Trademark Security Agreement” means each Patent and Trademark Security Agreement executed and delivered by the
applicable Loan Party, in form and substance acceptable to Lender.
“Patriot Act” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 5.18 of Exhibit D to this Agreement.
“Pension Plan” means a pension plan (as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA) maintained for employees of any Borrower or any of its
Subsidiaries or any ERISA Affiliate and covered by Title IV of ERISA.
“Permitted Discretion” means a determination made in the exercise of the good faith judgment of Lender.
“Permitted Dispositions” means:
(a)

sales, abandonment, or other dispositions of Equipment that is substantially worn, damaged, or obsolete in the ordinary course of

business;
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(b)

sales of Inventory to buyers in the ordinary course of business;

(c)

the granting of Permitted Liens;

(d)

the making of a Restricted Junior Payment that is expressly permitted to be made pursuant to this Agreement; and

(e)

the making of a Permitted Investment.

“Permitted Indebtedness” means:
(a)

Indebtedness evidenced by this Agreement or the other Loan Documents;

(b)

Indebtedness set forth on Schedule 5.19 to the Information Certificate and any Refinancing Indebtedness in respect of such

(c)

Permitted Purchase Money Indebtedness and any Refinancing Indebtedness in respect of such Indebtedness;

(d)

endorsement of instruments or other payment items for deposit;

Indebtedness;

(e)
the incurrence by any Borrower or its Subsidiaries of Indebtedness under Hedge Agreements that are incurred for the bona fide
purpose of hedging the interest rate, commodity, or foreign currency risks associated with such Borrower’s and its Subsidiaries’ operations and not for
speculative purposes;
(f)

Indebtedness incurred in respect of Bank Products other than pursuant to Hedge Agreements; and

(g)

Indebtedness constituting Permitted Investments.

“Permitted Intercompany Advances” means loans made by (a) a Loan Party to another Loan Party other than Parent, (b) a Subsidiary of a
Loan Party which is not a Loan Party to another Subsidiary of a Loan Party which is not a Loan Party, (c) a Subsidiary of a Loan Party which is not a Loan

Party to a Loan Party, so long as the parties thereto are party to the Intercompany Subordination Agreement.
“Permitted Investments” means:
(a)

Investments in cash and Cash Equivalents;

(b)

Investments in negotiable instruments deposited or to be deposited for collection in the ordinary course of business;

(c)

advances made in connection with purchases of Goods or services in the ordinary course of business;

(d)

Investments owned by any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries on the Closing Date and set forth on Schedule P-1;
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(e)

Permitted Intercompany Advances; and

(f)
Investments resulting from entering into (i) Bank Product Agreements, or (ii) agreements relative to Indebtedness that is
permitted under clause (g) of the definition of Permitted Indebtedness.
As to all of the foregoing (a) through (f) Lender shall have a first priority perfected Lien.
“Permitted Liens” means
(a)

Liens granted to, or for the benefit of, Lender to secure the Obligations;

(b)
Liens for unpaid taxes, assessments, or other governmental charges or levies that either (i) are not yet delinquent, or (ii) do not
have priority over Lender’s Liens and the underlying taxes, assessments, or charges or levies are the subject of Permitted Protests;
(c)
judgment Liens arising solely as a result of the existence of judgments, orders, or awards that do not constitute an Event of Default
under Section 9.3 of this Agreement;
(d)
Liens set forth on Schedule P-2; provided, however, that to qualify as a Permitted Lien, any such Lien described on Schedule P-2
shall only secure the Indebtedness that it secures on the Closing Date and any Refinancing Indebtedness in respect thereof;
(e)

the interests of lessors under operating leases and non-exclusive licensors under license agreements;

(f)
purchase money Liens or the interests of lessors under Capital Leases to the extent that such Liens or interests secure Permitted
Purchase Money Indebtedness and so long as (i) such Lien attaches only to the asset purchased or acquired and the proceeds thereof, and (ii) such Lien only
secures the Indebtedness that was incurred to acquire the asset purchased or acquired or any Refinancing Indebtedness in respect thereof; and
(g)
Liens that are replacements of Permitted Liens to the extent that the original Indebtedness is the subject of permitted Refinancing
Indebtedness and so long as the replacement Liens only encumber those assets that secured the original Indebtedness.
“Permitted Preferred Stock” means and refers to any Preferred Stock issued by a Borrower (and not by one or more of its Subsidiaries) that
is not Prohibited Preferred Stock.
“Permitted Protest” means the right of any Borrower or any other Loan Party or any of their respective Subsidiaries to protest any Lien
(other than any Lien that secures the Obligations), taxes (other than payroll taxes or taxes that are the subject of a United States federal tax lien), or rental
payment, provided that (a) a reserve with respect to such obligation is established on such Borrower’s, Subsidiary’s or Loan Party’s books and records in such
amount as is required under GAAP, (b) any such protest is instituted promptly and prosecuted diligently by such Borrower, Subsidiary or Loan Party, as
applicable, in good faith, and (c) Lender is satisfied that, while any such protest is pending, there will be no impairment of the enforceability, validity, or
priority of any of Lender’s Liens.
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“Permitted Purchase Money Indebtedness” means, as of any date of determination, Purchase Money Indebtedness incurred after the Closing
Date in an aggregate principal amount outstanding at any one time not in excess of $250,000.
“Person” means natural persons, corporations, limited liability companies, limited partnerships, general partnerships, limited liability
partnerships, joint ventures, trusts, land trusts, business trusts, or other organizations, irrespective of whether they are legal entities, and governments and
agencies and political subdivisions thereof.
“Plan” means an employee benefit plan (as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA) maintained for employees of any Borrower or any of its
Subsidiaries or any ERISA Affiliate.
“Pledged Companies” means StarTek USA, Inc., together with each other non-CFC Person, all or a portion of whose Stock is acquired or
otherwise owned by a Borrower after the Closing Date.
“Pledged Interests” means all of each Borrower’s right, title and interest in and to all of the Stock now owned or hereafter acquired by such
Borrower, regardless of class or designation, in each of the Pledged Companies, and all substitutions therefor and replacements thereof, all proceeds thereof
and all rights relating thereto, also including any certificates representing the Stock, the right to receive any certificates representing any of the Stock, all
warrants, options, share appreciation rights and other rights, contractual or otherwise, in respect thereof and the right to receive all dividends, distributions of

income, profits, surplus, or other compensation by way of income or liquidating distributions, in cash or in kind, and all cash, instruments, and other property
from time to time received, receivable, or otherwise distributed in respect of or in addition to, in substitution of, on account of, or in exchange for any or all of
the foregoing.
“Pledged Interests Addendum” means a Pledged Interests Addendum substantially in the form of Exhibit F.
“Pledged Operating Agreements” means all of each Borrower’s rights, powers, and remedies under the limited liability Borrower operating
agreements of each of the Pledged Companies that are limited liability companies.
“Pledged Partnership Agreements” means all of each Borrower’s rights, powers, and remedies under the partnership agreements of each of
the Pledged Companies that are partnerships.
“Preferred Stock” means, as applied to the Stock of any Person, the Stock of any class or classes (however designated) that is preferred with
respect to the payment of dividends, or as to the distribution of assets upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation or dissolution of such Person, over shares
of Stock of any other class of such Person.
“Prime Rate” means at any time the rate of interest most recently announced by Lender at its principal office as its Prime Rate, with the
understanding that the Prime Rate is one of Lender’s base rates, and serves as the basis upon which effective rates of interest are calculated for those loans
making reference to it, and is evidenced by its recording in such
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internal publication or publications as Lender may designate. Each change in the rate of interest shall become effective on the date each Prime Rate change is
announced by Lender.
“Proceeds” has the meaning specified therefor in the definition of “Collateral” set forth in Schedule 1.1.
“Prohibited Preferred Stock” means any Preferred Stock that by its terms is mandatorily redeemable or subject to any other payment
obligation (including any obligation to pay dividends, other than dividends of shares of Preferred Stock of the same class and series payable in kind or
dividends of shares of common stock) on or before a date that is less than 1 year after the Maturity Date, or, on or before the date that is less than 1 year after
the Maturity Date, is redeemable at the option of the holder thereof for cash or assets or securities (other than distributions in kind of shares of Preferred Stock
of the same class and series or of shares of common stock).
“Projections” means each Borrower’s forecasted (a) balance sheets, (b) profit and loss statements, (c) Availability projections, and (d) cash
flow statements, all prepared on a basis consistent with such Borrower’s historical financial statements, together with appropriate supporting details and a
statement of underlying assumptions.
“Protective Advance” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.3(d).
“PTO” means the United States Patent and Trademark Office.
“Purchase Money Indebtedness” means Indebtedness (other than the Obligations, but including Capitalized Lease Obligations), incurred at
the time of, or within 20 days after, the acquisition of any fixed assets for the purpose of financing all or any part of the acquisition cost thereof.
“Qualified Cash” means, as of any date of determination, the amount of unrestricted cash and Cash Equivalents of each Borrower and its
Subsidiaries that is in Deposit Accounts or in Securities Accounts, or any combination thereof, and which such Deposit Account or Securities Account is the
subject of a Control Agreement and is maintained by a branch office of the bank or securities intermediary located within the United States.
“Real Property” means any estates or interests in real property now owned or hereafter acquired by a Loan Party and the improvements
thereto.
“Real Property Collateral” means the Real Property identified on Schedule R-1 and any Real Property hereafter acquired by any Loan Party.
“Record” means information that is inscribed on a tangible medium or that is stored in an electronic or other medium and is retrievable in
perceivable form.
“Refinancing Indebtedness” means refinancings, renewals, or extensions of Indebtedness so long as:
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(a)
such refinancings, renewals, or extensions do not result in an increase in the principal amount of the Indebtedness so refinanced,
renewed, or extended, other than by the amount of premiums paid thereon and the fees and expenses incurred in connection therewith and by the amount of
unfunded commitments with respect thereto,
(b)
such refinancings, renewals, or extensions do not result in a shortening of the average weighted maturity (measured as of the
refinancing, renewal, or extension) of the Indebtedness so refinanced, renewed, or extended, nor are they on terms or conditions that, taken as a whole, are or
could reasonably be expected to be materially adverse to the interests of Lender,
(c)
if the Indebtedness that is refinanced, renewed, or extended was subordinated in right of payment to the Obligations, then the
terms and conditions of the refinancing, renewal, or extension must include subordination terms and conditions that are at least as favorable to Lender as
those that were applicable to the refinanced, renewed, or extended Indebtedness, and

(d)
the Indebtedness that is refinanced, renewed, or extended is not recourse to any Person that is liable on account of the Obligations
other than those Persons which were obligated with respect to the Indebtedness that was refinanced, renewed, or extended.
“Remedial Action” means all actions taken to (a) clean up, remove, remediate, contain, treat, monitor, assess, evaluate, or in any way
address Hazardous Materials in the indoor or outdoor environment, (b) prevent or minimize a release or threatened release of Hazardous Materials so they do
not migrate or endanger or threaten to endanger public health or welfare or the indoor or outdoor environment, (c) restore or reclaim natural resources or the
environment, (d) perform any pre-remedial studies, investigations, or post-remedial operation and maintenance activities, or (e) conduct any other actions
with respect to Hazardous Materials required by Environmental Laws.
“Reserves” means, as of any date of determination, the sum of (a) an amount or percent of a specified item or category of items that Lender
establishes from time to time in its Permitted Discretion to reduce Availability under the Borrowing Base or the Maximum Revolver Amount to reflect
(i) such matters, events, conditions, contingencies or risks which affect or which may reasonably be expected to affect the assets, business or prospects of a
Borrower, any other Loan Party or the Collateral or its value or the enforceability, perfection or priority of Lender’s security interest in the Collateral, or
(ii) Lender’s judgment that any collateral report or financial information relating to a Borrower or any other Loan Party delivered to Lender is incomplete,
inaccurate or misleading in any material respect, plus (b) the Dilution Reserve and the Bank Product Reserve Amount.
“Restricted Junior Payment” means (a) declaration or payment of any dividend or the making any other payment or distribution on account
of Stock issued by any Loan Party (including any payment in connection with any merger or consolidation involving any Loan Party) or to the direct or
indirect holders of Stock issued by any Loan Party in their capacity as such (other than dividends or distributions payable in Stock (other than Prohibited
Preferred Stock) issued by any Loan Party), or (b) any purchase, redemption, or other acquisition or
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retirement for value (including in connection with any merger or consolidation involving any Loan Party) of any Stock issued by any Loan Party.
“Revolver Usage” means, as of any date of determination, the sum of (a) the amount of outstanding Advances, plus (b) the amount of the
Letter of Credit Usage.
“Revolving Credit Facility” means the revolving line of credit facility described in Section 2.1 pursuant to which Lender provides Advances
to Borrowers and issues Letters of Credit for the account of Borrowers.
“Sanctioned Entity” means (a) a country or a government of a country, (b) an agency of the government of a country, (c) an organization
directly or indirectly controlled by a country or its government, (d) a Person resident in or determined to be resident in a country, in each case, that is subject
to a country sanctions program administered and enforced by OFAC.
“Sanctioned Person” means a person named on the list of Specially Designated Nationals maintained by OFAC.
“S&P” has the meaning specified therefor in the definition of Cash Equivalents.
“SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission and any successor thereto.
“Securities Account” means a securities account (as that term is defined in the Code).
“Securities Act” means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended from time to time, and any successor statute.
“Security Interest” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 3.1 of this Agreement.
“Solvent” means, with respect to any Person on a particular date, that, (i) at fair valuations, the sum of such Person’s assets (and including
as assets for this purpose all rights of subrogation, contribution or indemnification arising pursuant to any guarantees given by such Person) is greater than all
of such Person’s debts and including subordinated and contingent liabilities computed at the amount which, such Person has a reasonable basis to believe,
represents an amount which can reasonably be expected to become an actual or matured liability (and including as to contingent liabilities arising pursuant to
any guarantee the face amount of such liability as reduced to reflect the probability of it becoming a matured liability); and (ii) such Person is able to pay its
debts as they mature and has (and has a reasonable basis to believe it will continue to have) sufficient capital (and not unreasonably small capital) to carry on
its business consistent with its practices as of the date hereof.
“Stock” means all shares, options, warrants, interests, participations, or other equivalents (regardless of how designated) of or in a Person,
whether voting or nonvoting, including common stock, preferred stock, or any other “equity security” (as such term is defined
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in Rule 3a11-1 of the General Rules and Regulations promulgated by the SEC under the Exchange Act).
“Subsidiary” of a Person means a corporation, partnership, limited liability company, or other entity in which that Person directly or
indirectly owns or controls the shares of Stock having ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the board of directors (or appoint other comparable
managers) of such corporation, partnership, limited liability company, or other entity.
“Supporting Obligations” means supporting obligations (as such term is defined in the Code), and includes letters of credit and guaranties
issued in support of Accounts, Chattel Paper, documents, General Intangibles, instruments or Investment Related Property.
“Taxes” means any taxes, levies, imposts, duties, fees, assessments or other charges of whatever nature now or hereafter imposed by any
jurisdiction or by any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein with respect to such payments and all interest, penalties or similar liabilities
with respect thereto; provided, however, that Taxes shall exclude any tax imposed on the net income or net profits of Lender (including any branch profits
taxes), in each case imposed by the jurisdiction (or by any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof in which Lender is organized or the jurisdiction (or

by any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof) in which Lender’s principal office is located in each case as a result of a present or former connection
between Lender and the jurisdiction or taxing authority imposing the tax (other than any such connection arising solely from Lender having executed,
delivered or performed its obligations or received payment under, or enforced its rights or remedies under, this Agreement or any other Loan Document).
“Termination Date” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 2.9 of this Agreement.
“Trademarks” means any and all trademarks, trade names, registered trademarks, trademark applications, service marks, registered service
marks and service mark applications, including (i) the trade names, registered trademarks, trademark applications, registered service marks and service mark
applications listed on Schedule 5.26(b) to the Information Certificate, (ii) all renewals thereof, (iii) all income, royalties, damages and payments now and
hereafter due or payable under and with respect thereto, including payments under all licenses entered into in connection therewith and damages and
payments for past or future infringements or dilutions thereof, (iv) the right to sue for past, present and future infringements and dilutions thereof, (v) the
goodwill of each Loan Party’s business symbolized by the foregoing or connected therewith, and (vi) all of each Loan Party’s rights corresponding thereto
throughout the world.
“Transition Expense Estimate” means an estimate of expenses lender would incur if Accounts were collected by a Person other than
Borrowers in such amount established by Lender in its sole discretion.
“Uniform Customs” means the Uniform Customs and Practice for Documentary Credits (2007 Revision), effective July, 2007 International
Chamber of Commerce Publication No. 600 (or such later version thereof as may be in effect at the time of issuance).
Schedule 1.1 - 28

“United States” means the United States of America.
“Unused Amount” has the meaning specified therefor in Schedule 2.12 of this Agreement.
“URL” means “uniform resource locator,” an internet web address.
“Value” means, as determined by Lender in good faith, with respect to Inventory, the lower of (a) cost computed on a first-in first-out basis
in accordance with GAAP or (b) market value, provided that for purposes of the calculation of the Borrowing Base, (i) the Value of the Inventory shall not
include: (A) the portion of the value of Inventory equal to the profit earned by any Affiliate on the sale thereof to any Borrower or (B) write-ups or writedowns in value with respect to currency exchange rates and (ii) notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the cost of the Inventory shall be
computed in the same manner and consistent with the most recent appraisal of the Inventory received and accepted by Lender, if any.
“Voidable Transfer” has the meaning specified therefor in Section 17.7 of this Agreement.
b. Accounting Terms. All accounting terms not specifically defined herein shall be construed in accordance with GAAP; provided, however, that if
any Borrower notifies Lender that such Borrower requests an amendment to any provision hereof to eliminate the effect of any change in accounting
principles required by the promulgation of any rule, regulation, pronouncement or opinion by the Financial Accounting Standards Board of the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (or successor thereto or any agency with similar functions) (an “Accounting Change”) occurring after the Closing
Date, or in the application thereof (or if Lender notifies any Borrower that Lender requests an amendment to any provision hereof for such purpose),
regardless of whether any such notice is given before or after such Accounting Change or in the application thereof, then Lender and Borrowers agree that
they will negotiate in good faith amendments to the provisions of this Agreement that are directly affected by such Accounting Change with the intent of
having the respective positions of Lender and each Borrower after such Accounting Change conform as nearly as possible to their respective positions as of
the date of this Agreement and, until any such amendments have been agreed upon, the provisions in this Agreement shall be calculated as if no such
Accounting Change had occurred. Whenever used herein, the term “financial statements” shall include the footnotes and schedules thereto. Whenever the
term “Borrower” is used in respect of a financial covenant or a related definition, it shall be understood to mean Borrowers and their respective Subsidiaries
on a consolidated basis, unless the context clearly requires otherwise.
c. Code. Any terms used in this Agreement that are defined in the Code shall be construed and defined as set forth in the Code unless otherwise
defined herein.
d. Construction. Unless the context of this Agreement or any other Loan Document clearly requires otherwise, references to the plural include the
singular, references to the singular include the plural, the terms “includes” and “including” are not limiting, and the term “or” has, except where otherwise
indicated, the inclusive meaning represented by the phrase “and/or.” The words “hereof,” “herein,” “hereby,” “hereunder,” and similar terms in this
Agreement or any other
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Loan Document refer to this Agreement or such other Loan Document, as the case may be, as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement
or such other Loan Document, as the case may be. Section, subsection, clause, schedule, and exhibit references herein are to this Agreement unless otherwise
specified. Any reference in this Agreement or in any other Loan Document to any agreement, instrument, or document shall include all alterations,
amendments, changes, extensions, modifications, renewals, replacements, substitutions, joinders, and supplements, thereto and thereof, as applicable (subject
to any restrictions on such alterations, amendments, changes, extensions, modifications, renewals, replacements, substitutions, joinders, and supplements set
forth herein). The words “asset” and “property” shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect and to refer to any and all tangible and intangible
assets and properties, including cash, securities, accounts, and contract rights. Any reference herein or in any other Loan Document to the satisfaction,
repayment, or payment in full of the Obligations shall mean the repayment in full in cash or immediately available funds (or, (i) in the case of contingent
reimbursement obligations with respect to Letters of Credit, providing Letter of Credit Collateralization, and (ii) in the case of obligations with respect to
Bank Products (other than Hedge Obligations), providing Bank Product Collateralization) of all of the Obligations (including the payment of any Lender
Expenses that have accrued irrespective of whether demand has been made therefor and the payment of any termination amount then applicable (or which
would or could become applicable as a result of the repayment of the other Obligations) under Hedge Agreements) other than unasserted contingent
indemnification Obligations. Any reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Person’s successors and assigns. Any requirement of a

writing contained herein or in any other Loan Document shall be satisfied by the transmission of a Record. References herein to any statute or any provision
thereof include such statute or provision (and all rules, regulations and interpretations thereunder) as amended, revised, re-enacted, and/or consolidated from
time to time and any successor statute thereto.
e.

Schedules and Exhibits. All of the schedules and exhibits attached to this Agreement shall be deemed incorporated herein by reference.
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Schedule 2.12
TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
FEES
Borrowers shall pay to Lender each of the following fees:
On the Closing Date:
Origination Fee. A one-time origination fee of $50,000, which shall be fully earned and payable upon the execution of this Agreement, plus an origination
fee of one-half of one percent (0.50%) of the amount of any increase in the Maximum Revolver Amount after the Closing Date, which shall be fully earned
and payable at the time such increase becomes effective.
Monthly:
(a)
Unused Fee. An unused line fee of three-tenths of one percent (0.30%) per annum of the daily average of the Maximum Revolver Amount reduced by
outstanding Advances and Letter of Credit Usage (the “Unused Amount”), from the date of this Agreement to and including the Termination Date, which
unused line fee shall be payable monthly in arrears on the first day of each month and on the Termination Date.
(b)
Collateral Monitoring Fee. A fee at the rates established from time to time by Lender as its Collateral monitoring fees (which fees are currently
$500 per month), due and payable monthly in advance on the first day of the month and on the Termination Date.
(c)
Cash Management Fees. Service fees to Lender for Cash Management Services provided pursuant to the Cash Management Documents, Bank
Product Agreements or any other agreement entered into by the parties, in the amount prescribed in Lender’s current service fee schedule.
(d)
Letter of Credit Fees. A Letter of Credit fee (in addition to the charges, commissions, fees, and costs set forth in Section 2.13(e)) which shall accrue
at a rate equal to 3% per annum times the Daily Balance of the undrawn amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit, due and payable monthly in arrears on
the first day of each month and on the Termination Date. All fees upon the occurrence of any other activity with respect to any Letter of Credit (including,
without limitation, the issuance, transfer, amendment, extension or cancellation of any Letter of Credit and honoring of draws under any Letter of Credit)
determined in accordance with Lender’s standard fees and charges then in effect for such activity.
(e)

Minimum Interest Charge. None.

Annually:
(a)

Facility Fee. None.
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Other:
(a)
Collateral Exam Reimbursement. Lender’s costs and expenses in connection with any collateral exams, audits or inspections conducted by or on
behalf of Lender at the current rates established from time to time by Lender as its fee for collateral exams, audits or inspections (which fees are currently
$1,000 per day per collateral examiner), together with all actual out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred in conducting any collateral exam, audit, or
inspection; but Borrowers shall not, with the exception of fees, costs, and expenses for collateral exams, audits and inspections incurred following the
occurrence of an Event of Default, be required to reimburse Lender to the extent that the fees, costs and expenses for the initial pre-loan collateral exam, audit
and inspection exceeds $10,000 and each subsequent collateral exam, audit and inspection exceeds $7,500.
(b)
Overadvance Fee. Borrowers shall pay a $500 Overadvance fee for each day that an Overadvance Amount exists which was not agreed to by
Lender in a Record prior to its occurrence; provided that Lender’s acceptance of the payment of such fees shall not constitute either consent to the
Overadvance Amount or waiver of any resulting Event of Default. Borrowers shall pay additional Overadvance fees and interest in such amounts and on
such terms as Lender in its sole discretion may consider appropriate for any Overadvance Amount to which Lender has specifically consented in a Record
prior to its occurrence.
(c)
Termination and Reduction Fees. If (i) Lender terminates the Revolving Credit Facility after the occurrence of an Event of Default, or (ii)
Borrowers terminate the Revolving Credit Facility on a date prior to the Maturity Date, or (iii) Borrowers and Lender agree to reduce the Maximum Revolver
Amount, then Borrowers shall pay Lender as liquidated damages a termination or reduction fee in an amount equal to a percentage of the Maximum Credit in
the case of a termination of the Revolving Credit Facility or a percentage of the amount of reduction of the Maximum Revolver Amount in the case of a
reduction in the Maximum Revolver Amount, as the case may be, calculated as follows: (A) one percent (1.00%) if the termination or reduction occurs on or
before the first anniversary of the first Advance; and (B) one-half of one percent (0.50%) if the termination or reduction occurs after the first anniversary of
the first Advance. If, with the consent of Lender (which consent may be withheld by Lender in its sole discretion), the Revolving Credit Facility is
transferred to another Subsidiary or operating division of Lender at least 18 months after the date of the first Advance, such transfer shall not be deemed a
termination or reduction resulting in the payment of termination or reduction fees provided that Borrowers agree, at the time of transfer, to the payment of

comparable fees in an amount not less than that set forth in this Agreement in the event that any credit facilities extended after such transfer are thereafter
terminated early, reduced or prepaid.
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Schedule 6.1
TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS; REPORTS; CERTIFICATES
Deliver to Lender, each of the financial statements, reports, or other items set forth below at the following times in form satisfactory to
Lender:
as soon as available, but in any
event within 20 days after the end of
each month

(a) an unaudited consolidated and consolidating balance sheet, income statement, statement of cash flow, and
statement of shareholder’s equity covering each Borrower’s and its Subsidiaries operations during such period and
compared to the prior period and plan, together with a corresponding discussion and analysis of results from
management; and
(b) a Compliance Certificate along with the underlying calculations, including the calculations to arrive at
EBITDA and Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, to the extent applicable.

as soon as available, but in any
event within 120 days after the end
of each fiscal year

(a) consolidated and consolidating financial statements of each Borrower and its Subsidiaries for each such fiscal
year, audited by independent certified public accountants reasonably acceptable to Lender and certified, without any
(A) “going concern” or like qualification or exception, (B) qualification or exception as to the scope of such audit, or
(C) qualification which relates to the treatment or classification of any item and which, as a condition to the removal
of such qualification, would require an adjustment to such item), by such accountants to have been prepared in
accordance with GAAP (such audited financial statements to include a balance sheet, income statement, statement of
cash flow, and statement of shareholder’s equity and, if prepared, such accountants’ letter to management); and
(b) a Compliance Certificate along with the underlying calculations, including the calculations to arrive at
EBITDA and Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, to the extent applicable.

as soon as available, but in any
event within 10 days before the start
of each of Borrowers’ fiscal years

(a) copies of Borrowers’ Projections, in form and substance (including as to scope and underlying assumptions)
satisfactory to Lender, in its Permitted Discretion, for the forthcoming fiscal year, on a quarterly basis, certified by the
chief financial officer of each such Borrower as being such officer’s good faith estimate of the financial performance
of such Borrower during the period covered thereby.

if and when filed by any Borrower

(a)

Form 10-Q quarterly reports, Form 10-K annual reports, and Form 8-K current reports;
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(b)

any other filings made by any Borrower with the SEC; and

(c)

any other information that is provided by any Borrower to its shareholders generally.
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Schedule 6.2
TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
COLLATERAL REPORTING
Provide Lender with each of the documents set forth below at the following times in form and substance satisfactory to Lender:
On the first Business Day
of each month or more
frequently if Lender
requests

(a) a Borrowing Base Certificate;
(b) an Account roll-forward with supporting details supplied from sales journals, collection journals, credit registers and any
other records;
(c) notice of all claims, offsets, or disputes asserted by Account Debtors with respect to each Borrower’s and its Subsidiaries’
Accounts; and
(d) copies of invoices together with corresponding supporting documentation with respect to invoices and credit memos in
excess of an amount determined in the sole discretion of Lender from time to time.

On the first Business Day
of each week or more

(a) None.

frequently if Lender
requests
Monthly (no later than the
15th day of each month)
or more frequently if
Lender requests

(a) a monthly Account roll-forward, in a format acceptable to Lender in its discretion;
(b) a detailed aging of each Borrower’s Accounts, together with a reconciliation to the monthly Account roll-forward and
supporting documentation for any reconciling items noted (delivered electronically in an acceptable format, if a Borrower has
implemented electronic reporting);
(c) a detailed calculation of those Accounts that are not eligible for the Borrowing Base;
(d) a summary aging, by vendor, of each Borrower’s and its Subsidiaries’ accounts payable (delivered electronically in an
acceptable format, if a Borrower has implemented electronic reporting); and
(e) a detailed report regarding each Borrower’s and its Subsidiaries’ cash and Cash Equivalents, including an indication of
which amounts constitute Qualified Cash.

Monthly (no later than the
15th day of

(a) a reconciliation of Accounts aging, trade accounts payable aging of each Borrower to the general ledger and the monthly
financial statements,
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each month) or more
frequently if Lender
requests

including any book reserves related to each category.

Quarterly

(a) a report regarding each Borrower’s and its Subsidiaries’ accrued, but unpaid, ad valorem taxes.

Annually, or more
frequently, if requested by
Lender

(a) a detailed list of each Borrower’s and its Subsidiaries’ customers, with address and contact information.

Upon request by Lender

(a) such other reports as to the Collateral or the financial condition of each Borrower and its Subsidiaries, as Lender may
reasonably request.
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EXHIBIT A
TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
FORM OF COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE
[on Borrower’s letterhead]
To:

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association
MAC 7300-210
1740 Broadway
Denver, CO 80274
Attn: Timothy P. Ulrich

Re:

Compliance Certificate dated

, 20

Ladies and Gentlemen:
Reference is made to that certain Credit and Security Agreement (as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit
Agreement”) dated as of February 28, 2012, by and among WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, (“Lender”), and STARTEK, INC. and
STARTEK USA, INC. (the “Borrowers”). Capitalized terms used in this Compliance Certificate have the meanings set forth in the Credit Agreement unless
specifically defined herein.
Pursuant to Schedule 6.1 of the Credit Agreement, the undersigned chief financial officer of each of StarTek, Inc. and StarTek USA, Inc. hereby certifies that:
1.
The financial information of each Borrower and its Subsidiaries furnished to Lender pursuant to Section 6.1 of the Credit Agreement has been
prepared in accordance with GAAP (except for year-end adjustments and the lack of footnotes), and fairly presents in all material respects the financial
condition of each Borrower and its Subsidiaries.
2.
Such officer has reviewed the terms of the Credit Agreement and has made, or caused to be made under his/her supervision, a review in reasonable
detail of the transactions and condition of each Borrower and its Subsidiaries during the accounting period covered by the financial statements delivered
pursuant to Schedule 6.1 of the Credit Agreement.
3.
Such review has not disclosed the existence on and as of the date hereof, and the undersigned does not have knowledge of the existence as of the
date hereof, of any event or condition that constitutes a Default or Event of Default.

4.
The representations and warranties of each Borrower and its Subsidiaries set forth in the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents are true
and correct in all material respects on and as of the date hereof (except to the extent they relate to a specified date).
5.
Each Borrower and its Subsidiaries are in compliance with the applicable covenants contained in Section 8 of the Credit Agreement as
demonstrated on Schedule 1 hereof.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Compliance Certificate is executed by the undersigned this

day of

, 201 .

STARTEK, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:

Chief Financial Officer

STARTEK USA, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:

Chief Financial Officer
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SCHEDULE 1 TO COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE
Financial Covenants
1.

Minimum Adjusted EBITDA.

Borrowers’ and their Subsidiaries’ Adjusted EBITDA, measured on a month-end basis, for the [ ] month period ending
is $
, which [does/does not] satisfy the minimum Adjusted EBITDA requirement set forth in Section 8 of the Credit Agreement for the
corresponding period.
2.

, 2012

Non-Financed Capital Expenditures.

Borrowers’ and their Subsidiaries Capital Expenditures for fiscal year 2012 were $
as of last day of the month of
, 2012, which [is/is not] an amount less than or equal to, but not greater than, the amount set forth in Section 8 of the Credit Agreement for the
corresponding period.
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EXHIBIT B
TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT
THE OBLIGATION OF LENDER TO MAKE ITS INITIAL EXTENSION OF CREDIT PROVIDED FOR IN THIS AGREEMENT IS SUBJECT
TO THE FULFILLMENT, TO THE SATISFACTION OF LENDER, OF EACH OF THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS PRECEDENT:
(a)

the Closing Date shall occur on or before February 29, 2012;

(b)
Lender shall have received an email or a letter duly executed by each Borrower authorizing Lender to file appropriate financing
statements in such office or offices as may be necessary or, in the opinion of Lender, desirable to perfect the security interests to be created by the Loan
Documents;
(c)
Lender shall have received evidence that appropriate financing statements have been duly filed in such office or offices as may be
necessary or, in the opinion of Lender, desirable to perfect Lender’s Liens in and to the Collateral, and Lender shall have received searches reflecting the
filing of all such financing statements;
(d)
Lender shall have received each of the following documents, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender, duly executed, and each
such document shall be in full force and effect:
(i)

this Agreement and the other Loan Documents (except as set forth on Exhibit C);

(ii)
a disbursement letter executed and delivered by each Borrower to Lender regarding the extensions of credit to be made
on the Closing Date, the form and substance of which is satisfactory to Lender,
(iii)

the Intercompany Subordination Agreement, and

(iv)
a letter, in form and substance satisfactory to Lender, from Existing Lender to Lender respecting the amount necessary to
repay in full all of the obligations of the Borrowers and their Subsidiaries owing to Existing Lender and obtain a release of all of the Liens existing in favor of
Existing Lender in and to the assets of Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries;
(e)
Lender shall have received a certificate from the Secretary of each Loan Party (i) attesting to the resolutions of such Loan Party’s
Board of Directors authorizing its execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents to which such Loan Party is a party,
(ii) authorizing specific officers of such Loan Party to execute the
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same, and (iii) attesting to the incumbency and signatures of such specific officers of such Loan Party;
(f)
Lender shall have received copies of each Loan Party’s Governing Documents, as amended, modified, or supplemented to the
Closing Date, certified as true, correct and complete by the Secretary of such Loan Party;
(g)
Lender shall have received a certificate of status with respect to each Loan Party, dated within 10 days of the Closing Date, such
certificate to be issued by the appropriate officer of the jurisdiction of organization of such Loan Party, which certificate shall indicate that such Loan Party is
in good standing in such jurisdiction;
(h)
Lender shall have received certificates of status with respect to Borrower StarTek USA, Inc., each dated within 30 days of the
Closing Date, such certificates to be issued by the appropriate officer of the jurisdictions (other than the jurisdiction of organization of such Loan Party) in
which its failure to be duly qualified or licensed would constitute a Material Adverse Change, which certificates shall indicate that Borrower StarTek
USA, Inc. is in good standing in such jurisdictions;
(i)
Lender shall have received certificates of insurance, together with the binders or endorsements thereto, as are required by
Section 6.6, the form and substance of which shall be satisfactory to Lender;
(j)

Lender shall have received an opinion of each Loan Party’s counsel in form and substance satisfactory to Lender;

(k)
Borrowers shall have Excess Availability plus cash in depositary accounts located in the United States of at least $10,000,000 after
giving effect to (i) the initial extensions of credit hereunder, and (ii) the payment of all fees and expenses required to be paid by Borrowers on the Closing
Date under this Agreement or the other Loan Documents;
(l)
Lender shall have completed its business, legal, and collateral due diligence, including (i) a collateral examination and review of
each Borrower’s and its Subsidiaries’ Books and verification of each Loan Party’s representations and warranties to Lender, the results of which must be
satisfactory to Lender, and (ii) an inspection of each of the locations where each Loan Party’s and its Subsidiaries’ Inventory is located, the results of which
must be satisfactory to Lender;
(m)
Lender shall have completed (i) Patriot Act searches, OFAC/PEP searches and customary individual background checks for each
Loan Party, and (ii) OFAC/PEP searches and customary individual background searches for each Borrower’s senior management and key principals, and each
other Loan Party, the results of which shall be satisfactory to Lender;
(n)

Lender shall have received a set of Projections of each Borrower for 2012;

(o)
Lender shall have received payment or reimbursement for all Lender Expenses incurred in connection with the transactions
evidenced by this Agreement;
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(p)
Lender shall have received a completed Standard Flood Hazard Determination Form issued by the Department of Homeland
Security Federal Emergency Management Agency with respect to each parcel of Real Property Collateral indicating whether or not such parcel is located in a
special flood hazard zone, together with an acceptable flood insurance policy, if required;
(q)
Each Loan Party and each of its Subsidiaries shall have received all licenses, approvals or evidence of other actions required by
any Governmental Authority in connection with the execution and delivery by such Loan Party or its Subsidiaries of the Loan Documents or with the
consummation of the transactions contemplated thereby; and
(r)
all other documents and legal matters in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall have been
delivered, executed, or recorded and shall be in form and substance satisfactory to Lender; and
(s)

Lender shall have received final credit approval for the Revolving Credit Facility and the transactions described in this Agreement.
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EXHIBIT C
TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
CONDITIONS SUBSEQUENT
THE FAILURE OF BORROWERS TO FULFILL, TO THE SATISFACTION OF LENDER, ANY OF THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS SUBSEQUENT
SHALL CONSTITUTE AN EVENT OF DEFAULT:
(a)
With 3 days of the Closing Date, Borrowers shall deliver to Lender the original promissory note related to the Revolving Credit
Facility, the original stock certificate #60 for 1,000 shares of StarTek USA, Inc. and the original assignment separate from certificate related to stock
certificate #60;
(b)

Within 7 days of the Closing Date, Borrowers shall provide Lender with Control Agreements for all open accounts with Existing

Lender;
(c)
Within 7 days of the Closing Date, Borrowers shall provide Lender with Exhibit B to that certain Multilateral Assistance, Cash
Management and Lending Agreement (“Confirmation of Intercompany Balances”) among Borrowers and their Affiliates dated as of January 1, 2011;
(d)
Within 7 days of the Closing Date, Borrowers shall provide Lender with a lender loss payee endorsement to Borrowers’
commercial property insurance policy in favor of Lender;
(e)
Within 15 days of the Closing Date, Lender shall have received certificates of status with respect to Borrower StarTek, Inc., each
dated within 30 days of the Closing Date, such certificates to be issued by the appropriate officer of the jurisdictions (other than the jurisdiction of
organization of such Loan Party) in which its failure to be duly qualified or licensed would constitute a Material Adverse Change, which certificates shall
indicate that Borrower StarTek, Inc. is in good standing in such jurisdictions;
(f)

Within 30 days of the Closing Date, Lender shall have received Collateral Access Agreements with respect to all locations leased

by any Borrower;
(g)
Within 30 days of the Closing Date, Lender shall have received fully-executed Mortgages (in recordable form) to the Real
Property Collateral described on Schedule R-1, and any Mortgages of record in favor of Existing Lender or any Person other than Lender shall be released;
and
(h)

Within 75 days of the Closing Date, Borrowers shall provide Lender with the Cash Management Documents.

IF BORROWERS FAIL TO FULFILL, TO THE SATISFACTION OF LENDER, ANY OF THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS SUBSEQUENT, ALL
ACCOUNTS AFFECTED BY SUCH FAILURE SHALL CEASE TO BE ELIGIBLE ACCOUNTS:
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(i)
Within 90 days of the Closing Date, Borrowers shall provide Lender with evidence that Parent (and not any of its Subsidiaries) is
invoicing all Account Debtors of Parent;
(j)
Within 90 days of the Closing Date, or within 120 days of the Closing Date with respect to T-Mobile USA, Inc. and [*], Borrowers
shall provide Lender with evidence that all Account Debtors of Parent are making payments to Parent’s Collection Account; provided that Lender, upon
Parent’s request and in its sole discretion, may extend this deadline up to 30 days with respect to any Account Debtor of Parent;
(k)
Within 120 days of the Closing Date, Borrowers shall provide Lender with evidence that all parties to Material Contracts (other
than Borrowers) have consented to have work performed by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries;
(l)
Within 180 days of the Closing Date, each of the UCC financing statements of GE Capital, Banc of America Leasing & Capital,
LLC, Dell Financial Services, L.P. and Cisco Systems Capital Corporation described on Schedule P-2 shall be amended by a filed UCC-3 amendment in form
and substance satisfactory to Lender in its Permitted Discretion; provided, however, that Borrowers shall provide Lender with a schedule of Indebtedness
related to such UCC financing statements on or before the Closing Date.
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EXHIBIT D
TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
5.1

Due Organization and Qualification; Subsidiaries.

(a)
Each Loan Party (i) is duly organized and existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization, (ii) is
qualified to do business in any jurisdiction where the failure to be so qualified could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change, and
(iii) has all requisite power and authority to own and operate its properties, to carry on its business as now conducted and as proposed to be conducted, to
enter into the Loan Documents to which it is a party and to carry out the transactions contemplated thereby.

(b)
Set forth on Schedule 5.1(b) to the Information Certificate is a complete and accurate description of the authorized capital Stock of
each Loan Party (other than Parent), by class, and, as of the Closing Date, a description of the number of shares of each such class that are issued and
outstanding. Other than as described on Schedule 5.1(b) to the Information Certificate, there are no subscriptions, options, warrants, or calls relating to any
shares of any Loan Party’s (other than Parent’s) capital Stock, including any right of conversion or exchange under any outstanding security or other
instrument. No Loan Party is subject to any obligation (contingent or otherwise) to repurchase or otherwise acquire or retire any shares of its capital Stock or
any security convertible into or exchangeable for any of its capital Stock.
(c)
Set forth on Schedule 5.1(c) to the Information Certificate (as such Schedule may be updated from time to time to reflect changes
resulting from transactions permitted under this Agreement), is a complete and accurate list of the Loan Parties’ direct and indirect Subsidiaries, showing:
(i) the number of shares of each class of common and preferred Stock authorized for each of such Subsidiaries, and (ii) the number and the percentage of the
outstanding shares of each such class owned directly or indirectly by each Loan Party. All of the outstanding capital Stock of each such Subsidiary has been
validly issued and is fully paid and non-assessable.
(d)
Except as set forth on Schedule 5.1(c) to the Information Certificate, there are no subscriptions, options, warrants, or calls relating
to any shares of any Loan Party’s Subsidiaries’ capital Stock, including any right of conversion or exchange under any outstanding security or other
instrument. No Loan Party’s Subsidiaries are subject to any obligation (contingent or otherwise) to repurchase or otherwise acquire or retire any shares of
such Loan Party’s Subsidiaries’ capital Stock or any security convertible into or exchangeable for any such capital Stock.
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5.2

Due Authorization; No Conflict.

(a)
As to each Loan Party, the execution, delivery, and performance by such Loan Party of the Loan Documents to which it is a party
have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of such Loan Party.
(b)
As to each Loan Party, the execution, delivery, and performance by such Loan Party of the Loan Documents to which it is a party
do not and will not (i) violate any material provision of federal, state, or local law or regulation applicable to any Loan Party or its Subsidiaries, the
Governing Documents of any Loan Party or its Subsidiaries, or any order, judgment, or decree of any court or other Governmental Authority binding on any
Loan Party or its Subsidiaries, (ii) conflict with, result in a breach of, or constitute (with due notice or lapse of time or both) a default under any Material
Contract of any Loan Party or its Subsidiaries except to the extent that any such conflict, breach or default could not individually or in the aggregate
reasonably be expected to cause a Material Adverse Change, (iii) result in or require the creation or imposition of any Lien of any nature whatsoever upon any
assets of any Loan Party, other than Permitted Liens, or (iv) require any approval of any Loan Party’s interest holders or any approval or consent of any
Person under any Material Contract of any Loan Party, other than consents or approvals that have been obtained and that are still in force and effect and
except, in the case of Material Contracts, for consents or approvals, the failure to obtain could not individually or in the aggregate reasonably be expected to
cause a Material Adverse Change.
5.3
Governmental and Other Consents. No consent, approval, authorization, or other order or other action by, and no notice to or filing with,
any Governmental Authority or any other Person is required (i) for the grant of a Security Interest by such Loan Party in and to the Collateral pursuant to this
Agreement or for the execution, delivery, or performance of this Agreement by such Loan Party, or (ii) for the exercise by Lender of the voting or other rights
provided for in this Agreement with respect to the Investment Related Property or the remedies in respect of the Collateral pursuant to this Agreement, except
as may be required in connection with such disposition of Investment Related Property by laws affecting the offering and sale of securities generally. No
Intellectual Property License of any Loan Party that is necessary to the conduct of such Loan Party’s business requires any consent of any other Person in
order for such Loan Party to grant the security interest granted hereunder in such Loan Party’s right, title or interest in or to such Intellectual Property License.
5.4
Binding Obligations. Each Loan Document has been duly executed and delivered by each Loan Party that is a party thereto and is the
legally valid and binding obligation of such Loan Party, enforceable against such Loan Party in accordance with its respective terms, except as enforcement
may be limited by equitable principles or by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or similar laws relating to or limiting creditors’ rights
generally.
5.5
Title to Assets; No Encumbrances. Each of the Loan Parties and its Subsidiaries has (a) good, sufficient and legal title to (in the case of
fee interests in Real Property), (b) valid leasehold interests in (in the case of leasehold interests in real or personal property), and (c) good and marketable title
to (in the case of all other personal property), all of their respective assets reflected in their most recent financial statements delivered pursuant to Section 6.1
and most recent collateral reports delivered pursuant to Section 6.2, in each case
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except for assets disposed of since the date of such financial statements to the extent permitted hereby. All of such assets are free and clear of Liens except
for Permitted Liens.
5.6

Jurisdiction of Organization; Location of Chief Executive Office; Organizational Identification Number; Commercial Tort Claims.

(a)
The exact legal name of (within the meaning of Section 9-503 of the Code) and jurisdiction of organization of each Loan Party and
each of its Subsidiaries is set forth on Schedule 5.6(a) to the Information Certificate (as such Schedule may be updated from time to time to reflect changes
resulting from transactions permitted under this Agreement).
(b)
The chief executive office of each Loan Party and each of its Subsidiaries is located at the address indicated on Schedule 5.6(b) to
the Information Certificate (as such Schedule may be updated from time to time to reflect changes resulting from transactions permitted under this
Agreement).
(c)
Each Loan Party’s and each of its Subsidiaries’ tax identification numbers and organizational identification numbers, if any, are
identified on Schedule 5.6(c) to the Information Certificate (as such Schedule may be updated from time to time to reflect changes resulting from transactions
permitted under this Agreement).

(d)
As of the Closing Date, no Loan Party and no Subsidiary of a Loan Party holds any Commercial Tort Claims that exceed $25,000
in amount, except as set forth on Schedule 5.6(d) to the Information Certificate.
5.7

Litigation.

(a)
There are no actions, suits, or proceedings pending or, to the knowledge of any Loan Party, after due inquiry, threatened in writing
against a Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries that either individually or in the aggregate could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse
Change.
(b)
Schedule 5.7(b) to the Information Certificate sets forth a complete and accurate description, with respect to each of the actions,
suits, or proceedings with asserted liabilities in excess of, or that could reasonably be expected to result in liabilities in excess of, $250,000 that, as of the
Closing Date, is pending or, to the knowledge of any Loan Party, after due inquiry, threatened against a Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries, of (i) the parties
to such actions, suits, or proceedings, (ii) the nature of the dispute that is the subject of such actions, suits, or proceedings, (iii) the status, as of the Closing
Date, with respect to such actions, suits, or proceedings, and (iv) whether any liability of the Loan Parties’ and their Subsidiaries in connection with such
actions, suits, or proceedings is covered by insurance.
5.8
Compliance with Laws. No Loan Party nor any of its Subsidiaries (a) is in violation of any applicable laws, rules, regulations, executive
orders, or codes (including Environmental Laws) that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change,
or (b) is subject to or in default with respect to any final judgments, writs, injunctions, decrees, rules or regulations of any court or any federal, state,
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municipal or other governmental department, commission, board, bureau, agency or instrumentality, domestic or foreign, that, individually or in the
aggregate, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change.
5.9
No Material Adverse Change. All historical financial statements relating to the Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries that have been
delivered by Borrowers to Lender have been prepared in accordance with GAAP (except, in the case of unaudited financial statements, for the lack of
footnotes and being subject to year-end audit adjustments) and present fairly in all material respects, the Loan Parties’ and their Subsidiaries’ consolidated
financial condition as of the date thereof and results of operations for the period then ended. Since November 30, 2011, no event, circumstance, or change has
occurred that has or could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change with respect to the Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries.
5.10

Fraudulent Transfer.
(a)

Each Loan Party is Solvent.

(b)
No transfer of property is being made by any Loan Party and no obligation is being incurred by any Loan Party in connection with
the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the other Loan Documents with the intent to hinder, delay, or defraud either present or future creditors of
such Loan Party.
5.11

Employee Benefits. No Loan Party, none of their Subsidiaries, nor any of their ERISA Affiliates maintains or contributes to any Benefit

Plan.
5.12
Environmental Condition. Except as set forth on Schedule 5.12 to the Information Certificate, (a) to each Loan Party’s knowledge, no
Loan Party’s nor any of its Subsidiaries’ properties or assets have ever been used by a Loan Party, its Subsidiaries, or by previous owners or operators in the
disposal of, or to produce, store, handle, treat, release, or transport, any Hazardous Materials, where such disposal, production, storage, handling, treatment,
release or transport was in violation, in any material respect, of any applicable Environmental Law, (b) to each Loan Party’s knowledge, after due inquiry, no
Loan Party’s nor any of its Subsidiaries’ properties or assets have ever been designated or identified in any manner pursuant to any environmental protection
statute as a Hazardous Materials disposal site, (c) no Loan Party nor any of its Subsidiaries has received notice that a Lien arising under any Environmental
Law has attached to any revenues or to any Real Property owned or real property operated by a Loan Party or its Subsidiaries, and (d) no Loan Party nor any
of its Subsidiaries nor any of their respective facilities or operations is subject to any outstanding written order, consent decree, or settlement agreement with
any Person relating to any Environmental Law or Environmental Liability that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to result in a
Material Adverse Change.
5.13
Intellectual Property. Each Loan Party and its Subsidiaries own, or hold licenses in, all trademarks, trade names, copyrights, patents, and
licenses that are necessary to the conduct of its business as currently conducted.
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5.14
Leases. Each Loan Party and its Subsidiaries enjoy peaceful and undisturbed possession under all leases material to their business and to
which they are parties or under which they are operating, and, subject to Permitted Protests, all of such material leases are valid and subsisting and no material
default by the applicable Loan Party or its Subsidiaries exists under any of them.
5.15
Deposit Accounts and Securities Accounts. Set forth on Schedule 5.15 to the Information Certificate is a listing of all of the Loan
Parties’ and their Subsidiaries’ Deposit Accounts and Securities Accounts, including, with respect to each bank or securities intermediary (a) the name and
address of such Person, and (b) the account numbers of the Deposit Accounts or Securities Accounts maintained with such Person.
5.16
Complete Disclosure. All factual information taken as a whole (other than forward-looking information and projections and information
of a general economic nature and general information about each Borrower’s industry) furnished by or on behalf of a Loan Party or its Subsidiaries in writing
to Lender (including all information contained in the Schedules hereto or in the other Loan Documents) for purposes of or in connection with this Agreement
or the other Loan Documents, and all other such factual information taken as a whole (other than forward-looking information and projections and
information of a general economic nature and general information about such Borrower’s industry) hereafter furnished by or on behalf of a Loan Party or its

Subsidiaries in writing to Lender will be, true and accurate, in all material respects, on the date as of which such information is dated or certified and not
incomplete by omitting to state any fact necessary to make such information (taken as a whole) not misleading in any material respect at such time in light of
the circumstances under which such information was provided. The Projections delivered to Lender for the period December 31, 2012 represent, and as of
the date on which any other Projections are delivered to Lender, such additional Projections represent, each Borrower’s good faith estimate, on the date such
Projections are delivered, of the Loan Parties’ and their Subsidiaries’ future performance for the periods covered thereby based upon assumptions believed by
Borrowers to be reasonable at the time of the delivery thereof to Lender.
5.17
Material Contracts. Set forth on Schedule 5.17 to the Information Certificate (as such Schedule may be updated from time to time in
accordance herewith) is a reasonably detailed description of the Material Contracts of each Loan Party and its Subsidiaries as of the most recent date on which
Borrowers provided their Compliance Certificate pursuant to Section 6.1; provided, however, that any Borrower may amend Schedule 5.17 to the Information
Certificate to add additional Material Contracts so long as such amendment occurs by written notice to Lender on the date that such Borrower provides its
Compliance Certificate. Except for matters which, either individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse
Change, each Material Contract (other than those that have expired at the end of their normal terms) (a) is in full force and effect and is binding upon and
enforceable against the applicable Loan Party or its Subsidiary and, to such Borrower’s knowledge, after due inquiry, each other Person that is a party thereto
in accordance with its terms, (b) has not been otherwise amended or modified (other than amendments or modifications permitted by Section 7.7(b)), and
(c) is not in default due to the action or inaction of the applicable Loan Party or its Subsidiary.
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5.18
Patriot Act. To the extent applicable, each Loan Party is in compliance, in all material respects, with the (a) Trading with the Enemy Act,
as amended, and each of the foreign assets control regulations of the United States Treasury Department (31 CFR, Subtitle B, Chapter V, as amended) and any
other enabling legislation or executive order relating thereto, and (b) Uniting and Strengthening America by Providing Appropriate Tools Required to
Intercept and Obstruct Terrorism (USA Patriot Act of 2001) (the “Patriot Act”). No part of the proceeds of the loans made hereunder will be used by any
Loan Party or any of their Affiliates, directly or indirectly, for any payments to any governmental official or employee, political party, official of a political
party, candidate for political office, or anyone else acting in an official capacity, in order to obtain, retain or direct business or obtain any improper advantage,
in violation of the United States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended.
5.19
Indebtedness. Set forth on Schedule 5.19 to the Information Certificate is a true and complete list of all Indebtedness of each Loan Party
and each of its Subsidiaries outstanding immediately prior to the Closing Date that is to remain outstanding immediately after giving effect to the closing
hereunder on the Closing Date and such Schedule accurately sets forth the aggregate principal amount of such Indebtedness as of the Closing Date.
5.20
Payment of Taxes. Except as otherwise permitted under Section 6.5, all tax returns and reports of each Loan Party and its Subsidiaries
required to be filed by any of them have been timely filed, and all taxes shown on such tax returns to be due and payable and all assessments, fees and other
governmental charges upon a Loan Party and its Subsidiaries and upon their respective assets, income, businesses and franchises that are due and payable
have been paid when due and payable. Each Loan Party and each of its Subsidiaries have made adequate provision in accordance with GAAP for all taxes
not yet due and payable. No Borrower knows of any proposed tax assessment against a Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries that is not being actively
contested by such Loan Party or such Subsidiary diligently, in good faith, and by appropriate proceedings; provided such reserves or other appropriate
provisions, if any, as shall be required in conformity with GAAP shall have been made or provided therefor.
5.21
Margin Stock. No Loan Party nor any of its Subsidiaries is engaged principally, or as one of its important activities, in the business of
extending credit for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any Margin Stock. No part of the proceeds of the loans made to Borrowers will be used to
purchase or carry any such Margin Stock or to extend credit to others for the purpose of purchasing or carrying any such margin stock or for any purpose that
violates the provisions of Regulation T, U or X of the Board of Governors of the United States Federal Reserve.
5.22
Governmental Regulation. No Loan Party nor any of its Subsidiaries is subject to regulation under the Federal Power Act or the
Investment Company Act of 1940 or under any other federal or state statute or regulation which may limit its ability to incur Indebtedness or which may
otherwise render all or any portion of the Obligations unenforceable. No Loan Party nor any of its Subsidiaries is a “registered investment company” or a
company “controlled” by a “registered investment company” or a “principal underwriter” of a “registered investment company” as such terms are defined in
the Investment Company Act of 1940.
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5.23
OFAC. No Loan Party nor any of its Subsidiaries is in violation of any of the country or list based economic and trade sanctions
administered and enforced by OFAC. No Loan Party nor any of its Subsidiaries (a) is a Sanctioned Person or a Sanctioned Entity, (b) has its assets located in
Sanctioned Entities, or (c) derives revenues from investments in, or transactions with Sanctioned Persons or Sanctioned Entities. No proceeds of any loan
made hereunder will be used to fund any operations in, finance any investments or activities in, or make any payments to, a Sanctioned Person or a
Sanctioned Entity.
5.24
Employee and Labor Matters. There is (a) no unfair labor practice complaint pending or, to the knowledge of Borrowers, threatened
against any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries before any Governmental Authority and no grievance or arbitration proceeding pending or threatened against
any Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries which arises out of or under any collective bargaining agreement and that could reasonably be expected to result in a
material liability, (b) no strike, labor dispute, slowdown, stoppage or similar action or grievance pending or threatened in writing against any Loan Party or
any of its Subsidiaries that could reasonably be expected to result in a material liability, or (c) to the knowledge of Borrowers, after due inquiry, no union
representation question existing with respect to the employees of any Loan Party or its Subsidiaries and no union organizing activity taking place with respect
to any of the employees of any Loan Party or its Subsidiaries. No Loan Party or any of its Subsidiaries has incurred any liability or obligation under the
Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act or similar state law, which remains unpaid or unsatisfied. The hours worked and payments made to
employees of Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries have not been in violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act or any other applicable legal requirements, except
to the extent such violations could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change. All material
payments due from any Loan Party or its Subsidiaries on account of wages and employee health and welfare insurance and other benefits have been paid or
accrued as a liability on the books of such Loan Party, except where the failure to do so could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to
result in a Material Adverse Change.

5.25

Reserved.

5.26

Collateral.

(a)
of the Closing Date.

Real Property. Schedule 5.26(a) to the Information Certificate sets forth all Real Property owned by any of the Loan Parties as

(b)
Intellectual Property. (i) As of the Closing Date, Schedule 5.26(b) to the Information Certificate provides a complete and
correct list of: (A) all registered Copyrights owned by any Loan Party, all applications for registration of Copyrights owned by any Loan Party, and all other
Copyrights owned by any Loan Party and material to the conduct of the business of any Loan Party; (B) all Intellectual Property Licenses entered into by any
Loan Party pursuant to which (x) any Loan Party has provided any license or other rights in Intellectual Property owned or controlled by such Loan Party to
any other Person or (y) any Person has granted to any Loan Party any license or other rights in Intellectual Property owned or controlled by such Person that
is material to the business of such Loan Party, including any Intellectual
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Property that is incorporated in any Inventory, software, or other product marketed, sold, licensed, or distributed by such Loan Party; (C) all Patents owned by
any Loan Party and all applications for Patents owned by any Loan Party; and (D) all registered Trademarks owned by any Loan Party, all applications for
registration of Trademarks owned by any Loan Party, and all other Trademarks owned by any Loan Party and material to the conduct of the business of any
Loan Party.
(ii)
All employees and contractors of each Loan Party who were involved in the creation or development of any Intellectual
Property for such Loan Party that is necessary to the business of such Loan Party have signed agreements containing assignment of Intellectual Property
rights to such Loan Party and obligations of confidentiality, except to the extent that failure to do so could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material
Adverse Change;
(iii)
To each Loan Party’s knowledge after reasonable inquiry, no Person has infringed or misappropriated or is currently
infringing or misappropriating any Intellectual Property rights owned by such Loan Party, in each case, that either individually or in the aggregate could
reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Change;
(iv)
To each Loan Party’s knowledge after reasonable inquiry, all registered Copyrights, registered Trademarks, and issued
Patents that are owned by such Loan Party and necessary in the conduct of its business are valid, subsisting and enforceable and in compliance with all legal
requirements, filings, and payments and other actions that are required to maintain such Intellectual Property in full force and effect; and
(v)
Each Loan Party has taken reasonable steps to maintain the confidentiality of and otherwise protect and enforce its rights
in all trade secrets owned by such Loan Party that are necessary in the business of such Loan Party.
(c)
Valid Security Interest. This Agreement creates a valid security interest in the Collateral of each Loan Party, to the extent a
security interest therein can be created under the Code, securing the payment of the Obligations. Except to the extent a security interest in the Collateral
cannot be perfected by the filing of a financing statement under the Code, all filings and other actions necessary or desirable to perfect and protect such
security interest have been duly taken or will have been taken upon the filing of financing statements listing each applicable Loan Party, as a debtor, and
Lender for itself and as agent for the Bank Product Providers, as secured party, in the jurisdictions listed next to such Loan Party’s name on Schedule 5.6(a) to
the Information Certificate. Upon the making of such filings, Lender shall have a first priority perfected security interest in the Collateral of each Loan Party
to the extent such security interest can be perfected by the filing of a financing statement, subject to Permitted Liens which are purchase money Liens. Upon
filing of the Copyright Security Agreement with the United States Copyright Office, filing of the Patent and Trademark Security Agreement with the PTO,
and the filing of appropriate financing statements in the jurisdictions listed on Schedule 5.6(a) to the Information Certificate, all action necessary or desirable
to protect and perfect the Security Interest in, to and on each Loan Party’s Patents, Trademarks, or Copyrights has been taken and such perfected Security
Interest is enforceable as such as against any and all creditors of and
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purchasers from any Loan Party. All action by any Loan Party necessary to protect and perfect such security interest on each item of Collateral has been duly
taken.
(d)
Pledged Interests. (i) Except for the Security Interest created hereby, each Loan Party is and will at all times be the sole holder of
record and the legal and beneficial owner, free and clear of all Liens other than Permitted Liens, of the Pledged Interests owned by such Loan Party and, when
acquired by such Loan Party, any Pledged Interests acquired after the Closing Date; (ii) all of the Pledged Interests are duly authorized, validly issued, fully
paid and non-assessable and the Pledged Interests constitute or will constitute the percentage of the issued and outstanding Stock of the Pledged Companies of
such Loan Party, as supplemented or modified by any Pledged Interests Addendum or any Joinder to this Agreement; (iii) such Loan Party has the right and
requisite authority to pledge, the Investment Related Property pledged by such Loan Party to Lender as provided herein; (iv) all actions necessary or desirable
to perfect and establish the first priority of, or otherwise protect, Lender’s Liens in the Investment Related Property, and the proceeds thereof, have been duly
taken, upon (A) the execution and delivery of this Agreement; (B) the taking of possession by Lender (or its Lender or designee) of any certificates
representing the Pledged Interests, together with undated powers (or other documents of transfer acceptable to Lender) endorsed in blank by the applicable
Loan Party; (C) the filing of financing statements in the applicable jurisdiction set forth on Schedule 5.6(a) to the Information Certificate for such Loan Party
with respect to the Pledged Interests of such Loan Party that are not represented by certificates, and (D) with respect to any Securities Accounts, the delivery
of Control Agreements with respect thereto; and (v) each Loan Party has delivered to and deposited with Lender all certificates representing the Pledged
Interests owned by such Loan Party to the extent such Pledged Interests are represented by certificates, and undated powers (or other documents of transfer
acceptable to Lender) endorsed in blank with respect to such certificates. None of the Pledged Interests owned or held by such Loan Party has been issued or
transferred in violation of any securities registration, securities disclosure, or similar laws of any jurisdiction to which such issuance or transfer may be
subject. As to all limited liability company or partnership interests, issued under any Pledged Operating Agreement or Pledged Partnership Agreement, each
Borrower hereby represents and warrants that the Pledged Interests issued pursuant to such agreement (A) are not dealt in or traded on securities exchanges or
in securities markets, (B) do not constitute investment company securities, and (C) are not held by such Loan Party in a securities account. In addition, none

of the Pledged Operating Agreements, the Pledged Partnership Agreements, or any other agreements governing any of the Pledged Interests issued under any
Pledged Operating Agreement or Pledged Partnership Agreement, provide that such Pledged Interests are securities governed by Section 8 of the Uniform
Commercial Code as in effect in any relevant jurisdiction.
5.27
Eligible Accounts. As to each Account that is identified by a Borrower as an Eligible Account in a Borrowing Base Certificate submitted
to Lender, such Account is (a) a bona fide existing payment obligation of the applicable Account Debtor created by the sale and delivery of Inventory or the
rendition of services to such Account Debtor in the ordinary course of such Borrower’s business, (b) owed to such Borrower, and (c) not excluded as
ineligible by virtue of one or more of the excluding criteria (other than Lender-discretionary criteria) set forth in the definition of Eligible Accounts.
5.28

Reserved.
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5.29
Locations of Inventory and Equipment. The Inventory and Equipment (other than vehicles or Equipment out for repair) of the Loan
Parties and their Subsidiaries are not stored with a bailee, warehouseman, or similar party and are located only at, or in-transit between or to, the locations
identified on Schedule 5.29 to the Information Certificate (as such Schedule may be updated pursuant to Section 6.14).
5.30
Inventory Records. Each Loan Party keeps correct and accurate records itemizing and describing the type, quality, and quantity of its and
its Subsidiaries’ Inventory and the book value thereof.
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EXHIBIT E
TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
INFORMATION CERTIFICATE
OF
STARTEK, INC. AND STARTEK USA, INC.

Dated: February 28, 2012
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association
MAC 7300-210
1740 Broadway
Denver, CO 80274
In connection with certain financing provided or to be provided by Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (“Lender”), each of the undersigned Borrowers
(each a “Loan Party”) represents and warrants to Lender the following information about each Loan Party (capitalized terms not specifically defined shall
have the meaning set forth in the Agreement):
1.

Attached as Schedule 5.1(b) is a complete and accurate description of (i) the authorized capital Stock of each Loan Party and its Subsidiaries, by
class, and (A) in the case of each Loan Party (other than the Parent) and its subsidiaries, the number of shares issued and outstanding and the names
of the owners thereof (including stockholders, members and partners) and their holdings, or (B) in the case of the Parent, the names of the owners
and the number of shares held by Persons owning more than 5% of the issued and outstanding shares, all as of the date of this Agreement, (ii) all
subscriptions, options, warrants or calls relating to any shares of any Loan Party’s (other than the Parent) or its Subsidiaries’ capital Stock, including
any right of conversion or exchange; (iii) each stockholders’ agreement, restrictive agreement, voting agreement or similar agreement relating to any
such capital Stock; and (iv) and organization chart of each Loan Party and all Subsidiaries.

2.

Each Loan Party is affiliated with, or has ownership in, the entities (including Subsidiaries) set forth on Schedule 5.1(c).

3.

The Loan Parties use the following trade name(s) in the operation of their business (e.g. billing, advertising, etc.):
None.

4.

Each of the Loan Parties is a registered organization of the following type:
Corporation
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5.

The exact legal name (within the meaning of Section 9-503 of the Code) of each Loan Party as set forth in its respective certificate of incorporation,
organization or formation, or other public organic document, as amended to date is set forth in Schedule 5.5(a).

6.

Each Loan Party is organized solely under the laws of the State set forth on Schedule 5.6(a). Each Loan Party is in good standing under those laws
and no Loan Party is organized in any other State.

7.

The chief executive office and mailing address of each Loan Party is located at the address set forth on Schedule 5.6(b) hereto.

8.

The books and records of each Loan Party pertaining to Accounts, contract rights, Inventory, and other assets are located at the addresses specified
on Schedule 5.6(b).

9.

The identity and Federal Employer Identification Number of each Loan Party and organizational identification number, if any, is set forth on
Schedule 5.6(c). (Please Use Form Attached)

10.

No Loan Party has any Commercial Tort Claims, except as set forth on Schedule 5.6(d).

11.

There are no judgments, actions, suits, proceedings or other litigation pending by or against or threatened by or against any Loan Party, any of its
Subsidiaries and/or Affiliates or any of its officers or principals, except as set forth on Schedule 5.7(b).

12.

Since its date of organization, the name as set forth in each Loan Party’s organizational documentation filed of record with the applicable state
authority has been changed as follows:
Date

July 17, 1987
November 17, 1997
13.

Prior Name

StarPak, Inc.
StarTek USA, Inc.

Since the dates of their respective organization, the Loan Parties have made or entered into the following mergers or acquisitions:
StarTek USA, Inc.: StarPak International Corp., a Colorado corporation, merged into StarPak Inc., a Colorado corporation, on July 1, 1992.

14.

Each Loan Party’s assets are owned and held free and clear of Liens, mortgages, pledges, security interests, encumbrances or charges except as set
forth below:
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Debtor: StarTek USA, Inc.
Name and Address
of Secured Party

UMB Bank Colorado, N.A.
1670 Broadway
Denver, CO 80202
US Bancorp
1310 Madrid Street
Marshall, MN 56258
U.S. Bancorp Business
Equipment Finance Group
1310 Madrid Street
Marshall, MN 56258
Wells Fargo Bank, National Association
1740 Broadway
MAC: C7300-210
Denver, CO 80274
UMB Bank Colorado, N.A.
1670 Broadway
Denver, CO 80202

File No. of Financing
Statement/Jurisdiction

Description of Collateral

All accounts and general intangibles

Colorado
2009F057604

For informational purposes only: 1 C452
AOP2011000343
[Printer]
For informational purposes only: 1 C452
AOP2011005855
[Printer]

Colorado
2009F095185

All Assets

Colorado
20122001462

All accounts and general intangibles.

Delaware
92161369

Colorado
2010F079442

Debtor: StarTek, Inc.
Name and Address
of Secured Party

Wells Fargo Bank, National Association
1740 Broadway
MAC: C7300-210
Denver, CO 80274
GE Capital
P.O. Box 740423
Atlanta, GA 30374
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC
P.O. Box 7023
Troy, MI 48007-7023
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC
P.O. Box 7023
Troy, MI 48007-7023
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC
P.O. Box 7023
Troy, MI 48007-7023

File No. of Financing
Statement/Jurisdiction

Description of Collateral

All Assets

Delaware
20231011

Equipment

Delaware
22283715
71433449 Continuation
Delaware
73151882

Equipment
Equipment

Delaware
73339578

Equipment

Delaware
73512943
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Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC
P.O. Box 7023
Troy, MI 48007-7023
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC
P.O. Box 7023
Troy, MI 48007-7023
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC
P.O. Box 7023
Troy, MI 48007-7023
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC
P.O. Box 7023
Troy, MI 48007-7023
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC
P.O. Box 7023
Troy, MI 48007-7023
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC
P.O. Box 7023
Troy, MI 48007-7023
Leaf Funding Inc.
1818 Market St., 9th Floor
Philadelphia, PA 19103
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC
P.O. Box 7023
Troy, MI 48007-7023
AT&T Capital Services, Inc.
2000 W. AT&T Center Dr.
Hoffman Estates, IL 60192
AT&T Capital Services, Inc.
2000 W. AT&T Center Dr.
Hoffman Estates, IL 60192
AT&T Capital Services, Inc.
2000 W. AT&T Center Dr.
Hoffman Estates, IL 60192
Bank of America Leasing & Capital, LLC
P.O. Box 7023
Troy, MI 48007-7023
Bank of America Leasing & Capital, LLC
P.O. Box 7023
Troy, MI 48007-7023

Equipment

Delaware
73568663

Equipment

Delaware
73676813

Equipment

Delaware
73794624

Equipment

Delaware
73824215

Equipment

Delaware
74227699

Equipment

Delaware
74417589

Equipment

Delaware
74430525
80436798 Amendment
80472355 Assignment
80472967 Assignment
80558021 Assignment

Equipment

Delaware
74490834

Equipment

Delaware
74490842

Equipment

Delaware
74490875

Equipment

Delaware
74514872

Equipment

Delaware
74573621
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Dell Financial Services, L.P.
12234 N. IH-35 Bldg. B
Austin, TX 78753
AT&T Capital Services, Inc.
2000 W. AT&T Center Dr.
Hoffman Estates, IL 60192
AT&T Capital Services, Inc.
2000 W. AT&T Center Dr.
Hoffman Estates, IL 60192
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC
P.O. Box 7023
Troy, MI 48007-7023
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC
P.O. Box 7023
Troy, MI 48007-7023
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC
P.O. Box 7023
Troy, MI 48007-7023
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC
P.O. Box 7023
Troy, MI 48007-7023
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC
P.O. Box 7023
Troy, MI 48007-7023
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC
P.O. Box 7023
Troy, MI 48007-7023
Banc of America Leasing & Capital, LLC
P.O. Box 7023
Troy, MI 48007-7023

Equipment

Delaware
80799468

Equipment

Delaware
80938264

Equipment

Delaware
80938306

Equipment

Delaware
80990125

Equipment

Delaware
81068442

Equipment

Delaware
81090552

Equipment

Delaware
81976982

Equipment

Delaware
82092979

Equipment

Delaware
82365102

Equipment

Delaware
82593562

AT&T Capital Services, Inc.
2000 W. AT&T Center Dr.
Hoffman Estates, IL 60192
AT&T Capital Services, Inc.
2000 W. AT&T Center Dr.
Hoffman Estates, IL 60192
Cisco Systems Capital Corporation
170 W. Tasman Dr., MS SJ13-3
San Jose, CA 95134
UMB Bank Colorado, N.A.
1670 Broadway
Denver, CO 80202

Equipment

Delaware
82966065

Equipment

Delaware
82966123

Equipment

Delaware
90133675

All accounts and general intangibles.

Delaware
92161369
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Bank of America Leasing & Capital, LLC
231 South LaSalle St., 8th Fl.
Chicago, IL 60697

Equipment

Delaware
03336553

15.

Each Loan Party has been and remains in compliance with all environmental laws applicable to its business or operations except as set forth on
Schedule 5.12.

16.

The Loan Parties do not have any Deposit Accounts, investment accounts, Securities Accounts or similar accounts with any bank, securities
intermediary or other financial institution, except as set forth on Schedule 5.15 for the purposes and of the types indicated therein.

17.

No Loan Party is a party to or bound by a collective bargaining or similar agreement with any union, labor organization or other bargaining agent
except as set forth below(indicate date of agreement, parties to agreement, description of employees covered, and date of termination)
None.

18.

Set forth on Schedule 5.17 is a reasonably detailed description of each Material Contract of each Loan Party and its Subsidiaries as of the date of the
Agreement.

19.

Set forth on Schedule 5.19 is a true and complete list of all Indebtedness of each Loan Party and its Subsidiaries outstanding immediately prior to the
Closing Date.

20.

No Loan Party has made any loans or advances or guaranteed or otherwise become liable for the obligations of any others, except as set forth below:
None.

21.

No Loan Party has any Chattel Paper (whether tangible or electronic) or instruments as of the date hereof, except as follows:
None.

22.

No Loan Party owns or licenses any Trademarks, Patents, Copyrights or other Intellectual Property, and is not a party to any Intellectual Property
License except as set forth on Schedule 5.26 (indicate type of Intellectual Property and whether owned or licensed, registration number, date of
registration, and, if licensed, the name and address of the licensor), and there are no restrictions in any Intellectual Property License to the
agreements contained in the Agreement other than as set forth in Schedule 5.3.

23.

Schedule 5.26(a) sets forth all Real Property owned by each Loan Party.
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24.

Schedule 5.26(d) sets forth all motor vehicles owned by each Borrower and other Loan Party as of the Closing date, by model, model year and
vehicle identification number.

25.

The Inventory, Equipment and other goods of each Loan Party are located only at the locations set forth on Schedule 5.29.

26.

At the present time, there are no delinquent taxes due (including, but not limited to, all payroll taxes, personal property taxes, real estate taxes or
income taxes) except as follows:
None.

27.

Schedule 7.15 lists consignments, bill and hold, sale or return, sale on approval or conditional sale arrangements.

28.

Schedule 7.16 lists inventory with a bailee, warehouseman or processor.
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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Lender shall be entitled to rely upon the foregoing in all respects and the undersigned is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Information Certificate on
behalf of each Loan Party.
Very truly yours,
STARTEK, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Dave M. Gomez
Dave M. Gomez
SVP & General Counsel

STARTEK USA, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Dave M. Gomez
Dave M. Gomez
SVP & General Counsel
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Schedule 5.1(b)
TO INFORMATION CERTIFICATE
Capitalization of Loan Parties
and Subsidiaries
Beneficial Ownership of StarTek, Inc. as of September 30, 2011 — Greater than 5% holders
Beneficial
Ownership of Shares
Number of
Shares
Percentage

Name of Beneficial Owner

A. Emmet Stephenson, Jr.(1)
T. Rowe Price Associates
Heartland Advisors, Inc.
Dimensional Fund Advisors LP

3,897,127
1,626,368
1,500,000
958,386

25.54%
10.66%
9.83%
6.28%

(1) Mr. Stephenson co-founded StarTek in 1987 and served as the Chairman of the Board until 2006.
Beneficial Ownership of StarTek USA, Inc.
Beneficial
Ownership of Shares
Number of
Shares
Percentage

Name of Beneficial Owner

StarTek, Inc.

1,000

100%
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Loan Party

StarTek, Inc.
StarTek USA, Inc.
StarTek Canada
Services, Ltd.
StarTek Honduras,
SAdeCV
StarTek International,
Limited
StarTek

Authorized
Shares

32,000,000
authorized shares
5,000,000 authorized
shares; 1,000 issued
shares
No limit on
authorization; 1000
issued shares
250 authorized
shares
12,000 authorized
shares; 12,000 issued
shares

Type of Rights/Stock
(common/preferred/option/
class)

Number of
Shares (after
exercise of
all rights to
acquire
shares)

Percent
Interest
(on a
fully
diluted
basis)

See chart above.

Common Stock

n/a

n/a

StarTek, Inc.

Common Stock

StarTek, Inc.

Common Stock

StarTek, Inc.

Common Stock

StarTek, Inc.

Common Stock

StarTek, Inc.

Common Stock

Holder

Philippines, Inc.
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Organizational Chart
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Schedule 5.1(c)
TO INFORMATION CERTIFICATE
Subsidiaries; Affiliates; Investments
Part 1 - Subsidiaries (More than 50% owned by a Loan Party)
Jurisdiction of
Organization

Name

StarTek Philippines, Inc.
StarTek USA, Inc.
StarTek Canada Services, Ltd.
StarTek International, Limited (Includes StarTek Philippines and StarTek
Costa Rica Branches)
StarTek Honduras, SAdeCV
StarTek Philippines, Inc.

Percentage Owned

Philippines
Colorado
Saskatchewan
Bermuda

100%*
100%*
100%*
100%*

Honduras
(Branch)

100%*
100%*

* All subsidiaries are 100% owned other than nominal interests held by employees in order to satisfy the requirements of local jurisdictions of the Philippines
and Honduras.
Part 2 - Affiliates (Less than 50% Owned by a Loan Party)
Name

Jurisdiction of
Organization

Percentage Owned

None.
Part 3 - Affiliates (Subject to common ownership with a Loan Party)
Name

Jurisdiction of
Organization

Parent

Percentage Owned

None.
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Part 4 - Shareholders (If widely held, only holders with more than 10%)
Name

Jurisdiction of
Organization *

See 5.1(b).
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Percentage Owned

Schedule 5.3
TO INFORMATION CERTIFICATE
Governmental and Other Consents
None.
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Schedule 5.5(a)
TO INFORMATION CERTIFICATE
Exact Legal Name
StarTek, Inc.
StarTek USA, Inc.
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Schedule 5.6(a)
TO INFORMATION CERTIFICATE
Jurisdiction of Organization
Jurisdiction of
Organization *

Name

StarTek, Inc.
StarTek USA, Inc.

Delaware
Colorado

* If shareholders are individuals, indicate “N/A”
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Schedule 5.6(b)
TO INFORMATION CERTIFICATE
Locations
Part 1 - Chief Executive Office for StarTek, Inc. and StarTek USA, Inc.
44 Cook Street
Suite 400
Denver, CO 80206
303-262-4500
Part 2 - Location of Books and Records
44 Cook Street
Suite 400
Denver, CO 80206
303-262-4500
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Schedule 5.6(c)
TO INFORMATION CERTIFICATE
Federal Employer Identification Number
StarTek, Inc.: [*]
StarTek USA, Inc.: [*]

Organizational Identification Number
(Please Use Form Attached For Tax Identification Number)
Organizational Identification
Number

Name

StarTek, Inc.
StarTek USA, Inc.

[*]
[*]
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Wells Fargo Capital Finance
Identity Verification and Investigation Consent Form
Key Parties— (Individuals and Non-individuals)
As part of its Know Your Customer Policy requirements, Wells Fargo requires its businesses to perform due diligence with regard to key individuals
associated with new or existing borrowers. Key individuals may be a person or non-person (e.g. a corporation or partnership) and are generally defined as:
guarantors, shareholders or partners owning 25% or more of the borrower; authorized signers per a borrowing resolution, partnership authorization, or
certificate of incumbency; key officers such as the Chairman, CEO, and CFO; and other individuals reasonably identified as such by Wells Fargo.
Due diligence always includes verification of the key individual’s identity and a public records background investigation.
Due diligence may also include a consumer credit records investigation if so authorized in writing by the individual on the bottom half of this form.
The information and consents requested herein are required as part of the due diligence process.
Required Information
Full Name:

Tax Id# or Social Security#:

Maiden/Former/Alias Names and Dates Used (20 Years):

Previous Address (if at current less than 5 years.):
Street and Unit #

Date of Birth:
City
Current Address:
State

Zip

Street and Unit #
City
Identity Verification and Investigation Consent Form - 1

State

Zip

I hereby certify that the information set forth above is true and correct and I understand it will be used to verify my identity and initiate a background records
investigation. You may also obtain information from or share information with subsidiaries and affiliates of Wells Fargo & Company as well as discuss any
information which you may receive in connection with such inquiries into my business, personal, financial and law enforcement (to include conviction and
probation records) background with senior officers and the board of directors of the Company, without further notice to or consent from me.
Date:
(Signature)
Consent to Obtaining Consumer Credit Reports and Other Information (Individuals only)
In connection with your review of any request for business credit now or hereafter made by Wells Fargo Capital Finance and/or any of its affiliates, I
hereby authorize you to check my credit history and to obtain credit consumer reports from credit reporting agencies. As part of this authorization, you
may contact my creditors, and I hereby authorize any creditor so contacted to release to you such credit information as you may request.
I hereby certify that the information set forth above is true and correct. This Consent shall remain in effect until revoked in writing delivered to you at
the above address.
Date:
(Signature)

[Informational only; not applicable for public company loan]
Identity Verification and Investigation Consent Form - 2

Additional Information
Additional residential properties in the prior 20 years (City, State, Zip and Dates Owned).
Previous Address 1:

Previous Address 4:

City

City

State
Zip

State
Zip

Dates Occupied
Previous Address 2:

Dates Occupied
Previous Address 5:

City

City

State
Zip

State
Zip

Dates Occupied
Previous Address 3:

Dates Occupied
Previous Address 6:

City

City

State
Zip

State
Zip
Additional Information - 1

Dates Occupied

Dates Occupied
Additional Information - 2

Schedule 5.6(d)
TO INFORMATION CERTIFICATE
Commercial Tort Claims
None.
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Schedule 5.7(b)
TO INFORMATION CERTIFICATE
Judgments/ Pending Litigation

1.

Erin Miller and Jill Miller et al v. StarTek Services, Inc., Civil Action No. 11-CV-00017-REB-CBS, United States District Court for the District of
Colorado.
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Schedule 5.12
TO INFORMATION CERTIFICATE
Environmental Compliance
None.
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Schedule 5.15
TO INFORMATION CERTIFICATE
Deposit Accounts; Investment Accounts
Part 1 - Deposit Accounts
Name and Address of Bank

Account No.

UMB Bank Colorado, N.A.

Purpose*

[*]

StarTek USA, Inc. Operating Account

Part 2 - Investment and Other Accounts
None.
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Schedule 5.17
TO INFORMATION CERTIFICATE
Material Contracts
[*]
T-Mobile:
MSA (includes 5 SOW’s as Exhibits B-1 - B-5)
Amendment #1 to MSA
AT&T:
20070105.006.C (MSA)
[*]
VENDOR CONTRACTS:
[*]
Schedule 5.19
TO INFORMATION CERTIFICATE
Existing Indebtedness
Part 1 - Direct Debt

Name/Address of Payee

UMB Bank Colorado, N.A.
UMB Bank Colorado, N.A.
UMB Bank Colorado, N.A.
UMB Bank Colorado, N.A.

Balance Due

$0 due on a maximum of
$1,062,057.41
$0 due on a maximum of
$5,771,688.58
$0 due on a maximum of
$2,376,200.00
$0 due on a maximum of
$2,656,160.91

Original
Termination
Date

Nature of Debt

Mortgage — 407 S. 2nd Street

n/a

Deed of Trust — 244 Dundee Avenue

n/a

Mortgage — 116 E Randolph Enid OK

n/a

Deed of Trust — 1250 H Street

n/a

GE
GE

$130 / month
$197.22 / month

Lease
Lease

4/9/2011
9/8/2011
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Name/Address of Payee

Bank of America
Bank of America
Bank of America
Bank of America
Bank of America
Bank of America
Bank of America
Bank of America
Bank of America
Bank of America
Bank of America
Bank of America
Bank of America
Bank of America
Bank of America
Bank of America
Bank of America
Bank of America
Bank of America
Bank of America
Cisco Systems Capital Corporation

Balance Due

$590.43 / month
Included above
$272.48 / month
$601.64 / month
Included above
$265.84 / month
$351.84 / month
Included above
$140.55 / month
$359.11 / month
$291.89 / month
$284.62 / month
$773.56 / month
Included above
Included above
$486.80 / month
Included above
$598.34 / month
Included above
$192.63 / month
$2,031.15 / month

Original
Termination
Date

Nature of Debt

Lease
Lease
Lease
Lease
Lease
Lease
Lease
Lease
Lease
Lease
Lease
Lease
Lease
Lease
Lease
Lease
Lease
Lease
Lease
Lease
Lease

11/15/2011
11/15/2011
11/15/2011
1/15/2012
1/15/2012
12/15/2011
10/15/2011
10/15/2011
10/15/2011
12/15/2011
4/15/2012
7/15/2012
4/15/2012
4/15/2012
4/15/2012
7/15/2012
7/15/2012
8/15/2012
8/15/2012
8/15/2012
12/17/2011

Part 2 - Guarantees
None.
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Schedule 5.26
TO INFORMATION CERTIFICATE
Intellectual Property
Part 1 — Trademarks Owned
Registration
Number

Trademark

Part 2 — Trademarks Licensed
None.
Part 3 — Patents Owned
None.
Part 4 — Patents Licensed

Registration
Date

3960367

May 17, 2011

3960366

May 17, 2011

2147580

March 31, 1998

2174590

July 21, 1998

None.
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Part 5 — Copyrights Owned
None.
Part 6 — Copyrights Licensed
None.
Part 7 — Other License Agreements
None.
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Schedule 5.26(a)
TO INFORMATION CERTIFICATE
Owned Real Estate
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

116 E. Randolph Ave, Jonesboro [owned by StarTek USA, Inc.]
407 2nd Street, Laramie, WY 82070 [owned by StarTek USA, Inc.]
244 Dundee Ave, Greeley [owned by StarTek, Inc.]
1250 H Street, Greeley [owned by StarTek, Inc.]
100 Innovation Drive, Kingston, ON K7K7E7 [owned by StarTek Canada Services Ltd.]
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Schedule 5.26(d)
TO INFORMATION CERTIFICATE
Motor Vehicles
None.
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Schedule 5.29
TO INFORMATION CERTIFICATE
Locations of Inventory and Equipment
Locations of Inventory, Equipment and Other Assets
Decatur, IL
1505 West King Street
Decatur, Illinois 62522
Denver, CO
44 Cook Street
4th Floor
Denver, CO 80206
Enid, OK
116 East Randolph
Enid, OK 73701
Grand Junction, CO —GJ1
630 South 7th Street
Grand Junction, CO 81501

Grand Junction, CO — GJ2
2830 North Avenue
Grand Junction, CO 81501
Greeley, CO — North
1250 H Street
Greeley, CO 80631
Greeley, CO — West
244 Dundee Avenue
Greeley, CO 80634
Jonesboro, AR
2908 S. Caraway Road
Jonesboro, AR 72401
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Lynchburg, VA
801 Lakeside Drive
Lynchburg, VA 24501
Mansfield, OH
850 West 4th Street
Mansfield, OH 44906
Collinsville, VA
2000 Virginia Ave
Collinsville, VA 24078
Littleton, CO
9110 Commerce Center Drive
Littleton, CO 80129
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Schedule 7.15
TO INFORMATION CERTIFICATE
Consignment, Bill and Hold, Sale or Return, Sale on Approval or Conditional Sale Arrangements
None.
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Schedule 7.16
TO INFORMATION CERTIFICATE
Inventory With Bailee, Warehouseman, Processor, etc.
None.
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EXHIBIT F
TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
Form of Pledged Interest Addendum
PLEDGED INTERESTS ADDENDUM
This Pledged Interests Addendum, dated as of [
] [ ], 201[ ] (this “Pledged Interests Addendum”), is delivered pursuant to
Section 6.12(k) of the Credit and Security Agreement referred to below. The undersigned hereby agree that this Pledged Interests Addendum may be attached

to that certain Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of February 28, 2012 (as amended, restated, supplemented, renewed, extended or otherwise modified
from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”), by and among Wells Fargo Bank, National Association (“Lender”), the undersigned, and the other Loan Parties
party thereto. Initially capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to such terms in the Credit Agreement or, if not defined
therein, in the Credit Agreement. The undersigned hereby agree that the additional interests listed on Schedule I attached hereto shall be and become part of
the Pledged Interests pledged by the undersigned to Lender in the Credit Agreement, with the same force and effect as if originally named therein. Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, the undersigned hereby grant to Lender a security interest in the Pledged Interests described on Schedule I attached
hereto to secure all now existing or hereafter arising Obligations.
This Pledged Interests Addendum is a Loan Document. Delivery of an executed counterpart of this Pledged Interests Addendum by facsimile or
other electronic method of transmission shall be equally as effective as delivery of an original executed counterpart of this Pledged Interests Addendum. If
any of the undersigned delivers an executed counterpart of this Pledged Interests Addendum by facsimile or other electronic method of transmission, such
person shall also deliver an original executed counterpart of this Pledged Interests Addendum but the failure to deliver an original executed counterpart shall
not affect the validity, enforceability, and binding effect of this Pledged Interests Addendum.
The undersigned hereby certify that the representations and warranties set forth in Section 5 of the Credit Agreement of the undersigned are true and
correct in all material respects as to the Pledged Interests listed herein on and as of the date hereof.
THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF SECTION 13 OF THE CREDIT AGREEMENT ARE HEREBY INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
INTO THIS PLEDGED INTERESTS ADDENDUM.
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have caused this Pledged Interests Addendum to be executed and delivered as of the day and year first
above written.
[—NAME OF ENTITY—]
By:
Name:
Title:
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SCHEDULE I
TO
PLEDGED INTERESTS ADDENDUM
Pledged Interests
Name of Grantor

Name of Pledged
Company

Number of
Shares/Units

Class of
Interests

Schedule-I

Schedule A-1
TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
Collection Account
[*]
Schedule A-1 - 1

Schedule A-2
TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
Authorized Person

Percentage of
Class Owned

Certificate
Nos.

1.
2.
3.
4.

CEO
CFO
Controller
Senior Director of SEC Reporting
Schedule A-2 - 1

Schedule D-1
TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
Designated Account
[*]
Schedule D-1 - 1

Schedule P-1
TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
Permitted Investments
NONE
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Schedule P-2
TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
Permitted Liens
Liens attributable to the financing statements in favor of the Secured Parties (excluding Lender and Existing Lender) identified in Exhibit E, Item
14, all of whom are purchase money equipment lenders or equipment lessors, provided any applicable conditions set forth in Exhibit C, Item
(g) have been met.
Schedule P-2 - 1

Schedule R-1
TO CREDIT AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
Real Property Collateral
LOT C, EFTC SUBDIVISION, CITY OF GREELEY, COUNTY OF WELD, STATE OF COLORADO, commonly known as 244 DUNDEE
AVENUE, GREELEY, CO 80634.
A PART OF TRACT “C” WELD COUNTY BUSINESS PARK P.U.D., A SUBDIVISION WITHIN THE CITY OF GREELEY, COUNTY OF
WELD, STATE OF COLORADO, commonly known as 1250 H. STREET, GREELEY, CO 80631.
LOTS TWENTY (20) THROUGH TWENTY-THREE (23), BOTH INCLUSIVE, BLOCK TWENTY-EIGHT (28), JONESVILLE ADDITION TO
THE CITY OF ENID, OKLAHOMA, ACCORDING TO THE RECORDED PLAT THEREOF, TOGETHER WITH AN UNPLATTED STRIP
ADJACENT TO THE SOUTH SIDE THEREOF, commonly known as 116 E RANDOLPH AVENUE, ENID, OK 73701.
THE SOUTH 22 FEET OF LOT 14 AND ALL OF LOTS 15 AND 16, BLOCK 217, CITY OF LARAMIE, FORMERLY THE TOWN OF
LARAMIE, ALBANY COUNTY, WYOMING, commonly known as 407 S. 2ND STREET, LARAMIE, WY 82070.
Exhibit F-1

Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT
JURISDICTION OF
INCORPORATION

NAME OF SUBSIDIARIES

SUBSIDIARIES DOING
BUSINESS AS

StarTek USA, Inc.

Colorado

StarTek USA
StarTek
StarTek Services

StarTek Canada Services, Ltd.

Nova Scotia, Canada

StarTek Canada Services
StarTek
StarTek Services

StarTek Holdings, Inc.

Delaware

StarTek Holdings

StarTek International, Limited

Bermuda

StarTek International

StarTek Pacific, Ltd.

Colorado

StarTek Pacific

StarTek Honduras, SAdeCV

Honduras

StarTek Honduras

StarTek Philippines, Inc.

Philippines

StarTek Philippines

EXHIBIT 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-150635, 333-150634, 333-142780, 333-134903, 333126989, 333-117451 and 333-168463) pertaining to the Employee Stock Purchase Plan, 2008 Equity Incentive Plan, Stock Option Plan and Directors’ Stock
Option Plan of StarTek, Inc. of our reports dated March 9, 2012, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting of StarTek, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of StarTek, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2011.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Denver, Colorado
March 9, 2012

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Chad A. Carlson, certify that:
1.
2.
3.
4.

5.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of StarTek, Inc.;
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 9, 2012

/s/ CHAD A. CARLSON
Chad A. Carlson
President and Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Lisa A. Weaver, certify that:
1.
2.
3.
4.

5.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of StarTek, Inc.;
Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;
Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 9, 2012

/s/ LISA A. WEAVER
Lisa A. Weaver
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATIONS
In connection with the Annual Report of StarTek, Inc. on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2011, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned individuals, certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to
section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to his knowledge:
1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Registrant.
Date: March 9, 2012

/s/ CHAD A. CARLSON
Chad A. Carlson
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 9, 2012

/s/ LISA A. WEAVER
Lisa A. Weaver
Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise adopting the signature
that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been provided to the Corporation and will be
retained by the Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

